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Forward-Looking Statements
Certain statements herein, including without limitation, certain matters discussed under "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Part II, Item 7 of this Form 10-K, are forward-looking
statements, within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 27A of the Securities Act
of 1933, that reflect our current views with respect to future events and financial performance. Forward-looking statements
typically include the words "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "expect," "project," "plan," "forecast," "intend," and other
similar expressions. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, including those identified below,
which could cause actual future results to differ materially from historical results or from those anticipated or implied by such
statements. Readers should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of their dates
or, if no date is provided, then as of the date of this Form 10-K. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except to the extent required
by law.
The following factors, among others, could cause future results to differ materially from historical results or from those
anticipated by forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-K: (1) the level of demand for mortgage loans, which is
affected by such external factors as general economic conditions, market interest rate levels, tax laws and the demographics
of our lending markets; (2) the direction and magnitude of changes in interest rates and the relationship between market
interest rates and the yield on our interest-earning assets and the cost of our interest-bearing liabilities; (3) the rate and amount
of loan losses incurred and projected to be incurred by us, increases in the amounts of our nonperforming assets, the level of
our loss reserves and management's judgments regarding the collectability of loans; (4) changes in the regulation of lending
and deposit operations or other regulatory actions, whether industry wide or focused on our operations, including increases in
capital requirements or directives to increase loan loss allowances or make other changes in our business operations;
(5) legislative or regulatory changes, including those that may be implemented by the current Administration in Washington,
D.C.; (6) actions undertaken by both current and potential new competitors; (7) the possibility of adverse trends in property
values or economic trends in the residential and commercial real estate markets in which we compete; (8) the effect of
changes in economic conditions; (9) the effect of geopolitical uncertainties; (10) an inability to obtain and retain sufficient
operating cash at our holding company; and (11) other risks and uncertainties detailed in this Form 10-K, including those
described in Part II, Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General
Broadway Financial Corporation (the "Company") was incorporated under Delaware law in 1995 for the purpose of acquiring
and holding all of the outstanding capital stock of Broadway Federal Savings and Loan Association ("Broadway Federal" or
the "Bank") as part of the Bank's conversion from a federally chartered mutual savings association to a federally chartered
stock savings bank. In connection with the conversion, the Bank's name was changed to Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. The
conversion was completed, and the Bank became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in January 1996.
The Company is currently regulated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System ("FRB"). The Bank is
currently regulated by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation
("FDIC"). The Bank's deposits are insured up to applicable limits by the FDIC. The Bank is also a member of the Federal
Home Loan Bank ("FHLB") of San Francisco. See "Regulation" for further descriptions of the regulatory systems to which
the Company and the Bank are subject.
Available Information
Our internet website address is www.broadwayfederalbank.com. Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports can be obtained free of charge by sending a
written request to Broadway Financial Corporation, 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500, Los Angeles, California 90036
Attention: Alice Wong. The above reports are available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file such
material with, or furnish such material to, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").
Business Overview
We are headquartered in Los Angeles, California and our principal business is the operation of our wholly-owned subsidiary,
Broadway Federal, which has two offices in Los Angeles and one in the nearby city of Inglewood, California. Broadway
Federal's principal business consists of attracting deposits from the general public in the areas surrounding our branch offices
and investing those deposits, together with funds generated from operations and borrowings, primarily in mortgage loans
secured by (i) residential properties with five or more units ("multi-family"), (ii) commercial real estate and (iii) residential
properties with one-to-four units ("single family"). In addition, we invest in securities issued by federal government agencies,
residential mortgage-backed securities and other investments.
Our revenue is derived primarily from interest income on loans and investments. Our principal costs are interest expenses that
we incur on deposits and borrowings, together with general and administrative expenses. Our earnings are significantly
affected by general economic and competitive conditions, particularly monetary trends and conditions, including changes in
market interest rates and the differences in market interests rates for the interest bearing deposits and borrowings that are our
principal funding sources and the interest yielding assets in which we invest, as well as government policies and actions of
regulatory authorities.
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Lending Activities
General
Our loan portfolio is comprised primarily of mortgage loans which are secured by multi-family residential properties, single
family residential properties and commercial real estate, including churches. The remainder of the loan portfolio consists of
commercial business loans, construction loans and consumer loans. At December 31, 2018, our net loan portfolio, excluding
loans held for sale, totaled $355.6 million, or 87% of total assets.
We emphasize the origination of adjustable-rate mortgage loans ("ARMs"), most of which are hybrid ARM loans (ARM
loans having an initial fixed rate period, followed by an adjustable rate period), for our portfolio of loans held for investment.
We originate these loans in order to maintain a high percentage of loans that are subject to periodic repricing, thereby
reducing our exposure to interest rate risk. At December 31, 2018, more than 99% of our mortgage loans had adjustable rate
features. However, most of our adjustable rate loans behave like fixed rate loans for periods of time because the loans may
still be in their initial fixed-rate period or may be subject to interest rate floors. Loans in their initial fixed-rate period totaled
$297.6 million or 83% of our gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2018.
The types of loans that we originate are subject to federal laws and regulations. The interest rates that we charge on loans are
affected by the demand for such loans, the supply of money available for lending purposes and the rates offered by
competitors. These factors are in turn affected by, among other things, economic conditions, monetary policies of the federal
government, including the FRB, and legislative tax policies.
The following table details the composition of our portfolio of loans held for investment by type, dollar amount and
percentage of loan portfolio at the dates indicated:

2018
Percent
of total

Amount
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real
estate
Church
Construction
Commercial
Consumer
Gross loans

$

Plus:
Premiums on
loans
purchased
Deferred loan
costs, net
Less:
Unamortized
discounts
Allowance for
loan losses
Total loans held for
investment
$

2017

91,835
231,870
5,802
25,934
1,876
226
5
357,548

Amount

25.69% $
64.86%
1.62%
7.25%
0.52%
0.06%
0.00%
100.00%

111,085
187,455
6,089
30,848
1,678
192
7
337,354

December 31,
2016
2015
2014
Percent
Percent
Percent
Percent
of total
Amount
of total
Amount
of total
Amount
of total
(Dollars in thousands)
32.93% $
104,807
27.42% $
130,891
42.50% $
39,792
14.03%
55.57%
229,566
60.05%
118,616
38.52%
171,792
60.58%
1.80%
9.14%
0.50%
0.06%
0.00%
100.00%

8,914
37,826
837
308
6
382,264

2.33%
9.90%
0.22%
0.08%
0.00%
100.00%

11,442
46,390
343
270
4
307,956

3.72%
15.06%
0.11%
0.09%
0.00%
100.00%

16,722
54,599
387
262
9
283,563

259

360

510

709

228

721

1,220

1,297

349

1,333

43

14

14

15

16

2,929

4,069

4,603

4,828

8,465

355,556

$

334,851

$

379,454
2

$

304,171

$

276,643

5.90%
19.26%
0.14%
0.09%
0.00%
100.00%
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Multi-Family and Commercial Real Estate Lending
Our primary lending emphasis has been on the origination of loans for apartment buildings with five or more units. These
multi-family loans amounted to $231.9 million and $187.5 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Multi-family loans represented 65% of our gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2018 compared to 56% of our gross loan
portfolio at December 31, 2017. The vast majority of our multi-family loans amortize over 30 years. As of December 31,
2018, our single largest multi-family credit had an outstanding balance of $3.9 million, was current, and was secured by a
15-unit apartment complex in Garden Grove, California. At December 31, 2018, the average balance of a loan in our
multi-family portfolio was $873 thousand.
Our commercial real estate loans amounted to $5.8 million and $6.1 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Commercial real estate loans represented 2% of our gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2018 and 2017. All of the
commercial real estate loans outstanding at December 31, 2018 were ARMs. Most commercial real estate loans are originated
with principal repayments on a 30 year amortization schedule, but are due in 15 years. As of December 31, 2018, our single
largest commercial real estate credit had an outstanding principal balance of $1.5 million, was current and was secured by a
commercial building located in Van Nuys, California. At December 31, 2018, the average balance of a loan in our
commercial real estate portfolio was $419 thousand.
The interest rates on multi-family and commercial ARM loans are based on a variety of indices, including the 6-Month
London InterBank Offered Rate Index ("6-Month LIBOR"), the 1-Year Constant Maturity Treasury Index ("1-Yr CMT"), the
12-Month Treasury Average Index ("12-MTA"), the 11th District Cost of Funds Index ("COFI"), and the Wall Street Journal
Prime Rate ("Prime Rate"). We currently offer adjustable rate loans with interest rates that adjust either semi-annually or
semi-annually upon expiration of a three- or five-year fixed rate period. Borrowers are required to make monthly payments
under the terms of such loans.
Loans secured by multi-family and commercial properties are granted based on the income producing potential of the
property and the financial strength of the borrower. The primary factors considered include, among other things, the net
operating income of the mortgaged premises before debt service and depreciation, the debt service coverage ratio (the ratio of
net operating income to required principal and interest payments, or debt service), and the ratio of the loan amount to the
lower of the purchase price or the appraised value of the collateral.
We seek to mitigate the risks associated with multi-family and commercial real estate loans by applying appropriate
underwriting requirements, which include limitations on loan-to-value ratios and debt service coverage ratios. Under our
underwriting policies, loan-to-value ratios on our multi-family and commercial real estate loans usually do not exceed 75% of
the lower of the purchase price or the appraised value of the underlying property. We also generally require minimum debt
service coverage ratios of 120% for multi-family loans and 125% for commercial real estate loans. Properties securing
multi-family and commercial real estate loans are appraised by management-approved independent appraisers. Title insurance
is required on all loans.
Multi-family and commercial real estate loans are generally viewed as exposing the lender to a greater risk of loss than single
family residential loans and typically involve higher loan principal amounts than loans secured by single family residential
real estate. Because payments on loans secured by multi-family and commercial real properties are often dependent on the
successful operation or management of the properties, repayment of such loans may be subject to adverse conditions in the
real estate market or general economy. Adverse economic conditions in our primary lending market area could result in
reduced cash flows on multi-family and commercial real estate loans, vacancies and reduced rental rates on such properties.
We seek to reduce these risks by originating such loans on a selective basis and generally restrict such loans to our general
market area. In 2008, we ceased out-of-state lending for all types of loans. As of December 31, 2018, our out-of-state loans
totaled $1.9 million and our single largest out-of-state credit had an outstanding principal balance of $620 thousand, was
current, and was secured by a church building located in Tacoma, Washington.
3
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Our church loans totaled $25.9 million and $30.8 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Church loans
represented 7% of our gross loan portfolio at December 31, 2018, compared to 9% of our gross loan portfolio at
December 31, 2017. We ceased originating church loans in 2010. As of December 31, 2018, our single largest church loan
had an outstanding balance of $1.6 million, was current, and was secured by a church building in Richmond, California. At
December 31, 2018, the average balance of a loan in our church loan portfolio was $480 thousand.
Single Family Mortgage Lending
While we have been primarily a multi-family and commercial real estate lender, we also purchase ARM loans secured by
single family residential properties, including investor-owned properties, with maturities of up to 30 years. Single family
loans totaled $91.8 million and $111.1 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Of the single family residential
mortgage loans that we had outstanding at December 31, 2018, more than 99% had adjustable rate features. During 2018, we
did not purchase any loans. During 2017, we purchased $24.6 million principal amount of single-family loans, which were
secured by properties primarily located in Northern California. Of the $91.8 million of single family loans at December 31,
2018, $7.1 million are secured by investor-owned properties.
The interest rates for our single family ARMs are indexed to COFI, 1-Month LIBOR, 6-Month LIBOR, 12-MTA and 1-Yr.
CMT. We currently offer loans with interest rates that adjust either semi-annually or semi-annually upon expiration of a
three- or five-year fixed rate period. Borrowers are required to make monthly payments under the terms of such loans. Some
of our adjustable rate loans behave like fixed rate loans because the loans may still be in their initial fixed rate period or may
be subject to interest rate floors.
We qualify our ARM borrowers based upon the fully indexed interest rate (LIBOR or other index plus an applicable margin,
rounded to the nearest one-eighth of 1%) provided by the terms of the loan. However, we may discount the initial rate paid by
the borrower to adjust for market and other competitive factors. The ARMs that we offer have a lifetime adjustment limit that
is set at the time that the loan is approved. In addition, because of interest rate caps and floors, market rates may exceed or go
below the respective maximum or minimum rates payable on our ARMs.
The mortgage loans that we originate generally include due-on-sale clauses, which provide us with the contractual right to
declare the loan immediately due and payable in the event that the borrower transfers ownership of the property.
Construction Lending
Construction loans totaled $1.9 million and $1.7 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, representing less than
1% of our gross loan portfolio. We provide loans for the construction of single family, multi-family and commercial real
estate projects and for land development. We generally make construction and land loans at variable interest rates based upon
the Prime Rate. Generally, we require a loan-to-value ratio not exceeding 75% to 80% and a loan-to-cost ratio not exceeding
70% to 80% on construction loans.
Construction loans involve risks that are different from those for completed project lending because we advance loan funds
based upon the security and estimated value at completion of the project under construction. If the borrower defaults on the
loan, we may have to advance additional funds to finance the project's completion before the project can be sold. Moreover,
construction projects are affected by uncertainties inherent in estimating construction costs, potential delays in construction
schedules, market demand and the accuracy of estimates of the value of the completed project considered in the loan approval
process. In addition, construction projects can be risky as they transition to completion and lease-up. Tenants who may have
been interested in leasing a unit or apartment may not be able to afford the space when the building is completed, or may fail
to lease the space for other reasons such as more attractive terms offered by competing lessors, making it difficult for the
building to
4
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generate enough cash flow for the owner to obtain permanent financing. No new construction loans were originated in 2018.
Two construction participation loans totaling $3.5 million were originated during 2017.
Commercial Lending
Prior to 2015, we originated non-real estate commercial loans that are secured by business assets, the franchise value of the
business, if applicable, and individual assets such as deposit accounts, securities and automobiles. Most of these loans were
originated with maturities of up to 5 years. Our commercial loans amounted to $226 thousand and $192 thousand at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, representing less than 1% of our gross loan portfolio.
Loan Originations, Purchases and Sales
The following table summarizes loan originations, purchases, sales and principal repayments for the periods indicated:
2018
Gross loans (1):
Beginning balance
Loans originated:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial Real Estate
Construction
Commercial
Total loans originated
Loans purchased:
Single family
Total loans purchased
Less:
Principal repayments
Sales of loans
Loan charge-offs
Lower of Cost or Market (LOCOM) –
held for sale
Transfer of loans to real estate owned
Ending balance (2)

$

$

2017
(In thousands)
359,686

$

382,264

2016

$

307,956

96,034
1,017
1,861
48
98,960

114,489
841
69
115,399

136,794
837
45
137,676

-

24,640
24,640

-

75,542
19,332
-

65,169
96,945
-

63,368
-

11
363,761

503
359,686

382,264

$

$

(1) Amount is before deferred origination costs, purchase premiums and discounts.
(2) Includes loans receivable held for sale totaling $6.2 million at December 31, 2018, exclusive of $18 thousand in
deferred origination costs and $11 thousand marked down to market.
Loan originations are derived from various sources including our loan personnel, local mortgage brokers, advertising and
referrals from customers. For all loans that we originate, upon receipt of a loan application from a prospective borrower, a
credit report is ordered and certain other information is verified by an independent credit agency and, if necessary, additional
financial information is requested. An appraisal of the real estate intended to secure the proposed loan is required, which
appraisal is performed by an independent licensed or certified appraiser designated and approved by us. The Bank's Board of
Directors (the "Board") annually reviews our appraisal policy. Management reviews annually the qualifications and
performance of independent appraisers that we use.
5
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It is our policy to obtain title insurance on all real estate loans. Borrowers must also obtain hazard insurance naming
Broadway Federal as a loss payee prior to loan closing. If the original loan amount exceeds 80% on a sale or refinance of a
first trust deed loan, we may require private mortgage insurance and the borrower is required to make payments to a mortgage
impound account from which we make disbursements to pay private mortgage insurance premiums, property taxes and
hazard and flood insurance as required.
The Board has authorized the following loan approval limits: if the total of the borrower's existing loans and the loan under
consideration is $1,000,000 or less, the new loan may be approved by a Senior Underwriter plus a Loan Committee member,
including the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Credit Officer of the Bank; if the total of the borrower's existing loans and the
loan under consideration is from $1,000,001 to $2,000,000, the new loan must be approved by a Senior Underwriter plus two
Loan Committee members, including the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Credit Officer of the Bank; if the total of the
borrower's existing loans and the loan under consideration is from $2,000,001 to $7,000,000, the new loan must be approved
by a Senior Underwriter, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Credit Officer of the Bank, plus a majority of the
Board-appointed non-management Loan Committee members. In addition, it is our practice that all loans approved be
reported to the Loan Committee no later than the month following their approval, and be ratified by the Board.
From time to time, we purchase loans originated by other institutions based upon our investment needs and market
opportunities. The determination to purchase specific loans or pools of loans is subject to our underwriting policies, which
consider, among other factors, the financial condition of the borrowers, the location of the underlying collateral properties and
the appraised value of the collateral properties. We did not purchase any loans during the year ended December 31, 2018.
During 2017, we purchased $24.6 million principal amount of single family loans, which are being serviced by the seller.
We originate loans for investment and for sale. Loan sales are generally made from the loans receivable held-for-sale
portfolio and from loans originated during the period that are designated as held for sale. During 2018, we originated
$20.2 million of multi-family loans for sale, transferred $16.9 million of multi-family loans from held-for-sale to
held-for-investment and sold $19.3 million of multi-family loans in order to comply with regulatory loan concentration
guidelines. During 2017, we originated $110.4 million of multi-family loans for sale, transferred $9.8 million of multi-family
loans from held-for-investment to held-for-sale and sold $96.9 million of multi-family loans.
We receive monthly loan servicing fees on loans sold and serviced for others, primarily insured financial institutions.
Generally, we collect these fees by retaining a portion of the loan collections in an amount equal to an agreed percentage of
the monthly loan installments, plus late charges and certain other fees paid by the borrowers. Loan servicing activities include
monthly loan payment collection, monitoring of insurance and tax payment status, responses to borrower information
requests and dealing with loan delinquencies and defaults, including conducting loan foreclosures. At December 31, 2018 and
2017, we were servicing $2.6 million and $3.6 million, respectively, of loans for others. The servicing rights associated with
sold loans are recorded as assets based upon their fair values. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had $18 thousand and
$24 thousand, respectively, in mortgage servicing rights.
Loan Maturity and Repricing
The following table shows the contractual maturities of loans in our portfolio of loans held for investment at December 31,
2018, and does not reflect the effect of prepayments or scheduled principal amortization.
6
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Single
family
Amounts Due:
After one
year:
One year
to five
years
After five
years
Total
due
after
one
year
One year or
less
Total

$

$

1,074 $

Multifamily

Commercial
real estate

- $

3,563 $

Church
Construction
(In thousands)

21,756 $

Commercial

- $

64 $

Gross
loans
receivable

Consumer

- $

26,457

90,761

231,537

2,304

4,178

-

162

-

328,942

91,835

231,537

5,866

25,934

-

226

-

355,399

91,835 $

268
231,805 $

5,866 $

25,934 $

226 $

5
5 $

2,149
357,548

1,876
1,876 $

Loans in their initial fixed rate period totaled $298 million or 83% of our loan portfolio at December 31, 2018. The average
initial fixed rate period as of December 31, 2018 was 3.1 years.
Asset Quality
General
The underlying credit quality of our loan portfolio is dependent primarily on each borrower's ability to continue to make
required loan payments and, in the event a borrower is unable to continue to do so, the value of the collateral securing the
loan, if any. A borrower's ability to pay typically is dependent, in the case of single family residential loans and consumer
loans, primarily on employment and other sources of income, and in the case of multi-family and commercial real estate
loans, on the cash flow generated by the property, which in turn is impacted by general economic conditions. Other factors,
such as unanticipated expenditures or changes in the financial markets, may also impact a borrower's ability to make loan
payments. Collateral values, particularly real estate values, are also impacted by a variety of factors, including general
economic conditions, demographics, property maintenance and collection or foreclosure delays.
Delinquencies
We perform a weekly review of all delinquent loans and loan delinquency reports are made monthly to the Internal Asset
Review Committee of the Board of Directors. When a borrower fails to make a required payment on a loan, we take a number
of steps to induce the borrower to cure the delinquency and restore the loan to current status. The procedures we follow with
respect to delinquencies vary depending on the type of loan, the type of property securing the loan, and the period of
delinquency. In the case of residential mortgage loans, we generally send the borrower a written notice of non-payment
promptly after the loan becomes past due. In the event payment is not received promptly thereafter, additional letters are sent
and telephone calls are made. If the loan is still not brought current and it becomes necessary for us to take legal action, we
generally commence foreclosure proceedings on all real property securing the loan. In the case of commercial real estate
loans, we generally contact the borrower by telephone and send a written notice of intent to foreclose upon expiration of the
applicable grace period. Decisions not to commence foreclosure upon expiration of the notice of intent to foreclose for
commercial real estate loans are made on a case-by-case basis. We may consider loan workout arrangements with these types
of borrowers in certain circumstances.
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The following table shows our loan delinquencies by type and amount at the dates indicated:

December 31, 2018

December 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

Loans delinquent

Loans delinquent

Loans delinquent

60-89 Days
Number
Single
family
Church
Total
% of
Gross
Loans
(1)

90 days or more

Amount

1 $
1 $

35
35

0.01%

Number

60-89 Days

Amount

- $
- $

Number

-

0.00%

90 days or more

Amount
Number
(Dollars in thousands)

1 $
1 $

50
50

60-89 Days

Amount

- $
- $

0.01%

Number

-

0.00%

1 $
1 $

90 days or more

Amount

64
64

0.01%

Number

Amount

- $
- $

-

0.00%

(1) Includes loans receivable held for sale at December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Non-Performing Assets
Non-performing assets ("NPAs") include non-accrual loans and real estate owned through foreclosure or deed in lieu of
foreclosure ("REO"). NPAs at December 31, 2018 decreased to $1.7 million, or 0.43% of total assets, from $2.6 million, or
0.64% of total assets, at December 31, 2017.
Non-accrual loans decreased by $855 thousand to $911 thousand at December 31, 2018, from $1.8 million at December 31,
2017. These loans consist of delinquent loans that are 90 days or more past due and other loans, including troubled debt
restructurings ("TDRs") that do not qualify for accrual status. As of December 31, 2018, $911 thousand , or 100% of our
non-accrual loans, were current in their payments, but were treated as non-accrual primarily because of deficiencies in
non-payment matters related to the borrowers, such as lack of current financial information. The $855 thousand decrease in
non-accrual loans was due to upgrades from non-accrual to accrual status of $659 thousand and repayments of
$196 thousand.
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The following table provides information regarding our non-performing assets at the dates indicated:

2018
Non-accrual loans:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial
Total non-accrual loans
Loans delinquent 90 days or more and
still accruing
Real estate owned acquired through
foreclosure
Total non-performing assets
Non-accrual loans as a percentage of gross
loans, including loans receivable held for
sale
Non-performing assets as a percentage of
total assets

$

911
911

$

1,766
1,766

-

$

December 31,
2016
(Dollars in thousands)

2017

833
1,744

$

878
2,644

$

2,944
2,944

$

-

$

2,944

2015

2014

302
779
259
2,887
4,227

$

-

$

360
4,587

736
1,618
1,174
5,232
102
8,862
-

$

2,082
10,944

0.25%

0.49%

0.77%

1.37%

2.93%

0.43%

0.64%

0.69%

1.14%

3.12%

There were no accrual loans that were contractually past due by 90 days or more at December 31, 2018 or 2017. We had no
commitments to lend additional funds to borrowers whose loans were on non-accrual status at December 31, 2018.
We discontinue accruing interest on loans when the loans become 90 days delinquent as to their payment due date (missed
three payments). In addition, we reverse all previously accrued and uncollected interest for those loans through a charge to
interest income. While loans are in non-accrual status, interest received on such loans is credited to principal, until the loans
qualify for return to accrual status. Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts
contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.
We may agree to modify the contractual terms of a borrower's loan. In cases where such modifications represent a concession
to a borrower experiencing financial difficulty, the modification is considered a TDR. Non-accrual loans modified in a TDR
remain on non-accrual status until we determine that future collection of principal and interest is reasonably assured, which
requires that the borrower demonstrate performance according to the restructured terms, generally for a period of at least six
months. Loans modified in a TDR that are included in non-accrual loans totaled $591 thousand at December 31, 2018 and
$1.4 million at December 31, 2017. Excluded from non-accrual loans are restructured loans that were not delinquent at the
time of modification or loans that have complied with the terms of their restructured agreement for six months or such longer
period as management deems appropriate for particular loans, and therefore have been returned to accruing status.
Restructured accruing loans totaled $5.5 million at December 31, 2018 and $7.5 million at December 31, 2017.
During 2018, gross interest income that would have been recorded on non-accrual loans had they performed in accordance
with their original terms, totaled $173 thousand. Actual interest recognized on non-accrual loans and included in net income
for the year 2018 was $40 thousand, primarily reflecting interest recoveries on non-accrual loans that were paid off.
9

Table of Contents
We update our estimates of collateral value on loans when they become 90 days past due and to the extent the loans remain
delinquent, every nine months thereafter. We obtain updated estimates of collateral value earlier than at 90 days past due for
loans to borrowers who have filed for bankruptcy or for certain other loans when our Internal Asset Review Committee
believes repayment of such loans may be dependent on the value of the underlying collateral. For single family loans, updated
estimates of collateral value are obtained through appraisals and automated valuation models. For multi-family and
commercial real estate properties, we estimate collateral value through appraisals or internal cash flow analyses when current
financial information is available, coupled with, in most cases, an inspection of the property. Our policy is to make a charge
against our allowance for loan losses, and correspondingly reduce the book value of a loan, to the extent that the collateral
value of the property securing a loan is less than our recorded investment in the loan. See "Allowance for Loan Losses" for
full discussion of the allowance for loan losses.
REO is real estate acquired as a result of foreclosure or by deed in lieu of foreclosure and is carried at fair value less
estimated selling costs. Any excess of carrying value over fair value at the time of acquisition is charged to the allowance for
loan losses. Thereafter, we charge non-interest expense for the property maintenance and protection expenses incurred as a
result of owning the property. Any decreases in the property's estimated fair value after foreclosure are recorded in a separate
allowance for losses on REO. During 2018, the Bank did not foreclose on any loans. During 2017, the Bank received a deed
in lieu of foreclosure, which was recorded at fair value, net of estimated selling costs of $833 thousand at December 31, 2018,
compared to $878 thousand at December 31, 2017.
Classification of Assets
Federal regulations and our internal policies require that we utilize an asset classification system as a means of monitoring
and reporting problem and potential problem assets. We have incorporated asset classifications as a part of our credit
monitoring system and thus classify potential problem assets as "Watch" and "Special Mention," and problem assets as
"Substandard," "Doubtful" or "Loss". An asset is considered "Watch" if the loan is current but temporarily presents higher
than average risk and warrants greater than routine attention and monitoring. An asset is considered "Special Mention" if the
loan is current but there are some potential weaknesses that deserve management's close attention. An asset is considered
"Substandard" if it is inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor or the collateral
pledged, if any. "Substandard" assets include those characterized by the "distinct possibility" that the insured institution will
sustain "some loss" if the deficiencies are not corrected. Assets classified as "Doubtful" have all of the weaknesses inherent in
those classified "Substandard" with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make "collection or liquidation in full," on
the basis of currently existing facts, conditions, and values, "highly questionable and improbable." Assets classified as "Loss"
are those considered "uncollectible" and of such little value that their continuance as assets without the establishment of a
specific loss allowance is not warranted. Assets which do not currently expose us to sufficient risk to warrant classification in
one of the aforementioned categories, but that are considered to possess some weaknesses, are designated "Special Mention."
Our Internal Asset Review Department reviews and classifies our assets and independently reports the results of its reviews to
the Internal Asset Review Committee of our Board of Directors monthly.
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The following table provides information regarding our criticized loans (Watch and Special Mention) and classified assets
(Substandard) at the dates indicated:

December 31, 2018
Number
Watch loans
Special mention loans
Total criticized loans
Substandard loans
REO
Total classified assets
Total

2
1
3
15
1
16
19

$

$

December 31, 2017

Amount
Number
(Dollars in thousands)
673
35
708
5,487
833
6,320
7,028

Amount
3
3
17
1
18
21

$

$

813
813
6,395
878
7,273
8,086

Classified assets decreased by $953 thousand to $6.3 million at December 31, 2018, from $7.3 million at December 31, 2017,
primarily due to $45 thousand of write-downs on REO, $280 thousand of payoffs, $328 thousand of paydowns, and
$919 thousand of classification upgrades, offset by $619 thousand of classification downgrades. Criticized assets decreased
by $105 thousand to $708 thousand at December 31, 2018, from $813 thousand at December 31, 2017, due to $122 thousand
of payoff and $18 thousand of repayments offset by $35 thousand of classification downgrade.
Allowance for Loan Losses
In originating loans, we recognize that losses may be experienced on loans and that the risk of loss may vary as a result of
many factors, including the type of loan being made, the creditworthiness of the borrower, general economic conditions and,
in the case of a secured loan, the quality of the collateral for the loan. We are required to maintain an adequate allowance for
loan losses ("ALLL") in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"). The ALLL represents
our management's best estimate of probable incurred credit losses in our loan portfolio as of the date of the consolidated
financial statements. Our ALLL is intended to cover specifically identifiable loan losses, as well as estimated losses inherent
in our portfolio for which certain losses are probable, but not specifically identifiable. There can be no assurance, however,
that actual losses incurred will not exceed the amount of management's estimates.
Our Internal Asset Review Department issues reports to the Board of Directors and continually reviews loan quality. This
analysis includes a detailed review of the classification and categorization of problem loans, potential problem loans and
loans to be charged off, an assessment of the overall quality and collectability of the portfolio, and concentration of credit
risk. Management then evaluates the allowance, determines its appropriate level and the need for additional provisions, and
presents its analysis to the Board of Directors which ultimately reviews management's recommendation and, if deemed
appropriate, then approves such recommendation.
The ALLL is increased by provisions for loan losses which are charged to earnings and is decreased by recaptures of loan
loss provision and charge-offs, net of recoveries. Provisions are recorded to increase the ALLL to the level deemed
appropriate by management. The Bank utilizes an allowance methodology that considers a number of quantitative and
qualitative factors, including the amount of non-performing loans, our loan loss experience, conditions in the real estate and
housing markets, current economic conditions and trends, particularly levels of unemployment, and changes in the size of the
loan portfolio.
The ALLL consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans that are individually
classified as impaired.
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A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Bank will be unable to
collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement.
Loans for which the terms have been modified, and for which the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties, are
considered TDRs and classified as impaired. Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment
status, collateral value, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans that
experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. Management
determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all of
the circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the
borrower's prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed.
If a loan is impaired, a portion of the allowance is allocated to the loan so that the loan is reported, net, at the present value of
estimated future cash flows using the loan's existing rate or at the fair value of collateral if repayment is expected solely from
the collateral. TDRs are separately identified for impairment and are measured at the present value of estimated future cash
flows using the loan's effective rate at inception. If a TDR is considered to be a collateral dependent loan, the loan is reported,
net, at the fair value of the collateral less estimated selling costs. For TDRs that subsequently default, we determine the
amount of any necessary additional charge-off based on internal analyses and appraisals of the underlying collateral securing
these loans. At December 31, 2018, impaired loans totaled $6.4 million and had an aggregate specific allowance allocation of
$227 thousand.
The general component of the ALLL covers non-impaired loans and is based on historical loss experience adjusted for
qualitative factors. Each month, we prepare an analysis which categorizes the entire loan portfolio by certain risk
characteristics such as loan type (single family, multi-family, commercial real estate, construction, commercial and
consumer) and loan classification (pass, watch, special mention, substandard and doubtful). With the use of a migration to
loss analysis, we calculate our historical loss rate and assign estimated loss factors to the loan classification categories on the
basis of our assessment of the potential risk inherent in each loan type. These factors are periodically reviewed for
appropriateness giving consideration to our historical loss experience, levels of and trends in delinquencies and impaired
loans; levels of and trends in charge-offs and recoveries; trends in volume and terms of loans; effects of any changes in risk
selection and underwriting standards; other changes in lending policies, procedures, and practices; experience, ability, and
depth of lending management and other relevant staff; national and local economic trends and conditions; industry conditions;
and effects of changes in credit concentrations.
In addition to loss experience and environmental factors, we use qualitative analyses to determine the adequacy of our ALLL.
This analysis includes ratio analysis to evaluate the overall measurement of the ALLL and comparison of peer group reserve
percentages. The qualitative review is used to reassess the overall determination of the ALLL and to ensure that directional
changes in the ALLL and the provision for loan losses are supported by relevant internal and external data.
Based on our evaluation of the housing and real estate markets and overall economy, including the unemployment rate, the
levels and composition of our loan delinquencies and non-performing loans, our loss history and the size and composition of
our loan portfolio, we determined that an ALLL of $2.9 million, or 0.82% of loans held for investment was appropriate at
December 31, 2018, compared to $4.1 million, or 1.20% of loans held for investment at December 31, 2017. The decrease in
ALLL compared to the prior year was due to the overall improvement in the loan portfolio which had a favorable impact on
the environmental factors used in the computation of the ALLL.
A federally chartered savings association's determination as to the classification of its assets and the amount of its valuation
allowances is subject to review by the OCC. The OCC, in conjunction with the other federal banking agencies, provides
guidance for financial institutions on the responsibilities of management for the assessment and establishment of adequate
valuation allowances, as well as guidance for banking agency examiners to use in determining the adequacy of valuation
allowances. It is required that all institutions have effective systems and
12

Table of Contents
controls to identify, monitor and address asset quality problems, analyze all significant factors that affect the collectability of
the portfolio in a reasonable manner and establish acceptable allowance evaluation processes that meet the objectives of the
guidelines issued by federal regulatory agencies. While we believe that the ALLL has been established and maintained at
adequate levels, future adjustments may be necessary if economic or other conditions differ materially from the conditions on
which we based our estimates at December 31, 2018. In addition, there can be no assurance that the OCC or other regulators,
as a result of reviewing our loan portfolio and/or allowance, will not require us to materially increase our ALLL, thereby
affecting our financial condition and earnings.
The following table details our allocation of the ALLL to the various categories of loans held for investment and the
percentage of loans in each category to total loans at the dates indicated:

Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial
Consumer
Total allowance for loan losses

December 31,
2018
2017
2016
2015
Percent
Percent
Percent
of loans
of loans
of loans
in each
in each
in each
category
category
category
to total
to total
to total
Amount
loans
Amount
loans
Amount
loans
Amount
(Dollars in thousands)
$
368
12.56% $
594
32.93% $
367
27.42% $
597
1,880
64.19%
2,300
55.57%
2,659
60.05%
1,658
52
1.78%
71
1.80%
215
2.33%
469
604
20.62%
1,081
9.14%
1,337
9.90%
2,083
19
0.65%
17
0.50%
8
0.22%
3
6
0.20%
6
0.06%
17
0.08%
18
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
$
2,929 100.00% $
4,069 100.00% $
4,603 100.00% $
4,828
13

2014
Percent
of loans
in each
category
to total
loans
42.50% $
38.52%
3.72%
15.06%
0.11%
0.09%
0.00%
100.00% $

Amount

Percent
of loans
in each
category
to total
loans

1,174
2,726
496
4,047
7
12
3
8,465

14.03%
60.58%
5.90%
19.26%
0.14%
0.09%
0.00%
100.00%

Table of Contents
The following table shows the activity in our ALLL related to our loans held for investment for the years indicated:
2018
Allowance balance at beginning of year

$

2017
4,069

$

2016
(Dollars in thousands)
4,603 $
4,828 $

Charge-offs:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial
Total charge-offs

-

-

-

Recoveries:
Single family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial
Total recoveries

114
114

30
536
566

47
248
22
8
325

(1,254 )
2,929 $

(1,100 )
4,069 $

(0.04% )

(0.16% )

Provision (recapture) charged to earnings
Allowance balance at end of year
Net charge-offs (recoveries) to average loans,
excluding loans receivable held for sale
ALLL as a percentage of gross loans, excluding
loans receivable held for sale
ALLL as a percentage of total non-accrual loans
ALLL as a percentage of total non-performing
assets

$

(550 )
4,603 $

(0.10% )

2015

2014
8,465

$

(4)
(85)
(89)

10,146

(133)
(8)
(533)
(19)
(693)

129
23
152

2
859
1,083
1,944

(3,700 )
4,828 $

(2,932 )
8,465

(0.02% )

(0.46% )

0.82%
321.51%

1.20%
230.41%

1.20%
156.35%

1.56%
114.22%

2.99%
95.52%

167.94%

153.90%

156.35%

105.25%

77.35%

Investment Activities
The main objectives of our investment strategy are to provide a source of liquidity for deposit outflows, repayment of our
borrowings and funding loan commitments, and to generate a favorable return on investments without incurring undue
interest rate or credit risk. Subject to various restrictions, our investment policy generally permits investments in money
market instruments such as Federal Funds Sold, certificates of deposit of insured banks and savings institutions, direct
obligations of the U. S. Treasury, Federal Agency securities, government Agency-issued securities and mortgage-backed
securities, mutual funds, municipal obligations, corporate bonds and marketable equity securities. Mortgage-backed securities
consist principally of FNMA, FHLMC and GNMA securities backed by 30-year amortizing hybrid ARM loans, structured
with fixed interest rates for periods of three to seven years, after which time the loans convert to one-year or six-month
adjustable rate mortgage loans. At December 31, 2018, our securities portfolio, consisting primarily of federal agency debt
and mortgage-backed securities, totaled $14.7 million, or 3.6% of total assets.
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We classify investments as held-to-maturity or available-for-sale at the date of purchase based on our assessment of our
internal liquidity requirements. Securities purchased to meet investment-related objectives such as liquidity management or
mitigating interest rate risk and which may be sold as necessary to implement management strategies, are designated as
available-for-sale at the time of purchase. Securities in the held-to-maturity category consist of securities purchased for
long-term investment in order to enhance our ongoing stream of net interest income. Securities deemed held-to-maturity are
classified as such because we have both the intent and ability to hold these securities to maturity. Held-to-maturity securities
are reported at cost, adjusted for amortization of premium and accretion of discount. Available-for-sale securities are reported
at fair value. We currently have no securities classified as held-to-maturity securities.
The table below presents the carrying amount, weighted average yields and contractual maturities of our securities as of
December 31, 2018. The table reflects stated final maturities and does not reflect scheduled principal payments or expected
payoffs.

One Year or less
Weighted
Carrying
average
amount
yield
Available-for-sale:
Federal agency
mortgage-backed
securities
Federal agency debt
Total

$
$

1,979
1,979

-% $
2.00%
2.00% $

At December 31, 2018
More than five
years
to ten years
Weighted
Carrying
average
amount
yield
(Dollars in thousands)

More than one
year
to five years
Weighted
Carrying
average
amount
yield

50
50

3.89% $
-%
3.89% $

2,649
2,649

2.53% $
-%
2.53% $

More than
ten years
Weighted
Carrying
average
amount
yield

6,809
3,235
10,044

3.16% $
2.71%
3.02% $

Total
Weighted
Carrying
average
amount
yield

9,508
5,214
14,722

2.99%
2.44%
2.79%

At December 31, 2018, the mortgage-backed securities in our portfolio have an estimated remaining life of 4.5 years.
Sources of Funds
General
Deposits are our primary source of funds for supporting our lending and other investment activities and general business
purposes. In addition to deposits, we obtain funds from the amortization and prepayment of loans and investment securities,
sales of loans and investment securities, advances from the FHLB of San Francisco, and cash flows generated by operations.
Deposits
We offer a variety of deposit accounts featuring a range of interest rates and terms. Our deposits principally consist of savings
accounts, checking accounts, NOW accounts, money market accounts, and fixed-term certificates of deposit. The maturities
of term certificates generally range from one month to five years. We accept deposits from customers within our market area
based primarily on posted rates, but from time to time we will negotiate the rate based on the amount of the deposit. We
primarily rely on customer service and long-standing customer relationships to attract and retain deposits. We seek to
maintain and increase our retail "core" deposit relationships, consisting of savings accounts, checking accounts and money
market accounts because we believe these deposit
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accounts tend to be a stable funding source and are available at a lower cost than term deposits. However, market interest
rates, including rates offered by competing financial institutions, the availability of other investment alternatives, and general
economic conditions significantly affect our ability to attract and retain deposits.
We also open deposit accounts for customers throughout the United States through the Internet and deposit listing services.
Deposits from the Internet and deposit listing services totaled $3.6 million and $12.3 million, respectively, at December 31,
2018 compared to $4.7 million and $9.2 million, respectively, at December 31, 2017.
We participate in a deposit program called the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry Service ("CDARS"). CDARS is a
deposit placement service that allows us to place our customers' funds in FDIC-insured certificates of deposit at other banks
and, at the same time, receive an equal sum of funds from the customers of other banks in the CDARS Network ("CDARS
Reciprocal"). We may also accept deposits from other institutions when we have no reciprocal deposit ("CDARS One-Way
Buy"). We had approximately $33.7 million in CDARS Reciprocal and $42.5 million in CDARS One-Way Buy at
December 31, 2018, compared to $9.5 million in CDARS Reciprocal and $43.3 million in CDARS One-Way Buy at
December 31, 2017.
The following table details the maturity periods of our certificates of deposit in amounts of $250 thousand or more at
December 31, 2018.
December 31, 2018
Weighted
Amount
average rate
(Dollars in thousands)
Certificates maturing:
Less than three months
Three to six months
Six to twelve months
Over twelve months
Total

$

1,253
3,653
9,747
9,368
24,021

$

0.79%
2.08%
2.13%
2.28%
2.11%

The following table presents the distribution of our average deposits for the years indicated and the weighted average interest
rates during the year for each category of deposits presented.

2018
Average
balance
Money market
deposits
Passbook deposits
NOW and other
demand deposits
Certificates of deposit
Total

$

$

Percent
of total

Weighted
average
rate

For the Year Ended December 31,
2017
Weighted
Average
Percent
average
balance
of total
rate
(Dollars in thousands)

2016
Average
balance

Percent
of total

Weighted
average
rate

37,489
41,936

13.45%
15.03%

1.07% $
0.38%

38,318
39,064

13.14%
13.39%

0.70% $
0.32%

27,399
36,611

10.06%
13.45%

0.58%
0.32%

34,818
164,703
278,946

12.48%
59.04%
100.00%

0.09%
1.49%
1.10% $

32,275
181,993
291,650

11.07%
62.40%
100.00%

0.07%
1.09%
0.82% $

29,959
178,292
272,261

11.00%
65.49%
100.00%

0.07%
1.06%
0.80%
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Borrowings
We utilize short-term and long-term advances from the FHLB of San Francisco as an alternative to retail deposits as a
funding source for asset growth. FHLB advances are generally secured by mortgage loans and mortgage-backed securities.
Such advances are made pursuant to several different credit programs, each of which has its own interest rate and range of
maturities. The maximum amount that the FHLB will advance to member institutions fluctuates from time to time in
accordance with the policies of the FHLB. At December 31, 2018, we had $70.0 million in FHLB advances and had the
ability to borrow up to an additional $54.6 million based on available and pledged collateral.
The following table summarizes information concerning our FHLB advances at or for the periods indicated:

2018
FHLB Advances:
Average balance outstanding during the year
Maximum amount outstanding at any
month-end during the year
Balance outstanding at end of year
Weighted average interest rate at end of year
Average cost of advances during the year
Weighted average maturity (in months)

At or For the Year Ended
2017
(Dollars in thousands)

$

77,729

$

$
$

98,000 $
70,000 $
2.51%
2.13%
24

89,279

$

104,000 $
65,000 $
1.86%
1.97%
18

2016

71,940
85,000
85,000
1.94%
2.13%
13

On March 17, 2004, we issued $6.0 million of Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debentures (the "Debentures") in a private
placement to a trust that was capitalized to purchase subordinated debt and preferred stock of multiple community banks.
Interest on the Debentures is payable quarterly at a rate per annum equal to the 3-Month LIBOR plus 2.54%. The interest rate
is determined as of each March 17, June 17, September 17, and December 17, and was 5.30% at December 31, 2018. On
October 16, 2014, we made payments of $900 thousand of principal on the Debentures, executed a Supplemental Indenture
for the Debentures that extended the maturity of the Debentures to March 17, 2024, and modified the payment terms of the
remaining $5.1 million principal amount thereof. The modified terms of the Debentures require quarterly payments of interest
only through March 2019 at the original rate of 3-Month LIBOR plus 2.54%. Starting in June 2019, we will be required to
make quarterly payments of equal amounts of principal, plus interest, until the Debentures are fully amortized on March 17,
2024. The Debentures may be called for redemption at any time by the Company.
Market Area and Competition
Broadway Federal is a community-oriented savings institution offering a variety of financial services to meet the needs of the
communities it serves. Our retail banking network includes full service banking offices, automated teller machines and
Internet banking capabilities that are available using our website at www.broadwayfederalbank.com. We have two banking
offices in Los Angeles and one banking office located in the nearby City of Inglewood.
The Los Angeles metropolitan area is a highly competitive banking market for making loans and attracting deposits.
Although our offices are primarily located in low-to-moderate income communities that have historically been under-served
by other financial institutions, we face significant competition for deposits and loans in our immediate market areas,
including direct competition from mortgage banking companies, commercial banks and savings and loan associations. Most
of these financial institutions are significantly larger than we are and have greater financial resources, and many have a
regional, statewide or national presence.
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Personnel
At December 31, 2018, we had 65 employees, which included 61 full-time and 4 part-time employees. We believe that we
have good relations with our employees and none are represented by a collective bargaining group.
Regulation
General
Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b, is regulated by the OCC, as its primary federal regulator, and by the FDIC, as its deposit
insurer. The Bank is also a member of the FHLB System and is subject to the regulations of the FRB concerning reserves
required to be maintained against deposits, transactions with affiliates, Truth in Lending and other consumer protection
requirements and certain other matters. Broadway Financial Corporation is regulated, examined and supervised by the FRB
and is also required to file certain reports and otherwise comply with the rules and regulations of the SEC under the federal
securities laws.
The OCC regulates and examines most of our Bank's business activities, including, among other things, capital standards,
general investment authority, deposit taking and borrowing authority, mergers and other business combination transactions,
establishment of branch offices, and permitted subsidiary investments and activities. The OCC has primary enforcement
responsibility over federal savings banks and has substantial discretion to impose enforcement actions on an institution that
fails to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, including with respect to capital requirements. In addition, the FDIC
has the authority to recommend to the OCC that enforcement actions be taken with respect to a particular federal savings
bank and, if recommended action is not taken by the OCC, the FDIC has authority to take such action under certain
circumstances. In certain cases, the OCC has the authority to refer matters relating to federal fair lending laws to the U.S.
Department of Justice ("DOJ") or the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") if the OCC determines
violations of the fair lending laws may have occurred.
Changes in the applicable laws or regulations of the OCC, the FDIC, the FRB or other regulatory authorities, or changes in
interpretations of such regulations or in agency policies or priorities, could have a material adverse impact on the Bank and
the Company, their operations, and the value of the Company's debt and equity securities. The Company and its stock are also
subject to rules and regulations issued by The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC ("NASDAQ"), the principal exchange on which
the Company's common stock is traded. Failure of the Company to conform to NASDAQ's rules and regulations could have
an adverse impact on the Company and the value of the Company's equity securities.
The following paragraphs summarize certain laws and regulations that apply to the Company and the Bank. These
descriptions of statutes and regulations and their possible effects do not purport to be complete descriptions of all of the
provisions of those statutes and regulations and their possible effects on us, nor do they purport to identify every statute and
regulation that applies to us.
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
In July 2010, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act") was signed into law.
The Dodd-Frank Act is intended to address perceived weaknesses in the U.S. financial regulatory system and prevent future
economic and financial crises.
As a result of the Dodd-Frank Act, on July 21, 2011, the Office of Thrift Supervision ("OTS"), our former primary federal
regulator, was merged into the OCC, which has taken over the regulation and supervision of all federal savings associations.
The FRB acquired the OTS's authority over all savings and loan holding companies.
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The Dodd-Frank Act established increased compliance obligations across a number of areas in the banking business and,
among other changes, required the federal banking agencies to establish consolidated risk-based and leverage capital
requirements for insured depository institutions, depository institution holding companies and certain non-bank financial
companies that are no less stringent than those to which insured depository institutions had been previously subject. Under an
existing FRB policy statement, bank holding companies with less than $500 million in total consolidated assets were not
subject to consolidated capital requirements. In guidance effective as of May 15, 2015, the FRB formally applied the policy
statement to savings and loan holding companies, such as the Company, and raised the applicable asset threshold to
$1 billion. The Dodd-Frank Act requires savings and loan holding companies to serve as a source of financial strength for any
subsidiary of the holding company that is a depository institution by providing financial assistance in the event of the
financial distress of the depository institution.
The Dodd-Frank Act also includes provisions changing the assessment base for federal deposit insurance from the amount of
insured deposits to the amount of consolidated assets less tangible capital, and making permanent the $250,000 limit for
federal deposit insurance that had initially been established on a temporary basis in reaction to the economic downturn in
2008.
The Dodd-Frank Act also established the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau ("CFPB"). The CFPB has authority to
supervise compliance with and enforce consumer protection laws. The CFPB has broad rule-making authority for a wide
range of consumer protection laws that apply to banks and savings institutions of all sizes, including the authority to prohibit
"unfair, deceptive or abusive" acts and practices. Over the past several years, the CFPB has been active in bringing
enforcement actions against banks and nonbank financial institutions to enforce federal consumer financial laws, and has
developed a number of new enforcement theories and applications of these laws. The CFPB's supervisory authority does not
generally extend to insured depository institutions having less than $10 billion in assets. The other federal financial regulatory
agencies, however, as well as state attorneys general and state banking agencies and other state financial regulators, have
been increasingly active in this area with respect to institutions over which they have jurisdiction.
The Dodd-Frank Act also includes other provisions that require or permit further rulemaking by the federal bank regulatory
agencies, which may affect our future operations. We will not be able to determine the impact of any such provisions until
final rules are promulgated and other regulatory guidance is provided interpreting these provisions.
Capital Requirements
In July 2013, the federal banking regulators approved final rules (the "Basel III Capital Rules") implementing the Basel III
framework as well as certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act. The Basel III Capital Rules substantially revised the
risk-based capital requirements applicable to depository institutions including Broadway Federal. As stated above, the
Company is a small savings and loan holding company that is exempt from consolidated capital requirements.
The Basel III Capital Rules, among other things, (i) introduce a new capital measure called "Common Equity Tier 1"
("CET1"), (ii) specify that Tier 1 capital consists of CET1 and "Additional Tier 1 capital" instruments meeting certain revised
requirements, (iii) define CET1 narrowly by requiring that most deductions and adjustments to regulatory capital measures be
made to CET1 and not to the other components of capital, and (iv) expand the scope of the deductions and adjustments to
capital as compared to existing regulations.
Under the Basel III Capital Rules, the current minimum capital ratios effective as of January 1, 2015 are:
•
•
•

4.5% CET1 to risk-weighted assets;
6.0% Tier 1 capital (calculated as CET1 plus Additional Tier 1 capital) to risk-weighted assets;
8.0% Total capital (calculated as Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capital) to risk-weighted assets; and
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•

4.0% Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (known as the "leverage ratio").

The Basel III Capital Rules also introduced a new "capital conservation buffer", composed entirely of CET1, in addition to
the minimum risk-weighted capital to assets ratios. The implementation of the capital conservation buffer began on January 1,
2016 at the 0.625% level and increased by 0.625% on January 1 of each subsequent year, until it reached 2.5% on January 1,
2019. As fully phased in, the Basel III Capital Rules now require the Bank to maintain an additional capital conservation
buffer of 2.5% of CET1, effectively resulting in minimum ratios of (i) CET1 to risk-weighted assets of at least 7%, (ii) Tier 1
capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 8.5%, (iii) a minimum ratio of Total capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 10.5%,
and (iv) a minimum leverage ratio of 4.0%. The capital conservation buffer is designed to absorb losses during periods of
economic stress and effectively increases the minimum required risk-weighted capital ratios. Banking institutions with a ratio
of CET1 to risk-weighted assets below the effective minimum (4.5% plus the capital conservation buffer) will face
constraints on dividends, equity repurchases and compensation based on the amount of the shortfall.
The Basel III Capital Rules also provide for a number of deductions from and adjustments to CET1. These include, for
example, the requirement that certain deferred tax assets and significant investments in non-consolidated financial entities be
deducted from CET1 to the extent that any one such category exceeds 10% of CET1 or all such items, in the aggregate,
exceed 15% of CET1.
In addition, under the Basel III Capital Rules, the effects of certain accumulated other comprehensive income items are not
excluded automatically; however, Broadway Federal Bank qualified to make a one-time permanent election to continue to
exclude these items. It made this election to avoid significant variations in the level of its capital that might otherwise occur
as a result of the impact of interest rate fluctuations on the fair value of its available-for-sale securities portfolio.
The Basel III Capital Rules prescribe a standardized approach for risk weightings that expands both the number of
risk-weighting categories and the risk sensitivity of many categories. The risk weights assigned to a particular category of
assets will depend on the nature of the assets, and range from 0% for U.S. government and agency securities to 600% for
certain equity exposures. On balance, the new standards result in higher risk weights for a number of asset categories.
The Basel III Capital Rules also revise the "prompt corrective action" regulations pursuant to Section 38 of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Act, as discussed below under "Prompt Corrective Action." Management believes that, as of December 31,
2018, the Bank would meet all capital adequacy requirements under the Basel III Capital Rules on a fully phased-in basis as if
such requirements had been in effect.
Prompt Corrective Action
The Federal Deposit Insurance Act, as amended ("FDIA"), requires the federal banking agencies to take "prompt corrective
action" with respect to depository institutions that do not meet minimum capital requirements. The OCC performs this
function with respect to the Bank. The FDIA includes the following five capital tiers: "well capitalized," "adequately
capitalized," "undercapitalized," "significantly undercapitalized" and "critically undercapitalized."
Generally, a capital restoration plan must be filed with the OCC within 45 days after the date a depository institution receives
notice that it is "undercapitalized," "significantly undercapitalized" or "critically undercapitalized," and the plan must be
guaranteed by any parent holding company. In addition, various mandatory supervisory actions become immediately
applicable to the institution, including restrictions on growth of assets and other forms of expansion.
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The Basel III Capital Rules included revisions to the prompt corrective action framework. Under the prompt corrective action
requirements, insured depository institutions are now required to meet the following increased capital level requirements in
order to qualify as "well capitalized:" (i) a new CET1 capital to risk weighted assets of 6.5%; (ii) a Tier 1 capital to risk
weighted assets of 8% (increased from 6%); (iii) a total capital to risk weighted assets of 10% (unchanged from previous
rules); and (iv) a Tier 1 leverage ratio of 5% (unchanged from previous rules).
At December 31, 2018, the Bank's level of capital exceeded all regulatory capital requirements and its regulatory capital
ratios were above the minimum levels required to be considered well capitalized for regulatory purposes. Actual and required
capital amounts and ratios at December 31, 2018 and 2017 are presented below.
Actual

Amount
December 31, 2018:
Tier 1 (Leverage)
Common Equity Tier 1
Tier 1
Total Capital
December 31, 2017:
Tier 1 (Leverage)
Common Equity Tier 1
Tier 1
Total Capital

Minimum Required
To Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective
Action Provisions
Amount
Ratio

Minimum Capital
Requirements
Amount
Ratio
(Dollars in thousands)

Ratio

$
$
$
$

49,433
49,433
49,433
52,417

12.03%
19.32%
19.32%
20.48%

$
$
$
$

16,439
18,494
24,659
32,879

4.00%
4.50%
6.00%
8.00%

$
$
$
$

20,549
16,634
20,472
25,590

5.00%
6.50%
8.00%
10.00%

$
$
$
$

47,838
47,838
47,838
51,059

11.39%
18.63%
18.63%
19.88%

$
$
$
$

16,798
11,557
15,409
20,545

4.00%
4.50%
6.00%
8.00%

$
$
$
$

20,997
16,693
20,545
25,681

5.00%
6.50%
8.00%
10.00%

Deposit Insurance
The FDIC is an independent federal agency that insures deposits of federally insured banks, including federal savings banks,
up to prescribed statutory limits for each depositor. Pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act, the maximum deposit insurance amount
has been permanently increased to $250,000 per depositor, per ownership category.
The FDIC charges an annual assessment for the insurance of deposits based on the risk a particular institution poses to the
FDIC's Deposit Insurance Fund ("DIF"). The Bank's DIF assessment is calculated by multiplying its assessment rate by the
assessment base, which is defined as the average consolidated total assets less the average tangible equity of the Bank. The
initial base assessment rate is based on an institution's capital level, and capital adequacy, asset quality, management,
earnings, liquidity and sensitivity ("CAMELS") ratings, certain financial measures to assess an institution's ability to
withstand asset related stress and funding related stress, and in some cases, additional discretionary adjustments by the FDIC
to reflect additional risk factors.
The FDIC's overall premium rate structure is subject to change from time to time to reflect its actual and anticipated loss
experience. The financial crisis that began in 2008 resulted in substantially higher levels of bank failures than had occurred in
the immediately preceding years. These failures dramatically increased the resolution costs of the FDIC and substantially
reduced the available amount of the DIF.
As required by the Dodd-Frank Act, the FDIC adopted a new DIF restoration plan which became effective on January 1,
2011. Among other things, the plan increased the minimum designated DIF reserve ratio from 1.15% to 1.35% of insured
deposits, which must be reached by September 30, 2020, and provides that in setting the
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assessments necessary to meet the new requirement, the FDIC is required to offset the effect of this provision on insured
depository institutions with total consolidated assets of less than $10 billion, so that more of the cost of raising the reserve
ratio will be borne by institutions with more than $10 billion in assets. With the increase of the DIF reserve ratio to 1.17% on
June 30, 2016, the range of initial assessment rates has declined for all banks from five to 35 basis points on an annualized
basis to three to 30 basis points on an annualized basis. In order to reach a DIF reserve ratio of 1.35%, insured depository
institutions with $10 billion or more in total assets are required to pay a quarterly surcharge equal to an annual rate of 4.5
basis points, in addition to regular assessments. In the event that the reserve ratio does not reach 1.35% by December 31,
2018, the FDIC will impose a shortfall on large banks in the first quarter of 2019. The FDIC will provide assessment credits
to insured depository institutions, like Broadway Federal, with total consolidated assets of less than $10 billion for the portion
of their regular assessments that contribute to growth in the reserve ratio between 1.15% and 1.35%. The FDIC will apply the
credits each quarter that the reserve ratio is at least 1.38% to offset the regular deposit insurance assessments of institutions
with credits.
The FDIC may terminate a depository institution's deposit insurance upon a finding that the institution's financial condition is
unsafe or unsound or that the institution has engaged in unsafe or unsound practices that pose a risk to the DIF or that may
prejudice the interest of the bank's depositors.
Guidance on Commercial Real Estate Lending
In December 2015, the federal banking agencies released a statement titled "Statement on Prudent Risk Management for
Commercial Real Estate Lending" (the "CRE Statement"). The CRE Statement expresses the banking agencies' concerns with
banking institutions that ease their commercial real estate underwriting standards, directs financial institutions to maintain
underwriting discipline and exercise risk management practices to identify, measure and monitor lending risks, and indicates
that the agencies will continue to pay special attention to commercial real estate lending activities and concentrations going
forward. The banking agencies previously issued guidance titled "Prudent Commercial Real Estate Loan Workouts" which
provides guidance for financial institutions that are working with commercial real estate ("CRE") borrowers who are
experiencing diminished operating cash flows, depreciated collateral values, or prolonged delays in selling or renting
commercial properties and details risk-management practices for loan workouts that support prudent and pragmatic credit and
business decision-making within the framework of financial accuracy, transparency, and timely loss recognition. The banking
agencies had also issued previous guidance titled "Interagency Guidance on Concentrations in Commercial Real Estate"
stating that a banking institution will be considered to be potentially exposed to significant CRE concentration risk, and
should employ enhanced risk management practices, if total CRE loans represent 300% or more of its total capital and the
outstanding balance of the institution's CRE loan portfolio has increased by 50% or more during the preceding 36 months.
In October 2009, the federal banking agencies adopted a policy statement supporting workouts of CRE loans, which is
referred to as the "CRE Policy Statement". The CRE Policy Statement provides guidance for examiners, and for financial
institutions that are working with CRE borrowers who are experiencing diminished operating cash flows, depreciated
collateral values, or prolonged delays in selling or renting commercial properties. The CRE Policy Statement details
risk-management practices for loan workouts that support prudent and pragmatic credit and business decision-making within
the framework of financial accuracy, transparency, and timely loss recognition. The CRE Policy Statement states that
financial institutions that implement prudent loan workout arrangements after performing comprehensive reviews of the
financial condition of borrowers will not be subject to criticism for engaging in these efforts, even if the restructured loans
have weaknesses that result in adverse credit classifications. In addition, performing loans, including those renewed or
restructured on reasonable modified terms, made to creditworthy borrowers, will not be subject to adverse classification
solely because the value of the underlying collateral declined. The CRE Policy Statement reiterates existing guidance that
examiners are expected to take a balanced approach in assessing an institution's risk-management practices for loan workout
activities.
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In September 2018, the OCC provided the Bank with a letter of "no supervisory objection" to management's request to
increase the Bank's multi-family residential loan concentration limit of 450% of Tier 1 Capital plus ALLL to 500% of Tier 1
Capital plus ALLL, In October of 2018, the OCC provided the Bank with an amended letter of "no supervisory objection"
permitting the Bank to increase the non-multifamily commercial real estate loan concentration limit to 100 percent of Tier 1
Capital plus ALLL, including a sublimit of 50% for land/construction loans, which brought the total CRE loan concentration
limit to 600% of Tier 1 Capital plus ALLL.
Loans to One Borrower
Federal savings banks generally are subject to the lending limits that are applicable to national banks. With certain limited
exceptions, the maximum amount that a federal savings banks may lend to any borrower (including certain related persons or
entities of such borrower) is an amount equal to 15% of the savings institution's unimpaired capital and unimpaired surplus,
or $7.9 million for Broadway Federal at December 31, 2018, plus an additional 10% for loans fully secured by readily
marketable collateral. Real estate is not included within the definition of "readily marketable collateral" for this purpose. We
are in compliance with the limits that are applicable to loans to any one borrower. At December 31, 2018, our largest
aggregate amount of loans to one borrower totaled $7.0 million. Both of the loans for the largest borrower were performing in
accordance with their terms and the borrower had no affiliation with Broadway Federal.
Community Reinvestment Act and Fair Lending
The Community Reinvestment Act, as implemented by OCC regulations ("CRA"), requires each federal savings bank, as well
as other lenders, to make efforts to meet the credit needs of the communities they serve, including low- and moderate-income
neighborhoods. The CRA requires the OCC to assess an institution's performance in meeting the credit needs of its
communities as part of its examination of the institution, and to take such assessments into consideration in reviewing
applications for mergers, acquisitions and other transactions. An unsatisfactory CRA rating may be the basis for denying an
application. Community groups have successfully protested applications on CRA grounds. In connection with the assessment
of a savings institution's CRA performance, the OCC assigns ratings of "outstanding," "satisfactory," "needs to improve" or
"substantial noncompliance." The Bank's "outstanding" rating was reaffirmed in its most recent CRA examination in 2016.
The Bank is also subject to federal fair lending laws, including the Equal Credit Opportunity Act ("ECOA") and the Federal
Housing Act ("FHA"), which prohibit discrimination in credit and residential real estate transactions on prohibited bases,
including race, color, national origin, gender, and religion, among others. A lender may be liable under one or both of these
acts in the event of overt discrimination, disparate treatment, or a disparate impact on a prohibited basis. The compliance of
federal savings banks of the Bank's size with these acts is primarily supervised and enforced by the OCC. If the OCC
determines that a lender has engaged in a pattern or practice of discrimination in violation of ECOA, the OCC refers the
matter to the DOJ. Similarly, HUD is notified of violations of the FHA.
Qualified Thrift Lender Test
The Home Owners Loan Act ("HOLA") requires all federal savings banks to meet a Qualified Thrift Lender ("QTL") test.
Under the QTL test, a federal savings bank is required to maintain at least 65% of its portfolio assets (total assets less
(i) specified liquid assets up to 20% of total assets, (ii) intangibles, including goodwill, and (iii) the value of property used to
conduct business) in certain "qualified thrift investments" on a monthly basis during at least 9 out of every 12 months.
Qualified thrift investments include, in general, loans, securities and other investments that are related to housing, shares of
stock issued by any Federal Home Loan Bank, loans for educational purposes, loans to small businesses, loans made through
credit cards or credit card accounts and certain other permitted thrift investments. The failure of a federal savings bank to
remain a QTL may result in required conversion of the institution to a bank charter, which would change the federal savings
bank's permitted business activities in various respects, including operation under certain restrictions, such as limitations on
new investments
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and activities, the imposition of restrictions on branching and the payment of dividends that apply to national banks. At
December 31, 2018, the Bank was in compliance with the QTL test requirements.
The USA Patriot Act, Bank Secrecy Act ("BSA"), and Anti-Money Laundering ("AML") Requirements
The USA PATRIOT Act was enacted after September 11, 2001 to provide the federal government with powers to prevent,
detect, and prosecute terrorism and international money laundering, and has resulted in the promulgation of several
regulations that have a direct impact on savings associations. Financial institutions must have a number of programs in place
to comply with this law, including: (i) a program to manage BSA/AML risk; (ii) a customer identification program designed
to determine the true identity of customers, document and verify the information, and determine whether the customer
appears on any federal government list of known or suspected terrorists or terrorist organizations; and (iii) a program for
monitoring for the timely detection and reporting of suspicious activity and reportable transactions. Failure to comply with
these requirements may result in regulatory action, including the issuance of cease and desist orders, impositions of civil
money penalties and adverse changes in an institution's regulatory ratings, which could adversely affect its ability to obtain
regulatory approvals for business combinations or other desired business objectives.
Privacy Protection
Broadway Federal is subject to OCC regulations implementing the privacy protection provisions of federal law. These
regulations require Broadway Federal to disclose its privacy policy, including identifying with whom it shares "nonpublic
personal information," to customers at the time of establishing the customer relationship and annually thereafter. The
regulations also require Broadway Federal to provide its customers with initial and annual notices that accurately reflect its
privacy policies and practices. In addition, to the extent its sharing of such information is not covered by an exception,
Broadway Federal is required to provide its customers with the ability to "opt-out" of having Broadway Federal share their
nonpublic personal information with unaffiliated third parties.
Broadway Federal is also subject to regulatory guidelines establishing standards for safeguarding customer information. The
guidelines describe the agencies' expectations for the creation, implementation and maintenance of an information security
program, which would include administrative, technical and physical safeguards appropriate to the size and complexity of the
institution and the nature and scope of its activities. The standards set forth in the guidelines are intended to ensure the
security and confidentiality of customer records and information, protect against any anticipated threats or hazards to the
security or integrity of such records and protect against unauthorized access to or use of such records or information that
could result in substantial harm or inconvenience to any customer.
Cybersecurity
In the ordinary course of business, we rely on electronic communications and information systems to conduct our operations
and to store sensitive data. We employ an in-depth, layered, defensive approach that leverages people, processes and
technology to manage and maintain cybersecurity controls. We employ a variety of preventative and detective tools to
monitor, block, and provide alerts regarding suspicious activity, as well as to report on any suspected advanced persistent
threats. Notwithstanding the strength of our defensive measures, the threat from cybersecurity attacks is severe, attacks are
sophisticated and increasing in volume, and attackers respond rapidly to changes in defensive measures. While to date we
have not experienced a significant compromise, significant data loss or any material financial losses related to cybersecurity
attacks, our systems and those of our customers and third-party service providers are under constant threat and it is possible
that we could experience a significant event in the future.
The federal banking agencies have adopted guidelines for establishing information security standards and cybersecurity
programs for implementing safeguards under the supervision of a banking organization's the board of
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directors. These guidelines, along with related regulatory materials, increasingly focus on risk management, processes related
to information technology and operational resiliency, and the use of third parties in the provision of financial services.
Risks and exposures related to cybersecurity attacks are expected to remain high for the foreseeable future due to the rapidly
evolving nature and sophistication of these threats, as well as due to the expanding use of Internet banking, mobile banking
and other technology-based products and services by us and our customers.
Savings and Loan Holding Company Regulation
As a savings and loan holding company, we are subject to the supervision, regulation, and examination of the FRB. In
addition, FRB has enforcement authority over the Company and our subsidiary Broadway Federal. Applicable statutes and
regulations administered by FRB place certain restrictions on our activities and investments. Among other things, we are
generally prohibited, either directly or indirectly, from acquiring more than 5% of the voting shares of any savings association
or savings and loan holding company that is not a subsidiary of the Company.
The Change in Bank Control Act prohibits a person, acting directly or indirectly or in concert with one or more persons, from
acquiring control of a savings and loan holding company unless the FRB has been given 60 days prior written notice of such
proposed acquisition and within that time period the FRB has not issued a notice disapproving the proposed acquisition or
extending for up to another 30 days the period during which a disapproval may be issued. The term "control" is defined for
this purpose to include ownership or control of, or holding with power to vote, 25% or more of any class of a savings and
loan holding company's voting securities. Under a rebuttable presumption contained in the regulations of the FRB, ownership
or control of, or holding with power to vote, 10% or more of any class of voting securities of a savings and loan holding
company will be deemed control for purposes of the Change in Bank Control Act if the institution (i) has registered securities
under Section 12 of the Exchange Act, or (ii) no person will own, control, or have the power to vote a greater percentage of
that class of voting securities immediately after the transaction. In addition, any company acting directly or indirectly or in
concert with one or more persons or through one or more subsidiaries would be required to obtain the approval of the FRB
under the Home Owners' Loan Act before acquiring control of a savings and loan holding company. For this purpose, a
company is deemed to have control of a savings and loan holding company if the company (i) owns, controls, holds with
power to vote, or holds proxies representing, 25% or more of any class of voting shares of the holding company,
(ii) contributes more than 25% of the holding company's capital, (iii) controls in any manner the election of a majority of the
holding company's directors, or (iv) directly or indirectly exercises a controlling influence over the management or policies of
the savings bank or other company. The FRB may also determine, based on the relevant facts and circumstances, that a
company has otherwise acquired control of a savings and loan holding company.
Restrictions on Dividends and Other Capital Distributions
In general, the prompt corrective action regulations prohibit a federal savings bank from declaring any dividends, making any
other capital distribution, or paying a management fee to a controlling person, such as its parent holding company, if,
following the distribution or payment, the institution would be within any of the three undercapitalized categories. In addition
to the prompt corrective action restriction on paying dividends, OCC regulations limit certain "capital distributions" by
savings associations. Capital distributions are defined to include, among other things, dividends and payments for stock
repurchases and payments of cash to stockholders in mergers.
Under the OCC capital distribution regulations, a federal savings bank that is a subsidiary of a savings and loan holding
company must notify the OCC at least 30 days prior to the declaration of any capital distribution by its federal savings bank
subsidiary. The 30-day period provides the OCC an opportunity to object to the proposed dividend if it believes that the
dividend would not be advisable.
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An application to the OCC for approval to pay a dividend is required if: (i) the total of all capital distributions made during
that calendar year (including the proposed distribution) exceeds the sum of the institution's year-to-date net income and its
retained income for the preceding two years; (ii) the institution is not entitled under OCC regulations to "expedited treatment"
(which is generally available to institutions the OCC regards as well run and adequately capitalized); (iii) the institution
would not be at least "adequately capitalized" following the proposed capital distribution; or (iv) the distribution would
violate an applicable statute, regulation, agreement, or condition imposed on the institution by the OCC.
The Bank's ability to pay dividends to the Company is also subject to the restriction that the Bank is not permitted to pay
dividends to the Company if its regulatory capital would be reduced below the amount required for the liquidation account
established in connection with the conversion of the Bank from the mutual to the stock form of organization.
See Item 5, "Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities"
and Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further description of dividend and other capital
distribution limitations to which the Company and the Bank are subject.
Tax Matters
Federal Income Taxes
We report our income on a calendar year basis using the accrual method of accounting and are subject to federal income
taxation in the same manner as other corporations with certain exceptions, including particularly the Bank's tax reserve for
bad debts. The Bank has qualified under provisions of the Internal Revenue Code (the "Code") that in the past allowed
qualifying savings institutions to establish reserves for bad debts, and to make additions to such reserves, using certain
preferential methodologies. In December 2017, Congress passed the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, which lowered our
federal income tax rate to 21% from 34% starting in year 2018. See Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for a further description of tax matters applicable to our business.
California Taxes
As a savings and loan holding company filing California franchise tax returns on a combined basis with its subsidiaries, the
Company is subject to California franchise tax at the rate applicable to "financial corporations." The applicable statutory tax
rate is 10.84%.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
We conduct our business through three branch offices and a corporate office. Our loan service operation is also conducted
from one of our branch offices. Our administrative and corporate operations are conducted from our corporate facility located
at 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500, Los Angeles. There are no mortgages, material liens or encumbrances against any of
our owned properties. We believe that all of the properties are adequately covered by insurance, and that our facilities are
adequate to meet our present needs.
As of December 31, 2018, the net book value of our investment in premises, equipment and fixtures, excluding computer
equipment, was $2.2 million. Total occupancy expense, inclusive of rental payments and furniture and
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equipment expense, for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $1.3 million. Total annual rental expense (exclusive of
operating charges and real property taxes) was approximately $593 thousand during 2018.

Leased or
Owned
Leased

Original
Date
Leased or
Acquired
2013

Date
of Lease
Expiration
April 2021

Branch Offices:
5055 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 100
Los Angeles, CA

Leased

2013

April 2021

170 N. Market Street
Inglewood, CA
(Branch Office/Loan Service Center)

Owned

1996

-

4001 South Figueroa Street
Los Angeles, CA

Owned

1996

-

Location
Administrative/Loan Origination Center:
5055 Wilshire Blvd, Suite 500
Los Angeles, CA

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of business, we are defendants in various litigation matters from time to time. In our opinion, the
disposition of any litigation and other legal and regulatory matters currently pending or threatened against us would not have
a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "BYFC." The table below shows the high and
low sale prices for our common stock during the periods indicated.
2018
High
Low

1st Quarter
$ 2.55
$ 1.95

2nd Quarter
$ 2.44
$ 1.92

3rd Quarter
$ 2.20
$ 1.38

4th Quarter
$ 1.60
$ 0.95

2017
High
Low

1st Quarter
$ 1.89
$ 1.47

2nd Quarter
$ 2.14
$ 1.63

3rd Quarter
$ 2.67
$ 1.91

4th Quarter
$ 2.60
$ 2.00

The closing sale price for our common stock on the Nasdaq Capital Market on March 9, 2019 was $1.45 per share. As of
March 8, 2019, we had 294 stockholders of record and 19,133,366 shares of voting common stock outstanding. At that date,
we also had 8,756,396 shares of non-voting common stock outstanding. Our non-voting common stock is not listed for
trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market, but is convertible into our voting common stock in connection with certain sale or
other transfer transactions.
In general, we may pay dividends out of funds legally available for that purpose at such times as our Board of Directors
determines that dividend payments are appropriate, after considering our net income, capital requirements, financial
condition, alternate investment options, prevailing economic conditions, industry practices and other factors deemed to be
relevant at the time. We suspended our prior policy of paying regular cash dividends in May 2010 in order to retain capital for
reinvestment in the Company's business.
Our financial ability to pay permitted dividends is primarily dependent upon receipt of dividends from Broadway Federal.
Broadway Federal is subject to certain requirements which may limit its ability to pay dividends or make other capital
distributions. See Item 1 "Business – Regulation" and Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8
"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for an explanation of the impact of regulatory capital requirements on
Broadway Federal's ability to pay dividends.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information about the Company's common stock that may be issued under equity compensation
plans as of December 31, 2018.

Plan category
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:
2008 Long Term Incentive Plan
2018 Long Term Incentive Plan
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders:
None
Total

Number of
securities to be
issued upon exercise
of outstanding
options
(a)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected
in column (a))
(c)

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding options
(b)

537,500 $
-

2.19
-

1,293,109

537,500 $

2.19

1,293,109

As of December 31, 2018, 120,483 shares of restricted stock and 48,908 shares of voting common stock had been issued
under the 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan. In addition, the Company had also awarded 97,195 and 129,270 of cash-settled
restricted stock units ("RSUs") under the 2008 LTIP. As of December 31, 2018, no shares had been issued under the 2018
LTIP. Our Board of Directors intends to consider issuing equity incentives to certain key employees as a form of long-term
compensation that will help align the interests of senior management with those of our stockholders. However, our ability to
issue options and other forms of equity incentives to our Chief Executive Officer is restricted pursuant to the terms of the
agreements entered into in 2008 and 2009 pursuant to which the U.S. Treasury Department invested in the Company, and the
related regulations under the Treasury Department's Troubled Asset Relief Program.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS
The following discussion is intended to provide a reader of our financial statements with a narrative from the perspective of
our management on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity and other factors that have affected our reported
results of operations and financial condition or may affect our future results or financial condition. Our MD&A should be
read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes included in Item 8, "Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data," of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
Total assets decreased by $4.3 million to $409.4 million at December 31, 2018 from $413.7 million at December 31, 2017.
The decrease in total assets during 2018 primarily consisted of a decrease of $16.1 million in loans receivable held for sale, a
decrease of $6.3 million in interest-bearing deposits held in other banks, and a decrease of $2.8 million in securities available
for sale, offset by an increase of $20.7 million in net loans receivable held for investment driven, in part, by a decrease of
$1.1 million in ALLL.
Total liabilities decreased by $5.0 million to $360.1 million at December 31, 2018 from $366.0 million at December 31,
2017. The decrease in total liabilities during 2018 resulted primarily from a decrease of $9.9 million in total deposits, offset
by an increase of $5.0 million in FHLB advances
We recorded net income of $815 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to $1.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2017. The decrease in net income during 2018 resulted primarily from a decrease in net interest income of
$1.6 million and a decrease in non-interest income of $1.7 million, offset by a decrease in income tax expense of $1.8 million.
Comparison of Operating Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2018 and 2017
General
Our most significant source of income is net interest income, which is the difference between our interest income and our
interest expense. Generally, interest income is generated from our loans and investments (interest-earning assets) and interest
expense is incurred from deposits and borrowings (interest-bearing liabilities). Typically, our results of operations are also
affected by our provision for or recapture of loan losses, non-interest income generated from service charges and fees on loan
and deposit accounts, gains or losses on the sale of loans and REO, non-interest expenses, and income taxes.
Net Interest Income
For the year ended December 31, 2018, net interest income decreased by $1.6 million to $10.3 million, from $11.9 million for
the same period in 2017.
Interest and fees on loans receivable decreased by $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the same
period a year ago, primarily due to a decrease of $14.8 million in the average balance of loans receivable, which decreased
interest income by $588 thousand, and a decrease of 14 basis points in the average yield on loans receivable, which reduced
loan interest income by $530 thousand. The decrease in the average balance of loans receivable reflected loan sales that the
Bank completed in the second half of 2017 and early 2018to maintain compliance with the lower loan concentration limits
that existed during that period.
Interest income on securities increased by $95 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the prior year,
primarily due to an increase of $2.6 million in the average balance of securities, which increased interest
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income by $66 thousand, and an increase of 21 basis points in the average yield on securities, which increased interest income
by $29 thousand.
Other interest income decreased by $27 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the prior year, primarily
due to a decrease of $15.0 million of the average interest-earning deposits, which decreased other interest income by
$232 thousand. This decrease was partially offset by an increase of 68 basis points in the average yield of interest-earning
deposits, which increased other interest income by $153 thousand, and an increase of $52 thousand in the interest earning on
FHLB stock, primarily due to a $47 thousand special dividend received during the fourth quarter of 2018.
Interest expense on deposits increased by $691 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the prior year,
primarily due to an increase of 29 basis points in the average cost of deposits, which increased interest expense by
$888 thousand. This increase was partially offset by the effects of a decrease of $12.7 million in the average balance of
deposits, which decreased interest expense by $197 thousand.
Interest expense on borrowings decreased by $110 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the prior
year, primarily due to a decrease of $14.6 million in the average balance of FHLB advances, which decreased interest
expense on borrowings by $307 thousand. This decrease was partially offset by an increase of 16 basis points in the average
cost of FHLB advances, which increased interest expense on borrowings by $141 thousand. The average cost of the
Company's junior subordinated debentures increased by 110 basis points, which increased interest expense on borrowings by
$56 thousand.
Analysis of Net Interest Income
Net interest income is the difference between income on interest-earning assets and the expense on interest-bearing liabilities.
Net interest income depends upon the relative amounts of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities and the
interest rates earned or paid on them. The following table sets forth average balances, average yields and costs, and certain
other information for the years indicated. All average balances are daily average balances. The yields set forth below include
the effect of deferred loan fees, deferred origination costs, and discounts and premiums that are amortized or accreted to
interest income or expense. We do not accrue interest on loans that are on non-accrual status; however, the balance of these
loans is included in the total average balance, which has the effect of reducing average loan yields.
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For the year ended December 31,
2018

(Dollars in Thousands)
Assets
Interest-earning assets:
Interest-earning deposits and other short-term
investments
Securities
Loans receivable (1)
FHLB stock
Total interest-earning assets
Non-interest-earning assets
Total assets
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Interest-bearing liabilities:
Money market deposits
Passbook deposits
NOW and other demand deposits
Certificate accounts
Total deposits
FHLB advances
Junior subordinated debentures
Total interest-bearing liabilities
Non-interest-bearing liabilities
Stockholders' Equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

Average
Balance

$

$

$

$

Net interest rate spread (4)

2017

Interest

15,470 $
16,019
366,453
2,916
400,858 $
10,225
411,083

294
413
14,279 (2)
251
15,237

Average
Yield/
Cost

Average
Balance

1.90% $
2.58%
3.90%
8.61%
3.80%
$

37,489 $
41,975
34,779
164,703
278,946
74,729
5,100
358,775 $
4,699
47,609
411,083

320
175
31
2,563
3,089
1,590
250
4,929

$

10,308

0.85% $
0.42%
0.09%
1.56%
1.11%
2.13%
4.90%
1.37%

$

Net interest rate margin (5)
Ratio of interest-earning assets to interest-bearing liabilities

2.43%
2.57%
111.73%

Interest

30,486 $
13,408
381,293
2,836
428,023 $
10,747
438,770

373
318
15,397 (3)
199
16,287

Average
Yield/
Cost

1.22%
2.37%
4.04%
7.02%
3.81%

38,318 $
39,064
32,275
181,993
291,650
89,279
5,100
386,029 $
5,587
47,154
438,770

268
125
20
1,985
2,398
1,756
194
4,348

0.70%
0.32%
0.06%
1.09%
0.82%
1.97%
3.80%
1.13%

$

11,939

2.68%
2.79%
110.88%

(1) Amount is net of deferred loan fees, loan discounts and loans in process, and includes deferred origination costs, loan
premiums and loans receivable held for sale.
(2) Includes non-accrual interest of $40 thousand, reflecting interest recoveries on non-accrual loans that were paid off,
and deferred cost amortization of $503 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2018.
(3) Includes non-accrual interest of $316 thousand, reflecting interest recoveries on non-accrual loans that were paid off,
and deferred cost amortization of $301 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2017.
(4) Net interest rate spread represents the difference between the yield on average interest-earning assets and the cost of
average interest-bearing liabilities.
(5) Net interest rate margin represents net interest income as a percentage of average interest-earning assets.
Changes in our net interest income are a function of changes in both rates and volumes of interest-earning assets and
interest-bearing liabilities. The following table sets forth information regarding changes in our interest income and expense
for the years indicated. Information is provided in each category with respect to (i) changes attributable to changes in volume
(changes in volume multiplied by prior rate), (ii) changes attributable to changes in rate
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(changes in rate multiplied by prior volume), and (iii) the total change. The changes attributable to the combined impact of
volume and rate have been allocated proportionately to the changes due to volume and the changes due to rate.
Year ended December 31, 2018
Year ended December 31, 2017
Compared to
Compared to
Year ended December 31, 2017
Year ended December 31, 2016
Increase (Decrease) in Net
Increase (Decrease) in Net
Interest Income
Interest Income
Due to
Due to
Due to
Due to
Volume
Rate
Total
Volume
Rate
Total
(In thousands)
Interest-earning assets:
Interest-earning deposits and other short-term investments
Securities
Loans receivable, net
FHLB stock
Total interest-earning assets

$

Interest-bearing liabilities:
Money market deposits
Passbook deposits
NOW and other demand deposits
Certificate accounts
Total deposits
FHLB advances
Junior subordinated debentures
Total interest-bearing liabilities
Change in net interest income

$

(232) $
66
(588)
6
(748)

153 $
29
(530)
46
(302)

(6)
10
2
(203)
(197)
(302)
0
(499)

58
40
9
781
888
141
51
1080

(249 ) $

(1,382 ) $

(79) $
95
(1,118)
52
(1,050)

52
50
11
578
691
(161)
51
581
(1,631 ) $

(25) $
(27)
1,638
29
1,615

72
8
1
40
121
348
469
1,146 $

230 $
22
(726)
(144)
(618)

205
(5)
912
(115)
997

38
(1)
60
97
(122)
27
2

110
8
100
218
226
27
471

(620 ) $

526

Loan Loss Provision Recapture
For the year ended December 31, 2018, we recorded a loan loss provision recapture of $1.3 million compared to $1.1 million
for the year ended December 31, 2017. The loan loss provision recapture for 2018 was due to the overall improvement in the
loan portfolio, which had a favorable impact on the environmental factors used in the Bank's analysis of the ALLL. See
"Allowance for Loan Losses" for additional information.
Non-Interest Income
For the year ended December 31, 2018, non-interest income decreased by $1.7 million compared to the same period in 2017.
The decrease in non-interest income was primarily due to a one-time insurance litigation settlement of $1.2 million received
during 2017. In addition, gain on sale of loans decreased by $490 thousand during 2018 compared to 2017 due primarily to a
decrease in the dollar amount of loans sold to $19.3 million in 2018 from $96.9 million in 2017.
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Non-Interest Expense
For the year ended December 31, 2018, our non-interest expense decreased by $281 thousand compared to the same period in
2017. The decrease in non-interest expense was primarily due to a decrease of $85 thousand in other expense as a result of a
$214 thousand expense associated with the sale of a portion of the shares of the Company's common stock owned by the U.S.
Treasury Department during 2017, partially offset by higher expenses of $88 thousand associated with the Bank's one
foreclosed property. In addition, professional services expenses decreased by $63 thousand, corporate insurance decreased by
$49 thousand, and compensation and benefits expenses decreased by $37 thousand during the year 2018 compared to 2017.
Income Taxes
We recorded an income tax income tax expense of $56 thousand for the year 2018. Income tax expense for the year 2018
resulted from a standard tax provision of $261 thousand, offset by tax credits of $205 thousand. For the year 2017, we
recorded income tax expense of $1.9 million. The tax expense for the year 2017 included an adjustment of $519 thousand to
record the Company's deferred tax assets at the lower federal corporate income tax rate of 21%.
The deferred tax asset totaled $5.0 million at December 31, 2018 and $5.1 million at December 31, 2017. See Note 1
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" and Note 11 "Income Taxes" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for a further discussion of income taxes and a reconciliation of income tax at the federal statutory tax rate to actual
tax expense (benefit).
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code imposes limitations on a corporation's ability to utilize net operating loss
carryforwards, tax credit carryovers and other income tax attributes when there is an ownership change. Generally, the rules
provide that an ownership change is deemed to have occurred when the cumulative increase of each 5% or more stockholder
and certain groups of stockholders treated as 5% or more stockholders, as determined under Section 382, exceeds 50% over a
specified "testing" period, generally equal to three years. Section 382 applies rules regarding the treatment of new groups of
stockholders treated as 5% stockholders due to issuances of stock and other equity transactions, which may cause a change of
control to occur. The Company has performed an analysis of the potential impact of Section 382 and has determined that the
Company did not undergo an ownership change during 2018 or 2017 and any potential limitations imposed under Section 382
do not currently apply.
Comparison of Financial Condition at December 31, 2018 and 2017
Total Assets
Total assets decreased by $4.3 million to $409.4 million at December 31, 2018 from $413.7 million at December 31, 2017.
The decline in total assets was primarily due to a decrease of $16.1 million in loans receivable held for sale, a decrease of
$6.3 million in interest-bearing deposits in other banks, and a decrease in securities available for sale of $2.8 million, offset
by an increase of $20.7 million in net loans receivable held for investment.
Loans Receivable Held for Sale
Loans receivable held for sale totaled $6.2 million as of December 31, 2018 compared to $22.4 million as of December 31,
2017. During 2018, the Bank originated $20.2 in loans held for sale during 2018, transferred $16.9 million to loans held for
investment, sold $19.3 million in loans held for sale and received $159 thousand in loan repayments on loans held for sale.
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Loans Receivable Held for Investment
Loans receivable held for investment, net of the allowance for loan losses, totaled $355.6 million at December 31, 2018,
compared to $334.9 million at December 31, 2017.
During 2018, the Bank originated $99.0 million in new loans, $96.0 million of which were multi-family loans. Of the
multi-family loans originated, we allocated $75.8 million, or 79%, to loans held for investment and $20.2 million, or 21%, to
loans held for sale. In addition, during 2018, we transferred $16.9 million of loans receivable held for sale to loans receivable
held for investment. At the end of the third quarter of 2018, the Bank requested and received written non-objection from the
OCC to increase the Bank's concentration of multi-family residential loans. The Bank also requested and received written
non-objection from the OCC to increase its concentration of non-multifamily commercial real estate loans, including the
sublimit for commercial land/construction loans.
There were no loan charge-offs during 2018 or 2017. During 2017, we received one deed in lieu of foreclosure and recorded
an REO at fair value, net of estimated selling costs, of $878 thousand at December 31, 2017. During 2018 this property was
written down by $45 thousand and is now recorded at a fair value, net of estimated selling costs of $833 thousand as of
December 31, 2018. No loans were transferred to REO during 2018.
Allowance for Loan Losses
We record a provision for loan losses as a charge to earnings when necessary in order to maintain the ALLL at a level
sufficient, in management's judgment, to absorb probable incurred losses in the loan portfolio. At least quarterly we conduct
an assessment of the overall quality of the loan portfolio and general economic trends in the local market. The determination
of the appropriate level for the allowance is based on that review, considering such factors as historical loss experience for
each type of loan, the size and composition of our loan portfolio, the levels and composition of our loan delinquencies,
non-performing loans and net loan charge-offs, the value of underlying collateral on problem loans, regulatory policies,
general economic conditions, and other factors related to the collectability of loans in the portfolio.
Our ALLL decreased to $2.9 million or 0.82% of our gross loans receivable held for investment at December 31, 2018
compared to $4.1 million, or 1.20% of our gross loans receivable held for investment at December 31, 2017, primarily
reflecting loan loss provision recaptures of $1.3 million, which were partially offset by recoveries of $114 thousand. The
reduction in ALLL at December 31, 2018 compared to December 31, 2017, and the loan loss provision recaptures during
2018, reflect the results of our quarterly reviews of the adequacy of the ALLL. We continue to maintain our ALLL at a level
that we believe is appropriate, given the significant reduction in delinquencies and non-performing loans, the continued
improvement in our asset credit quality metrics and the high quality of our loan originations.
Our loan delinquencies and non-performing loans ("NPLs") are at their lowest levels since December 2009. We had total
delinquencies of $35 thousand at December 31, 2018 compared to $391 thousand at December 31, 2017. NPLs consist of
delinquent loans that are 90 days or more past due and other loans, including troubled debt restructurings that do not qualify
for accrual status. At December 31, 2018, NPLs totaled $911 thousand compared to $1.8 million at December 31, 2017. The
decrease of $855 thousand in NPLs was primarily due to payoffs of $659 thousand, repayments of $196 thousand.
In connection with our review of the adequacy of our ALLL, we track the amount and percentage of our NPLs that are paying
currently, but nonetheless must be classified as NPL for reasons unrelated to payments, such as lack of current financial
information and an insufficient period of satisfactory performance. As of December 31, 2018, all of our $911 thousand of
NPLs were current in their payments. Also, in determining the ALLL, we consider the ratio of the ALLL to NPLs, which
increased to 321.51% at December 31, 2018 from 230.41% at December 31, 2017.
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When reviewing the adequacy of the ALLL, we also consider the impact of charge-offs, including the changes and trends in
loan charge-offs. There were no loan charge-offs during 2018 and 2017. In determining charge-offs, we update our estimates
of collateral values on NPLs by obtaining new appraisals at least every nine months. If the estimated fair value of the loan
collateral less estimated selling costs is less than the recorded investment in the loan, a charge-off for the difference is
recorded to reduce the loan to its estimated fair value, less estimated selling costs. Therefore, certain losses inherent in our
total NPLs are recognized periodically through charge-offs. The impact of updating these estimates of collateral value and
recognizing any required charge-offs is to increase charge-offs and reduce the ALLL required on these loans. Due to prior
charge-offs and increases in collateral values, the average recorded investment in NPLs was only 31%of estimated fair value
less estimated selling costs as of December 31, 2018.
Recoveries during 2018 and 2017 totaled $114 thousand and $566 thousand, respectively. Recoveries during 2018 and 2017
primarily resulted from the payoffs of non-accrual loans which had been previously partially charged off.
Impaired loans at December 31, 2018 were $6.4 million, compared to $9.3 million at December 31, 2017. The decrease of
$3.1 million in impaired loans was primarily due to payoffs and repayments. Specific reserves for impaired loans were
$227 thousand or 3.56% of the aggregate impaired loan amount at December 31, 2018 compared to $585 thousand, or 6.29%
of the aggregate impaired loan amount at December 31, 2017. Excluding specific reserves for impaired loans, our coverage
ratio (general allowance as a percentage of total non-impaired loans) was 0.77% at December 31, 2018 compared to 1.06% at
December 31, 2017. The decrease in the coverage ratio during 2018 was due to overall improvement in the credit quality of
the loan portfolio, which had a favorable impact on the environmental factors used in our analysis of the ALLL.
We believe that the ALLL is adequate to cover probable incurred losses in the loan portfolio as of December 31, 2018, but
there can be no assurance that actual losses will not exceed the estimated amounts. In addition, the OCC and the FDIC
periodically review the ALLL as an integral part of their examination process. These agencies may require an increase in the
ALLL based on their judgments of the information available to them at the time of their examinations.
Deposits
Deposits decreased by $9.9 million to $281.4 million at December 31, 2018 from $291.3 million at December 31, 2017,
which consisted of a decrease of $35.7 million in liquid deposits and an increase of $25.8 million in CDs. During 2018, one
deposit relationship of $25.0 million was moved to CDs from a money market account. Excluding this transfer, liquid
deposits decreased by $10.7 million and CDs increased by $775 thousand during 2018.
One customer relationship accounted for approximately 11% of our deposits at December 31, 2018. We expect to maintain
this relationship with the customer for the foreseeable future.
Borrowings
Total borrowings at December 31, 2018 consisted of advances to the Bank from the FHLB of $70.0 million, and subordinated
debentures issued by the Company of $5.1 million, compared to advances from the FHLB of $65.0 million and subordinated
debentures of $5.1 million at December 31, 2017. During 2018, the Bank paid off $27.5 million in maturing FHLB advances
and borrowed $32.5 million in new advances from the FHLB.
The weighted average cost of FHLB advances increased by 65 basis points to 2.51% at December 31, 2018 from 1.86% at
December 31, 2017 primarily due to the higher interest rate environment and the lengthening of maturities from an average of
18 months as of December 31, 2017 to 24 months as of December 31, 2018.
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Stockholders' Equity
Stockholders' equity was $48.4 million, or 11.83% of the Company's total assets, at December 31, 2018, compared to
$47.7 million, or 11.54% of the Company's total assets, at December 31, 2017. The Company's book value was $1.77 per
share as of December 31, 2018, compared to $1.74 per share as of December 31, 2017.
Capital Resources
Our principal subsidiary, Broadway Federal, must comply with capital standards established by the OCC in the conduct of its
business. Failure to comply with such capital requirements may result in significant limitations on its business or other
sanctions. As a "small bank holding company", we are not subject to consolidated capital requirements under the new Basel
III capital rules. The current regulatory capital requirements and possible consequences of failure to maintain compliance are
described in Part I, Item 1 "Business-Regulation" and in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Liquidity
The objective of liquidity management is to ensure that we have the continuing ability to fund operations and meet our
obligations on a timely and cost-effective basis. The Bank's sources of funds include deposits, advances from the FHLB,
other borrowings, proceeds from the sale of loans, REO, and investment securities, and payments of principal and interest on
loans and investment securities. The Bank is currently approved by the FHLB to borrow up to 30% of total assets to the
extent the Bank provides qualifying collateral and holds sufficient FHLB stock. This approved limit and collateral
requirement would have permitted the Bank to borrow an additional $54.6 million at December 31, 2018.
The Bank's primary uses of funds include withdrawals of and interest payments on deposits, originations of loans, purchases
of investment securities, and the payment of operating expenses. Also, when the Bank has more funds than required for
reserve requirements or short-term liquidity needs, the Bank invests excess cash with the Federal Reserve Bank or other
financial institutions. The Bank's liquid assets at December 31, 2018 consisted of $16.7 million in cash and cash equivalents
and $14.7 million in securities available-for-sale that were not pledged, compared to $22.2 million in cash and cash
equivalents and $17.0 million in securities available-for-sale that were not pledged at December 31, 2017. Currently, we
believe that the Bank has sufficient liquidity to support growth over the foreseeable future.
The Company's liquidity, separate from the Bank, is based primarily on the proceeds from financing transactions, such as the
private placements completed in August 2013, October 2014 and December 2016 and dividends received from the Bank in
2018, 2017, and 2016. The Bank is currently under no prohibition to pay dividends, but is subject to restrictions as to the
amount of the dividends based on normal regulatory guidelines.
The Company recorded consolidated net cash inflows from operating activities of $234 thousand and net cash outflows from
operating activities of $10.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Net cash inflows from
operating activities during 2018 were primarily attributable to proceeds from sales and repayments of loans receivable held
for sale of $19.6 million, offset by originations of loans receivable held for sale of $20.3 million and a loan loss provision
recapture of $1.3 million. Net cash outflows from operating activities during 2017 were primarily attributable to originations
of multi-family loans for the Bank's loans held for sale portfolio, which were partially offset by net proceeds from the sale of
loans.
The Company recorded consolidated net cash outflows from investing activities of $818 thousand and net cash inflows from
investing activities of $30.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Net cash outflows
from investing activities during 2018 were primarily attributable to a net increase in loans receivable held for investment of
$3.2 million, offset by principal repayments on available-for-sale securities of
37

Table of Contents
$2.4 million. Net cash inflows from investing activities during 2017 were primarily attributable to a net decrease in loans
receivable held for investment, due primarily to repayments on loans held for investment and principal repayments on
securities available-for-sale, which were partially offset by purchases of single-family loans and securities.
The Company recorded consolidated net cash outflows from financing activities of $5.0 million and $16.1 million during the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Net cash outflows from financing activities during 2018 were
primarily attributable to repayments on FHLB advances of $27.5 million and a net outflow of deposits of $9.9 million, offset
by an increase in proceeds from FHLB advances of $32.5 million. Net cash outflows from financing activities during 2017
were primarily attributable to repayments on FHLB advances, offset by an increase in proceeds from FHLB advances.
Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations
We are party to financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of our business, primarily in order to
meet the financing needs of our customers. These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit, interest rate and
liquidity risk. In accordance with GAAP, these instruments are either not recorded in the consolidated financial statements or
are recorded in amounts that differ from the notional amounts. Such instruments primarily include lending commitments and
lease commitments as described below.
Lending commitments include commitments to originate loans and to fund lines of credit. Commitments to extend credit are
agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition established in the commitment.
Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a fee by the
borrower. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts
do not necessarily represent future cash requirements. We evaluate creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. Our maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the contractual amount of the instruments.
In addition to our lending commitments, we have contractual obligations related to operating lease commitments. Operating
lease commitments are obligations under various non-cancellable operating leases on buildings and land used for office space
and banking purposes. The following table details our contractual obligations at December 31, 2018.

Less than
one year
Certificates of deposit
FHLB advances
Subordinated debentures
Commitments to originate loans
Commitments to fund unused lines of credit
Operating lease obligations
Total contractual obligations

$

$

More than
one year to
three years

133,654 $
8,000
765
10,875
1,153
516
154,963 $

36,939
62,000
2,040
711
101,690

More than
three years to
More than
five years
five years
(Dollars in thousands)
$
1,930 $
41 $
2,040
255
338
$
3,970 $
634 $

Total
172,564
70,000
5,100
10,875
1,491
1,227
261,257

Impact of Inflation and Changing Prices
Our consolidated financial statements, including accompanying notes, have been prepared in accordance with GAAP which
require the measurement of financial position and operating results primarily in terms of historical
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dollars without considering the changes in the relative purchasing power of money over time due to inflation. The impact of
inflation is reflected in increased costs of our operations. Unlike industrial companies, nearly all of our assets and liabilities
are monetary in nature. As a result, interest rates have a greater impact on our performance than do the effects of general
levels of inflation. Interest rates do not necessarily move in the same direction or to the same extent as the price of goods and
services.
Critical Accounting Policies
Critical accounting policies are those that involve significant judgments and assessments by management, and which could
potentially result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions. This discussion highlights those
accounting policies that management considers critical. All accounting policies are important, however, and therefore you are
encouraged to review each of the policies included in Note 1 "Summary of Significant Accounting Principles" of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements beginning at page F-8 to gain a better understanding of how our financial performance is
measured and reported. Management has identified the Company's critical accounting policies as follows:
Allowance for Loan Losses
The determination of the allowance for loan losses is considered critical due to the high degree of judgment involved, the
subjectivity of the underlying assumptions used, and the potential for changes in the economic environment that could result
in material changes in the amount of the allowance for loan losses considered necessary. The allowance is evaluated on a
regular basis by management and the Board of Directors and is based on a periodic review of the collectability of the loans in
light of historical experience, the nature and size of the loan portfolio, adverse situations that may affect borrowers' ability to
repay, the estimated value of any underlying collateral, prevailing economic conditions and feedback from regulatory
examinations. See Item 1, "Business – Asset Quality – Allowance for Loan Losses" for a full discussion of the allowance for
loan losses.
Real Estate Owned ("REO")
REO consists of property acquired through foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure and is recorded at the fair value, less
estimated costs to sell, at the time of acquisition. The excess, if any, of the loan balance over the fair value of the property at
the time of transfer from loans to REO is charged to the allowance for loan losses. Subsequent to the transfer to REO, if the
fair value of the property less estimated selling costs declines to an amount less than the carrying value of the property, the
deficiency is charged to income as a provision expense and a valuation allowance is established. Operating costs after
acquisition are expensed as incurred. Due to changing market conditions, there are inherent uncertainties in the assumptions
made with respect to the estimated fair value of REO. Therefore, the amount ultimately realized may differ from the amounts
reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined using the liability (or balance sheet) method. Under this method, the net
deferred tax asset or liability is determined based on the tax effects of the temporary differences between the book and tax
bases of the various balance sheet assets and liabilities and gives current recognition to changes in tax rates and laws. A
valuation allowance is established against deferred tax assets when, based upon the available evidence including historical
and projected taxable income, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In
assessing the realization of deferred tax assets, management evaluates both positive and negative evidence, including the
existence of any cumulative losses in the current year and the prior two years, the amount of taxes paid in available
carry-back years, forecasts of future income and available tax planning strategies. This analysis is updated quarterly. Based
on this analysis, we determined that no valuation allowance was required on our deferred tax assets, which totaled
$5.0 million and $5.1 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
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respectively. See Note 11 "Income Taxes" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8, "Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data."
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in the principal or
most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement
date. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair values:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to access
as of the measurement date.
Level 2: Significant observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a company's own assumptions about the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.
Fair values are estimated using relevant market information and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in Note 5 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment
regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments, and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for particular
items. Changes in assumptions or in market conditions could significantly affect the estimates.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements of Broadway Financial Corporation and Subsidiaries.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures
As of December 31, 2018, an evaluation was performed under the supervision of the Company's Chief Executive Officer
("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures. Based on that evaluation, the Company's CEO and CFO concluded that the Company's disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2018.
Management's annual report on internal control over financial reporting
The management of Broadway Financial Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting for the Company as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. This system, which
management has chosen to base on the framework set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework, published by the 1992
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"), and which is effected by the Company's
Board of Directors, management and other personnel, is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of
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financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.
The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the Directors of the Company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
Company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance
and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal controls
over financial reporting may vary over time.
With the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management has conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company's system of internal control over financial reporting. Based on this evaluation,
management determined that the Company's system of internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2018.
This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company's registered public accounting firm regarding
internal control over financial reporting. Management's report was not subject to attestation by the Company's registered
public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide
only management's report in this annual report.
Changes in internal control over financial reporting
There were no significant changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of 2018 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw

/s/ Brenda J. Battey

Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer)

Los Angeles, CA
March 29, 2019

Los Angeles, CA
March 29, 2019
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement, under the
captions "Election of Directors", "Executive Officers", "Code of Ethics" and "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance", to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Company's 2019 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the "Company's Proxy Statement").
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy Statement, under the
caption "Executive Compensation" and "Director Compensation".
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy Statement, under the
caption "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management".
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy Statement, under the
caption "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and "Election of Directors".
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy Statement, under the
caption "Ratification of the Appointment of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm".
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) 1. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.
2. Financial Statement Schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is
shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes included under Item 8, "Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data."
(b) List of Exhibits
Exhibit
Number*
3.1

3.2

Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant and all amendments thereto (Exhibit 3.1 to Form 10-Q filed
by Registrant on November 13, 2014)
Bylaws of Registrant (Exhibit 3.2 to Form 10-K filed by Registrant on March 28, 2016)
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Exhibit
Number*
10.1**

Broadway Federal Bank Employee Stock Ownership Plan (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-K filed by
Registrant on March 28, 2016)

10.2**

Amended and Restated Broadway Financial Corporation 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.3
to Form 10-Q filed by Registrant on August 12, 2016)

10.3**

Amended Form of Stock Option Agreement for stock options granted pursuant to Amended and
Restated Broadway Financial Corporation 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q
filed by Registrant on August 12, 2016)

10.4**

Award Agreement, dated March 30, 2016, for restricted stock granted to Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
pursuant to Broadway Financial Corporation 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2 to
Form 10-Q filed by Registrant on August 12, 2016)

10.5**

Broadway Financial Corporation 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

10.6**

Form of Award Agreement for grants of restricted stock pursuant to Broadway Financial Corporation
2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

10.7**

Employment Agreement, dated as of March 22, 2017, for Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw.

10.8**

Award Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2017 for grant of restricted stock units to Wayne-Kent A.
Bradshaw pursuant to Broadway Financial Corporation 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan.

10.9**

Award Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2018 for grant of restricted stock units to Wayne-Kent A.
Bradshaw pursuant to Broadway Financial Corporation 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan.

10.10**

Award Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2019 for grant of restricted stock to Wayne-Kent A.
Bradshaw pursuant to Broadway Financial Corporation 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

10.11**

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2017, for Brenda J. Battey.

10.12**

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2017, for Norman Bellefeuille.

10.13**

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2017, for Ruth McCloud.

10.14**

Broadway Federal Bank Incentive Compensation Plan.

10.15

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2016, entered into among United States
Treasury Department, Registrant, First Republic Bank and Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b., Employee
Stock Ownership Plan (Exhibit 10.7 to Form 10-K filed by Registrant on March 27, 2017)

10.16

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2016, entered into between First Republic Bank
and Registrant (Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-K filed by Registrant on March 27, 2017)

10.17

Exchange Agreement, dated as December 21, 2016, entered into between CJA Private Financial
Restructuring Master Fund I L.P. and Registrant (Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-K filed by Registrant on
March 27, 2017)

10.18

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2016, entered into between Bank of Hope and
Registrant (Exhibit 10.10 to Form 10-K filed by Registrant on March 27, 2017)

10.19

Stock Purchase and Exchange Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2016, entered into between
National Community Investment Fund and Registrant (Exhibit 10.11 to Form 10-K filed by Registrant
on March 27, 2017)

10.20

ESOP Loan Agreement and ESOP Pledge Agreement, each dated as of December 19, 2016, entered
into between Registrant and Nicholas L. Saakvitne, as trustee for the Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b.,
Employee Stock Ownership Plan Trust, and related Promissory Note, dated as of December 19, 2016
(Exhibit 10.12 to Form 10-K filed by Registrant on March 27, 2017)
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Exhibit
Number*
21.1

List of Subsidiaries (Exhibit 21.1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed by Registrant on
November 20, 2013)

23.1

Consent of Moss Adams LLP

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.4

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Interim Final Rule – TARP Standards for
Compensation and Corporate Governance at 31 CFR Part 30

99.5

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Interim Final Rule – TARP Standards for
Compensation and Corporate Governance at 31 CFR Part 30)

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitions Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*

Exhibits followed by a parenthetical reference are incorporated by reference herein from the document filed by the
Registrant with the SEC described therein. Except as otherwise indicated, the SEC File No. for each incorporated
document is 000-27464.

**

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION
By:

Date:

/s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
March 29, 2019

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw

Date: March 29, 2019

Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Brenda J. Battey

Date: March 29, 2019

Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Virgil P. Roberts

Date: March 29, 2019

Virgil P. Roberts
Chairman of the Board
/s/ Robert C. Davidson, Jr.

Date: March 29, 2019

Robert C. Davidson, Jr.
Director
/s/ Jack T. Thompson

Date: March 29, 2019

Jack T. Thompson
Director
/s/ Daniel A. Medina

Date: March 29, 2019

Daniel A. Medina
Director
/s/ Dutch C. Ross III

Date: March 29, 2019

Dutch C. Ross III
Director
/s/ Erin Selleck

Date: March 29, 2019

Erin Selleck
Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of
Broadway Financial Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Broadway Financial Corporation and
Subsidiary (the "Company") as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of income and
comprehensive income, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit
of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our
audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
San Francisco, California
March 29, 2019
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2014.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017
(In thousands, except share and per share)
Assets:
Cash and due from banks
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities available-for-sale, at fair value
Loans receivable held for sale, at lower of cost or fair value
Loans receivable held for investment, net of allowance of
$2,929 and $4,069
Accrued interest receivable
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) stock
Office properties and equipment, net
Bank owned life insurance
Deferred tax assets, net
Investment in affordable housing limited partnership
Real estate owned (REO)
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

4,124
12,527
16,651
14,722
6,231
355,556
1,143
2,916
2,242
3,047
5,045
342
833
669
409,397

$

$

3,420
18,799
22,219
17,494
22,370
334,851
1,073
2,916
2,406
2,994
5,110
537
878
856
413,704

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Liabilities:
Deposits
FHLB advances
Junior subordinated debentures
Advance payments by borrowers for taxes and insurance
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Total liabilities

$

281,414
70,000
5,100
1,055
3,392
360,961

$

291,290
65,000
5,100
1,071
3,512
365,973

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14)
Stockholders' Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorized 1,000,000 shares;
none issued or outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par value, voting, authorized
50,000,000 shares at December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017; issued 21,280,228 shares at
December 31, 2018 and 21,312,649 shares at
December 31, 2017; outstanding 18,662,402 shares at
December 31, 2018 and 18,694,823 shares at
December 31, 2017
Common stock, $.01 par value, non-voting, authorized
25,000,000 shares at December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017; issued and outstanding 8,756,396
shares at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Unearned Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) shares
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Treasury stock-at cost, 2,617,826 shares at December 31,
2018 and at December 31, 2017
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$

—

—

213

213

87
46,141
8,631
(1,027)
(283)

87
46,117
7,816
(1,095)
(81)

(5,326)
48,436
409,397

(5,326)
47,731
413,704

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
Year Ended December 31,
2018
2017
(In thousands, except per share)
Interest Income:
Interest and fees on loans receivable
Interest on mortgage-backed securities and other securities
Other interest income
Total interest income
Interest Expense:
Interest on deposits
Interest on borrowings
Total interest expense
Net interest income before loan loss provision recapture
Loan loss provision recapture
Net interest income after loan loss provision recapture
Non-Interest Income:
Service charges
Net gain on sales of loans
CDFI grant
Income from litigation settlement
Other
Total non-interest income
Non-Interest Expense:
Compensation and benefits
Occupancy expense
Information services
Professional services
Office services and supplies
Loan related expenses
Corporate insurance
Amortization of investment in affordable housing limited partnership
Other
Total non-interest expense
Income before income taxes
Income tax expense
Net income

$

$

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:
Unrealized losses on securities available-for-sale arising during the period
Income tax benefit
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Comprehensive income

$

14,279
413
545
15,237

$

15,397
318
572
16,287

3,089
1,840
4,929
10,308
1,254
11,562

2,398
1,950
4,348
11,939
1,100
13,039

449
70
233
—
113
865

446
560
227
1,183
114
2,530

7,055
1,278
822
653
289
167
147
195
950
11,556
871
56
815

7,092
1,278
818
716
302
205
196
195
1,035
11,837
3,732
1,863
1,869

$
$

$

(292 )
90
(202 )
613

$

(98 )
54
(44 )
1,825

Earnings per common share-basic

$

0.03

$

0.07

Earnings per common share-diluted

$

0.03

$

0.07

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity
(In thousands, except share and per share)

Common
Shares
Issued
Balance at December 31,
2016
Net income
Common stock issued for
services
Release of unearned ESOP
shares
Change in unrealized loss
on securities
available-for-sale, net of
tax
Reclassification from
accumulated other
comprehensive loss to
retained earnings
Restricted stock
compensation expense
Stock-based compensation
expense
Balance at December 31,
2017
Net income
Common stock issued for
services
Common stock repurchased
for tax withholdings
Release of unearned ESOP
shares
Change in unrealized loss
on securities
available-for-sale, net of
tax
Restricted stock
compensation expense
Stock-based compensation
expense
Balance at December 31,
2018

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Common
Stock

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss, Net

Unearned
ESOP shares

Total
Stockholders'
Equity

Treasury
Stock

30,039,043 $
-

299 $
-

45,819 $
-

6,013 $
1,869

(1,176) $
-

(103) $
-

(5,326) $
-

30,002

1

52

-

-

-

-

53

-

-

23

-

81

-

-

104

-

-

-

-

-

(44)

-

(44)

-

-

-

(66)

-

66

-

-

-

-

184

-

-

-

-

184

-

-

39

-

-

-

-

39

30,069,045
-

300
-

46,117
-

7,816
815

(1,095 )
-

(81 )
-

(5,326 )
-

47,731
815

18,906

-

45

-

-

-

-

45

(51,327)

-

(108)

-

-

-

-

(108)

-

-

12

-

68

-

-

80

-

-

-

-

-

(202)

-

(202)

-

-

36

-

-

-

-

36

-

-

39

-

-

-

-

39

300 $

46,141 $

8,631 $

(1,027 ) $

(283 ) $

(5,326 ) $

30,036,624 $

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31
2018
2017
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Loan loss provision recaptures
Provision for losses on REO
Depreciation
Net amortization of deferred loan origination costs
Net amortization of premiums on mortgage-backed securities
Amortization of investment in affordable housing limited partnership
Stock-based compensation expense
Stocks granted to directors
ESOP compensation expense
Earnings on bank owned life insurance
Originations of loans receivable held for sale
Proceeds from sales and repayments of loans receivable held for sale
Gain on sale of loans receivable held for sale
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Net change in deferred taxes
Net change in accrued interest receivable
Net change in other assets
Net change in advance payments by borrowers for taxes and insurance
Net change in accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net change in loans receivable held for investment
Purchase of loans receivable held for investment
Purchase of available-for-sale securities
Principal payments on available-for-sale securities
Purchase of FHLB stock
Additions to office properties and equipment
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net change in deposits
Proceeds from FHLB advances
Repayments on FHLB advances
Payment for tax withholding for vesting of restricted stock
Net cash used in financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Transfers of loans receivable held for investment to REO
Transfers of loans receivable held for investment to loans receivable held for sale
Transfers of loans receivable held for sale to loans receivable held for investment

$

$

$

1,869

(1,254 )
45
241
605
36
195
75
45
80
(53 )
(20,288 )
19,626
(70 )

(1,100 )
80
256
306
34
195
223
53
104
(54 )
(110,829 )
98,356
(560 )

155
(70 )
187
(16 )
(120 )
234

1,851
105
332
243
(1,690 )
(10,226 )

(3,185 )
2,444
(77 )
(818 )

59,742
(24,640 )
(6,677 )
2,253
(343 )
(183 )
30,152

(9,876 )
32,500
(27,500 )
(108 )
(4,984 )
(5,568 )
22,219
16,651

3,863
29,500
(49,500 )
(16,137 )
3,789
18,430
22,219

$

$

4,898
-

$

4,199
20

$

16,871

$

958
9,337
-

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2018 and 2017
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation
Broadway Financial Corporation (the "Company") is a Delaware corporation primarily engaged in the savings and loan
business through its wholly owned subsidiary, Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. (the "Bank"). The Bank's business is that of a
financial intermediary and consists primarily of attracting deposits from the general public and using such deposits, together
with borrowings and other funds, to make mortgage loans secured by residential and commercial real estate located in
Southern California. At December 31, 2018, the Bank operated two retail-banking offices in Los Angeles, California and one
in the nearby city of Inglewood, California. The Bank is subject to significant competition from other financial institutions,
and is also subject to regulation by certain federal agencies and undergoes periodic examinations by those regulatory
authorities.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Broadway
Federal Bank, f.s.b. All significant inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates
To prepare consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"),
management makes estimates and assumptions based on available information. These estimates and assumptions affect the
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and the disclosures provided, and actual results could differ from
these estimates. The allowance and provision for loan losses, specific reserves for impaired loans, fair value of real estate
owned, deferred tax asset valuation allowance, and fair values of investment securities and other financial instruments are
particularly subject to change.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash items in the process of collection, amounts due from correspondent
banks and the Federal Reserve Bank, and interest-bearing deposits in other banks with initial terms of ninety days or less. The
Company may be required to maintain reserve and clearing balances with the Federal Reserve Bank under the Federal
Reserve Act. The reserve and clearing requirement balance was $0 at December 31, 2018. Net cash flows are reported for
customer loan and deposit transactions, interest-bearing deposits in other banks, deferred income taxes and other assets and
liabilities.
Investment Securities
Debt securities are classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost when management has the positive intent and
ability to hold them to maturity. Debt securities are classified as available-for-sale when they might be sold before maturity.
Securities available-for-sale are carried at fair value, with unrealized holding gains and losses reported in other
comprehensive income (loss), net of tax.
Interest income includes amortization of purchase premium or discount. Premiums and discounts on securities are amortized
on the level-yield method without anticipating prepayments. Gains and losses on sales are recorded on the trade date and
determined using the specific identification method.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017
Management evaluates securities for other-than-temporary impairment ("OTTI") on at least a quarterly basis, and more
frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such an evaluation. Consideration is given to the financial condition
and near-term prospects of the issuer, the length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the cost, and
the intent and ability of management to retain its investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any
anticipated recovery in fair value. In analyzing an issuer's financial condition, management considers whether the securities
are issued by the federal government or its agencies, whether downgrades by bond rating agencies have occurred, and the
results of reviews of the issuer's financial condition.
Loans Receivable Held for Sale
The Bank originates loans for sale, but may, from time-to-time, decide to sell certain loans that are held for investment in
order to manage loan concentrations. When a decision is made to sell a loan(s), such loan(s) is transferred from
held-for-investment portfolio to held-for-sale portfolio at the lower of cost or fair value. If a reduction in value is required at
time of the transfer, a charge-off is recorded against the allowance for loan losses ("ALLL"). Any subsequent decline in value
of the loan(s) is recorded as a valuation allowance with a corresponding charge to non-interest expense.
Transfers of loans are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been surrendered. Control over transferred
assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been legally isolated from the Bank, (2) the transferee obtains the
right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right), to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and
provides no more than a trivial benefit to the Bank, and (3) the Bank does not maintain effective control over the transferred
assets.
Loans receivable held for sale are generally sold with servicing rights released. Gains and losses on sales of loans are based
on the difference between the selling price and the carrying value of the related loan sold. When loans receivable held for sale
are sold, existing deferred loan fees or costs are an adjustment of the gain or loss on sale.
Loans Receivable Held for Investment
Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are reported at
the principal balance outstanding, net of allowance for loan losses, deferred loan fees and costs and unamortized premiums
and discounts. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct loan
origination costs, premiums and discounts are deferred, and recognized in income using the level-yield method without
anticipating prepayments.
Interest income on all loans is discontinued at the time the loan is 90 days delinquent unless the loan is well-secured and in
process of collection. Past due status is based on the contractual terms of the loan. In all cases, loans are placed on
non-accrual or charged-off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful.
All interest accrued but not received for loans placed on non-accrual is reversed against interest income. Interest received on
such loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost recovery method, until qualifying for return to accrual. Loans are
returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future
payments are reasonably assured.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017
Concentration of Credit Risk
Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of customers are engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the
same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be
similarly affected by changes in economic conditions. The Company's lending activities are predominantly in real estate loans
that are secured by properties located in Southern California and many of the borrowers reside in Southern California.
Therefore, the Company's exposure to credit risk is significantly affected by changes in the economy and real estate market in
the Southern California area.
The Company has a significant concentration of deposits with a long-time customer that accounted for approximately 11% of
its deposits as of December 31, 2018. The Company expects to maintain this relationship with the customer for the near term.
Loans Purchased
The Bank purchases or participates in loans originated by other institutions from time to time. Subject to regulatory
restrictions applicable to savings institutions, the Bank's current loan policies allow all loan types to be purchased. The
determination to purchase specific loans or pools of loans is based upon the Bank's investment needs and market
opportunities and is subject to the Bank's underwriting policies, which require consideration of the financial condition of the
borrower and the appraised value of the property, among other factors. Premiums or discounts incurred upon the purchase of
loans are recognized in income using the interest method over the estimated life of the loans, adjusted for actual prepayments.
No loans were purchased during 2018 compared to the purchases of $24.6 million of single family loans at par in 2017.
Allowance for Loan Losses
The allowance for loan losses is a valuation allowance for probable incurred credit losses. Loan losses are charged against the
allowance when management believes the uncollectability of a loan balance is confirmed. Subsequent cash recoveries, if any,
are credited to the allowance. Management estimates the allowance balance required using past loan loss experience, the
nature and volume of the portfolio, information about specific borrower situations and estimated collateral values, economic
conditions, and other factors. Allocations of the allowance may be made for specific loans, but the entire allowance is
available for any loan that, in management's judgment, could be charged off. In addition, the OCC and FDIC periodically
review the allowance for loan losses as an integral part of their examination process. These agencies may require an increase
in the allowance for loan losses based on their judgments of the information available to them at the time of their
examinations.
The allowance consists of specific and general components. The specific component relates to loans that are individually
classified as impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Company will be unable to
collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Loans for which the terms have been
modified resulting in a concession, and for which the borrower is experiencing financial difficulties, are considered troubled
debt restructurings ("TDR") and classified as impaired.
Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value, and the probability of
collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and
payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. Management determines the significance of payment delays and
payment shortfalls on case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017
circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the
borrower's prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed.
If a loan is impaired, either a portion of the allowance is allocated so that the loan is reported, net, at the present value of
estimated future cash flows using the loan's existing rate or alternatively a charge-off is taken to record the loan at the fair
value of the collateral, less estimated selling costs, if repayment is expected solely from the collateral.
TDRs are individually evaluated for impairment and included in the separately identified impairment disclosures. TDRs are
measured at the present value of estimated future cash flows using the loan's effective rate at inception. If a TDR is
considered to be a collateral dependent loan, the loan is reported, net, at the fair value of the collateral. For TDRs that
subsequently default, the Company determines the amount of any necessary additional charge-off based on internal analyses
and appraisals of the underlying collateral securing these loans.
The general component covers loans that are collectively evaluated for impairment and is based on historical loss experience
adjusted for current factors. The historical loss experience is determined by portfolio segment with the use of a loss migration
analysis and is based on the actual loss history experienced by the Company over the most recent five years. This actual loss
experience is supplemented with information about other current economic factors based on the risks present for each
portfolio segment. These current economic factors include consideration of the following: levels of and trends in
delinquencies and impaired loans; levels of and trends in charge-offs and recoveries; trends in volume and terms of loans;
effects of any changes in risk selection and underwriting standards; other changes in lending policies, procedures, and
practices; experience, ability, and depth of lending management and other relevant staff; national and local economic trends
and conditions; industry conditions; and effects of changes in credit concentrations.
The following portfolio segments have been identified: one-to-four units ("single family"), five or more units
("multi-family"), commercial real estate, church, construction, commercial loans, and consumer loans. The risks in our
various portfolio segments are as follows:
Single Family – Subject to adverse employment conditions in the local economy leading to increased default rate; decreased
market values from oversupply in a geographic area; impact on borrowers' ability to maintain payments in the event of
incremental rate increases on adjustable rate mortgages.
Multi-Family – Subject to adverse various market conditions that cause a decrease in market value or lease rates; change in
personal funding sources for tenants; oversupply of units in a specific region; a shift in population; reputational risks.
Commercial Real Estate – Subject to adverse conditions in the local economy which may lead to reduced cash flows due to
vacancies and reduced rental rates; decreases in the value of underlying collateral.
Church – Subject to adverse economic and employment conditions leading to reduced cash flows from members' donations
and offerings; the stability, quality and popularity of church leadership.
Construction – Subject to adverse conditions in the local economy which may lead to reduced demand for new commercial,
multi-family or single family buildings or reduced lease or sale opportunities once the building is complete.
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017
Commercial – Subject to industry and economic conditions including decreases in product demand.
Consumer – Subject to adverse employment conditions in the local economy, which may lead to higher default rates.
Real Estate Owned
Assets acquired through, or instead of, loan foreclosure are initially recorded at fair value less estimated costs to sell when
acquired, establishing a new cost basis. These assets are subsequently accounted for at lower of cost or fair value less
estimated costs to sell. If fair value declines subsequent to foreclosure, a valuation allowance is recorded through a provision
that is charged to non-interest expense. Operating costs after acquisition are expensed as incurred.
Office Properties and Equipment
Land is carried at cost. Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Buildings and related
components are depreciated using the straight-line method with useful lives ranging from 10 to 40 years. Furniture, fixtures
and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method with useful lives ranging from 3 to 10 years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is shorter.
Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) stock
The Bank is a member of the FHLB system. Members are required to own a certain amount of stock based on the level of
borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts. FHLB stock is carried at cost, classified as a restricted
security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on ultimate recovery of par value. Both cash and stock dividends
are reported as income when declared.
Bank-Owned Life Insurance
The Bank has purchased life insurance policies on a former key executive. Bank owned life insurance is recorded at the
amount that can be realized under the insurance contract at the balance sheet date, which is the cash surrender value adjusted
for other charges or other amounts due that are probable at settlement.
Investment in Affordable Housing Limited Partnership
The Bank owns a less than 5% interest in an affordable housing limited partnership. The investment is recorded using the cost
method and is being amortized over the life of the related tax credits. The tax credits are being recognized in income tax
expense in the consolidated financial statements to the extent they are utilized on the Company's income tax returns. The
investment is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or on an interim basis if an event occurs that would trigger
potential impairment.
Loan Commitments and Related Financial Instruments
Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments to make loans and commercial
letters of credit, issued to meet customer financing needs. The face amount for these items represents
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BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017
the exposure to loss, before considering customer collateral or ability to repay. Such financial instruments are recorded when
they are funded.
Revenue Recognition
ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("ASC 606"), establishes principles for reporting information about the
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the entity's contracts to provide goods or
services to customers. The core principle requires the Company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that it expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those
goods or services recognized as performance obligations are satisfied. The majority of our revenue-generating transactions
are not subject to ASC 606, including revenue generated from financial instruments, such as our loans and investment
securities, as these activities are subject to other GAAP discussed elsewhere within our disclosures. The Company's revenue
stream that is within the scope of Topic 606 is primarily service charges on deposit accounts, which consist of monthly
service fees, check orders, and other deposit account related fees. The Company's performance obligation for monthly service
fees is generally satisfied, and the related revenue recognized, over the period in which the service is provided. Check orders
and other deposit account related fees are largely transaction based, and therefore, the Company's performance obligation is
satisfied, and related revenue recognized, at a point in time. Payment for service charges on deposit accounts is primarily
received immediately or in the following month through a direct charge to customers' accounts.
Restricted Stock Units
The Company may grant cash-settled restricted stock units ("RSUs") to its employees. Compensation cost is recognized over
the vesting period based on the fair value of the award, which is re-measured at each reporting period. The fair value of the
award is classified as a liability in the consolidated statements of financial condition.
Stock-Based Compensation
Compensation cost is recognized for stock options and restricted stock awards issued to employees, based on the fair value of
these awards at the date of grant. A Black-Scholes model is utilized to estimate the fair value of stock options, while the
market price of the Company's common stock at the date of grant is used for restricted stock awards.
Compensation cost is recognized over the required service period, generally defined as the vesting period. For awards with
graded vesting, compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the entire award.
The Company's accounting policy is to recognize forfeitures as they occur.
Income Taxes
Income tax expense is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the expected future tax amounts for the temporary differences between
carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, computed using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance, if needed,
reduces deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.
A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is "more likely than not" that the tax position would be sustained in a tax
examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount recognized is the largest amount
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017
of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination. For tax positions not meeting the "more likely
than not" test, no tax benefit is recorded.
The Company recognizes interest related to income tax matters in interest expense and penalties related to tax matters in
income tax expense.
Retirement Plans
Employee 401(k) expense is the amount of matching contributions made by the Company.
Employee Stock Ownership Plan
The cost of shares issued to the ESOP, but not yet allocated to participants, is shown as a reduction of shareholders' equity.
Compensation expense is based on the market price of shares as they are committed to be released to participant accounts.
Dividends on allocated ESOP shares reduce retained earnings; dividends on unearned ESOP shares reduce debt and accrued
interest.
Earnings Per Common Share
Basic earnings per share of common stock is computed pursuant to the two-class method by dividing net income available to
common stockholders less dividends paid on participating securities (unvested shares of restricted common stock) and any
undistributed earnings attributable to participating securities by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the
period. The weighted average common shares outstanding includes the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding less the weighted average number of unvested shares of restricted common stock. ESOP shares are considered
outstanding for this calculation unless unearned. Diluted earnings per share of common stock includes the dilutive effect of
unvested stock awards and additional potential common shares issuable under stock options.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income or loss. Other comprehensive
income or loss includes unrealized gains and losses on securities available-for-sale, net of tax, which are also recognized as
separate components of equity.
Loss Contingencies
Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded as liabilities
when the likelihood of loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. Management does not
believe that any such matters existed as of the balance sheet date that will have a material effect on the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in the principal or
most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement
date. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair values:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to access
as of the measurement date.
Level 2: Significant observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a company's own assumptions about the assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.
Fair values are estimated using relevant market information and other assumptions, as more fully disclosed in Note 5. Fair
value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment regarding interest rates, credit risk, prepayments,
and other factors, especially in the absence of broad markets for particular items. Changes in assumptions or in market
conditions could significantly affect the estimates.
Operating Segments
The Company operates as a single segment. The operating information used by management to assess performance and make
operating decisions about the Company is the consolidated financial data presented in these financial statements. For the
years ended 2018 and 2017, the Company had one active operating subsidiary, Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. The Company
has determined that banking is its one reportable business segment.
Reclassifications
Some items in the prior year consolidated financial statements were reclassified to conform to the current presentation.
Reclassifications had no effect on prior year consolidated net income or stockholders' equity.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2014-09,
"Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)". ASU 2014-09 supersedes and replaces nearly all existing revenue
recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance, establishes a new control-based revenue recognition model,
changes the basis for deciding when revenue is recognized over time or at a point in time, provides new and more detailed
guidance on specific topics and expands and improves disclosures about revenue. In addition, this amendment specifies the
accounting for some costs to obtain or fulfill a contract with a customer. These amendments are effective for public business
entities for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting
period. On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2014-09 and all subsequent ASUs that modified Topic 606. The
adoption did not have a material impact on the measurement or recognition of revenue; as such, a modified retrospective
cumulative effect adjustment to beginning retained earnings was not deemed necessary. Results for reporting periods
beginning after
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January 1, 2018 are presented under Topic 606, while prior period amounts were not adjusted and continue to be reported in
accordance with our historic accounting under Topic 605.
Topic 606 does not apply to revenue associated with financial instruments, including revenue from loans and securities. In
addition, certain non-interest income streams such as fees associated with mortgage servicing rights, financial guarantees,
derivatives, and certain credit card fees are also not in scope of the new guidance. Topic 606 is applicable to non-interest
revenue streams such as trust and asset management income, deposit related fees, interchange fees, merchant income, and
annuity and insurance commissions. The Company's revenue streams that are within the scope of Topic 606 are primarily
services charges on deposit accounts, which consist of monthly service fees, check orders, and other deposit account related
fees. The Company's performance obligation for monthly service fees is generally satisfied, and the related revenue
recognized, over the period in which the service is provided. Check orders and other deposit account related fees are largely
transactional based, and therefore, the Company's performance obligation is satisfied, and related revenue recognized, at a
point in time. Payment for service charges on deposit accounts is primarily received immediately or in the following month
through a direct charge to customers' accounts.
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-01, "Financial Instruments – Overall (Subtopic 825-10) – Recognition and
Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities". ASU 2016-01 (i) amends existing guidance that requires equity
investments (except those accounted for under the equity method of accounting, or those that result in consolidation of the
investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. It requires public business entities
to use the exit price notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes. It requires separate
presentation of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset (i.e., securities or
loans and receivables). It eliminates the requirement for public business entities to disclose the method(s) and significant
assumptions used to estimate the fair value that is required to be disclosed for financial instruments measured at amortized
cost. These amendments are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017,
including interim periods within those fiscal years. Adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the
Company's consolidated financial statements. In accordance with this standard, the Company measured the fair value of its
financial assets and financial liabilities as of December 31, 2018 using an exit price notion (see Note 5 Fair Value).
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash
Receipts and Cash Payments". ASU 2016-15 provides guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments on
the consolidated statement of cash flows in order to reduce diversity in practice. ASU 2016-15 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Adoption of this standard did not
have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, "Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash". ASU 2016-18
requires entities to show the changes in the total of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in
the statement of cash flows. As a result, entities will no longer present transfers between cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-18 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those fiscal years, where the guidance should be
applied using a retrospective transition method to each period presented. Early adoption is permitted. Adoption of this
standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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In February 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2018-02, "Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects
from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Topic 220)", which allows an entity to elect a reclassification from
accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) to retained earnings for the stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act. The amount of that reclassification should include the effect of changes of tax rate on the deferred tax
amount, any related valuation allowance and other income tax effects on the items in AOCI. The standard requires an entity
to state if an election to reclassify the tax effect to retained earnings is made along with the description of other income tax
effects that are reclassified from AOCI. The guidance is effective for public business entities for annual periods beginning on
or after December 15, 2018 and interim periods within those annual periods with early adoption permitted. The Company
early adopted this amendment and has elected to reclassify $66 thousand from AOCI to retained earnings at December 31,
2017.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Yet to Be Adopted
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)", which is intended to increase transparency and
comparability in the accounting for lease transactions. Under ASU 2016-02, lessees will be required to recognize all leases
longer than twelve months on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition as lease assets and lease liabilities and
make quantitative and qualitative disclosures regarding key information about leasing arrangements. Under the new guidance,
lessor accounting is largely unchanged. These amendments are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. ASU 2016-02 will
be effective for us on January 1, 2019 and will require transition using a modified retrospective transition approach for leases
existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the consolidated financial
statements. Based on leases outstanding at September 30, 2018, the Company does not expect the standard to have a material
impact on the Company's Consolidated Statements of Income or Cash Flows, but does anticipate recording a liability of
approximately $1.0 million as of March 31, 2019 for the remaining obligation under its lease agreements and a corresponding
right-of-use asset in the Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition, which will have a minor impact on the Bank's
regulatory capital ratios.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, "Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit
Losses on Financial Instruments". ASU 2016-13 replaces the incurred loss model with an expected loss model, which is
referred to as the current expected credit loss (CECL) model. The CECL model is applicable to the measurement of credit
losses on financial assets measured at amortized cost, including loan receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities, and
reinsurance receivables. It also applies to off-balance sheet credit exposures not accounted for as insurance (such as loan
commitments, standby letters of credit, financial guarantees, and other similar instruments) and net investments in leases
recognized by a lessor. For public business entities that meet the definition of an SEC filer, the standard will be effective for
fiscal years beginning after Dec. 15, 2019, including interim periods in those fiscal years. All entities may early adopt for
fiscal years beginning after Dec. 15, 2018, including interim periods in those fiscal years. For debt securities with
other-than-temporary impairment, the guidance will be applied prospectively. Existing purchased credit impaired (PCI) assets
will be grandfathered and classified as purchased credit deteriorated (PCD) assets at the date of adoption. The asset will be
grossed up for the allowance for expected credit losses for all PCD assets at the date of adoption and will continue to
recognize the noncredit discount in interest income based on the yield of such assets as of the adoption date. Subsequent
changes in expected credit losses will be recorded through the allowance. For all other assets within the scope of CECL, a
cumulative-effect adjustment will be recognized in retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which
the guidance is effective. The Company has begun its implementation efforts by identifying key interpretive issues, assessing
its processes and identifying the system requirements against the new guidance to
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determine what modifications may be required. While the Company is still evaluating the overall impact on the new standard
on its consolidated financial statements, the Company expects the adoption will result in an increase to the allowance for loan
losses balance.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework-Changes
to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. The ASU was issued to improve the effectiveness of disclosures
surrounding fair value measurements. The ASU removes numerous disclosures from Topic 820 including; transfers between
level 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the policy for timing of transfers between levels, and the valuation process for level 3
fair value measurements. The ASU also modified and added disclosure requirements in regards to changes in unrealized gains
and losses included in other comprehensive income, as well as the range and weighted average of unobservable inputs for
level 3 fair value measurements. The ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years,
beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The guidance is not expected to have a significant impact
on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
Note 2 – Securities
The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of the available-for-sale investment securities portfolios at
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 and the corresponding amounts of unrealized gains (losses) which are recognized
in accumulated other comprehensive income:
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses
(In thousands)

Amortized
Cost
December 31, 2018:
Federal agency
mortgage-backed
securities
Federal agency debt
Total
available-for-sale
securities
December 31, 2017:
Federal agency
mortgage-backed
securities
Federal agency debt
Total
available-for-sale
securities

Fair Value

$

9,575
5,317

$

88
-

$

(155) $
(103)

9,508
5,214

$

14,892

$

88

$

(258) $

14,722

$

11,877
5,495

$

168
2

$

(37) $
(11)

12,008
5,486

$

17,372

$

170

$

(48) $

17,494

At December 31, 2018, the Bank had three federal agency debt securities with total amortized cost of $5.3 million and
estimated total fair value of $5.2 million and an estimated average remaining life of 3.9 years. The Bank also had 24 federal
agency mortgage-backed securities with total amortized cost of $9.6 million, estimated total fair value of $9.5 million and an
estimated average remaining life of 4.5 years. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities if borrowers have
the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.
At December 31, 2018, there were no securities pledged to secure public deposits since those public deposits are under
$250 thousand which are fully insured by FDIC. At December 31, 2017, securities pledged to secure public deposits had a
carrying amount of $526 thousand. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no holdings of
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securities by any one issuer, other than the U.S. Government and its agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of stockholders'
equity.
There were no sales of securities during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
The Bank held ten securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2018, compared to six securities with unrealized losses
at December 31, 2017. Securities in unrealized loss positions are analyzed as part of our ongoing assessment of
other-than-temporary impairment. Consideration is given to the financial condition and near-term prospects of the issuer, the
length of time and the extent to which the fair value has been less than the cost, and our intent and ability to retain our
investment in the issuer for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value. All of the Bank's
securities were issued by the federal government or its agencies. The unrealized losses on our available-for-sale securities at
December 31, 2018 were primarily caused by movements in market interest rates subsequent to the purchase of such
securities. We do not consider these unrealized losses to be other than temporary impairment.
Note 3 – Loans Receivable Held for Sale
Loans receivable held for sale at December 31, 2018 totaled $6.2 million and consisted of multi-family loans. As part of the
Bank's loan concentration risk management program, $16.9 million of multi-family loans were transferred from the
held-for-sale portfolio to the held-for-investment portfolio during the year ended December 31, 2018. The Bank also allocated
$20.2 million, or 20%, of its total loan originations as held-for-sale and completed sales of $19.3 million of multi-family
loans during the year ended December 31, 2018 for a total gain of $81 thousand. Loan repayments totaled $159 thousand
during the year 2018. There were $22.4 million loans held for sale at December 31, 2017.
Note 4 – Loans Receivable Held for Investment
Loans receivable held for investment were as follows as of the periods indicated:
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017
(In thousands)
Real estate:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial – other
Consumer
Gross loans receivable before deferred loan costs and
premiums
Unamortized net deferred loan costs and premiums
Gross loans receivable
Allowance for loan losses
Loans receivable, net

$

$
F-17

91,835
231,870
5,802
25,934
1,876
226
5

$

357,548
937
358,485
(2,929)
355,556 $

111.085
187,455
6,089
30,848
1,678
192
7
337,354
1,566
338,920
(4,069)
334,851
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The following tables present the activity in the allowance for loan losses by loan type for the periods indicated:
For the year ended December 31, 2018
Single
family
Beginning balance
Provision for (recapture of) loan losses
Recoveries
Loans charged off
Ending balance

$

$

Multifamily

594 $
(225)
369 $

2,300 $
(420)
1,880 $

Real Estate
Commercial
real estate
71 $
(19)
52 $

Construction
(In thousands)
1,081 $
17
(592)
2
114
603 $
19

Commercial
– other

Church

$

Consumer
6
6

$

$

Total
-

$

$

$

4,069
(1,254)
114
2,929

For the year ended December 31, 2017
Single
family
Beginning balance
Provision for (recapture of) loan losses
Recoveries
Loans charged off
Ending balance

$

$

Multifamily
367
197
30
594

$

$

2,659 $
(359)
2,300 $

Real Estate
Commercial
real estate
215 $
(144)
71 $
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Construction
(In thousands)
1,337 $
8
(792)
9
536
1,081 $
17

Commercial
– other

Church

$

$

17 $
(11)
6 $

Consumer

Total
-

$

$

4,603
(1,100)
566
4,069
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The following tables present the balance in the allowance for loan losses and the recorded investment (unpaid contractual
principal balance less charge-offs, less interest applied to principal, plus unamortized deferred costs and premiums) by loan
type and based on impairment method as of and for the periods indicated:
December 31, 2018
Single
family
Allowance for loan losses:
Ending allowance balance attributable to loans:
Individually evaluated for impairment
Collectively evaluated for impairment
Total ending allowance balance
Loans:
Loans individually evaluated for impairment
Loans collectively evaluated for impairment
Total ending loans balance

$

$
$

Multifamily

53
316
369

$

Real Estate
Commercial
real estate

610
91,567
92,177

$
$
$
$

1,880
1,880

$

323
232,986
233,309

$

$

$

Church

52
52

$

5,800
5,800

$

$

$

Commercial
– other

Construction
(In thousands)

170
433
603

$

5,383
19,713
25,096

$

19
19

$

1,872
1,872

$

$

$

4
2
6

$

64
162
226

$

$

$

Consumer

$

$

Total

-

$

5
5

$

$

$

227
2,702
2,929
6,380
352,105
358,485

December 31, 2017
Single
family
Allowance for loan losses:
Ending allowance balance attributable to loans:
Individually evaluated for impairment
Collectively evaluated for impairment
Total ending allowance balance
Loans:
Loans individually evaluated for impairment
Loans collectively evaluated for impairment
Total ending loans balance

$
$
$
$

Real Estate
Commercial
real estate

Multifamily

100
494
594

$

627
110,897
111,524

$

$

$

1
2,299
2,300

$

333
188,585
188,918

$

$

$

Church

71
71

$

6,096
6,096

$
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$

$

Commercial
– other

Construction
(In thousands)

479
602
1,081

$

8,280
22,232
30,512

$

$

$

17
17

$

1,671
1,671

$

$

$

Consumer

5
1
6

$

65
127
192

$

$

$

Total

-

$

7
7

$

$

$

585
3,484
4,069
9,305
329,615
338,920
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The following table presents information related to loans individually evaluated for impairment by loan type as of the periods
indicated:
December 31, 2018
Unpaid
Principal
Balance
With no related allowance recorded:
Multi-family
Church
With an allowance recorded:
Single family
Multi-family
Church
Commercial – other
Total

$

$

Recorded
Investment

December 31, 2017
Allowance
for Loan
Unpaid
Losses
Principal
Allocated
Balance
(In thousands)

Recorded
Investment

Allowance
for Loan
Losses
Allocated

323 $
4,666

323 $
2,803

- $
-

- $
5,140

- $
3,291

-

610
2,580
64
8,243 $

610
2,580
64
6,380 $

53
170
4
227 $

627
333
5,028
65
11,193 $

627
333
4,989
65
9,305 $

100
1
479
5
585

The recorded investment in loans excludes accrued interest receivable due to immateriality. For purposes of this disclosure,
the unpaid principal balance is not reduced for net charge-offs.
The following tables present the monthly average of loans individually evaluated for impairment by loan type and the related
interest income for the periods indicated:
For the year ended December 31, 2018
Cash Basis
Average
Interest
Recorded
Income
Investment
Recognized
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Commercial – other
Total

$

$

618 $
329
7,893
64
8,904 $

For the year ended December 31, 2017
Cash Basis
Average
Interest
Recorded
Income
Investment
Recognized
(In thousands)
30 $
23
398
4
455 $

636 $
589
305
9,363
65
10,958 $

28
44
104
693
6
875

Cash-basis interest income recognized represents cash received for interest payments on accruing impaired loans and interest
recoveries on non-accrual loans that were paid off. Interest payments collected on non-accrual loans are characterized as
payments of principal rather than payments of the outstanding accrued interest on the loans until the remaining principal on
the non-accrual loans is considered to be fully collectible or paid off. When a loan is
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returned to accrual status, the interest payments that were previously applied to principal are deferred and amortized over the
remaining life of the loan. Foregone interest income that would have been recognized had loans performed in accordance
with their original terms amounted to $280 thousand and $126 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, and were not included in the consolidated results of operations.
The following tables present the aging of the recorded investment in past due loans by loan type as of the periods indicated:

30-59
Days
Past Due
Loans receivable held for investment:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial – other
Consumer
Total

$

35 $
35 $

$

30-59
Days
Past Due
Loans receivable held for investment:
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial – other
Consumer
Total

$

$

December 31, 2018
Greater than
90 Days
Past Due
(In thousands)

60-89
Days
Past Due

- $
- $

- $
341
341 $

- $
- $

December 31, 2017
Greater than
90 Days
Past Due
(In thousands)

60-89
Days
Past Due

50 $
50 $
F-21

Total
Past Due

- $
- $

Current

35 $
35 $

Total
Past Due

92,142 $
233,309
5,800
25,096
1,872
226
5
358,450 $

Current

50 $
341
391 $

111,474 $
188,918
6,096
30,171
1,671
192
7
338,529 $

Total

92,177
233,309
5,800
25,096
1,872
226
5
358,485

Total

111,524
188,918
6,096
30,512
1,671
192
7
338,920
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The following table presents the recorded investment in non-accrual loans by loan type as of the periods indicated:
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017
(In thousands)
Loans receivable held for investment:
Church
Total non-accrual loans

$
$

911
911

$
$

1,766
1,766

There were no loans 90 days or more delinquent that were accruing interest as of December 31, 2018 or December 31, 2017.
Troubled Debt Restructurings
At December 31, 2018, loans classified as troubled debt restructurings ("TDRs") totaled $6.4 million, of which
$591 thousand were included in non-accrual loans and $5.8 million were on accrual status. At December 31, 2017, loans
classified as TDRs totaled $8.9 million, of which $1.4 million were included in non-accrual loans and $7.5 million were on
accrual status. The Company has allocated $227 thousand and $585 thousand of specific reserves for accruing TDRs as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. TDRs on accrual status are comprised of loans that were accruing at the time of
restructuring or loans that have complied with the terms of their restructured agreements for a satisfactory period of time and
for which the Bank anticipates full repayment of both principal and interest. TDRs that are on non-accrual status can be
returned to accrual status after a period of sustained performance, generally determined to be six months of timely payments,
as modified. A well-documented credit analysis that supports a return to accrual status based on the borrower's financial
condition and prospects for repayment under the revised terms is also required. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
Company had no commitment to lend additional amounts to customers with outstanding loans that are classified as TDRs. No
loans were modified during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Credit Quality Indicators
The Company categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers to service
their debt such as: current financial information, historical payment experience, credit documentation, public information, and
current economic trends, among other factors. For single family residential, consumer and other smaller balance homogenous
loans, a credit grade is established at inception, and generally only adjusted based on performance. Information about
payment status is disclosed elsewhere herein. The Company analyzes all other loans individually by classifying the loans as
to credit risk. This analysis is performed at least on a quarterly basis. The Company uses the following definitions for risk
ratings:
ᔢ

Watch. Loans classified as watch exhibit weaknesses that could threaten the current net worth and paying capacity
of the obligors. Watch graded loans are generally performing and are not more than 59 days past due. A watch
rating is used when a material deficiency exists but correction is anticipated within an acceptable time frame.

ᔢ

Special Mention. Loans classified as special mention have a potential weakness that deserves management's close
attention. If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for
the loan or of the institution's credit position at some future date.
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ᔢ

Substandard. Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying
capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any. Loans so classified have a well-defined weakness or
weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the debt. They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the
institution will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.

ᔢ

Doubtful. Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard, with the
added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing
facts, conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable.

ᔢ

Loss. Loans classified as loss are considered uncollectible and of such little value that to continue to carry the loan
as an active asset is no longer warranted.

Loans not meeting the criteria above that are analyzed individually as part of the above described process are considered to be
pass rated loans. Pass rated loans are generally well protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligor
and/or by the value of the underlying collateral. Pass rated loans are not more than 59 days past due and are generally
performing in accordance with the loan terms. Based on the most recent analysis performed, the risk categories of loans by
loan type as of the periods indicated were as follows:

Pass
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial – other
Consumer
Total

$

$

92,132 $
232,642
5,800
19,678
1,872
162
5
352,291 $

Pass
Single family
Multi-family
Commercial real estate
Church
Construction
Commercial – other
Consumer
Total

$

$

Watch

111,513 $
187,946
5,974
24,474
1,671
127
7
331,712 $

Watch

December 31, 2018
Special Mention
Substandard
Doubtful
(In thousands)
- $
35 $
10 $
- $
667
672
4,746
64
672 $
35 $
5,487 $
- $

December 31, 2017
Special Mention
Substandard
Doubtful
(In thousands)
- $
- $
11 $
- $
972
122
691
5,347
65
813 $
- $
6,395 $
- $
F-23
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Note 5 – Fair Value
The Company used the following methods and significant assumptions to estimate fair value:
The fair values of securities available-for-sale are determined by obtaining quoted prices on nationally recognized securities
exchanges (Level 1 inputs) or matrix pricing, which is a mathematical technique to value debt securities without relying
exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securities, but rather by relying on the securities' relationship to other benchmark
quoted securities (Level 2 inputs).
The fair value of impaired loans that are collateral dependent is generally based upon the fair value of the collateral, which is
obtained from recent real estate appraisals. These appraisals may utilize a single valuation approach or a combination of
approaches including comparable sales and the income approach. Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by
the independent appraisers to adjust for differences between the comparable sales and income data available. Such
adjustments are usually significant and typically result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determining fair value.
Impaired loans are evaluated on a quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly.
Assets acquired through or by transfer in lieu of loan foreclosure are initially recorded at fair value less costs to sell when
acquired, establishing a new cost basis. These assets are subsequently accounted for at the lower of cost or fair value less
estimated costs to sell. Fair value is commonly based on recent real estate appraisals which are updated every nine months.
These appraisals may utilize a single valuation approach or a combination of approaches, including comparable sales and the
income approach. Adjustments are routinely made in the appraisal process by the independent appraisers to adjust for
differences between the comparable sales and income data available. Such adjustments are usually significant and typically
result in a Level 3 classification of the inputs for determining fair value. Real estate owned properties are evaluated on a
quarterly basis for additional impairment and adjusted accordingly.
Appraisals for collateral-dependent impaired loans are performed by certified general appraisers (for commercial properties)
or certified residential appraisers (for residential properties) whose qualifications and licenses have been reviewed and
verified by the Company. Once received, an independent third-party licensed appraiser reviews the appraisals for accuracy
and reasonableness, reviewing the assumptions and approaches utilized in the appraisal as well as the overall resulting fair
value in comparison with independent data sources such as recent market data or industry-wide statistics.
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Assets Measured on a Recurring Basis
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:
Fair Value Measurement
Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)
At December 31, 2018:
Securities
available-for-sale – federal
agency mortgage-backed
Securities
available-for-sale – federal
agency debt
At December 31, 2017:
Securities
available-for-sale – federal
agency mortgage-backed
Securities
available-for-sale – federal
agency debt

$

Significant
Other
Significant
Observable
Unobservable
Inputs
Inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
(In thousands)

-

$

1,979

$

-

9,508

$

3,235

$

1,976

12,008

3,510

Total

-

$

-

$

-

9,508

5,214

$

-

12,008

5,486

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
Assets Measured on a Non-Recurring Basis
Assets are considered to be reflected at fair value on a non-recurring basis if the fair value measurement of the instrument
does not necessarily result in a change in the amount recorded on the statement of condition. Generally, a non-recurring
valuation is the result of the application of other accounting pronouncements that require assets to be assessed for impairment
or recorded at the lower of cost or fair value.
The following table provides information regarding the carrying values of our assets measured at fair value on a
non-recurring basis as of the periods indicated. The fair value measurement for all of these assets falls within Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy.
December 31, 2018
December 31, 2017
(In thousands)
$
591 $
742
833
878

Impaired loans carried at fair value of collateral
Real estate owned
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The following table provides information regarding losses recognized on assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring
basis for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Impaired loans carried at fair value of collateral
Real estate owned
Total

$
$

For the year ended December 31,
2018
2017
(In thousands)
- $
45
45 $

80
80

The following table presents the valuation methodology and unobservable inputs for Level 3 assets measured at fair value on
a nonrecurring basis as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Valuation Technique(s)

Unobservable Input(s)

Range

Weighted
Average

Impaired loans

Third Party
Appraisals

Adjustment for differences
between the comparable sales

–3% to –1%

–2.83%

Real estate owned – church

Third Party
Appraisals

Adjustment for differences
between the comparable sales

–11%

–10.85%

Impaired loans

Third Party
Appraisals

Adjustment for differences
between the comparable sales

–16% to 7%

–4%

Real estate owned – church

Third Party
Appraisals

Adjustment for differences
between the comparable sales

–6%

–6%

December 31, 2018:

December 31, 2017:

F-26

Table of Contents

BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017
Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of financial instruments as of the periods indicated were as follows:

Carrying
Value
Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Securities available-for-sale
Loans receivable held for sale
Loans receivable held for investment (1)
Accrued interest receivable
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits
Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Junior subordinated debentures
Accrued interest payable

Level 1

Total

$

16,651 $
14,722
6,231
355,556
1,143

16,651 $
1,979
78

- $
12,743
6,270
43

- $
354,792
1,022

16,651
14,722
6,270
354,792
1,143

$

281,414 $
70,000
5,100
334

- $
-

269,418 $
69,933
324

- $
4,481
10

269,418
69,933
4,481
334

Carrying
Value
Financial Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Securities available-for-sale
Loans receivable held for sale
Loans receivable held for investment
Accrued interest receivable
Federal Home Loan Bank stock
Financial Liabilities:
Deposits
Federal Home Loan Bank advances
Junior subordinated debentures
Accrued interest payable

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2018
Level 2
Level 3
(In thousands)

Level 1

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2017
Level 2
Level 3
(In thousands)

Total

$

22,219 $
17,494
22,370
334,851
1,073
2,916

22,219 $
1,976
58
2,916

- $
15,518
22,626
91
-

- $
333,231
924
-

22,219
17.494
22,626
333,231
1,073
2,916

$

291,290 $
65,000
5,100
304

- $
-

280,761 $
64,887
296

- $
4,503
8

280,761
64,887
4,503
304

(1) The estimated value of loans held for investment for December 31, 2018 reflects an exit price assumption. The
December 31, 2017 fair value estimate is not based on an exit price assumption.
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Note 6 – Office Properties and Equipment, net
Year-end office properties and equipment were as follows:
2018
Land
Office buildings and improvements
Furniture, fixtures and equipment

$

Less accumulated depreciation
Office properties and equipment, net

$

2017
(In thousands)
572 $
3,264
1,794
5,630
(3,388)
2,242 $

572
3,203
1,786
5,561
(3,155)
2,406

Depreciation expense was $241 thousand and $256 thousand for the years 2018 and 2017, respectively.
At December 31, 2018, the Company was obligated through 2021 under various non-cancelable operating leases on buildings
and land used for office space and banking purposes. These operating leases contain escalation clauses which provide for
increased rental expense, based primarily on increases in real estate taxes and cost-of-living-indices. The Company also
leases certain office equipment. Rent expense under the operating leases was $593 thousand for 2018 and $587 thousand for
2017.
Minimum noncancelable lease commitments, before considering renewal options that generally are present, are as follows:
Premises
Year ending December 31:
2019
2020
2021
Total

$

Equipment
(In thousands)
481
494
167
1,142

$
F-28

$

$

Total

35
35
15
85

$

$

516
529
182
1,227

Table of Contents

BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2018 and 2017
Note 7 – Deposits
Deposits are summarized as follows:
December 31,
2018
NOW account and other demand deposits
Non-interest bearing demand deposits
Money market deposits
Passbook
Certificates of deposit
Total

$

$

2017
(In thousands)
10,307 $
22,877
29,948
45,718
172,564
281,414 $

11,982
22,469
68,019
38,031
150,789
291,290

The Bank accepts two types of deposits from a deposit placement service called the Certificate of Deposit Account Registry
Service ("CDARS"). Reciprocal deposits are the Bank's own retail deposits in amounts in excess of the insured limits. The
CDARS program allows banks to place their customers' funds in FDIC-insured certificates of deposit at other banks and, at
the same time, receive an equal sum of funds from the customers of other banks in the CDARS Network. These deposits
totaled $33.7 million and $9.5 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively and are not considered to be brokered
deposits.
One-way deposits are also available using the CDARS program. With the one-way program, the Bank accepts deposits from
CDARS even though there is no customer account involved. These deposits totaled $32.6 million and $43.3 million at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Brokered deposits (non-CDARS) totaled $9.9 million at December 31, 2018. The Bank did not have any brokered deposits at
December 31, 2017.
Scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit for the next five years are as follows:
Maturity
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

$

Amount
(In thousands)
133,654
34,819
2,120
1,712
218
41
172,564

Certificates of deposit of $250 thousand or more totaled $33.9 million and $16.7 million at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
Deposits from principal officers, directors, and their affiliates totaled $1.8 million and $1.6 million at December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively.
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Note 8 – Federal Home Loan Bank Advances
The following table summarizes information relating to FHLB advances at or for the periods indicated:
At or For the Year Ended
2018
2017
(Dollars in thousands)
FHLB Advances:
Average balance outstanding during the year
Maximum amount outstanding at any month-end during the year
Balance outstanding at end of year
Weighted average interest rate at end of year
Average cost of advances during the year
Weighted average contractual maturity (in months)

$
$
$

74,729 $
98,000 $
70,000 $
2.51%
2.13%
24

89,279
104,000
65,000
1.86%
1.97%
18

Each advance is payable at its maturity date, with a prepayment penalty. The advances were collateralized by $151.0 million
and $128.4 million of first mortgage loans at year-end 2018 and 2017, respectively, under a blanket lien arrangement. Based
on this collateral, the Company's holdings of FHLB stock and a general borrowing limit of 30% of total assets, the Company
is eligible to borrow up to an additional $54.6 million at year-end 2018.
Required payments over the next five years are as follows:

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

$

$

Amount
(In thousands)
8,000
29,500
22,500
5,000
5,000
70,000

Note 9 – Junior Subordinated Debentures
On March 17, 2004, the Company issued $6.0 million of Floating Rate Junior Subordinated Debentures (the "Debentures") in
a private placement to a trust that was capitalized to purchase subordinated debt and preferred stock of multiple community
banks. Interest on the Debentures is payable quarterly at a rate per annum equal to the 3-Month LIBOR plus 2.54%. The
interest rate is determined as of each March 17, June 17, September 17, and December 17, and was 5.34% at December 31,
2018. On October 16, 2014, the Company made payments of $900 thousand of principal on Debentures, executed a
Supplemental Indenture for the Debentures that extended the maturity of the Debentures to March 17, 2024, and modified the
payment terms of the remaining $5.1 million principal amount thereof. The modified terms of the Debentures require
quarterly payments of interest only through March 2019 at the original rate of 3-Month LIBOR plus 2.54%. Starting in June
2019, the Company will be required to make quarterly payments of equal amounts of principal, plus interest, until the
Debentures are fully amortized on March 17, 2024. The Debentures may be called for redemption at any time by the
Company.
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Scheduled principal repayments of junior subordinated debentures over the next six years are as follows:
Amount
(In thousands)
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

$

$

765
1,020
1,020
1,020
1,020
255
5,100

Note 10 – Employee Benefit Plans
Broadway Federal 401(k) Plan
A 401(k) benefit plan allows employee contributions for substantially all employees up to 15% of their compensation, which
are matched at a rate equal to 50% of the first 6% of the compensation contributed. Expense totaled $131 thousand and
$132 thousand for 2018 and 2017.
ESOP Plan
Employees participate in an Employee Stock Option Plan ("ESOP") after attaining certain age and service requirements. In
December 2016, the ESOP purchased 1,493,679 shares of the Company's common stock at $1.59 per share, for a total cost of
$2.4 million, of which $1.2 million was funded with a loan from the Company. The loan will be repaid from the Bank's
annual discretionary contributions to the ESOP, net of dividends paid, over a period of 20 years. Shares of the Company's
common stock purchased by the ESOP are held in a suspense account until released for allocation to participants. When loan
payments are made, shares are allocated to each eligible participant based on the ratio of each such participant's
compensation, as defined in the ESOP, to the total compensation of all eligible plan participants. As the unearned shares are
released from the suspense account, the Company recognizes compensation expense equal to the fair value of the ESOP
shares during the periods in which they become committed to be released. To the extent that the fair value of the ESOP shares
released differs from the cost of such shares, the difference is charged or credited to equity as additional paid-in capital.
Dividends on allocated shares increase participant accounts. Dividends on unallocated shares will be used to repay the loan.
At the end of employment, participants will receive shares for their vested balance. Compensation expense related to the
ESOP was $80 thousand for 2018 and $104 thousand for 2017.
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Shares held by the ESOP were as follows:
December 31,
December 31,
2018
2017
(Dollars in thousands)
1,036,809
1,108,382
10,580
10,752
646,033
688,870
1,693,422
1,808,004

Allocated to participants
Committed to be released
Suspense shares
Total ESOP shares
Fair value of unearned shares

$

678

$

1,626

During 2018 and 2017, 43,009 and 40,126 of ESOP shares were released for allocation to participants, respectively. The
outstanding balance of unearned ESOP shares at December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $1.0 million and $1.1 million,
respectively, which is shown as Unearned ESOP shares in the equity section of the consolidated statements of financial
condition.
Note 11 – Income Taxes
The Company and its subsidiary are subject to U.S. federal and state income taxes. Income tax expense is the total of the
current year income tax due or refundable and the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a
change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
Income tax expense was as follows:
2018

2017
(In thousands)

Current
Federal
State
Deferred
Federal
State
Change in valuation allowance
Total

$

$
F-32

(110) $
12
68
86
56

$

12
1,455
396
1,863
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Effective tax rates differ from the federal statutory rate of 21% for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 34% for the year
ended December 31, 2017 applied to income before income taxes due to the following:
2018
Federal statutory rate times financial statement net income
Effect of:
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Change in federal rate
Earnings from bank owned life insurance
Low income housing credits
Change in valuation allowance
Other, net
Total

$

$

2017
(In thousands)
183 $
77
(16)
(212)
24
56 $

1,269
268
519
(22)
(212)
41
1,863

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was signed into law. Among other items, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
reduces the federal corporate tax rate to 21% from the existing maximum rate of 35%, effective January 1, 2018. As a result,
the Company has recorded a decrease related to its deferred tax assets of $519 thousand, with a corresponding increase to
deferred income tax expense of $519 thousand for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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Year-end deferred tax assets and liabilities were due to the following:
2018

2017
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan losses
Real estate owned
Accrued liabilities
State income taxes
Stock compensation
Net operating loss carryforward
Non-accrual loan interest
Partnership investment
General business credit
Alternative minimum tax credit
Unrealized appreciation AFS
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Section 481 Adjustments to bad debts
Deferred loan fees/costs
Allowance for loan losses
Basis difference on fixed assets
Net unrealized appreciation on available-for-sale securities
FHLB stock dividends
Mortgage servicing rights
Prepaid expenses
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

$

$

799
65
150
34
165
3,887
3
140
1,661
151
50
28
7,133

$

(980)
(775)
(35)
(266)
(5)
(27)
(2,088)
5,045 $

5
173
33
182
4,367
4
101
1,458
256
14
6,593
(817)
(276)
(49)
(36)
(266)
(7)
(32)
(1,483)
5,110

Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that
some portion, or all, of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. In assessing the realization of deferred tax assets,
management evaluated both positive and negative evidence, including the existence of cumulative losses in the current year
and the prior two years, the amount of taxes paid in available carry-back years, the forecasts of future income and tax
planning strategies. Based on this analysis, the Company determined that as of December 31, 2018, no valuation allowance
was required on its deferred tax assets, which totaled $5.0 million. As of December 31, 2017, the Company recorded no
valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets of $5.1 million.
As of December 31, 2018, the Company has federal net operating loss carryforwards of $8.2 million and California net
operating loss carryforwards of $25.3 million, which begin expiring in 2031 through 2037 and 2031 through 2036,
respectively. The Company also has federal general business credits of $1.5 million, expiring beginning in 2030 through
2037, and alternative minimum tax credit carryforwards of $119 thousand, which can be carried forward indefinitely.
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Federal income tax laws previously allowed the Company additional bad debt deductions based on the reserve method of
computing the federal bad debt deduction. This method of computing the Company's federal bad debt deduction was
permitted to be used by the Company until the end of 1987. As of December 31, 1987, the tax bad debt reserve balance
totaled $3.0 million. Accounting standards do not require a deferred tax liability to be recorded on this amount, which
otherwise would total approximately $632 thousand at year end 2018 and 2017. If the Bank were liquidated, or otherwise
ceases to be a bank, the $3.0 million tax bad debt reserve may need to be recaptured into taxable income and income tax
expense would need to be provided.
Prior to 2018, the Company computed its bad debt deduction for income tax purposes under the reserve method. In 2018, the
Company requested a change in accounting method used for computing its tax bad debt deduction from the reserve method to
the charge-off method as defined under Internal Revenue Code Section 166. Once the IRS has consented to the requested
change in accounting method, the Company would compute its tax bad debt deduction under the new method and would
recapture its tax bad debt reserve of $4.3 million into taxable income evenly over the next 4 years starting in 2018.
At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company had $475 thousand in unrecognized tax benefits. This amount, if recognized,
would favorably affect the income tax provision in future periods. The Company expects that the total amount of
unrecognized tax benefits may decrease significantly within the next twelve months due to expected settlement with the state
taxing authorities. During 2018 and 2017, $5 thousand was accrued during each period for potential interest related to these
unrecognized tax benefits.
Federal tax years 2015 through 2018 remain open for the assessment of Federal income tax. With the exception of the issues
under protest for the years listed below, California tax years 2014 through 2018 remain open for the assessment of California
income tax. The Company is currently under examination by the California Franchise Tax Board ("FTB") for the 2009, 2010,
and 2011 tax years. The FTB has proposed adjustments to the Company's California net operating loss carryforwards for
items which the Company has established an unrecognized tax benefit. The Company has protested the FTB's adjustments
and does not expect that significant additional tax expense will result.
Note 12 – Stock-Based Compensation
Prior to July 25, 2018, the Company issued stock-based compensation awards to its directors and employees under the 2008
Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2008 LTIP"). The 2008 LTIP permitted the grant of non-qualified and incentive stock options,
stock appreciation rights, full value awards and cash incentive awards for up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock. As of
July 25, 2018, the Company ceased granting awards under the 2008 LTIP.
On July 25, 2018, the stockholders approved the 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2018 LTIP"). As with the 2008 LTIP, the
2018 LTIP permits the grant of non-qualified and incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, full value awards and
cash incentive awards. The plan will be in effect for ten years. The maximum number of shares that can be awarded under the
plan is 1,293,109 shares of common stock. As of December 31, 2018, no shares had been awarded under the 2018 LTIP.
No stock options were granted during the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:
2018

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year
Forfeited or expired during the year
Outstanding at end of year
Exercisable at end of year

Number
Outstanding
537,500
537,500
267,500

2017

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
2.19
2.19

$

2.71

$

Number
Outstanding
540,625 $
(3,125)
537,500 $
177,500

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
2.18
4.80
2.19
3.26

For each year of 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded $39 thousand of stock-based compensation expense related to stock
options. As of December 31, 2018, unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock options granted under the plan
was $84 thousand. The cost is expected to be recognized over a period of 2.15 years.
Options outstanding and exercisable at year-end 2018 were as follows:

Grant Date
January 21, 2009
March 18, 2009
January 21, 2010
February 24, 2016

Number
Outstanding
7,500
75,000
5,000
450,000
537,500

Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Weighted
Remaining
Average
Aggregate
Contractual
Exercise
Intrinsic
Life
Price
Value
0.05 years $
4.00
0.21 years $
4.98
1.05 years $
6.00
7.15 years $
1.62
6.02 years $
2.19 $
-

Exercisable

Number
Outstanding
7,500
75,000
5,000
180,000
267,500

$
$
$
$
$

Weighted
Average
Aggregate
Exercise
Intrinsic
Price
Value
4.00
4.98
6.00
1.62
2.71 $
-

In March 2016, the Company awarded 120,483 shares of restricted stock to its Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") under the
2008 LTIP. A restricted stock award is valued at the closing price of the Company's stock on the date of such award. Subject
to certain performance restrictions, 100,000 shares of restricted stock fully vested over a two-year period in 2018 and the
remaining 20,483 shares shall vest over a three-year period. Stock-based compensation expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period. The Company recorded $36 thousand and $105 thousand of stock-based
compensation expense related to this award during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. As of
December 31, 2018, unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested restricted stock award was $3 thousand which is
expected to be recognized over a period of 3 months.
In January 2018 and April 2017, the Company awarded 18,906 and 30,002, respectively, shares of common stock to its
directors under the 2008 LTIP, all of which are fully vested. The Company recorded $45 thousand and
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$53 thousand of compensation expense during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, based on the fair
value of the stock, which was determined using the average of the high and the low price of the stock on the date of the
award.
In February 2018 and April 2017, the Company also awarded 97,195 and 129,270 of cash-settled restricted stock units
("RSUs") to its CEO under the 2008 LTIP. All RSUs vest at the end of two years from the date of the grant and are subject to
forfeiture until vested. Each RSU entitles the CEO to receive cash equal to the fair market value of one share of common
stock on the applicable payout date. Compensation expense is determined based on the fair value of the award and is
re-measured at each reporting period and is classified as a liability in the consolidated statements of financial condition. The
Company recorded $73 thousand and $102 thousand of compensation expense related to these awards during the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Note 13 – Capital and Regulatory Matters
The Bank's capital requirements are administered by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") and involve
quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting
practices. Capital amounts and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by the OCC. Failure to meet capital
requirements can result in regulatory action.
The federal banking regulators approved final capital rules ("Basel III Capital Rules") in July 2013 implementing the Basel
III framework as well as certain provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act. The Basel III Capital Rules prescribe a standardized
approach for calculating risk-weighted assets and revised the definition and calculation of Tier 1 capital and Total capital, and
include a new Common Equity Tier 1 capital ("CET1") measure. Under the Basel III Capital Rules, the currently effective
minimum capital ratios are:
•
•
•
•

4.5% CET1 to risk-weighted assets;
6.0% Tier 1 capital (that is, CET1 plus Additional Tier 1 capital) to risk-weighted assets;
8.0% Total capital (that is, Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capital) to risk-weighted assets; and
4.0% Tier 1 capital to average consolidated assets (known as the "leverage ratio").

A new capital conservation buffer was also established above the regulatory minimum capital requirements. This capital
conservation buffer was phased in beginning January 1, 2016 at 0.625% of risk-weighted assets and will increase each
subsequent year by an additional 0.625% until it reaches its final level of 2.5% on January 1, 2019.
The Basel III Capital rules also contain revisions to the prompt corrective action framework, which is designed to place
restrictions on insured depository institutions if their capital levels begin to show signs of weakness. Under the prompt
corrective action requirements, which are designed to complement the capital conservation buffer, insured depository
institutions are now required to meet the following increased capital level requirements in order to qualify as "well
capitalized": (i) a CET1 capital ratio of 6.5%; (ii) a Tier 1 capital ratio of 8% (increased from 6%); (iii) a total capital ratio of
10% (unchanged from previous rules); and (iv) a Tier 1 leverage ratio of 5% (unchanged from previous rules).
The Basel III Capital Rules became effective for the Bank on January 1, 2015 (subject to a phase-in period for certain
provisions). At December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Bank's level of capital exceeded all regulatory capital requirements and its
regulatory capital ratios were above the minimum levels required to be considered well
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capitalized for regulatory purposes. Actual and required capital amounts and ratios as of the periods indicated are presented
below.

Minimum Capital
Requirements
Amount
Ratio
(Dollars in thousands)

Actual
Amount
December 31, 2018:
Tier 1 (Leverage)
Common Equity Tier 1
Tier 1
Total Capital
December 31, 2017:
Tier 1 (Leverage)
Common Equity Tier 1
Tier 1
Total Capital

Minimum Required
To Be Well
Capitalized Under
Prompt Corrective
Action Provisions
Amount
Ratio

Ratio

$
$
$
$

49,433
49,433
49,433
52,417

12.03%
19.32%
19.32%
20.48%

$
$
$
$

16,439
18,494
24,659
32,879

4.00%
4.50%
6.00%
8.00%

$
$
$
$

20,549
16,634
20,472
25,590

5.00%
6.50%
8.00%
10.00%

$
$
$
$

47,838
47,838
47,838
51,059

11.39%
18.63%
18.63%
19.88%

$
$
$
$

16,798
11,557
15,409
20,545

4.00%
4.50%
6.00%
8.00%

$
$
$
$

20,997
16,693
20,545
25,681

5.00%
6.50%
8.00%
10.00%

Note 14 – Loan Commitments and Other Related Activities
Some financial instruments, such as loan commitments, credit lines, letters of credit, and overdraft protection, are issued to
meet customer financing needs. These are agreements to provide credit or to support the credit of others, as long as conditions
established in the contract are met, and usually have expiration dates. Commitments may expire without being used.
Off-balance-sheet risk for credit loss exists up to the face amount of these instruments, although material losses are not
anticipated. The same credit policies are used to make such commitments as are used for loans, including obtaining collateral
at exercise of the commitment.
The contractual amounts of financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk at year-end were as follows:
2018
Commitments to make loans
Unused lines of credit – variable rates

$

2017
(In thousands)
10,875 $
1,491

1,493
2,582

Commitments to make loans are generally made for periods of 60 days or less. At year-end 2018, loan commitments
consisted of six multi-family residential loans with initial five year interest rates ranging from 4.50% to 4.68%.
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Note 15 – Parent Company Only Condensed Financial Information
Condensed financial information of Broadway Financial Corporation follows:

Condensed Balance Sheet
December 31,
2018

2017
(In thousands)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment in bank subsidiary
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Junior subordinated debentures
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

$

$

156
51,221
2,225
53,602

$

5,100
66
48,436
53,602

$

400
50,594
2,015
53,009

$

5,100
178
47,731
53,009

$

Condensed Statements of Income
Years ended December 31,
2018
Interest income
Interest expense
Other expense
Loss before income tax and undistributed subsidiary income
Income tax benefit (expense)
Equity in undistributed subsidiary income
Net income
F-39

$

$

2017
(In thousands)
25 $
(243)
(469)
(687)
205
1,297
815 $

28
(194)
(730)
(896)
(326)
3,091
1,869
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Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31,
2018

2017
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating
activities:
Equity in undistributed subsidiary income
Change in other assets
Change in accrued expenses and other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends from bank subsidiary
Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Common stock repurchased for tax withholdings
Proceeds from repayment of ESOP loan
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Beginning cash and cash equivalents
Ending cash and cash equivalents
F-40

$

815

$

(1,297)
(210)
(112)
(804)
600
600

$

(108)
68
(40)
(244)
400
156 $

1,869

(3,091)
330
(183)
(1,075)
500
500
80
80
(495)
895
400
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Note 16 – Earnings Per Common Share
The factors used in the earnings per common share computation follow:

Net income
Less net income attributable to participating securities
Income available to common stockholders

$
$

Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic earnings per
common share
Add: dilutive effects of assumed exercises of stock options
Add: dilutive effects of unvested restricted stock awards
Weighted average common shares outstanding for diluted earnings
per common share

2018
2017
(Dollars in thousands,
except share and per share)
815 $
(3)
812 $

1,869
(5)
1,864

26,755,405
7,044

26,678,917
27,117
49,448

26,762,449

26,755,482

Earnings per common share – basic

$

0.03

$

0.07

Earnings per common share – diluted

$

0.03

$

0.07

Stock options for 267,500 shares and 87,500 shares of common stock for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, were not considered in computing diluted earnings per common share because they were anti-dilutive.
Note 17 – Subsequent Events
There was no major subsequent event to be disclosed as of March 29, 2019.
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Exhibit 10.5

SECTION I GENERAL 1.1 Purpose. The Broadway Financial Corporation 2018 Long-Term Incentive Pla Plan") has been established by Broadway Financial Corporation (the "Company") act and retain persons eligible to participate in the Plan; (b) motivate Participants, by mean ropriate incentives, to achieve long-range goals; (c) provide incentive compensatio unities that are competitive with those of other similar companies; and (d) further identif pants' interests with those of the Company's other shareholders through compensation th d on the Company's common stock; and thereby promote the long-term interest of th any and the Subsidiaries, including the growth in value of the Company's equity an ement of long-term shareholder return. 1.2 Participation. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Committee sha ine and designate, from time to time, from among the Eligible Individuals, those person ill be granted one or more Awards under the Plan, and thereby become "Participants" i n. 1.3 Operation, Administration, and Definitions. The operation and administration o n, including the Awards made under the Plan, shall be subject to the provisions of SECTIO ting to operation and administration). Capitalized terms in the Plan shall be
defined as s n the Plan (including the definition provisions of SECTION IX). SECTION II OPTIONS AND SARS 2.1 Definitions. (a) The grant of an "Option" entitles the Participant to purchase shares of Stoc xercise Price established by the Committee. Any Option granted under this SECTION I either an incentive stock option (an "ISO") or a non-qualified option (an "NQO"), a ined in the discretion of the Committee. An "ISO" is an Option that is intended to satisf uirements applicable to an "incentive stock option" described in Section 422(b) of the Code QO" is an Option that is not intended to be an "incentive stock option" as that term i ed in Section 422(b) of the Code. Each Option granted under this Plan shall be an NQO the Option satisfies all of the requirements of an ISO and the Committee designates suc as an ISO. (b) A stock appreciation right (an "SAR") entitles the Participant to receive, i Stock (as determined in accordance with Section 5.7), value equal to (or otherwise base excess of: (i) the Fair Market Value of a specified number of shares of Stock on the dat e; over (ii) an Exercise Price established by the Committee.

ne hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the date of gra greater, the par value of a share of Stock). However, in the case of an ISO granted to pant who, at the date of the grant, owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) ing power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Subsidiary, the Exercise Price sha ot be less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value of a share of Sto date of grant. 2.3 Option Term; Exercise. An Option and an SAR shall be exercisable in accordan ch terms and conditions and during such periods as may be established by the Committe vent, however, shall an Option or SAR expire later than ten (10) years after the date of i provided, however, that the term of an ISO shall not exceed five (5) years from the date th granted in the case of an ISO granted to a Participant who, on the date of the grant, own epresenting more than ten percent (10%) of the voting power of all classes of stock of th ny or any Subsidiary. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that on the last busine the term of an Option (other than an ISO) (i) the exercise of the Option is prohibited b ble law, or (ii) shares of Stock may not be purchased or sold by certain employees rs of the Company
or any Subsidiary due to the "black-out period" of a Company policy -up" agreement undertaken in connection with an issuance of securities by the Compan m of the Option shall be extended for a period of thirty (30) days following the end of th rohibition, black-out period or lockup agreement. 2.4 Payment of Option Exercise Price. The payment of the Exercise Price of an Optio under this SECTION II shall be subject to the following: (a) Subject to the following provisions of this Section 2.4, the full Exerci or shares of Stock purchased upon the exercise of any Option shall be paid at the time o ercise, except that, in the case of an exercise arrangement approved by the Committee an ed in Section 2.4(c) payment may be made as soon as practicable after the exercise. (b) Subject to applicable law, the Exercise Price shall, as determined by th ittee, (i) be payable in cash, by promissory note or by tendering, either by actual delivery o or by attestation, shares of Stock acceptable to the Committee, including shares otherwis table pursuant to the exercise of the Option, and valued at Fair Market Value as ofthe da cise, or in any combination thereof; or (ii) be Stock Settled. (c) Subject to applicable law, the Committee may permit a Participant to elec he
Exercise Price upon the exercise of an Option by irrevocably authorizing a third part sufficient portion of the shares of Stock acquired upon exercise of the Option and remit t mpany a sufficient portion of the sale proceeds to pay the entire Exercise Price and any ta ding resulting from such exercise. 2.5 No Repricing. Except for adjustments pursuant to Section 5.2(f) (relating to th ent of shares) or reductions ofthe Exercise Price approved by the Company's shareholder rcise Price for any outstanding Option or SAR may not be decreased after the date of gran

2.6 Grants of Options and SARs. An Option may, but need not be, in tandem with nd an SAR may, but need not be in tandem with an Option, in either case, regardless er the original award was granted under this Plan or another plan or arrangement.If a is in tandem with an SAR, the exercise price of both the Option and SAR shall be the sam e exercise of the Option or SAR with respect to a share of Stock shall cancel th ponding tandem SAR or Option right with respect to such share. If an SAR is in tande n Option but is granted after the grant of the Option, or if an Option is in tandem with a ut is granted after the grant of the SAR, the later granted tandem Award shall have the sam se price as the earlier granted Award, and the exercise price for the later granted Award ma than the Fair Market Value of the Stock at the time of such grant. SECTION III FULL VALUE AWARDS Definition. A "Full Value Award" is a grant of one or more shares of Stock or 3.1 receive one or more shares of Stock in the future, with such grant being made subject t more of the following, as determined by the Committee: The grant shall be in consideration of a Participant's previously performe (a) s, or surrender of other compensation that may be due. The grant shall be
contingent on the achievement of performance or othe (b) ves during a specified period. The grant shall be subject to a risk of forfeiture or other restrictions that wi (c) upon the achievement of one or more goals relating to completion of service by th pant, or achievement of performance or other objectives. The grant of Full Value Awards may also be made subject to such other condition ions and contingencies, as the Committee shall determine. 3.2 Restrictions on Awards. (a) The Committee may designate a Full Value Award granted to an pant as Performance-Based Compensation. Any Full Value Award so designated shall b oned on the achievement of one or more performance objectives. The performanc ves shall be based on the Performance Measures selected by the Committee. (b) If the right to become vested in a Full Value Award is conditioned on th tion of a specified period of service with the Company or the Subsidiaries, withou ement of Performance Measures or other performance objectives (whether or not related t mance Measures) being required as a condition of vesting, and without the Full Value Awar ranted in lieu of other compensation, then the required period of service for full vestin e not less than one (1) year (subject to
acceleration of vesting, to the extent permitted by th

SECTION IV CASH INCENTIVE AWARDS A Cash Incentive Award is the grant of a right to receive a payment of cash (or in th tion of the Committee, Stock having value equivalent to the cash otherwise payable) that gent on achievement of performance objectives over a specified period established by th ittee. The grant of Cash Incentive Awards may also be made subject to such othe ions, restrictions and contingencies as may be determined by the Committee. Th ittee may designate a Cash Incentive Award granted to any Participant as Performance Compensation. Any Award so designated shall be conditioned on the achievement of on re Performance Measures selected by the Committee. Except as otherwise provided in th able plan or arrangement, distribution of any bonus awards by the Company or i iaries (whether granted pursuant to this Plan or otherwise) for a performance period endin alendar year, shall be made to the participant not later than March 15 of the followin ar year; provided, however, that for purposes of determining compliance with Section 409A ent will be considered to satisfy the requirement of this sentence if distribution is made n an the end of the calendar year following the end of the applicable performance period.
SECTIONV OPERATION AND ADMINISTRATION 5.1 Effective Date. Subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at th any's 2018 annual shareholders meeting, the Plan shall be effective as of July 25,2018 (th tive Date"); provided, however, that Awards may be granted contingent on approval ofth y the shareholders of the Company at such annual meeting. In the event of Plan termination ms of the Plan shall remain in effect as long as any Awards under it are outstanding ed, however, that no Awards may be granted under the Plan after the ten-(10) yea rsary of the Effective Date. On or after the Effective Date, no awards will be granted unde or Plan. 5.2 Shares and Other Amounts Subject to Plan. The shares of Stock for whic s may be granted under the Plan shall be subject to the following: (a) The shares of Stock with respect to which Awards may be made under th all be shares currently authorized but unissued or, to the extent permitted by applicable law ly held or acquired by the Company as treasury shares, including shares purchased in th arket or in private transactions. (b) Subject to the following provisions of this Section 5.2, the maximu r of shares of Stock that may be delivered to Participants and their beneficiaries
under th all be 1,293,109. However, the limit under this paragraph (b), as well as the limits unde ph (e) below, shall not apply to Awards granted pursuant to Section 5.5 in replacement o granted under plans other than this Plan.

(d) Shares of Stock with respect to an Award will be treated as delivered f es of the determination under paragraph (b) above, subject to the following: (i) To the extent any shares of Stock covered by an Award are n delivered to a Participant or beneficiary because the Award forfeited or canceled, such shares shall not be deemed to have bee delivered for purposes of the determination under paragraph (b above. (ii) Subject to the provisions of paragraph (i) above, the total number o shares covered by an Award will be treated as delivered for purpose of this paragraph (ii) to the extent payments or benefits are delivere to the Participant with respect to such shares. Accordingly (A) if a Award denominated in shares of Stock is settled in cash, the tota number of shares with respect to which such payment is made sha be considered to have been delivered; (B) if shares covered by a Award are used to satisfy the applicable tax withholding obligatio the number of shares held back by the Company to satisfy suc withholding obligation shall be considered to have been delivered (C) if the exercise price of any Option granted under the Plan i satisfied by tendering shares of Stock to the Company (by eithe actual delivery or by attestation), the number of shares
tendered t satisfy such exercise price shall be considered to have bee delivered; and (D) if cash or shares of Stock are delivered i settlement of the exercise of an SAR, the total number of shares wit respect to which such SAR is exercised shall be deemed delivered. (e) Subject to Section 5.2(f), the maximum number of shares of Stock that ma vered to Participants and their beneficiaries with respect to ISOs granted under the Pla 1,293,109 shares. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the aggregat of all compensation granted to any member of the Board during any fiscal year of th ny, including any Awards (based on grant date Fair Market Value computed as of the dat t in accordance with applicable financial accounting rules) and any cash retainer or meetin or provided for service on the Board or any committee thereof, or any Award granted i any such cash retainer or meeting fee, shall not exceed One Hundred Thousand Dollar 00). (f) In the event of a corporate transaction involving the Company (including limitation, any stock dividend, stock split, extraordinary cash dividend, recapitalization ization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, sale of assets or subsidiaries, combinatio ange of shares), the Committee shall adjust
Awards to preserve the benefits or potentia of the Awards. Action by the Committee may include: (i) adjustment of the number an shares which may be delivered under the Plan; (ii) adjustment of the number and kind o ubject to outstanding Awards; (iii) adjustment of the Exercise Price of outstanding Option

ng from the transaction, and (II) cancellation of the Award in return for cash payment of th t value of the Award, determined as though the Award is fully vested at the time of paymen ed that in the case of an Option or SAR, the amount of such payment may be the excess o of the Stock subject to the Option or SAR at the time of the transaction over the exercis However, in no event shall this paragraph (f) be construed to permit a modificatio ing a replacement) of an Option or SAR if such modification either: (A) would result i ated recognition of income or imposition of additional tax under Section 409A; o uld cause the Option or SAR subject to the modification (or cause a replacement Option o o be subject to Section 409A, provided that the restriction of this clause (B) shall not appl Option or SAR that, at the time it is granted or otherwise, is designated as being deferre nsation subject to Section 409A. General Restrictions. Delivery of shares of Stock or other amounts under the Pla 5.3 e subject to the following: (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Company shall hav gation to deliver any shares of Stock or make any other distribution of benefits under th nless such delivery or distribution complies with all applicable laws
(including, withou on, the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933), and the applicable requirements of an es exchange or similar entity. (b) To the extent that the Plan provides for issuance of stock certificates t the issuance of shares of Stock, the issuance may be effected on a non-certificated basis, t ent not prohibited by applicable law or the applicable rules of any stock exchange. Tax Withholding. All distributions under the Plan are subject to withholding of a 5.4 ble taxes, and the Committee may condition the delivery of any shares of Stock or othe s under the Plan on satisfaction of the applicable withholding obligations. Except a ise provided by the Committee, such withholding obligations may be satisfied (a) throug yment by the Participant; (b) through the surrender of shares of Stock which the Participan owns; or (c) through the surrender of shares of Stock to which the Participant is otherwis under the Plan, provided, however, that, unless otherwise determined by the Committe e Company's adoption of ASU 2016-09, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718 arch, 2016, such shares under this Section 5.4 may be used to satisfy not more than th ny's minimum statutory withholding obligation (based on minimum statutory withholdin r
Federal and state tax purposes, including payroll taxes, that are applicable to such taxabl ). 5.5 Grant and Use of Awards. In the discretion of the Committee, a Participant ma ted any Award permitted under the provisions of the Plan, and more than one Award may ted to a Participant. Subject to Section 2.5 (relating to repricing), Awards may be grante natives to or replacement of awards granted or outstanding under the Plan, or any other plan gement of the Company or a Subsidiary (including a plan or arrangement of a business o ll or a portion of which is acquired by the Company or a Subsidiary). Subject to the overal

ng the plans and arrangements of the Company or a Subsidiary assumed in busine nations. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2.2, Options and SARs granted unde n in replacement for awards under plans and arrangements of the Company, Subsidiarie r companies that are assumed in business combinations may provide for exercise prices th s than the Fair Market Value of the Stock at the time of the replacement grants, if th ittee determines that such exercise price is appropriate to preserve the economic benefit o ard. The provisions of this Section 5.5 shall be subject to the provisions of Section 5.15. 5.6 Dividends and Dividend Equivalents. An Award (including without limitation a or SAR Award) may provide the Participant with the right to receive dividend or dividen lent payments with respect to Stock subject to the Award (both before and after the Stoc to the Award is earned, vested, or acquired), which payments may be either made currentl ited to an account for the Participant, and may be settled in cash or Stock, as determined b mmittee. Any such settlements, and any such crediting of dividends or dividend equivalent vestment in shares of Stock, may be subject to such conditions, restrictions an encies as the Committee shall
establish, including the reinvestment of such credite ts in Stock equivalents. The provisions of this subsection shall be subject to the provision ion 5.15. 5.7 Settlement of Awards. The obligation to make payments and distributions wit to Awards may be satisfied through cash payments, the delivery of shares of Stock, th g of replacement Awards, or combination thereof as the Committee shall determine ction of any such obligations under an Award, which is sometimes referred to a ment" of the Award, may be subject to such conditions, restrictions and contingencies a mmittee shall determine. The Committee may permit or require the deferral of any Awar nt or distribution, subject to such rules and procedures as it may establish, which ma provisions for the payment or crediting of interest or dividend equivalents, and ma converting such credits into deferred Stock equivalents. Except for Options and SAR ted at the time of grant or otherwise as intended to be subject to Section 409A, this Sectio ll not be construed to permit the deferred settlement of Options or SARs if such settlemen result in deferral of compensation under Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(b)(5)(i)(A)(3) (except a ed in paragraphs (i) and (ii) of that section). Each Subsidiary shall be liable for
payment o ue under the Plan with respect to any Participant to the extent that such benefits ar able to the services rendered for that Subsidiary by the Participant. Any disputes relatin lity of a Subsidiary for cash payments shall be resolved by the Committee. The provision subsection shall be subject to the provisions of Section 5.15. 5.8 Transferability. Except as otherwise provided by the Committee, Awards unde n are not transferable except as designated by the Participant by will or by the laws o and distribution. 5.9 Form and Time of Elections. Unless otherwise specified herein, each electio d or permitted to be made by any Participant or other person entitled to benefits under th nd any permitted modification, or revocation thereof, shall be in writing filed with th

5.10 Agreement With Company. An Award under the Plan shall be subject to suc and conditions, not inconsistent with the Plan, as the Committee shall, in its sole discretio be. The terms and conditions of any Award to any Participant shall be reflected in suc f written (including electronic) document as is determined by the Committee. A copy o ocument shall be provided to the Participant, and the Committee may, but need not requir e Participant sign a copy of such document. Such document is referred to in the Plan as a d Agreement" regardless of whether any Participant signature is required. 5.11 Action by Company or Subsidiary. Any action required or permitted to be take Company or any Subsidiary shall be by resolution of its board of directors, or by action o more members of the board (including a committee of the board) who are duly authorize or the board, or (except to the extent prohibited by applicable law or applicable rules of an xchange) by a duly authorized officer of such company. Gender and Number. Where the context admits, words in any gender shall includ 5.12 her gender, words in the singular shall include the plural and the plural shall include th r. Limitation of Implied Rights. 5.13 (a) Neither a Participant nor any other
person shall, by reason of participatio Plan, acquire any right in or title to any assets, funds or property of the Company or an iary whatsoever, including, without limitation, any specific funds, assets, or other propert the Company or any Subsidiary, in its sole discretion, may set aside in anticipation of y under the Plan. A Participant shall have only a contractual right to the Stock or amount payable under the Plan, unsecured by any assets of the Company or any Subsidiary, an contained in the Plan shall constitute a guarantee that the assets of the Company or an iary shall be sufficient to pay any benefits to any person. (b) The Plan does not constitute a contract of employment, and selection as pant will not give any participating employee or other individual the right to be retained i ploy of the Company or any Subsidiary or the right to continue to provide services to th ny or any Subsidiary, nor any right or claim to any benefit under the Plan, unless such righ m has specifically accrued under the terms of the Plan. Except as otherwise provided in th o Award under the Plan shall confer upon the holder thereof any rights as a shareholder o mpany prior to the date on which the individual fulfills all conditions for receipt of suc Evidence.Evidence required of
anyone under the Plan may be by certificate 5.14 it, document or other information which the person acting on it considers pertinent an , and signed, made or presented by the proper party or parties. Limitations under Section 409A. The provisions of the Plan shall be subject to th 5.15 ng:

d that this paragraph (a) shall not apply to any Option or SAR (or option or stoc ation right granted under another plan) being replaced that, at the time it is granted o ise, is designated as being deferred compensation subject to Section 409A. Except with respect to an Option or SAR that, at the time it is granted o (b) ise, is designated as being deferred compensation subject to Section 409A, no Option o all condition the receipt of dividends with respect to an Option or SAR on the exercise o ward, or otherwise provide for payment of such dividends in a manner that would cause th t to be treated as an offset to or reduction of the exercise price of the Option or SA t Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(b)(5)(i)(E). (c) The Plan shall not be construed to permit a modification of an Award, or t he payment of a dividend or dividend equivalent, if such actions would result in accelerate tion oftaxable income or imposition of additional tax under Section 409A. SECTION VI CHANGE IN CONTROL 6.1 Unless determined otherwise by the Committee, upon a Participant's terminatio oyment within the twelve (12) months following a Change in Control, all unvested Fu wards shall become fully vested and all Options and SARs shall be exercisable for a perio on the earlier of
the expiration date of the Option or SAR or the first anniversary of th ant's termination of employment. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of thi ON VI, in the event of a Change in Control as the result of a Terminating Event, ant's Options, SARs, and Full Value Awards will become vested and exercisable pursuan Section 6.1 only if no provision has been made in writing in connection with suc ating Event for the continuance of this Plan and for the assumption of the Award ore granted hereunder, or the substitution for such Awards of new awards issued by th or corporation or, if applicable, the publicly-traded entity that is the parent entity of th or corporation, with such appropriate adjustments as may be determined or approved b mittee, in which event this Plan and the awards theretofore granted or substituted therefor ntinue in the manner and under the terms so provided. As used in this Plan, a "Change in Control" of the Company shall mean an even 6.2 ure that (a) would be required to be reported in response to Item 1 of a current report file m 8-K pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as in effect on the Effectiv this Plan; or (b) results in any person acquiring control of the Bank or the Company within ning of the Home
Owners' Loan Act of 1933, as amended and the rules and regulation ated by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") (or its predecesso , as in effect on the Effective Date of this Plan, (provided, that in applying the definitio ge in control as set forth under the rules and regulations of the OCC, the Board shal te its judgment for that of the OCC); and, without limitation, such a Change in Contro deemed to have occurred at such time as (i) any "person" (as that term is used in Section nd 14(d) of the Exchange Act and the regulations of the Securities and Exchang

ecomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act and th tions of the SEC thereunder, each as in effect on the date of the adoption of this Plan by th ), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Bank or the Company representing twenty perce or more of the Bank's or the Company's outstanding securities except for any securities o nk purchased by the Company in connection with the conversion of the Bank to the stoc nd any securities purchased by any tax qualified employee benefit plan of the Bank; ividuals who constitute the Board on the date ofthe adoption of this Plan by the Board o ors of the Company (the "Incumbent Board") cease for any reason to constitute at least ty thereof, provided that any person becoming a director subsequent to the date hereof whos n was approved by a vote of at least three-quarters of the directors then comprising th bent Board, or whose nomination for election by the Company's shareholders was approve same Nominating Committee serving under an Incumbent Board, shall be, for purposes o use (B), considered as though he were a member of the Incumbent Board; or (iii) a plan o tion reorganization, merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all the assets of th r the Company or
similar transaction in which the Bank or Company is not the resultin (a "Terminating Event") is approved by the Board and the shareholders or otherwis ; or (iv) solicitations of shareholders of the Company, by someone other than the Incumben of the Company, seeking shareholder approval of a plan of reorganization, merger o idation of the Company or Bank or similar transaction with one or more corporations as of which the outstanding shares of the class of securities then subject to this Plan ar ged for or converted into cash or property or securities not issued by the Bank or th ny shall be distributed; or (v) a tender offer is made for 20% or more of the voting securitie Bank or the Company; or (vi) any other event, transaction or series of transactions occurs a t of which any person may be deemed to become a "controlling person" of the Bank o re control" of the Company (as such terms are defined in the regulations of the OCC se 12 C.F.R. Part 161.14 or ofthe Federal Reserve Board of Governors at 12 C.F.R. Part 22 fect on the effective date of this Plan). SECTION VII COMMITTEE Administration. 7.1 The authority to control and manage the operation an stration of the Plan shall be vested in a committee (the "Committee") in accordance wit
CTION VII. The Committee shall be selected by the Board, and shall consist solely of tw more members of the Board.If the Committee does not exist, or for any other reaso ined by the Board, and to the extent not prohibited by applicable law or the applicable rule stock exchange, the Board may take any action under the Plan that would otherwise be th ibility of the Committee. With respect to Insiders, the Plan and Awards to Insiders shal inistered by a committee where each director is a "non-employee director" as that term i der Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act. 7.2 Powers of Committee. The Committee's administration of the Plan shall be subjec ollowing:

res covered by the Awards, to establish the terms, conditions, performance criteria tions, and other provisions of such Awards, and (subject to the restrictions imposed b ION VIII) to amend, cancel, or suspend Awards. To the extent that the Committee determines that the restrictions impose (b) Plan preclude the achievement of the material purposes of the Awards in jurisdiction e the United States, the Committee will have the authority and discretion to modify thos ions as the Committee determines to be necessary or appropriate to conform to applicabl ments or practices of jurisdictions outside ofthe United States. (c) The Committee will have the authority and discretion to interpret the Plan blish, amend, and rescind any rules and regulations relating to the Plan, to determine th and provisions of any Award Agreement made pursuant to the Plan, and to make all othe inations that may be necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan. (d) Any interpretation of the Plan by the Committee and any decision made b r the Plan is final and binding on all persons. (e) In controlling and managing the operation and administration of the Plan mmittee shall take action in a manner that conforms to the articles and by-laws of th ny, and applicable state
corporate law. The Committee shall take such actions as it determines to be necessary o (f) riate with respect to this Plan, and the Awards granted under the Plan, to avoid acceleratio me recognition or imposition of penalties under Section 409A. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, no benefit shall b (g) uted under the Plan unless the Committee, in its sole discretion, determines that such perso led to benefits under the Plan. At any time the Committee may correct any error made under the Plan o (h) ard Agreement, including, without limitation, changing or revoking the grant of an Award Delegation by Committee. Except to the extent prohibited by applicable law or th 7.3 ble rules of a stock exchange, the Committee may allocate all or any portion of it sibilities and powers to any one or more of its members and may delegate all or any part o onsibilities and powers to any person or persons selected by it. Any such allocation o ion may be revoked by the Committee at any time. Information to be Furnished to Committee. The Company and Subsidiaries shal 7.4 the Committee with such data and information as it determines may be required for it t ge its duties. The records of the Company and Subsidiaries as to an employee's o pant's
employment (or other provision of services), termination of employment (o on of the provision of services), leave of absence, reemployment and compensation shall b sive on all persons unless determined to be incorrect. Participants and other persons entitled

7.5 Applicable Law. The provisions of the Plan shall be construed in accordance wit ws of the State of California, without regard to the conflict of law provisions of an ction. SECTION VIII AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION The Board may, at any time, amend or terminate the Plan, and the Board or the Committe mend any Award Agreement, provided that no amendment or termination may, in th e of written consent to the change by the affected Participant (or, if the Participant is no ving, the affected beneficiary), adversely affect the rights of any Participant or beneficiar any Award granted under the Plan prior to the date such amendment is adopted by the Boar Committee, if applicable); and further provided that adjustments pursuant to Section 5.2( ot be subject to the foregoing limitations of this SECTION VIII; and further provided tha visions of Section 2.5 (relating to Option and SAR repricing) cannot be amended unless th ment is approved by the Company's shareholders. No amendment or termination shall b d or effective if it would result in accelerated recognition of income or imposition o nal tax under Section 409A or, except as otherwise provided in the amendment, would caus ts that were not otherwise subject to Section 409A to
become subject to Section 409A. SECTION IX DEFINED TERMS In addition to the other definitions contained herein, the following definitions shall apply Award. The term "Award" means any award or benefit granted under th (a) ncluding, without limitation, the grant of Options, SARs, Full Value Awards, and Cas ve Awards. Award Agreement.The term "Award Agreement" means an agreemen (b) may be entered into by each Participant and the Company that sets forth the terms an ons applicable to an Award. Bank. The term "Bank" means Broadway Federal Bank, the wholly-owned (c) bsidiary of the Company. Board. The term "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company. (d) Code.The term "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, a (e) ed.A reference to any provision of the Code shall include reference to any successo on of the Code. EligibleIndividual. (f) For purposes of the Plan, the term"Eligibl dual" means any employee of the Company or a Subsidiary, and any consultant, non

retention or otherwise, prior to the date the employee first performs services for th any or the Subsidiaries, provided that such Awards shall not become vested prior to the da ployee or service provider first performs such services. Exchange Act. The term "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchang (g) 1934, as amended from time to time and any successor thereto. Fair Market Value. Except as otherwise provided by the Committee, f (h) es of determining the "Fair Market Value" of a share of Stock as of any date means th e of the high and low bid prices ofthe Stock as reported by the Nasdaq Stock Market (a ed by the Wall Street Journal, if then so published) or, if the Stock is then listed on o through a stock exchange or transaction reporting system on or through which actual sa are regularly reported, the closing sale price of the Stock, on the grant date, or if the Stoc t traded on such date, on the next preceding day on which the Stock was quoted or trade case may be. (i) Insider. The term "Insider" means, to the extent the Company is subject t change Act on the date of an Award, an employee of the Company or any Subsidiary wh he relevant date, an officer, director, or ten percent (10%) beneficial owner of the Company e terms are defined under
Section 16 of the Exchange Act. U) Performance-BasedCompensation. The term "Performance-Base ensation" shall have the meaning ascribed to it under Section 409A. Performance Measures. The "Performance Measures" shall be based o (k) e or more of the following Company, subsidiary, operating unit or division performanc es: net earnings; net interest income; operating or interest rate margins; earnings per share cy ratio or other cost control measures or objectives; return on equity; return on asset rice; comparisons with stock market indices; regulatory achievements; economic valu metrics; strategic business objectives, consisting of one or more objectives based on meetin ed volume or market share targets, business expansion goals, or goals relating t tions or divestitures; or any combination thereof.Each goal may be expressed on a e and/or relative basis, may be based on or otherwise employ comparisons based on interna the past performance of the Company and/or the past or current performance of othe nies, and in the case of earnings-based measures, may use or employ comparisons relatin al, shareholders' equity and/or shares outstanding or investments, or to assets or net assets Prior Plan.The term "Prior Plan" means the Amended and
Restate (I) ay Financial Corporation 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan approved by the Company' lders on May 28, 2008. (m) Stock Settled. The term "Stock Settled" means that upon the exercise of a the Company shall deliver that number of shares of Stock determined by the Committe he difference between (A) the Fair Market Value of the Stock as of the first day that th

ock was traded on the securities exchange preceding the exercise date. Stock. The term "Stock" means shares of common stock, $0.01 par val (n) Company. Subsidiaries. For purposes of the Plan, the term "Subsidiary" means an (o) ation, partnership, joint venture or other entity during any period in which at least a fift t (50%) voting or profits interest is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company (or b tity that is a successor to the Company), and any other business venture designated by th ittee in which the Company (or any entity that is a successor to the Company) has cant interest, as determined in the discretion of the Committee. (p) Termination of Service. With respect to Awards that constitute Deferre nsation, references to the Participant's "terminationof employment" (includin ces to the Participant's employment termination, and to the Participant terminatin yment, a Participant's "separation from service", and other similar reference) an ces to a Participant's "termination as a director" (including separation from service an imilar references) shall mean, respectively, the Participant ceasing to be employed by, o g to perform director services for, the Company and the Affiliates, subject to the following The employment relationship or director
relationship will b (i) deemed to have ended at the time the Participant and the applicabl company reasonably anticipate that a level of bona fide services th Participant would perform for the Company and the Affiliates afte such date would permanently decrease to no more than twent percent (20%) of the average level of bona fide services performe over the immediately preceding thirty-six (36) month period (or th full period of service to the Company and the Affiliates if th Participant has performed services for the Company and th Affiliates for less than thirty-six (36) months). In the absence of a expectation that the Participant will perform at the above-describe level, the date of termination of employment or termination as director will not be delayed solely by reason of the Participan continuing to be on the Company's and the Affiliates' payroll afte such date. (ii) The employment or directorrelationship will be treateda continuing intact while the Participant is on a bona fide leave o absence (determined in accordance with Treas. Reg. §409A-l(h)). (iii) The determination of a Participant's termination of employment o termination as a director by reason of a sale of assets, sale of stock spin-off, or other similar transaction of the Company or an
Affiliat will be made in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-l(h).

(iv) If a Participant performs services both as an employee of the Company or an Affiliate, and a member of the board of directors of the Company or an Affiliate, the determination of whether termination of employment or termination of service as a director shall be made in accordance with Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(h)(5) (relating to dual status service providers). (v) The term "Affiliates" means all persons with whom the Company is considered to be a single employer under Section 414(b) of the Code and all persons with whom the Company would be considered a single employer under Code Section 414(c). (vi) The term "Deferred Compensation" means payments or benefits that would be considered to be provided under a nonqualified deferred compensation plan as that term is defined in Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1. * * * To record adoption of the Plan by the Board on approval of the Plan by the Company's shareholders on 2018, the Company has caused its authorized officer to execute the Plan. BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION By: Printed Name: uSTitle Date Signed- March 28, 2019 -15 010-8615-9762/4 1 9zclt1 0603 19-30106-3 C3.2 P145

Exhibit 10.6
Grantee:
Covered Shares:
Date of Grant:

BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION
AWARD AGREEMENT
Pursuant to the Broadway Financial Corporation 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
“Plan”), Broadway Financial Corporation (the “Company”) hereby grants a Full Value Award in
the form of restricted stock to the Grantee named above covering _______shares of Common
Stock of the Company (the “Award”). Upon acceptance of this Award, the Grantee shall
receive the number of shares of Stock of the Company covered by the Award, subject to the
restrictions and conditions set forth herein and in the Plan (the “Restricted Stock”). The
Company acknowledges the receipt from the Grantee of consideration with respect to the par
value of the Stock in the form of cash, past or future services rendered to the Company by the
Grantee or such other form of consideration as is acceptable to the Committee.
1. Acceptance of Award. The Grantee shall have no rights with respect to this Award
unless Grantee shall have accepted this Award by signing a copy of this Award Agreement and
delivering the signed copy to the Company. Upon acceptance of this Award by the Grantee,
the shares of Restricted Stock so accepted shall be issued and held by the Company’s transfer
agent in book entry form, and the Grantee’s name shall be entered as the stockholder of record
on the books of the Company. Thereupon, the Grantee shall have all the rights of a stockholder
with respect to such shares, including voting and dividend rights, subject, however, to the
restrictions and conditions specified in Paragraph 2 below.
2. Restrictions and Conditions.
(a) Any certificates or book entries for the shares of Restricted Stock granted herein
shall bear an appropriate legend, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, to
the effect that such shares are subject to restrictions as set forth herein and in the Plan.
(b) Shares of Restricted Stock granted herein may not be sold, assigned, transferred,
pledged or otherwise encumbered or disposed of by the Grantee prior to vesting.
3. Vesting of Restricted Stock. To the extent not previously forfeited, the shares of
Restricted Stock shall vest and become nonforfeitable on the earlier of (i) the second
anniversary of the Date of Grant, (ii) Grantee’s death or permanent disability, or (iii) Grantee’s
termination of employment by the Company (including its subsidiaries or any successor) within
one year following a Change in Control; provided, however, that the Change in Control-based
vesting provided for in this clause (iii) shall not apply at any time that such vesting would not be
consistent with the requirements of Part 359 of the Rules and Regulations of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (12 C.F.R. Part 359). If Grantee’s employment with the
Company (including subsidiaries) terminates for

any reason prior to the second anniversary of the Date of Grant, all shares of Restricted Stock
that are unvested (and that do not vest upon such termination pursuant to clause (ii) or (iii) of
the preceding sentence) shall be immediately forfeited. For purposes of this Agreement, the
term “Change in Control” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2 of the Plan. Section 6.1 of
the Plan shall not apply.
4. Dividends. Dividends on shares of Restricted Stock shall be paid currently to the
Grantee.
5. Incorporation of Plan . Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement shall be
subject to and governed by all the terms and conditions of the Plan, including the powers of the
Committee set forth in the Plan. Capitalized terms in this Agreement that are not defined herein
shall have the meaning specified in the Plan, unless a different meaning is indicated herein.
The terms of the Plan shall not be considered an enlargement of any benefits under this
Agreement. In addition, the Award is subject to any rules and regulations promulgated by the
Committee. However, any Award subject to this Agreement may not in any way be restricted
or limited by any Plan amendment or termination or by change of Committee rules and
regulations approved after the Date of Grant indicated on the first page hereof without the
Award recipient’s written consent.
6. Transferability. This Agreement is personal to the Grantee, is non-assignable and is not
transferable in any manner, by operation of law or otherwise, other than (i) by will or the laws of
descent and distribution or (ii) pursuant to an order issued under state domestic relations laws.
7. Tax Withholding. The Grantee shall, not later than the date as of which the receipt of
this Award becomes a taxable event for Federal income tax purposes, pay to the Company or
make arrangements satisfactory to the Committee for payment of all Federal, state, and local
taxes required by law to be withheld on account of such taxable event. Except in the case
where an election is made pursuant to Paragraph 8 below, the Company shall have the
authority to cause the required minimum tax withholding obligation to be satisfied, in whole or
in part, by withholding from shares of Stock to be issued or released by the transfer agent a
number of shares of Stock with an aggregate Fair Market Value that would satisfy the
withholding amount due.
8. Election Under Section 83(b). The Grantee and the Company hereby agree that the
Grantee may, within 30 days following the acceptance of this Award as provided in Paragraph
1 hereof, file with the Internal Revenue Service and the Company an election under
Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. In the event the Grantee makes such an election,
he or she agrees to provide a copy of the election to the Company. The Grantee acknowledges
that he or she is responsible for obtaining the advice of his or her tax advisors with regard to
the Section 83(b) election and that he or she is relying solely on such advisors and not on any
statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents with regard to such election.
9. No Obligation to Continue Employment. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is
obligated by or as a result of the Plan or this Agreement to continue the Grantee in
employment and neither the Plan nor this Agreement shall interfere in any way with the right of
the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the employment of the Grantee at any time.

10. Notices. Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal
place of business and shall be mailed or delivered to the Grantee at the address on file with the
Company or, in either case, at such other address as one party may subsequently furnish to
the other party in writing.
11. Force and Effect. The various provisions of this Agreement are severable in their
entirety. Any determination of invalidity or unenforceability of any one provision shall have no
effect on the continuing force and effect of the remaining provisions.
12. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
successors, assigns and heirs of the respective parties.
13. Applicable Law. The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed
in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without regard to the conflict of law
provisions of any jurisdiction.
14. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Plan, contains the entire
understanding of the parties and shall not be modified or amended except by a written
document duly signed by both parties hereto. No waiver by either party of any default under
this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any later default.

BROADWAY FINANCIAL
CORPORATION
By:
Name:
Title:
The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted and the terms and conditions thereof are hereby
agreed to by the undersigned.
Dated:
Grantee’s Signature
Grantee’s Name

Exhibit 10.7

E LOYMENTAGREEMENT This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of March y and among Broadway Financial Corporation, ("BFC"), Broadway Federal Ba he "Bank" and, together with BFC, the "C ompany"), and Wayne-Kent A. Brads xecutive"). The term Company shall refer to BFC in respect of Executive's serv and to the Bank in respect of the Executive's services to the Ban1c WHEREAS, the Executive has served as a senior executive officer of the Comp Bank since February, 2009; WHEREAS, the Company desires to continue to retain the Executive to serve nt and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on the terms and conditions se this Agreement, and the Executive desires to provide such services on such ter nditions; NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and mutual covenants here other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows: 1. Services, Duties and Responsibilities. (a) The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive as its nt and Chief Executive Officer during the service period fixed by Section 4 her ervice Period"). The Executive shall report to the Board of Directors of BFC ( ") and shall have such duties and responsibilities as are consistent with the
posi ident and Chief Executive Officer of a bank and holding company of similar siz mplexity as the Company (the "Services"). The Executive shall also serve on th o the extent he is elected for such service by the BFC stockholders, which elect recommended to the BFC stockholders by the appropriate committee of the Bo Executive shall serve on the board of directors of the Bank. The Executive's al work location shall be at the Company's principal executive offices; provide Executive may be required to travel as reasonably necessary in order to perform ive's duties and responsibilities hereunder. (b) During the Service Period, excluding any periods of vacation an ve to which the Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote substantially al cutive's working time, energy and attention to the performance of his duties an ibilities hereunder and shall faithfully and diligently endeavor to promote the s of the Company. During the Service Period, the Executive may not, without t ritten consent of the Board, directly or indirectly, operate, participate in the ment, operations or control of, or act as an executive, officer, consultant, agent ntative of, any type of competitive business or service; provided, that the Execut the extent not otherwise prohibited by
this Agreement, devote such amount ofti not interfere with the performance of the Executive's duties under this Agreem ging in community and charitable activities.

2. Compensation. (a) Base Salary. During the Service Period, the Executive shall be ual base salary of$435,000 for the Executive's services hereunder, payable in ance with the normal and customary payroll procedures applicable to the any's senior executives. The Executive's base salary shall be subject to increase rease, as determined by the Board in its discretion (such base salary, as in effec me to time, the "Base Salarv"). (b) Bonus Opportunity. During the portion of the Service Period th mpany is subject to EESA and the Interim Final Rule (both as defined in Sectio ereof), the Executive shall be eligible for an annual bonus opportunity, payable n the form of "long-term restricted stock" (as defined in the Interim Final Rule erm includes restricted stock units) that will be granted to the Executive, of up ximum amount permitted by EESA and the Interim Final Rule, on the terms and ons to be set by the compensation committee of the Board (or the Board, in the e of the compensation committee) and set forth in a separate agreement which s ed into on or before March 30 of each year of grant. Any long-term restricted st subject to the service-based vesting and the vesting limitations required by EE Interim Final Rule. The payment or accrual of
bonuses, and the grant and vest ong-term restricted stock, pursuant to this Section 2(b) shall in all events be sub liance with Section 11 hereof. The Executive shall be eligible for an annual bo nity of such other type and on such performance and other conditions as shall b ned by the compensation committee of the Board (or the Board, in the absence pensation committee) during any period after the Company ceases to be subjec nd the Interim Final Rule. Any such bonus with respect to a year in which the Period terminates shall be payable in full or on a pro-rated basis, depending on f the Company's bonus policy at that time. (c) Equity Incentives. The Executive shall be entitled to participate k's Employee Stock Ownership Plan.(the "ESOP") in accordance with its terms. , for any period after the Company ceases to be subject to EESA and the Interi ule, the Executive shall be granted equity-based awards pursuant to the Compan ng-Term Incentive Plan on or before March 30 each year of such types and in s s as shall be determined by the compensation committee of the Board (or the Boa sence of the compensation committee) based on the Executive's performance f eding year. Such awards shall each vest and, in the case of any stock options,
exercisable (i) to the extent of thirty three percent (33%) of the shares covered on the first anniversary of the date of grant, with the balance of each such awa atably over the succeeding twenty-four (24) months for each grant, and (ii) in f ent of the death or Disability ofthe Executive, the termination of the Service y the Company without Cause or the termination of the Service Period by the ve for Good Reason. Any stock options granted to the Executive pursuant to th 2(c) and the 2009 Stock Option Agreement (as defined in Section 14(b) hereof exercisable by the Executive's estate, legal representative or heirs for a period ear after termination of the Service Period due to the death, Disability, terminati Cause or termination for Good Reason of the Executive. Unless otherwise

ited pursuant to Section 11 hereof, all restricted stock granted pursuant to the 20 Agreement (as defined in Section 14(b) hereof), and any subsequent restricted st d to the Executive shall vest in full in the event ofthe death or Disability of the tive, the termination of the Executive's employment without Cause, or the ation of the Executive's employment for Good Reason. (d) Other Benefits. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Execu e eligible to participate in all employee benefit plans and arrangements of the any applicable to other senior executive officers, including, without limitation, th any's 401(k) Plan with continuation of the Company's current employee ution matching policy, and medical, dental, life and long-term disability insuran ms. (e) Vacation. The Executive shall be entitled paid vacation in ance with the Company's vacation policy; provided, that the Executive shall be to not less than twenty (20) days of vacation in each calendar year (or an riately pro-rated portion thereof for partial years). The Executive shall be permit ue permitted vacation days at such rate and carry over a maximum of fifteen (15 such accrued unused vacation from year to year. (f) Automobile Allowance. The Company will provide the Executi automobile
allowance in the amount of $1,500 per month during the Service , payable in accordance with the normal and customary practices applicable to th ny's senior executives. 3. Reimbursement for Expenses. (a) Business Expenses. The Company shall promptly reimburse the ve for all reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses, including, without on, travel expenses incurred by the Executive in connection with carrying out hi ibilities under this Agreement during the Service Period upon presentation of iate vouchers, receipts or other satisfactory evidence thereof and otherwise in nce with applicable Company policies. (b) Memberships. The Company shall pay or reimburse the Executi al and trade membership dues and fees during the Service Period in accordance Company's policies and procedures as in effect from time to time, which polici cedures shall in all events include paying the social club dues of the Executive y paid by the Company at a rate not exceeding $1,000 per month. 4. Service Period. (a) Term. The "Service Period" during which the Executive shall the Services for the Company pursuant to this Agreement means the period ncing on the date hereof and, subject to extension as set forth below, expiring at t business on the third (3rd)
anniversary of the date hereof in the year 2020. Prior er 31 of each calendar year during the Service Period, the Board shall review th ve's performance, shall discuss the results of such review with Executive and

tly shall inform the Executive in writing whether the Board proposes to extend e Period for an additional year, and the results thereof shall be included in the s of the Board's meeting at which the same has been considered. If the Board s the Executive that it proposes to extend the Service Period, and the Executive such proposal, the Service Period shall be extended to end on the anniversary of reofthat occurs in the year immediately following the expiration date of the th g Service Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall bar the from (a) extending the Service Period under this Agreement by mutual agreem ontinuing the Executive's employment by the Company without extension of t ent. (b) Termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Service Period terminated at any time upon the earliest to occur of the following events or any nts identified in Section 7 hereof: (i) Death or Disability. The Service Period shall terminate e Executive's death or Disability. For this purpose, "Disability" means that eit Executive is deemed disabled for purposes of any group or individual long-ter ty policy maintained by the Company that covers the Executive, or (B) in the g dgment of the Board, the Executive is substantially unable to perform the
ve's duties under this Agreement for more than one hundred twenty (120) days or not consecutive, in any twelve (12) -month period, by reason of a physical illness or injury. (ii) Termination for Cause by the Company. The Company m te the Service Period for Cause at any time effective upon written notice to the ve. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Cause" shall mean the terminati ervice Period on account of(A) the Executive's failure to substantially perform ve's duties hereunder or as reasonably assigned to the Executive by the Board a nt with the Executive's obligations hereunder and Executive shall not have cur lure (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Board) within thirty (30) er written notice from the Board; (B) the Executive's material breach of this ent or any material written policy of the Company and failure of the Executive ed such breach (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Board) within 0) days after written notice from the Board; (C) the Executive's willful violation , rule, or regulation (other than traffic violations or similar offenses) or entry of se-and-desist order against the Executive; (D) conviction of a felony or a plea tendere to a felony; or (E) conduct by the Executive constituting a misdemean g
a Disqualifier (as defined below) by the Executive. "Disqualifier" means (i) oral turpitude, dishonesty, breach of fiduciary duty involving personal profit, d crime or racketeering; (ii) willful violation of securities or commodities laws ns; (iii) willful violation of depository institution laws or regulations; (iv) willf of housing authority laws or regulations arising from the operations of the Ban llful violation of the rules, regulations, codes of conduct or ethics of a latory trade or professional organization.=Notwithstanding the foregoing, the e shall not be deemed terminated for Cause unless and until there shall have be d to the Executive a copy of the resolution duly adopted by the Board at a meeti

Board called and held for that purpose (after reasonable notice to the Executive) ortunity for the Executive , together with counsel, to be heard before the Board) g that, in the good faith ofthe Board, the Executive's conduct justified terminati use and specifying the particulars thereof in reasonable detail. (iii) Termination without Cause by the Company. The Comp rminate the Service Period without Cause. For the avoidance of doubt, "terminat t Cause" includes, without limitation, the failure by the Company for whatever to extend the Service Period pursuant to Section 4(a), except ifthe Executive in writing to accept the then one (I) year extension ofthe Service Period. (iv) Termination by the Executive for Good Reason. The ive may terminate the Service Period for Good Reason within ninety (90) days ng the initial existence of the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason, subject ms and conditions of this Section 4(b)(iv). For purposes of this Agreement, the te Reason" shall mean, unless the Executive shall have consented in writing theret Executive's demotion, loss of title in part or in whole, removal as a director of th ny or the Bank, loss of office, or reduction of authority, the failure by the olders to elect the Executive as a director of the
Company or the obligation of ive to report to any senior officer rather than directly to the Board, (ii) a reduction cutive's base salary, (iii) relocation of the Executive's primary work location m enty (20) miles from 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Los Angeles, California, (iv) a l diminution of the Executive's responsibilities, or (v) any material breach of thi ent by the Company, including, without limitation, the failure to pay the Executi ount when due and payable, pursuant to this Agreement, except in the event of a de dispute regarding reimbursement of business expenses, provided, that the ve shall have delivered written notice to the Company, within thirty (30) days of t xistence of the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason, of the Executive's n to terminate the Service Period for Good Reason, which notice specifies in ble detail the circumstances claimed to give rise to the Executive's right to te the Service Period for Good Reason, and the Company shall not have cured su tances within thirty (30) days following the Company's receipt of such notice; d, however, that any breach by the Company of a payment obligation hereunder cured within five (5) days (rather than the foregoing 30 days) following the ny's receipt of such notice. If, following such
thirty (30)-day period (or such fiv period, as applicable), the Company has not cured such circumstances and the ve decides to proceed with the termination of the Service Period for Good Reaso ermination will be effected by providing the Company with a Notice of ation, which Notice ofTermination shall be effective as of the date given, witho her right to cure by the Company. (v) Voluntary Termination by the Executive. The Executive untarily terminate the Service Period (other than for Good Reason); provided, th cutive provides the Company with notice of the Executive's intent to terminate t Period at least sixty (60) days in advance of the Date of Termination.

5. Termination Procedure. (a) Notice of Termination. Any termination of the Service Period mpany or by the Executive (other than a termination on account of the Executi shall be communicated by written "Notice of Termination" to the other party in ance with Section 14(a) hereof. The Notice of Termination must indicate the c termination provision in this Agreement the party giving such notice believes e the circumstances applicable to such termination and shall set forth in reason he facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of the ive's employment under such provision_ (b) Date of Termination. "Date of Termination" shall mean (i) ifth Period expires pursuant to Section 4(a) hereof, the date on which the expiratio vice Period occurs; (ii) if the Service Period is terminated due to the Executive' r Disability, the date of the Executive's death or the date on which the Notice o ation is received by the Executive that the Board made its determination of ity in accordance with Section 4(b)(i) (A) or (B) hereof, (iii) if the Company tes the Service Period for Cause, the date on which the Notice of Termination i d by the Executive; (iv) if the Executive terminates the Service Period for Good , the date on which the Notice of
Termination is given by the Executive (or suc date as may be agreed to by the Company); (v) if the Executive voluntarily tes the Service Period (other than for Good Reason), the date specified in the No ination, which date shall be no earlier than sixty (60) days after the date such no pursuant to Section 4(b)(v) hereof, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties; a he Service Period is terminated for any other reason, the date on which a Notice ation is received or any later date (within 30 days, or any alternative time perio upon by the parties, after the giving of such notice) as set forth in such Notice o ation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the party receiving a Notice ofTerminat the other party that a dispute exists concerning the appropriate characterization ect termination for purposes of determining the Executive's entitlement to Accr ions and Severance Payments, and any other benefits hereunder, the Date of ation shall be the date on which the dispute shall be finally resolved whether by agreement of the parties, by a binding arbitration award, or by a final ealable judgment or order by a court of competent jurisdiction, provided that herein modifies the mandatory arbitration provisions set forth in Section 10 her (c) Continuation ofPayment The
Company shall continue to pay th ve's full compensation in effect when the Notice ofTermination giving rise to t described in subsection (b) above was given (including, but not limited to, the ve's then Base Salary) and continue the Executive as a participant in all employ plans and arrangements of the Company in which the Executive was participati e notice of dispute was given, until the dispute is fmally resolved in accordance s Agreement. Amounts paid under this Section 5(c) shall not be offset against, o any other amounts due to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement.

6. Rights and Obligations Upon Termination of the Service Period. (a) Termination by the Company for Disability or without Cause, o ecutive for Good Reason. In the event of the termination of the Service Period mpany for Disability or without Cause, or termination of the Service Period by ive for Good Reason, and to the extent permitted by applicable law and regulati ng, without limitation, those referred to in Section 11 hereof, the Company shall cutive, and the Executive shall be entitled to: (i) any unpaid portion of the Bas through the Date of Termination; (ii) any unreimbursed business expenses in ance with Section 3(a) hereof; (iii) the rights set forth in the Stock Option ent, the 2016 Award Agreement and any subsequent restricted stock award gra nt to the BFC 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan, as the sane may be amended, or milar plan adopted by BFC; and (iv) any vested benefits to which the Executiv under the terms of the Company's employee benefit plans and programs, ng, without limitation, the ESOP, subject to the terms of such plans and progra ively the "Accrued Obligations"). In addition, the Company shall continue to cutive's monthly Base Salary (i.e., one-twelfth (l/12th) ofExecutive's annual B in effect as of the date
immediately preceding the date of termination of ment, or the date immediately prior to the initial existence of circumstances giv Good Reason, as applicable) for (i) thirty-six (36) months (the "Severance Perio ess of the then remaining portion of the Service Period (each monthly salary ation payment shall be deemed to be a separate installment for purposes of Sec f the Code) commencing with the first calendar month following the Date of ation and (ii) the Company shall continue during the Severance Period to pay th bile allowance and social club dues provided for in Sections 2(t) and 3(b) hereo ll continue to pay the Executive for life, long-term disability, medical and dent ce premiums in manner consistent with the Company's obligations to make suc ts pursuant to Section 2(d) (the payments described in (i) and (ii) being collectiv to herein as the "Severance Payments"). All Severance Payments shall be paya dance with normal and customary payroll procedures applicable to the Compan xecutives, subject to Section 6(d) hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisi ection 6(a): (i) the Executive's entitlement to the Severance Payments shall be to and conditioned upon the Executive delivering to the Company an Irrevocab not later than sixty (60)
days after the date of the Executive's termination of ment; (ii) if such 60-day period following the Executive's termination of ment begins in one calendar year and ends in another, the Severance Payments the extent required in order to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Reve 1986, as amended (the "Code"), commence on the first payroll date following (A) the end of the calendar year in which the Executive's termination of ment occurs or (B) the date the Executive satisfies the Irrevocable Release ment; and (iii) the Executive's entitlement to the Severance Payments shall be to and conditioned upon the Executive complying in all material respects with s 8 and 9 of this Agreement. "Irrevocable Release" means a mutual general rele s in the form affixed hereto marked Exhibit A (except with the date of terminat oyment, the date of such Irrevocable Release and other indicated information fil has been executed by the Executive and for which the revocation period under A ination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, and the terms of the release ha

d. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 6(a) shall be subject to the limitatio n 11 of this Agreement. (b) Death. If the Service Period is terminated as a result of the tive's death, the Executive or the Executive's estate or beneficiaries, as the case ll be entitled to solely the Accrued Obligations. (c) Termination by the Company for Cause or by the Executive tarily. If the Service Period is terminated by the Company for Cause or volunta Executive (other than for Good Reason), the Executive shall be entitled to solely ed Obligations. (d) Change in Control. (i) In the event that the employment of the Executive by th ny is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good at any time within three (3) years after a Change in Control has occurred, the ive shall have the right to elect to receive a single lump sum payment of the pre as determined using a discount rate equal to the Applicable Federal Rate (as defi in effect at the time of such determination, of all of the payments provided for 6(a) within ten (10) days after written notice requesting such payment is given mpany by the Executive. If the Executive does not make such election within th ys after the Date of Termination, then payment of an amount equal to the aggre ayments
provided for in Section 6(a) hereof shall be made to the Executive in th al annual installments, the first of which installment payments shall be made wi 30) calendar days following the Date ofTermimition and the remaining two of nstallment payments shall be made on January 15th of the respective following As used herein the term "Applicable Federal Rate" means the rate set forth from time in Table 1 of the Applicable Federal Rate Rulings of the Internal Revenue , or any official successor publication, for debt instruments maturing within thr nd having annual compounding. (ii) As used herein, the term "Change in Control" shall mean ith respect to the Company of a nature that (i) would be required to be reported e to Item 5.01 of a current report filed on Farm 8-K pursuant to Section 13 or 15 ecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") as in effect of this Agreement; or (ii) results in any person acquiring control of the Bank or ny within the meaning of the Home Owners' Loan Act of 1933, as amended, and d regulations Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "FRB") der, (provided, that in applying the defmition of change in control as set forth un les and regulations, the Board shall substitute its judgment
for that of the FRB); a limitation, such an acquisition of control shall be deemed to have occurred at s (A) any "person" (as that term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) ofthe Excha the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") der, including any such persons that may be deemed to be acting in concert wit to the Bank or the Company, or the acquisition, ownership or voting of Bank or ny securities) is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 un

change Act and the regulations of the SEC thereunder, directly or indirectly, of ies of the Bank or the Company representing fifty percent (50%) or more of the or the Company's outstanding securities except for any securities purchased by lified employee benefit plan of the Company or the Bank; or (B) individuals w ute the Board as of the date of this Agreement (the "Incumbent Board") cease f son to constitute at least a majority of the Board, provided that any person becom tor subsequent to the date hereof whose election was approved by a vote of at le uarters (3/4) of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board, or whose tion for election by the Company's stockholders was approved by a nominatin ttee serving under an Incumbent Board, shall be, for purposes of this clause (B) ered as though such person were a member of the Incumbent Board; or (C) a pla tion reorganization, merger, consolidation sale of all or substantially all the asset k or the Company or similar transaction in which the Bank or the Company is ulting entity is approved by the Board and the stockholders of the Company or ise occurs; or (D) solicitations of stockholders ofthe Company, by someone oth e Incumbent Board of the Company, seeking stockholder approval of
a plan of ization, merger or consolidation of the Company or Bank or a similar transacti e or more corporations as a result of which the outstanding shares ofthe Compa common stock are exchanged for or converted into cash or property or securities by the Bank or the Company shall be distributed; or (E) a tender offer is made f percent (20%) or more of the voting securities of the Bank or the Company. 7. Other Termination Provisions. (a) If the Executive is suspended and/or temporarily prohibited from ating in the conduct of the Company's affairs by a notice served under section or (g)(l) ofthe Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(e)(3) or (g)(l)), ny's obligations under this Agreement shall be suspended as of the date of servi tayed by appropriate proceedings. If the charges in the notice are dismissed or se withdrawn, the Company shall (but subject in all events to the requirements 409A of the Code) (i) pay the Executive all of the compensation withheld while ny's obligations under this Agreement were suspended, and (ii) reinstate all of i ons which were suspended. (b) If the Executive is removed and/or permanently prohibited from ating in the conduct ofthe Company's affairs by an order issued under section or (g)(l) of the Federal
Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(e)(4) or (g)(l)), ons of the Company under this Agreement shall terminate as of the effective date r, but vested rights of the Executive shall not be affected. (c) If the Con;1pany is in default (asJhe term "default" is defined in 3(x)(l) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. 1813(x)(l)), all obligati is Agreement shall terminate as of the date of default, but vested rights of the ve shall not be affected.

8. Non-Solicitation. (a) During the period of the Executive's employment by the Comp r pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, and for the twelve (12) -month peri ing the termination of the Executive's employment with the Company for any the Executive will not, without the written consent of the Company, directly o tly: (i) influence or attempt to influence any customer of the ny or any ofits affiliates to discontinue its use of the Company's (or such affilia s or to divert such business to any other person, firm or corporation; provided; er, that a broad and general advertisement or solicitation not specifically targetin ng to target customers of the Company or any of its affiliates shall not be deem n of this Section 8; or (ii) interfere with, disrupt or attempt to disrupt the relationsh tual or otherwise, between the Company or any of its affiliates and any of its ive employees, customers, suppliers, principals, distributors, lessors or licensors by the Executive, whether direct or indirect, (A) to solicit or assist any other per y in soliciting any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates to perform s for any entity (other than the Company or any of its affiliates) or (B) to encour ployee ofthe Company, or any of its affiliates to leave their employment with t
ny or any of its affiliates shall be in violation of this Section 8. A person's respo ad and general advertisement or solicitation not specifically targeting or intend t employees of the Company or any of its affiliates shall not be deemed a violat Section 8. (b) In the event the Executive materially breaches any of the provisi ed in Section 8(a) hereof and the Company seeks compliance with such provisi ial proceedings, the time period during which the Executive is restricted by suc ns shall be extended by the time during which the Executive has been in violati uch provision and any period of litigation required to enforce the Executive's ons under this Agreement. (c) The Executive and the Company intend that Section 8 ofthis ent be enforced as written. However, if one or more of the provisions contained 8 shall for any reason be held to be unenforceable because of the duration or sc provision or the area covered thereby, the Executive and the Company agree th t making such determination shall have the full power to reform, by "blue g" or any other means, the duration, scope and/or area of such provision and in d form such provision shall then be enforceable and shall be binding on the parti 9. Confidentiality; Non-Disclosure. (a) The Executive hereby
agrees that, during the Service Period and r, he will hold in strict confidence any proprietary or Confidential Information o the Company or any of its affiliates. For purposes ofthis Agreement, the ter

dential Information" shall mean all information ofthe Company or any of its es (in whatever form) that is not generally known to the public, including witho ion any inventions, processes, methods of distribution, customer lists or trade . (b) The Executive hereby agrees that upon the termination of the e Period, the Executive shall not take, without the prior written consent of the ny, any business plans, strategic plans or reports or other document (in whateve f the Company or any of its affiliates, which is of a confidential nature relating mpany or any of its affiliates. I 0. Dispute Resolution; Injunctive Relief. (a) Any dispute, claim or controversy arising out of or relating to th ent or the breach, termination, enforcement, interpretation or validity thereof, ng without limitation the determination of the scope or applicability of this Sect hall be determined by arbitration in Los Angeles, California before a single or who is a retired judge on the panel of JAMS. If the parties are unable to agre e selection of one arbitrator, any party may request JAMS to appoint such or. The arbitration shall be administered by JAMS pursuant to its Comprehensiv tion Rules and Procedures. The decision of the arbitrator shall be fmal and bind arties. The scope of discovery shall
be determined by the arbitrator. The prevail all be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in accordance wit 13(b). Judgment on the arbitration award may be entered in any court having iate jurisdiction. This Section 1O(a) shall not preclude parties from seeking onal remedies in aid of arbitration from a court having appropriate jurisdiction, limit the rights of the Company set forth in Section 1O(b) hereof. (b) The parties hereto agree that it would not be possible to measure the damages that would be suffered by the Company and its affiliates in the eve Executive were to breach any of the restrictive covenants set forth in Sections 8 a f (the "Restrictive Covenants"). In the event that the Executive breaches any of ive Covenants, the Company shall be entitled to an injunction restraining the ve from violating such Restrictive Covenants (without posting any bond). If th ny shall institute any action or proceeding to enforce any such Restrictive nt, the Executive hereby waives the claim or defense that the Company or any of s has an adequate remedy at law and agrees not to assert in any such action or ing the claim or defense that the Company or any of its affiliates has an adequa at law. 11. TARP and Golden Parachute Restrictions. (a)
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary: (i) any payment the Executive pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise are subject to and ned upon their compliance with 12 U.S.C. 1828(k) and 12 C.F.R. Part 359 g golden parachute and indemnification payments; (ii) no annual bonus, incenti sation, severance pay, or golden parachute payments or benefits shall be paid,

ed, or accrued under this Agreement or othervvise to the extent it would violate n 111 of Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of2008, as amended ("EESA" Interim Final Rule (as hereinafter defined); (iii) no payment or benefit shall be ided under this Agreement or otherwise to the extent that it would violate any ent between or among the Company and the Board of Governors of the Federal e System, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency or any other governme r agency, provided that the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts te the authority and right to make all payments and provide all benefits to the ive as and when contemplated by this Agreement; and (iv) subject to, and in ance with, the interim final rule promulgated pursuant to Sections 101(a), 101(c) 1 ofEESA (the "Interim Final Rule"), the Executive shall be required to repay to ny the amount of any bonus payment (as defined in the Interim Final Rule) mad the TARP period (as defined in the Interim Final Rule) to the extent that the bo t was based on materially inaccurate financial statements (which includes, but i ited to, statements of earnings, revenues, or gains) or any other materially ate performance metric criteria. (b) In the event that the amounts and benefits
payable pursuant to th ent, when added to other amounts and benefits which may become payable to t ve by the Company and any affiliated company, are such that the Executive s subject to the excise tax provisions of Section 4999 of the Code relating to parachute payments" as defined for purposes of Section 280G of the Code, the ny shall pay the Executive such additional amount or amounts as will result in t ve's retention of a net amount, after the payment of all federal, state and local employment and income taxes on such payments and the value of such benefits the net amount the Executive would have retained had the initially calculated t and benefits not been subject to such excise tax provisions. For purposes of th ng sentence, the Executive shall be deemed to be subject to the highest marginal relevant state and relevant local tax rate applicable to an individual resident in L , California. All calculations required to be made under this subsection shall be the Company's independent public accountants, subject to the right of ve's representative to review the same. All such amounts required to be paid by tion shall be paid at the time any withholding may be required by the Company, s may be required to be paid by the Executive, under applicable
law, and any al amounts to which the Executive may be entitled shall be paid or reimbursed n fifteen (15) days following confirmation of such amount by the Company's dent public accountants. In the event any amounts paid hereunder are subsequen ned to be in error, due to estimates required for calculation of such payments bei to be inaccurate or othervvise, the parties hereto agree to reimburse each other t uch error, as appropriate, and to pay interest thereon at the applicable federal ra mined pursuant to Code Section 1274) for the period of time such erroneous remained outstanding and unreimbursed. The parties hereto recognize that the mplementation ofthe provisions of this Section 8(b) are complex and agree to d h other in good faith to resolve any questions or disagreements arising with respe

12. Section 409A. (a) This Agreement is intended to comply with the requirements of n 409A of the Code (including the exceptions thereto), to the extent applicable, ties' Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with such requirements. If a ion contained in the Agreement conflicts with the requirements of Section 409A de (or the exemptions intended to apply under the Agreement), the Agreement s med to be reformed to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Co applicable exemptions thereto). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary here poses of determining the Executive's entitlement to the Severance Payments, (i) e Period shall not be deemed to have terminated unless and until the Executive a "separation from service" as defined in Section 409A of the Code, and (ii) the t of Termination" shall mean the effective date of the Executive's separation from . Reimbursement of any expenses provided for in this Agreement shall be mad ly upon presentation of documentation in accordance with the Company's polic licable) with respect thereto as in effect from time to time (but in no event later t of calendar quarter following the year such expenses were incurred); provided, er, that in no event shall the amount of expenses eligible
for reimbursement der during a calendar year affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any xable year. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if a payment or under this Agreement is due to a "separation from service" for purposes of the ru reas. Reg. § 1.409A-3(i)(2) (payments to specified employees upon a separatio rvice) and the Executive is determined to be a "specified employee" (as determi reas. Reg.§ 1.409A-l(i) and related Company procedures), such payment shall ent necessary to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, be n the later of (x) the date specified by the foregoing provisions of this Agreemen date that is six (6) months after the date of the Executive's separation from serv arlier, the date of the Executive's death). Any installment payments that are pursuant to this Section 12 shall be accumulated and paid in a lump sum on th y of the seventh month following the Date of Termination (or, if earlier, upon th ive's death) and the remaining installment payments shall begin on such date in nce with the schedule provided in this Agreement. The Severance Payments ar d not to constitute deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code t nt such Severance Payments are covered by (i) the
"short-term deferral excepti h in Treas. Reg. § l.409A-l(b)(4), (ii) the "two times severance exception" set fo s. Reg.§ 1.409A-l(b)(9)(iii), or (iii) the "limited payments exception" set forth Reg.§ 1.409A-l(b)(9)(v)(D). The short-term deferral exception, the two times ce exception and the limited payments exception shall be applied to the Severa ts in order of payment in such manner as results in the maximum exclusion of s ce Payments from treatment as deferred compensation under Section 409A of t Each installment of the Severance Payments shall be deemed to be a separate t for purposes of Section 409A of the Code.

13. Legal Fees. (a) The Company shall promptly reimburse the Executive for his able legal fees incurred in connection with the negotiation and preparation of th ment. (b) In the event of a dispute between the parties hereto arising out o g to this Agreement, the prevailing party in any resulting arbitration proceeding on permitted under the terms of this Agreement shall be entitled to recover such reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in addition to any other relief to which suc hall be entitled. The determination of which party is the prevailing party shall y the arbitrator or court before whom such arbitration or litigation is conducted 14. Miscellaneous. (a) Any notice or other communication required or permitted under ent shall be effective only if it is in writing and shall be deemed to be given w ed personally or one (1) day after it is sent by a reputable overnight courier serv vidence of delivery) and, in each case, addressed as follows (or if it is sent thro er method agreed upon by the parties): If to BFC: Broadway Financial Corporation Attn: Board of Directors 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500 Los Angeles, CA 90036 If to the Bank: Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. Attn: Board of Directors 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500 Los Angeles, CA 90036 If
to the Executive: Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw 23265 Bluebird Drive Calabasas, CA 91302 ch other address as any party hereto may designate by notice to the others. (b) This Agreement together with the BFC Non-Statutory Stock Opt ent dated as of March 18, 2009 (the "2009 Stock Option Agreement"), the 2016 Agreement dated as of March 30,2016 (the "2016 Award Agreement"), and the the Executive pursuant to the ESOP shall constitute the entire agreement amon

rties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersede and replace a l prior understandings or agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof. (c) Only an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto may this Agreement, and any provision hereof may be waived only by an instrument g signed by the party or parties against whom or which enforcement of such waive . The failure of any party hereto at any time to require the performance by any ot ereto of any provision hereof shall in no way affect the full right to require such mance at any time thereafter, nor shall the waiver by any party hereto of a breach ovision hereof be taken or held to be a waiver of any succeeding breach of such ion or a waiver of the provision itself or a waiver of any other provision of this ment. (d) This Agreement is binding on and is for the benefit of the parties and their respective successors, assigns, heirs, executors, administrators and othe epresentatives. Neither this Agreement nor any right or obligation hereunder may ed by the Executive, except as permitted hereunder. (e) The Company shall require any successor (whether direct or t, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all ofth ss and/or assets of the Company to
assume this Agreement in the same manner an ame extent that the Company would have been required to perform it if no such sion had taken place. As used in this Agreement, the term "Company" shall mea mpany and any such successor (or successors) that assumes this Agreement, by on of law or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such assignment or tion shall relieve the Company of any obligations hereunder. (f) The parties hereto shall cooperate with each other and take all , including obtaining, any governmental or stockholder approval, that any of the termine in good faith to be required to carry out the terms of this Agreement. (g) The Company may withhold from any amounts payable to the ive hereunder all federal, state, city or other taxes that the Company may reasonab ine are required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation (it bei ood, that the Executive shall be responsible for payment of all taxes in respect of t ts and benefits provided herein). (h) In the event that the Executive shall perform services for the Ban other affiliate or subsidiary of BFC, any compensation or benefits provided to the ve by such other employer shall be applied to offset the obligations of BFC er, it being intended that this
Agreement set forth the aggregate compensation an payable to the Executive for all services to the Company and all of its affiliates an aries. BFC shall reimburse the Bank for compensation or benefits paid or provid Bank to the Executive to the extent attributable to the Executive's performance of s for BFC in accordance with the applicable reimbursement policies of BFC and t

(i) This Agreement shall be govcmed by and construed in accordance h the laws of the State of' California, \Vithout reference to its principles of conflicts of . (j) This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts. each of ich shall be deemed an original. but all of which shall constitute one and the same rument. A facsimile of a signature shall be deemed to be and have the ctJect of an inal signature. The headings in this Agreement arc for convcnienec ofrererence {k) y and shall not be a part of or control or affect the meaning of any provision hereof. I:\! WJT:"\ESS WI IE REO F. the parties have executed this Employment Agreement f the date first wrinen above. "\?l.'ayne-Kcnt A. Bradsha\\' 16

(i) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accorda e laws of the State of California, without reference to its principles of conflicts This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each G) shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same ment. A facsimile of a signature shall be deemed to be and have the effect of an l signature. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of referenc (k) d shall not be a part of or control or affect the meaning of any provision hereof IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Employment Agreem e date first written above. Broadway Financial Corporation Name: Virgil Roberts Title: Chairman ofthe Board Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. Name: Virgil Roberts Title: Chairman of the Board Wayne-Kent A Bradshaw

MUTUAL GENERAL RELEASE OF CLAIMS Tl]js Mutual Genl Release of Claims ("Agreement") is dated and executed a r7 , 2 ("Execution Date"), by and among Broadway Financial 1 ation ("BFC 'tiroadwa y Federal Bank, f.s.b. (the "Bank" and together with B mpany"), and Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw ("Executive"). Each of the parties he red to individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties". RECITALS A. TheCompany and Executive entered into that certain Employm ent dated as of March 22, 2017 ("Employment Agreement"). All capitalized te have the same meaning ascribed to them in the Employment Agreement, un ise defined herein. B. This Agreement is the mutual general release contemplated by Section ployment Agreement. C. Effective as of _, , Executive's employment pany ceased pursuant to Section 1 of the Employment Agreement, a copy of wh ed hereto marked Exhibit A and incorporated by reference herein. Now, therefore, in consideration of the recitals above, and the mutual covenant ditions set forth herein, the Parties agree as follows: Effective Date. The term "Effective Date" means the date that is eight (8) calen ter the Execution Date, provided Executive has not revoked his consent to t ent within seven (7)
calendar days after the Execution Date. If the Effective D a weekend or holiday, the Effective Date shall be the business day immediat ng such weekend or holiday. If Executive revokes his consent to this Agreem even (7) calendar days after the Execution Date, (i) there shall be no Effect i) Executive shall not be entitled to any portion of the Separation Payments, a Party shall have any obligations under this Agreement. AccruedObligations and Separation Payments. The Company, jointly a y, shall pay the Executive, and the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment ued Obligations pursuant to and in accordance with Section 6 of the Employm ent. The Company, jointly and severally, shall pay Executive the Severa ts pursuant to and in accordance with Section 6 of the Employment Agreement urvival of Employment Agreement Provisions. Executive and the Compa edge and agree that Sections 6(a), 6(d), 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14, together with ons thereof, of the Employment Agreement shall remain in full force and effe ing herein terminates, amends or otherwise modifies any provision therein. pplicable: "4(b)(i)," "4(b)(iii)" or "4(b)(iv)."

Executive Release. 4.1 If the Effective Date occurs, Executive for himself and on behalf o beneficiaries, successors and assigns, hereby fully releases and discharges (i) ny and its successors, predecessors and assigns, and (ii) each of the respective sent shareholders, directors, officers, employees, agents, representatives, attorn ountants of the persons and entities described in clause (i) (the persons and ent ed in clauses (i) and (ii), collectively, the "Company Releasees"), and each of t from, without limitation, any and all rights, claims, liabilities, losses or expense d whether arising out of, from, or related to Executive's employment relation y of the Company Releasees, termination of Executive's employment, or ari any other matter between Executive and the Company Releasees through ng the Execution Date. The claims released in this Agreement include, but are to, claims based on tort, contract (express or implied and oral or written), or state, or local law, statute, regulation or ordinance. By way of example and no on, this release includes any claims arising under federal and state wage and h e Equal Pay Act; the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993; Title VII ofthe C Act of 1964, the Americans with Disabilities Act and the California ment and
Housing Act, the California Labor Code, the Pregnancy Disability Le e Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Older Workers Ben on Act, all claims under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, as wel ms asserting wrongful termination, harassment, discrimination, breach of contr of the implied (and any explicit) covenant of good faith and fair dealing, inflict tionaldistress, misrepresentation,interference withcontract or prospec ic advantage, defamation, invasion of privacy, and claims related to disabil leased claims also include claims for wages or other compensation due, severa onuses, sick leave, vacationpay, insurance orany otherfringe ben standing the foregoing, nothing herein waives (i) any rights or claims Execut ve that cannot lawfully be waived by agreement of the Parties, including, but to, workers' compensation benefits, unemployment insurance benefits, and ification rights under California Labor Code Sections 2800, et seq., (ii) Executi payment of the Accrued Obligations and the Severance Payments in accorda s Agreement, (iii) Executive's vested rights pursuant to the 2009 Stock Opt ent, the 2016 Award Agreement and all subsequent restricted stock awards gran utive by the Company, if any, (iv) Executive's
rights under any Company plans t terms survive employment termination, including, without limitation, the Ban ee Stock Ownership Plan, (v) Executive's rights to indemnification pursuant ertificate of incorporation and bylaws and the Bank's charter and bylaws, a and all Executive's rights arising out of, related to, or in connection with t ent (collectively, the "Executive Reserved Claims"). In addition, nothing her event the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission from investigating any matter that it deems appropriate; provided, however, Executive understan es that, except as otherwise arising out of or related to this Agreement, Execut nd shall not be entitled to seek any further monetary compensation from a y Releasee and that any remedies that may be available to Executive are entir ded by the releases contained in this Agreement.

4.2 Except for the Executive Reserved Claims, Executive understands that the claims released are intended to and do include any and all claims of e and kind whatsoever, whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, w ive has or may have against any of the Company Releasees and Executive he any and all rights Executive has or may have under Section 1542 of the Califo ode which provides: "A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor." hstanding the provisions of Section 1542, as well as laws of similar effect, and pose of implementing a full and complete release and discharge of the parties ns herein released, Executive expressly acknowledges that this Agreemen d to include in its effect, without limitation, all claims which Executive does r suspects to exist in his favor at the time of execution hereof, and that all s are included within, and extinguished and discharged by, this Agreement, exclud cutive Reserved Claims. Executive acknowledges that this release constitute itional general release of any and all known or unknown claims
that Executive ainst any Company Releasees, excluding the Executive Reserved Claims, des that Executive may become aware of claims in the future which Executive did r prior to signing this Agreement. Company Release. 5.1 If the Effective Date occurs, each of BFC and the Bank, for itself and of its respective stockholders, directors, successors and assigns, hereby f and discharges Executive and Executive's heirs, beneficiaries, successors (collectively, the "Executive Releasees"), and each of them of and from, with on, any and all rights, claims, liabilities, losses or expenses of any kind whet out of, from, or related to Executive's employment relationship with the Compa tion of Executive's employment or the Employment Agreement through g the Execution Date. The claims released in this Agreement include, but are to, claims based on tort, contract (express or implied and oral or written), or state, or local law, statute, regulation or ordinance. By way of example and no on, this release includes any claims asserting breach of contract, breach of fiduci e covenant of good faith and fair dealing, misrepresentation, or interference w or prospective economic advantage. Notwithstanding the foregoing, noth aives any claims against Executive for (i)
claims arising from or relating to t ent, (ii) claims arising from or relating to the 2009 Stock Option Agreement, ( rising from or relating to the 2016 Award Agreement, and all subsequent restric wards granted to Executive by the Company, if any, (iv) claims arising from to any breach of provisions from the Employment Agreement that survive beyo cution Date, or (v) claims arising from or relating to any Company plans that rms survive employment termination(collectively, the "Company Reserv ).

5.2 Except for the Company Reserved Claims, the Company understands that the claims released are intended to and do include any and all claims of e and kind whatsoever, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, which any has or may have against Executive or any of the other Executive Releasees mpany hereby waives any and all rights it has or may have under Section 1542 o nia Civil Code which provides: "A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affocted his or her settlement with the debtor." hstanding the provisions of Section 1542, as well as laws of similar effect, and pose of implementing a full and complete release and discharge of the parties ns herein released, the Company expressly acknowledges that this Agreeme d to include in its effect, without limitation, all claims which it does not kno to exist in its favor at the time of execution hereof, and that all such claims d within, and extinguished and discharged by, this Agreement, except for ny Reserved Claims. The Company acknowledges that this release constitute itional general release of any and all known or unknown
claims (except for ny Reserved Claims) that it may have against Executive or any other Execu es, despite the fact that it may become aware of claims in the future which it did r prior to signing this Agreement. Representations and Covenants of Executive. Executive represents and warr covenants with, the Company as of the Execution Date as follows: 6.1 No Claims Against Company.Executive has not filed any char ints, grievances, arbitrations, lawsuits, or claims against the Company, with ate or federal agency, union or court from the beginning of time to the Execu nd Executive will not do so at any time hereafter, based upon events occurring p Execution Date, excluding any charges, complaints, grievances, arbitrati s, or claims against the Company arising out of or relating to any Execu d Claims.In the event any arbitrator or court ever assumes jurisdiction of claim, charge, grievance, arbitration, or complaint, or purports to bring any le ing on his behalf, Executive will ask any such arbitrator or court to withdraw fr dismiss any such action, grievance, or arbitration, with prejudice, excluding , complaints, grievances, arbitrations, lawsuits, or claims against the Comp out of or relating to any Executive Reserved Claims. 6.2 Non-Assignment of
Claims. Executive has not assigned or transferred ed to assign or transfer, by operation of law or otherwise, to any person, fi tion, partnership or other legal entity, any debt, claim, obligation, damage, liabil , or cause of action herein released.Executive, directly or indirectly, shall te or maintain or institute any action or proceeding at law or in equity, of any k e whatsoever against the Company or any other Company Releasees for any rea n any way to any claim released in this Agreement, and shall not raise any cla

t the Company or any other Company Releasees by way of defense, counterclai claim or in any other manner, on any alleged claim released in this Agreement. 6.3 Responsible for Taxes. Executive shall be fully responsible for any an income and other taxes relating to or arising from the payment of the Acc ations and Severance Payments as required by applicable law, provided not modifies or amends Section 11(b) of the Employment Agreement. If Executive a tax obligation required by applicable law relating to or arising from the payme crued Obligations and Severance Payments, and if as a result of such failure any becomes liable for, or pays such tax obligation, Executive shall indemnify armless the Company for payments actually made by it to satisfy such obligatio 6.4 Voluntary Signing. This Agreement is executed voluntarily, wit on, andwithfull knowledge of its significance, andwith Executive's tanding of its terms and conditions. Executive has received all wages nsation, as well as reimbursement of expenses, due and owing to him, excluding Accrued Obligations or Severance Payments or any other payments or ben may be due and owing hereunder. Representations and Covenants of Company. Company represents and warrant venants
with, Executive as of the Execution Date as follows: 7.1 No Claims Against Executive.Company, directly or indirectly, has ny charges, complaints, grievances, arbitrations, lawsuits, or claims aga ive, with any local, state or federal agency, union or court from the beginnin the Execution Date and that Company will not do so at any time hereafter, ba vents occurring prior to the Execution Date, not including any charges, complai ces, arbitrations, lawsuits, or claims against Executive arising out of or related mpany Reserved Claims. In the event any arbitrator or court ever assu tion of any lawsuit, claim, charge, grievance, arbitration, or complaint, or purpo , directly or indirectly, any legal proceeding on Company's behalf, Company y such arbitrator or court to withdraw from and/or dismiss any such acti ce, or arbitration, with prejudice, not including any lawsuit, claim, char ce, arbitration, or complaint arising out of or related to the Company Reser . 7.2 Non-Assignment of Claims. Company, directly or indirectly, has d or transferred, or purported to assign or transfer, by operation oflaw or otherw person, firm, corporation, partnership or other legal entity, any debt, cla on, damage. liability, demand, or cause of action herein released. Compa or
indirectly, shall not prosecute or maintain or institute any action or proceed or in equity, of any kind or nature whatsoever against Executive or any ot ve Releasees for any reason related in any way to any claim released in t ent. and shall not raise any claim against Executive or any other Execut es by way of defense. counterclaim or cross-claim or in any other manner, on a claim released in this Agreement.

7.3 Voluntary Signing. Company has executed this Agreement volunta t coercion, and with full knowledge of its significance, and with Company's tanding of its terms and conditions. As of the Execution Date, Company has pai and compensation, as well as reimbursement of expenses, due and owin ive, not including any unpaid accrued obligations or Severance Payments or o nts or benefits which may be due and owing hereunder. Representations of Parties. Each Party represents and warrants to the other Part : (i) this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid, and binding obligation of s enforceable against him or it in accordance with its terms, except as s ability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, or other similar laws relatin cting creditors' rights generally, or by general equitable principles (regardles r such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law); (ii) the P absolute and unrestricted right, power, authority, and capacity to execute this Agreement and to perform his or its obligations under this Agreement; the execution anddeliveryof this Agreementnor the consummation ance of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will, directly ly (with or without notice or lapse of time) contravene, conflict with, or
result n of (A) any provision of any agreement, contract, obligation, promise king (whether written or oral and whether express or implied) to which such P ty or by which his or its assets are bound or (B) any award, decision, injuncti nt, order, or ruling, in each case that is binding upon such Party or to which su a party; (iv) the Party will not be required to give any notice to or obtain l, consent, ratification, waiver or other authorization from any individ tion, general or limited partnership, limited liability company, trust, or other ent ection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation ance of any of his or its respective covenants set forth in this Agreement, except nsents, if any, that shall have been obtained on or prior to the Execution Date. ndemnity. 9.1 If Executive breaches any of Executive's representations or warranties s 6 (Representations and Covenants of Executive), or 8 (Representations Executive shall defend, indemnify, and hold the Company and the other Compa es harmless from and against any and all claims, liabilities, losses, judgmen ons, damages, costs, expenses, and actions, incurred as a result of such brea g, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' and accountants' fees and costs. .2 Ifthe Company
breaches any of its representations or warranties in Sectio esentations and Covenants of Company), or 8 (Representations of Parties), t y shall defend, indemnify, and hold Executive and the other Executive Release from and against any and all claims, liabilities, losses, judgments, obligatio , costs, expenses, and actions, incurred as a result of such breach, includin limitation, reasonable attorneys' and accountants' fees and costs. dditional Acknowledgments. By signing this Agreement, Executive furth edges and consents that Executive hereby has been advised:

(a) To consult with an attorney prior to signing this Agreement; (b) That Executive has up to twenty-one (21) days in which to consider wh he should sign this Agreement, which contains a release of claims unde Age Discrimination and Employment Act of 1967 ("ADEA''), as amen and (c) That ifExecutive signs this Agreement, Executive will have seven (7) following the Execution Date to revoke the Agreement by deliveri notice regarding same to Virgil Roberts, Chairman of the Board, at Company's principal office. This revocation period cannot be waived. Executive is not entitled to receive the Separation Payments prio expiration of this revocation period. Governing Law; No Presumption From Drafting; Survival of Representati greement shall be governed by and interpreted under the laws of the Stat nia applicable to contracts made and to be performed entirely within such S t regard to its conflicts of law provisions. This Agreement has been negotiate ties. Accordingly, any rule of applicable law, including, without limitat nia Civil Code Section 1654, or any other statute or common law principle effect, which would require interpretation of ambiguities in this Agreement aga y that has drafted it, has no application and is expressly waived. All
representati rranties made by any Party herein shall survive the Effective Date. Dispute Resolution. Any dispute, claim or controversy arising out of or relatin reement or the breach, termination, enforcement, interpretation or validity ther ng without limitation the determination of the scope or applicability of this Sec ll be determined by arbitration in Los Angeles, California before a single arbitr a retired judge on the panel of JAMS. If the parties are unable to agree upon n of one arbitrator, any party may request JAMS to appoint such arbitrator. ion shall be administered by JAMS pursuant to its Comprehensive Arbitra nd Procedures.The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on The scope of discovery shall be determined by the arbitrator. The prevailing pa entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in accordance with Sect gment on the arbitration award may be entered in any court having appropr tion. This Section 12 shall not preclude parties from seeking provisional remed f arbitration from a court having appropriate jurisdiction. Recovery of Fees and Costs. In the event that any legal, equitable, arbitratio oceeding is brought for the enforcement or interpretation of this Agreement of an alleged dispute, breach, default or
invalidity in connection with n of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasona s' fees and costs incurred, in addition to any other relief to which such Party m ed.

Severability.The provisions of this Agreement are severable.If any prov , or the application thereof to any person or circrnnstance shall be held to be in enforceable, then in each such event the remainder of this Agreement or ation of such provision to any other person or any other circumstance shall n y affected.In such event, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to replac or unenforceable provision with another reflecting the same relative distributio mic benefits and burdens. Gender and Section Headings. As used in this Agreement, the masculine, femi ter gender, and the singular or plural number, shall each be deemed to include whenever the context so indicates. Section headings contained herein are ience only and shall not be considered for any purpose in construing ment. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of sors, assigns, heirs and personal representatives of the Company, each of the o ees and Executive, provided no assignment shall relieve the assignor of ions hereunder. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, eac shall be deemed an original, and such counterparts shall together constitute one e Agreement, binding all Parties, notwithstanding that all of the Parties are
ry to the original or same counterpart. A facsimile, or PDF scanned signature p ave the same force and effect as an original signature. Entire Agreement; Amendment; No Admission of Liability. This Agreem r with the 2009 Stock Option Agreement, the 2016 Award Agreement, the B yee Stock Ownership Plan 2 constitute the entire agreement among the Parties to the subject matter hereof, and supersede any prior or contemporane ents, representations, understandings, policies, or practices among the Part r oral or written, express or implied.The terms of this Agreement may not d, amended, changed, altered or waived, except in a writing signed by Execut duly authorized representative of the Company. This Agreement shall not ed as an admission of any liability or wrongdoing by Executive or the Compan s applicable any other severance and equity incentive agreements between Executive and the that are in effect when this Agreement is signed.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have entered into this Mutual General e of Claims as of the date first above written. BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION By: Its: BROADWAY FEDERAL BANK, f.s.b. By: Its: W/h....£1-..s-Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw 15

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have entered into this Mutual General e of Claims as of the date first above written. BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION By: _ Its: -----------BROADWAY FEDERAL BANK, f.s.b. By: _ Its: -----------W/h....£1-..s-Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw 15
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rantee: Wayne-Kent/"\. Bradshaw ./ umber of Restricted Stock Units: 129,270 ate of Grant: April 26, 2017 BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION 2017 CASH-SETTLED TARP RSU AWARD AGREEMENT Broadway Financial Corporation (the "Company") hereby grants an award of tled TARP restricted stock units ("RSUs") to the Grantee named above. The n SUs subject to this Agreement (the "Award") is set forth above. Each RSU stitutes an unfunded and unsecured promise of the Company to deliver to you, se to be delivered to you, subject to the terms of this Agreement, cash equal to r Market Value of one share of Common Stock on the applicable Payout Date ( ned below), or promptly thereafter, as provided herein. The Company is currently a participant in the Capital Purchase Program, eloped pursuant to the United States Department of Treasury's Troubled Asse ief Program ("TARP") under the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 ended. To the extent that, with respect to this Award, the Grantee is subject to t rictions of Section 30.10 of 31 C.F.R. part 30, an interim final regulation promul he United States Department of Treasury ("Treasury") governing executive pensation for recipients of financial assistance under
TARP, and the guidance ted thereto (the "TARP Rules"), this Award is, and shall be intended to satisfy t uirements for and qualify as, an award of "long term restricted stock" as defined P Rules, and this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in accordance ewith. 1. Acceptance of Award. The Grantee shall have no rights with respect to this rd unless Grantee shall have accepted this Award by signing a copy of this Aw eement and delivering the signed copy to the Company. 2. Restrictions and Conditions. No payment shall be made in respect of any ss (x) the RSU is vested, and (y) such payment is permitted by the TARP Rule 3. Vesting of RSUs. To the extent not previously forfeited, the RSUs shall ves become nonforfeitable on the earlier of (i) the second anniversary of the Date nt, (ii) the Grantee's de th or permanent disability (as defined in the Grantee's loyment agreement with the Company), or (iii) the Grantee's termination of loyment by the Company (including its subsidiaries or any successor) without se or by the Grantee for Good Reason (as Cause and Good Reason are define Grantee's employment agreement with the Company) within two years followin nge in Control; provided, however, that the Change in Control-related vesting
ided for in this clause (iii) shall not apply at any time that such vesting would no

not vest upon such temunation pursuant to clause (ii) or (iii) OJ Lhe preceding sentence) shall be immediately forfeited. For purposes of this Agreement, and notwithstanding any provision in the Grantee's employment agreement with the Company to the contrary, the term "Change in Control" means, with respect to the Company, a change in control within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.280G-1Q&A 27-29 or Section 1.409A-3(i}(5)(i). 4. Payment. Once vested, the RSUs shall become payable on the later of (x) the vesting date or (y) notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, but only to the extent the Grantee is subject to the restrictions of Section 30.10 of the TARP Rules with respect to this Award, the time permitted under the following schedule (except to the extent provided below or as necessary to reflect a merger or acquisition of the Company (within the meaning of the TARP Rules)): (i) 25 percent of the RSUs at the time of repayment of 25 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by the Company from Treasury under TARP; (ii) an additional 25 percent of the RSUs granted (for an aggregate total of 50 percent of the RSUs) at the time of repayment of 50 percent of the aggregate financial assistance
received by the Company from Treasury under TARP; (iii) an additional 25 percent of the RSUs granted (for an aggregate total of 75 percent of the shares of RSUs granted) at the time of repayment of 75 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by the Company from Treasury under TARP; and (iv) the remainder of the RSUs granted at the time of repayment of 100 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by the Company from Treasury under TARP (such date and each of the other payment dates set forth in this Section 4 being referred to herein as a "Payout Date"). Notwithstanding the forgoing, with respect to any employment taxes or other federal, state, local or foreign taxes are anticipated to apply in respect of the vesting of your RSUs, the Company may accelerate the payout of vested RSUs under this Agreement n order to satisfy such taxes in accordance with the TARP Rules. Any payment for such purposes shall not count toward the percentages in the schedule above. Vested RSUs shall be paid to you in cash on or promptly following the later of the applicable vesting date or Payout Date, and in any case within 30 days of such pplicable Payout Date, provided, however, that any payment made following your eath
shall be paid to the representative of your estate. 5. 2008 Plan Not Applicable. This award of RSUs is a freestanding award and is ot subject to the terms of the Company's 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "2008 lan"). 6. Transferability. This Agreement is personal to the Grantee, is non-assignable nd is not transferable in any manner, by operation of law or otherwise, other than (i) by ill or the laws of descent and distribution or (ii) pursuant to an order issued under state omestic relations laws.

7. Tax Withholding. The Grantee shall be solely responsible for any applicable taxes (including, without limitation, income and excise taxes) and penalties, and any interest that accrues thereon, incurred in connection with your Award. Unless the Grantee otherwise directs or the Company otherwise elects, the Company will satisfy applicable tax withholdings and make applicable deductions from cash (if any) paid in respect of the RSUs at the time the applicable tax withholding obligation arises. In the alternative, the Grantee may remit (or the Company may elect to require the Grantee to remit) cash to the Company (through payroll deduction or otherwise), in each case in an amount sufficient in the opinion of the Company to satisfy such withholding obligation. 8. TARP Restrictions. Payments pursuant to this Award Agreement are subject to applicable regulations issued by the U.S. Department of the Treasury and applicable requirements of agreements between the Company and the U.S. government, including, without limitation, the TARP Rules as the same are in effect from time to time. The Grantee may receive compensation under this Agreement only to the extent that it is consistent with those regulations and requirements. 9. Section 409A.
The RSUs are intended to be exempt from Section 409A as short-term deferrals under the guidance provided in the TARP Rules. 10. Committee Discretion. The Committee shall have full discretion with respect to he interpretation of this Agreement and any actions to be taken or determinations to be made in connection with this Agreement, and its interpretations, actions and eterminations shall be final, binding and conclusive. 11. Dividend Equivalents. The RSUs will be credited with dividend equivalents qual to amount of cash dividend payments that would otherwise have been paid if the hares of Common Stock represented by the RSUs (including deemed reinvested dditional shares attributable to the RSUs pursuant to this paragraph) were actually utstanding. These dividend equivalents will be deemed to be reinvested in additional hares of Common Stock determined by dividing the deemed cash dividend amount by he Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the applicable dividend payment ate. Such credited amounts will be added to the RSUs and will vest or be forfeited in ccordance with Section 3 based on the vesting or forfeiture of the initial RSUs to which hey are attributable. 12. Adjustment. The Committee shall, in its sole
discretion, equitably adjust the erms of this Award to preserve the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made vailable to the Grantee for any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of ommon Stock resulting from a recapitalization, spin-off, split-off, stock split, stock ividend, combination or exchange of shares of Common Stock, merger, consolidation, ghts offering, separation, reorganization or liquidation, or any other change in the orporate structure or shares of the Company. 13. No Obligation to Continue Employment. Neither the Company nor any ubsidiary is obligated by or as a result of this Agreement to continue the Grantee in mployment and this Agreement shall not interfere in any way with the right of the ompany or any Subsidiary to terminate the employment of the Grantee at any time. 14. Notices. Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its incipal place of business and shall be mailed or delivered to the Grantee at the

address on file with the l,.;Ompany or, in either case, at such otner address as one party may subsequently furnish to the other party in writing. 15. Force and Effect. The various provisions of this Agreement are severable in their entirety. Any determination of invalidity or unenforceability of any one provision shall have no effect on the continuing force and effect of the remaining provisions. 16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors, assigns and heirs of the respective parties hereto. 17. Applicable Law. The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without regard to the conflict of law provisions of any jurisdiction. 18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts each of which shall be deemed an original and both of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 19. Entire Agreement: Amendment: Waiver. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto. No provision set forth in this Agreement may be amended, modified or waived unless such amendment, modification or waiver shall be authorized by the Committee and shall be agreed to in writing, signed
by the Grantee and by an officer of the Company duly authorized to do so; provided, however, that the Grantee expressly agrees that, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company may unilaterally amend or modify this Agreement if required for he Company to comply with its obligations under TARP, whether currently existing or hereinafter enacted or promulgated, to the extent they affect this Agreement. No waiver by either party of any default under this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any ater default. 20. Certain Definitions. "Committee" means the compensation committee of the Company's Board of Directors (and any successor thereto) or, if none, the Company's Board of Directors. "Common Stock" means shares of common stock, $0.01 par value, of the Company. "Fair Market Value" shall have the same meaning as that given to such term in he 2008 Plan. * * * * * * * * * [signature page to follow]

The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted and the terms and conditions thereof are hereby agreed to by the undersigned. ,e. J-1-Z.b-,., Dated: -----------------------Grantee's Signature Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw Grantee's Name

$ $ $ $ 420,000 18,000 1,200 9,000 ase Salary ar Allowance ell Allowance ub Allowance $ 12,000 1-K Match $ $ 460,200 230,100 ($460,200/2) stricted Stock Award tal Compensation 33% $ 690,300 $ ck Price (based on today's closing) 1.78 stricted Stock Units ($230,100/$1.77) 129,270
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Grantee: Wayne-Kent A Bradshaw Number of Restricted Stock Units: 97,195 Date of Grant: February 21, 2018 BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION 2017 CASH-SETTLED TARP RSU AWARD AGREEMENT Broadway Financial Corporation (the "Company") hereby grants an award of cash- settled TARP restricted stock units ("RSUs") to the Grantee named above. The number of RSUs subject to this Agreement (the "Award") is set forth above. Each RSU constitutes an unfunded and unsecured promise of the Company to deliver to you, or cause to be delivered to you, subject to the terms of this Agreement, cash equal to the Fair Market Value of one share of Common Stock on the applicable Payout Date (as defined below), or promptly thereafter, as provided herein. The Company is currently a participant in the Capital Purchase Program, developed pursuant to the United States Department of Treasury's Troubled Asset Relief Program ("TARP") under the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, as amended. To the extent that, with respect to this Award, the Grantee is subject to the restrictions of Section 30.10 of 31 C.F.R. part 30, an interim final regulation promulgated by the United States Department of Treasury
("Treasury") governing executive compensation for recipients of financial assistance under TARP, and the guidance related thereto (the "TARP Rules"), this Award is, and shall be intended to satisfy the requirements for and qualify as, an award of "long term restricted stock" as defined the TARP Rules, and this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in accordance therewith. 1. Acceptance of Award. The Grantee shall have no rights with respect to this Award unless Grantee shall have accepted this Award by signing a copy of this Award Agreement and delivering the signed copy to the Company. 2. Restrictions and Conditions. No payment shall be made in respect of any RSU unless (x) the RSU is vested, and (y) such payment is permitted by the TARP Rules. 3. Vesting of RSUs. To the extent not previously forfeited, the RSUs shall vest and become nonforfeitable on the earlier of (i) the second anniversary of the Date of Grant, (ii) the Grantee's death or permanent disability (as defined in the Grantee's employment agreement with the Company), or (iii) the Grantee's termination of employment by the Company (including its subsidiaries or any successor) without Cause or by the Grantee for Good Reason (as Cause and Good Reason are
defined in the Grantee's employment agreement with the Company) within two years following a Change in Control; provided, however, that the Change in Control-related vesting provided for in this clause (iii) shall .not apply at any time that such vesting would not be consistent with the requirements of Part 359 of the Rules and Regulations of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (12 C.F.R. Part 359). If the Grantee's employment with the Company (including subsidiaries) terminates for any reason prior to the second anniversary of the Date of Grant, all RSUs that are unvested (and that do

not vest upon such termination pursuant to clause (ii) or (iii) of the preceding sentence) shall be immediately forfeited. For purposes of this Agreement, and notwithstanding any provision in the Grantee's employment agreement with the Company to the contrary, the term "Change in Control" means, with respect to the Company, a change in control within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.280G-1Q&A 27-29 or Section 1.409A-3(i)(5)(i). 4. Payment. Once vested, the RSUs shall become payable on the later of (x) the vesting date or (y) notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, but only to the extent the Grantee is subject to the restrictions of Section 30.10 of the TARP Rules with respect to this Award, the time permitted under the following schedule (except to the extent provided below or as necessary to reflect a merger or acquisition of the Company (within the meaning of the TARP Rules)): (i) 25 percent of the RSUs at the time of repayment of 25 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by the Company from Treasury under TARP; (ii) an additional 25 percent of the RSUs granted (for an aggregate total of 50 percent of the RSUs) at the time of repayment of 50 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received
by the Company from Treasury under TARP; (iii) an additional 25 percent of the RSUs granted (for an aggregate total of 75 percent of the shares of RSUs granted) at the time of repayment of 75 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by the Company from Treasury under TARP; and (iv) the remainder of the RSUs granted at the time of repayment of 100 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by the Company from Treasury under TARP (such date and each of the other payment dates set forth in this Section 4 being referred to herein as a "Payout Date"). Notwithstanding the forgoing, with respect to any employment taxes or other federal, state, local or foreign taxes are anticipated to apply in respect of the vesting of your RSUs, the Company may accelerate the payout of vested RSUs under this Agreement in order to satisfy such taxes in accordance with the TARP Rules. Any payment for such purposes shall not count toward the percentages in the schedule above. Vested RSUs shall be paid to you in cash on or promptly following the later of the applicable vesting date or Payout Date, and in any case within 30 days of such applicable Payout Date, provided, however, that any payment made following your death shall be
paid to the representative of your estate. 5. 2008 Plan Not Applicable. This award of RSUs is a freestanding award and is not subject to the terms of the Company's 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "2008 Plan"). 6. Transferability. This Agreement is personal to the Grantee, is non-assignable and is not transferable in any manner, by operation of law or otherwise, other than (i) by will or the Jaws of descent and distribution or (ii) pursuant to an order issued under state domestic relations laws. 2

7. Tax Withholding. The Grantee shall be solely responsible for any applicable taxes (including, without limitation, income and excise taxes) and penalties, and any interest that accrues thereon, incurred in connection with your Award. Unless the Grantee otherwise directs or the Company otherwise elects, the Company will satisfy applicable tax withholdings and make applicable deductions from cash (if any) paid in respect of the RSUs at the time the applicable tax withholding obligation arises. In the alternative, the Grantee may remit (or the Company may elect to require the Grantee to remit) cash to the Company (through payroll deduction or otherwise), in each case in an amount sufficient in the opinion of the Company to satisfy such withholding obligation. 8. TARP Restrictions. Payments pursuant to this Award Agreement are subject to applicable regulations issued by the U.S. Department of the Treasury and applicable requirements of agreements between the Company and the U.S. government, including, without limitation, the TARP Rules as the same are in effect from time to time. The Grantee may receive compensation under this Agreement only to the extent that it is consistent with those regulations and requirements. 9. Section 409A.
The RSUs are intended to be exempt from Section 409A as short-term deferrals under the guidance provided in the TARP Rules. 10. Committee Discretion. The Committee shall have full discretion with respect to the interpretation of this Agreement and any actions to be taken or determinations to be made in connection with this Agreement, and its interpretations, actions and determinations shall be final, binding and conclusive. 11. Dividend Equivalents. The RSUs will be credited with dividend equivalents equal to amount of cash dividend payments that would otherwise have been paid if the shares of Common Stock represented by the RSUs (including deemed reinvested additional shares attributable to the RSUs pursuant to this paragraph) were actually outstanding. These dividend equivalents will be deemed to be reinvested in additional shares of Common Stock determined by dividing the deemed cash dividend amount by the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the applicable dividend payment date. Such credited amounts will be added to the RSUs and will vest or be forfeited in accordance with Section 3 based on the vesting or forfeiture of the initial RSUs to which they are attributable. 12. Adjustment. The Committee shall, in
its sole discretion, equitably adjust the terms of this Award to preserve the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available to the Grantee for any increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock resulting from a recapitalization, spin-off, split-off, stock split, stock dividend, combination or exchange of shares of Common Stock, merger, consolidation, rights offering, separation, reorganization or liquidation, or any other change in the corporate structure or shares of the Company. 13. No Obligation to Continue Employment. Neither the Company nor any Subsidiary is obligated by or as a result of this Agreement to continue the Grantee in employment and this Agreement shall not interfere in any way with the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the employment of the Grantee at any time. 3

14. Notices. Notices hereunder shall be mailed or delivered to the Company at its principal place of business and shall be mailed or delivered to the Grantee at the address on file with the Company or, in either case, at such other address as one party may subsequently furnish to the other party in writing. 15. Force and Effect. The various provisions of this Agreement are severable in their entirety. Any determination of invalidity or unenforceability of any one provision shall have no effect on the continuing force and effect of the remaining provisions. 16. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors, assigns and heirs of the respective parties hereto. 17. Applicable Law. The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without regard to the conflict of law provisions of any jurisdiction. 18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts each of which shall be deemed an original and both of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 19. Entire Agreement; Amendment; Waiver. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the parties hereto. No provision set forth in this Agreement may
be amended, modified or waived unless such amendment, modification or waiver shall be authorized by the Committee and shall be agreed to in writing, signed by the Grantee and by an officer of the Company duly authorized to do so; provided, however, that the Grantee expressly agrees that, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company may unilaterally amend or modify this Agreement if required for the Company to comply with its obligations under TARP, whether currently existing or hereinafter enacted or promulgated, to the extent they affect this Agreement. No waiver by either party of any default under this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any later default. 20. Certain Definitions. "Committee" means the compensation committee of the Company's Board of Directors (and any successor thereto) or, if none, the Company's Board of Directors. "Common Stock" means shares of common stock, $0.01 par value, of the Company. "Fair Market Value" shall have the same meaning as that given to such term in the 2008 Plan. * * * * * * * * * [signature page to follow] 4

The foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted and the terms and conditions thereof are hereby agreed to by the undersigned. Dated: ------------------------Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw Grantee's Name 5

Broadway Federal Bank Calculation of 2017 Restricted Stock Units to Wayne Bradshaw $ $ $ $ $ Base Salary Car Allowance Cell Allowance Club Dues 401K Match Compensation for 2017 Restricted Stock Award Total Compensation 435,000 18,000 1,200 12,000 12,000 $ $ 478,200 239,100 1/3 of@ $478,200/2 $ @ 717,300 Fair Market Value (based on average of hi and low bid prices on date of grant) 2.46 Restricted Stock Units (239,100/2.46) 97,195

O·P US Markets ,are closed S&P 500 2,701.32 -14.94 ( .55 .) Russell2000 1,531.84 +1.84(+0.12 o/o) Dow30 24,797.78 -166.97 ( .67 %) Nasdaq 7,218.23 -16.08 (-0.22 o/.J Crude Oil 61.20 .48 (-0.78%) ......,., ... \. ........._. ....!\,.\ ' D Broadway Financial Corporation (BYFC) NasdaqCM - NasdaqCM Real Time Price. Currency in USD '(:r Add to watchlist 2.46 -0.02 (-0.81 %) At close: 2:07PM EST Sustainability CID Summary Chart Conversations Statistics Profile Financials Options Holders Hisloncal Data Analysts :r··7' ,!:f - - - !':''.. Time Period: Feb 21, 2017-Feb 21,2018 Show: Historical Prices v Frequency: Daily v Apply d. Download Data Currency in USO Dale Open CkJse• High low AdjCiose.. Volume Feb21, 2018 2.46 2.47 2.45 2.46 2.46 624 Feb 20,2018 2.47 2.49 2.34 2.48 2.48 1.400 Feb 16.2018 2.49 2.54 2.43 2.43 2.43 900 Feb 15,2018 2.48 2.49 2.42 2.49 2.49 600 Feb 14,2018 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 2.47 400 Feb 13, 2018 2.49 2.49 2.48 2.48 2.48 800 Feb 12,2018 2.49 2.49 2.33 2.45 2.45 9,200 Feb 09, 2018 2.48 2.36 2.48 2.36 2.36 2,200 Feb 08, 2018 2.40 2.53 2.40 2.47 2.47 2,000 Feb 07,2018 2.49 2.49 2.49 2.49 2.49 200 Feb 06, 2018 2.42 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.33 5,800 Feb 05, 2018 2.51 2.51 2.50 2.50 2.50 600 Feb 02, 2018 2.48 2.50
2.48 2.50 2.50 1,400 Feb 01.2018 2.47 2.49 2.37 2.49 2.49 4,200 Jan 31,2018 2.48 2.37 2.37 2.48 2.48 7,600 Jan 30,2018 2.44 2.44 2.44 2.44 2.44 200 Jan 29, 2018 2.44 2.44 2.44 2.44 2.44 200 ·close price adjusted tor spUts. ..Adjusted close price adjusted for both dividends and splits. https://finance.yahoo.com/quote/BYFC/history?p=BYFC 2/21/2018 - ---'·'"'----"'
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overed Shares 194,390 ate of Grant: February 27, 2019 BROADWAY FINANCIAL CORPORATION AWARD AGREEMENT Pursuant to the Broadway Financial Corporation 2018 Long-Term Incentive Plan e "Plan"), Broadway Financial Corporation (the "Company") hereby grants a Full ue Award in the form of restricted stock to the Grantee named above covering 4,390 shares of Common Stock of the Company (the "Award"). Upon acceptance o Award, the Grantee shall receive the number of shares of Stock of the Company ered by the Award, subject to the restrictions and conditions set forth herein and in Plan (the "Restricted Stock"). The Company acknowledges the receipt from the ntee of consideration with respect to the par value of the Stock in the form of cash, t or future services rendered to the Company by the Grantee or such other form of sideration as is acceptable to the Committee. The Company is currently a participant in the Capital Purchase Program, eloped pursuant to the United States Department of Treasury's Troubled Asset ief Program ("TARP") under the Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, as ended. To the extent that, with respect to this Award, the Grantee is subject to the trictions of Section 30.10 of 31
C.F.R. part 30, an interim final regulation promulgate he United States Department of Treasury ("Treasury") governing executive pensation for recipients of financial assistance under TARP, and the guidance ted thereto (the "TARP Rules"), this Award is and shall be intended to satisfy the uirements for and qualify as an award of "long term restricted stock," as defined the RP Rules, and this Agreement shall be interpreted and construed in accordance ewith. 1. Acceptance of Award. The Grantee shall have no rights with respect to this rd unless Grantee shall have accepted this Award by signing a copy of this Award eement and delivering the signed copy to the Company. Upon acceptance of this rd by the Grantee, the shares of Restricted Stock so accepted shall be issued and by the Company's transfer agent in book entry form, and the Grantee's name shall entered as the stockholder of record on the books of the Company. Thereupon, the ntee shall have all the rights of a stockholder with respect to such shares, including ng and dividend rights, subject, however, to the restrictions and conditions specified aragraph 2 below. 2. Restrictions and Conditions.

transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered or disposed of by the Grantee pr to vesting. (c) Notwithstanding anything herein or in the Plan to the contrary, but only the extent the Grantee is subject to the restrictions of Section 30.10 of the TAR Rules with respect to this Award, vested shares of the Stock granted hereunder shall not be transferable (as defined in 26 C.F.R. 1.83-3(d)) at any time earlier t the time permitted under the following schedule (except to the extent provided below or as necessary to reflect a merger or acquisition of the Company (within meaning of the TARP Rules)): (i) 25 percent of the shares of Stock at the time of repayment of 25 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by the Company fro Treasury under TARP; (ii) an additional 25 percent of the shares of Stock granted (for an aggregate total of 50 percent of the shares of Stock) at the time of repayme of 50 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by the Compan from Treasury under TARP; (iii) an additional 25 percent of the shares of Stock granted (for an aggregate total of 75 percent of the shares of Stock granted) at the time of repayment of 75 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by t Company from Treasury under TARP;
and (iv) the remainder of the shares of Stock granted at the time of repaym of 100 percent of the aggregate financial assistance received by the Compa from Treasury under TARP. twithstanding the foregoing, at any time beginning with the date upon which share stricted Stock become vested and ending on December 31 of the calendar year luding such vesting date, a portion of the vested shares of Stock may be made nsferable to the extent reasonably required to pay the Federal, state or local taxes t are anticipated to apply to the income recognized due to such vesting. The ounts made transferable for such purpose shall not count toward the percentages schedule above. 3. Vesting of Restricted Stock. To the extent not previously forfeited, the shares stricted Stock shall vest and become nonforfeitable on the earlier of (i) the second iversary of the Date of Grant, (ii) Grantee's death or permanent disability, or (iii) ntee's termination of employment by the Company (including its subsidiaries or a cessor) within one year following a Change in Control; provided, however, that the ange in Control-based vesting provided for in this clause (iii) shall not apply at any e that such vesting would not be consistent with the requirements of Part 359 of th es and
Regulations of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (12 C.F.R. Part ). If Grantee's employment with the Company (including subsidiaries) terminates reason prior to the second anniversary of the Date of Grant, all shares of Restrict ck that are unvested (and that do not vest upon such termination pursuant to clau or (iii) of the preceding sentence) shall be immediately forfeited. For purposes of t eement, the term "Change in Control" means, with respect to the Company, a nge in control within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.280G-1Q&A

4. Dividends. Dividends on shares of Restricted Stock shall be paid currently to t antee. 5. Incorporation of Plan. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement s subject to and governed by all the terms and conditions of the Plan, including wers of the Committee set forth in the Plan. Capitalized terms in this Agreement t not defined herein shall have the meaning specified in the Plan, unless a differ aning is indicated herein. The terms of the Plan shall not be considered argement of any benefits under this Agreement.In addition, the Award is subjec y rules and regulations promulgated by the Committee. However, any Award subj his Agreement may not in any way be restricted or limited by any Plan amendment mination or by change of Committee rules and regulations approved after the Date ant indicated on the first page hereof without the Award recipient's written consent. 6. Transferability. This Agreement is personal to the Grantee, is non-assignable is not transferable in any manner, by operation of law or otherwise, other than (i) or the laws of descent and distribution or (ii) pursuant to an order issued under sta mestic relations laws. 7. Tax Withholding. The Grantee shall, not later than the date as of which the eipt of this Award becomes
a taxable event for Federal income tax purposes, pay t Company or make arrangements satisfactory to the Committee for payment of all eral, state, and local taxes required by law to be withheld on account of such able event. Except in the case where an election is made pursuant to Paragraph 8 ow, and to the extent permitted under Paragraph 2(c) above, the Company shall e the authority to cause the required minimum tax withholding obligation to be sfied, in whole or in part, by withholding from shares of Stock to be issued or ased by the transfer agent a number of shares of Stock with an aggregate Fair ket Value that would satisfy the withholding amount due. 8. Election Under Section 83(b). The Grantee and the Company hereby agree tha Grantee may, within 30 days following the acceptance of this Award as provided in agraph 1 hereof, file with the Internal Revenue Service and the Company an electi er Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code. In the event the Grantee makes h an election, he or she agrees to provide a copy of the election to the Company. Grantee acknowledges that he or she is responsible for obtaining the advice of his er tax advisors with regard to the Section 83(b) election and that he or she is relyin ly on such advisors and
not on any statements or representations of the Company ny of its agents with regard to such election. 9. No Obligation to Continue Employment. Neither the Company nor any sidiary is obligated by or as a result of the Plan or this Agreement to continue the ntee in employment and neither the Plan nor this Agreement shall interfere in any with the right of the Company or any Subsidiary to terminate the employment of th ntee at any time.

their entirety. Any determination of invalidity or unenforceability of any one provision shall have no effect on the continuing force and effect of the remaining provisions. 12. Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors, assigns and heirs of the respective parties. 13. Applicable Law. The provisions of this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without regard to the conflict of law provisions of any jurisdiction. 14. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Plan, contains the entire understanding of the parties and shall not be modified or amended except by a written ocument duly signed by both parties hereto. No waiver by either party of any default nder this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any later default. he foregoing Agreement is hereby accepted and the terms and conditions thereof are ereby agreed to by the undersigned. ated: 3_--_1_1 __,_'1 _ Wayne-Kent A Bradshaw Grantee's Name

Exhibit 10.11

among Broadway Financial Corporation, ("BFC"), Broadway Federal Bank Bank" and, togetherwithBFC,the"Company"), andBrendaBatte utive"). The term Company shall refer to BFC in respect of Executive's serv nd to the Bank in respect of the Executive's services to the Bank. WHEREAS, the Executive has served as a senior executive officer of the Co Bank since October 1, 2012; and WHEREAS, the Company desires to continue to retain the Executive to se Vice President, Chief Financial Officer ofthe Company on the terms and con h in this Agreement, and the Executive desires to provide such services o nd conditions. NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and mutual covenants other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows: 1. Services, Duties and Responsibilities. (a) The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive as its esident, Chief Financial Officer during the service period fixed by Section 4 ervice Period"). The Executive shall report to the President and Chief Exe of BFC (the "Chief Executive Officer") (or such other senior executive ted by the Board of Directors of BFC, in which case the term Chief Exe shall mean such other designated senior executive officer), and shall hav nd
responsibilities as are consistent with the position of a senior vice preside nancial officer of a bank and holding company of similar size and complexity ny (the "Services"). The Executive's principal work location shall be ny's principal executive offices, provided, that the Executive may be requi as reasonablynecessaryinorderto performthe Executive's dutie ibilities hereunder. (b) During the Service Period, excluding any periods of vacatio ve to which the Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote substantially cutive's working time, energy and attention to the performance of his dutie ibilities hereunder and shall faithfully and diligently endeavor to promot s of the Company. During the Service Period, the Executive may not, witho ritten consent of the Chief Executive Officer, directly or . indirectly, op ate in the management, operations or control of, or act as an executive, of nt, agent or representative of, any type of competitive business or se d that the Executive may, to the extent not otherwise prohibited by this Agree uch amount of time as does not interfere with the performance ofthe Execu nder this Agreement to engaging in community and charitable activities.

(a) Base Salary. During the Service Period, the Executive shall be pa ual base salary of $235,323.00 for the Executive's Services hereunder, payable ance withthe normaland customary payroll proceduresapplicable to t ny's senior executives. The Executive's base salary shall be subject to increase [b rease], as determined by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors he "Board") in its discretion (such base salary, as in effect from time to time, th S alary"). (b) Changes in Compensation and Benefits. The payment or accrual s, and the grant and vesting of any equity incentive awards, pursuant to Section 2( r otherwise shall in all events be subject to EESA and the Interim Final Rule (bot ed in Section ll(a) hereof). (c) Equity Incentives. The Executive shall be entitled to participate i k's Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the "ESOP") in accordance with its terms. I n, the Executive shall be eligible for equity-based awards pursuant to BFC ed and Restated 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2008 Long Term Plan") of suc nd in such amounts as shall be determined by the compensation committee of th (or the Board, in the absence of the compensation committee) based on th ve's performance for the preceding year. Each of such awards shall vest
and, in th any stock options, become exercisable to the extent of twenty percent (20%) of th covered thereby, on the first anniversary of the date of grant, and an additiona percent (20%) of the shares covered thereby on each subsequent anniversary of th grant, provided that vesting will cease upon termination of Executive's Services, al specifically set forth in the 2008 Long-Term Plan or applicable award agreemen ck options granted to the Executive pursuant to the 2008 Long-Term Plan shall b ble by the Executive at the Executive's estate, legal representative or heirs for f twelve (12) months after termination ofthe Service Period due to the death o ty, alias more specifically set forth in the 2008 Long-Term Plan or the applicabl Agreement. (d) Other Benefits. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Executiv eligible to participate in all employee benefit plans and arrangements of th y applicable to other senior executive officers, including, without limitation, th ncentive compensation plan, the Company's 401(k) Plan with continuation of th y's current employee contribution matching policy, and medical, dental, life and m disability insurance programs. (e) Vacation.The Executiveshall be entitled paidvacation i nce with the Company's vacation
policy; provided, that the Executive shall be to not less than twenty (20) days of vacation in each calendar year (or an ately pro-rated portion thereof for partial years). The Executive shall be permitted e permitted vacation days at such rate and carry over a maximum of fifteen (15 such accrued unused vacation from year to year.

an automobile allowance in the amount of $800.00 per month during the Servi d, payable in accordance with the normal and customary practices applicable to th any's senior executives. 3. Reimbursement for Expenses. (a) Business Expenses. The Company shall promptly reimburse th tive forall reasonable out-of-pocketbusiness expenses,including,witho tion, travel expenses incurred by the Executive in connection with carrying out he sibilities under this Agreement during the Service Period upon presentation o priate vouchers, receipts or other satisfactory evidence thereof and otherwise i ance with applicable Company policies. (b) Memberships. The Company shall pay or reimburse the Executiv de membership dues and fees during the Service Period in accordance with th any's policies and procedures as in effect from time to time. 4. Service Period. (a) Term.The "Service Period" during which the Executive shal m the Services for the Company pursuant to this Agreement means the period encing on the date hereof and, subject to extension as set forth below, expiring at th f business on the third (3rd) anniversary of the date hereof in the year 2020. Prior to ber 31 of each calendar year during the Service Period, the Chief Executive Office designee)
shall review the Executive's performance, shall discuss the results of such with Executive and promptly shall inform the Executive in writing whether the proposes to extend the Service Period for an additional year, and the results thereo e included in the minutes of the Board's meeting at which the same has been ered. If the Chief Executive Officer (or his designee) informs the Executive that the proposes to extend the Service Period, and the Executive accepts such proposal, the e Period shall be extended to end on the anniversary of the date hereof that occurs in r immediately following the expiration date of the then existing Service Period hstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall bar the parties from (a) extending the Period under this Agreement by mutual agreement or (b) continuing the ive's employment by the Company without extension of this Agreement, subject to 4(b)(iii) below. (b) Termination.Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Service Period terminated at any time upon the earliest to occur of the following events or any of nts identified in Section 7 hereof: (i) Death or Disability. The Service Period shall terminate e Executive's death or Disability. For this purpose, "Disability" means that either Executive is deemed disabled for
purposes of any group or individual long-term ty policy maintained by the Company that covers the Executive, or (B) in the good dgment of the Board, the Executive is substantially unable to perform the

er or not consecutive, in any twelve (12) month period, by reason of a physica l illness or injury. (ii) Termination for Cause by the Company. The Company ate the Service Period for Cause at any time effective upon written notice to tive. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Cause" shall mean the terminat Service Period on account of(A) the Executive's failure to substantially perform tive's duties hereunder or as reasonably assigned to the Executive by the C tive Officer or the Board and consistent with the Executive's obligations hereun xecutive shall not have cured such failure (as determined in the reasonable judgm Chief Executive Officer or the Board) within thirty (30) days after written no he Chief Executive Officer (or his designee); (B) the Executive's material breac greement or any material written policy ofthe Company and failure of the Execu e cured such breach (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Board) wit 30) days after written notice from the Chief Executive Officer (or his designee); ecutive's willful violation of any law, rule, or regulation (other than traffic violati ilar offenses) or entry of a final cease-and-desist order against the Executive; tion of a felony or a plea of nolo contendere to a felony; or (E) conduct by
tive constituting a misdemeanor involving a Disqualifier (as defined below) by ive. "Disqualifier" means (i) fraud, moral turpitude, dishonesty, breach of fiduci volving personal profit, organized crime or racketeering; (ii) willful violation ies or commodities laws or regulations; (iii) willful violation of deposit ion laws or regulations; (iv) willful violation of housing authority laws ions arising from the operations of the Bank; or (v) willful violation of the rul ions, codes of conduct or ethics of a self-regulatory trade or professio zation. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive shall not be deemed termina use unless and until there shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of ion duly adopted by the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held for t e (after reasonable notice to the Executive) and an opportunity for the Executi r with counsel, to be heard before the Board), finding that, in the good faith of t the Executive's conduct justified termination for Cause and specifying lars thereof in reasonable detail. (iii) Termination without Cause by the Company. The Compa minate the Service Period without Cause. For the avoidance of doubt, "terminati t Cause" includes, without limitation, the failure by the Company for whatev to extend the
Service Period pursuant to Section 4(a), except if the Executi in writing to accept the then one (1) year extension of the Service Period. (iv) Termination by the Executive for Good Reason. T ive may terminate the Service Period for Good Reason within ninety (90) da ng the initial existence of the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason, subject s and conditions of this Section 4(b)(iv). For purposes of this Agreement, the ter Reason" shall mean, unless the Executive shall have consented in writing there xecutive's demotion, loss of title in part or in whole, loss of office, or reduction ty, (ii) a reduction in the Executive's base salary, (iii) relocation of the Executiv

material breach of this Agreement by the Company, including, without limitation re to pay the Executive any amount when due and payable, pursuant to ement, except in the event of a bona fide dispute regarding reimbursement ofbusi nses, provided, that the Executive shall have delivered written notice to the Comp in thirty (30) days of the initial existence of the circumstances giving rise to G on, of the Executive's intention to terminate the Service Period for Good Rea h notice specifies in reasonable detail the circumstances claimed to give rise to utive's right to terminate the Service Period for Good Reason, and the Company ave cured such circumstances within thirty (30) days following the Company's re ch notice; provided, however, any breach by the Company of a payment obliga nder must be cured within five (5) days (rather than the foregoing 30 days) follo ompany's receipt of such notice. If, following such thirty (30)-day period (or 5)-day period, as applicable), the Company has not cured such circumstances and utive decides to proceed with the termination of the Service Period for Good Rea a termination will be effected by providing the Company with a Notic ination, which Notice of Termination shall be effective as of the date given,
wit urther right to cure by the Company. (v) Voluntary Termination by the Executive. The Execu voluntarily terminate the Service Period (other than for Good Reason), provided xecutive gives notice to the Company of the Executive's intent to terminate ce Period at least sixty (60) days in advance of the Date of Termination. 5. Termination Procedure. (a) Notice of Termination.Any termination of the Service Period ompany or by the Executive (other than a termination on account of the Executi ) shall be communicated by written "Notice of Termination" to the other part dance with Section 14(a) hereof. The Notice of Termination must indicate fic termination provision in this Agreement the party giving such notice believe ibe the circumstances applicable to such termination and shall set forth in reason the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of utive's employment under such provision. (b) Date of Termination."Date of Termination" shall mean (i) if ce Period expires pursuant to Section 4(a) hereof, the date on which the expiratio rvice Period occurs; (ii) ifthe Service Period is terminated due to the Executi or Disability, the date of the Executive's death or the date on which the Notice nation is received by the Executive
that the Board made its determination ility in accordance with Section 4(b)(i)(A) or (B) hereof; (iii) if the Comp ates the Service Period for Cause, the date on which the Notice of Terminatio ed by the Executive; (iv) if the Executive terminates the Service Period for Go n, the date on which the Notice of Termination is given by the Executive (or s date as may be agreed to by the Company); (v) if the Executive volunta ates the Service Period (other than for Good Reason), the date specified in the Not

ven pursuant to Section 4(b)(v) hereof, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties; a if the Service Period is terminated for any other reason, the date on which a Notice mination is received or any later date (within 30 days, or any alternative time peri ed upon by the parties, after the giving of such notice) as set forth in such Notice mination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the party receiving a Notice of Terminatio fies the other party that a dispute exists concerning the appropriate characterization ubject termination for purposes of determining the Executive's entitlement to Accrue igations and Severance Payments, and any other benefits hereunder, the Date mination shall be the date on which the dispute shall be fmally resolved whether b ualagreement of the parties, by a binding arbitration award, or by a fin appealable judgment or order by a court of competent jurisdiction, provided th ing herein modifies the mandatory arbitration provisions set forth in Section 10 hereo (c) Continuation of Payment. The Company shall continue to pay th cutive's full compensation in effect when the Notice of Termination giving rise to th ute described in subsection (b) above was given (including, but not limited to, th cutive's then Base Salary) and continue the
Executive as a participant in all employe fit plans and arrangements of the Company in which the Executive was participatin n the notice of dispute was given, until the dispute is finally resolved in accordanc this Agreement. Amounts paid under this Section 5(c) shall not be offset against, o ce, any other amounts due to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement. 6. Rights and Obligations Upon Termination of the Service Period. (a) Termination by the Company for Disability or without Cause. or b xecutive for Good Reason. In the event of the termination of the Service Period b ompany for Disability or without Cause, or termination of the Service Period by th utive for Good Reason, and to the extent permitted by applicable law and regulations ding, without limitation, those referred to in Section 11 hereof, the Company shall pa xecutive, and the Executive shall be entitled to: (i) any unpaid portion of the Bas y through the Date of Termination; (ii) any unreimbursed business expenses i rdance with Section 3(a) hereof; (iii) [the rights set forth in the 2016 Stock Optio ement, and any subsequent equity incentive awards granted pursuant to the 200 -Term Plan, as the same may be amended, or any other similar plan adopted by BFC iv) any vested
benefits to which the Executive is entitled under the terms of th pany's employee benefit plans and programs, including, without limitation, the ESOP ct to the terms of such plans and programs (collectively the "Accrued Obligations") dition, the Company shall continue to pay the Executive's monthly Base Salary (i.e. welfth (1/12th) of Executive's annual Base Salary in effect as of the date immediately ding the date of termination of employment, or the date immediately prior to the l existence of circumstances giving rise to Good Reason, as applicable) for (i) y-four (24) months (the "Severance Period") regardless ofthe then remaining portion Service Period (each monthly salary continuation payment shall be deemed to be a ate installment for purposes of Section 409A of the Code) commencing with the first dar month following the Date of Termination and (ii) the Company shall continu g the Severance Period to pay the automobile allowance provided for in Sections 2(f)

ke such payments pursuant to Section 2(d) (the payments described in (i) and (ii) be ectively referred to herein as the "Severance Payments"). All Severance Payments sh ayable in accordance with normal and customary payroll procedures applicable to mpany's senior executives, subject to Section 6(d) hereof. Notwithstanding going provisions of this Section 6(a): (i) the Executive's entitlement to the Severan ments shall be subject to and conditioned upon the Executive delivering to mpany an Irrevocable Release not later than sixty (60) days after the date of cutive's termination of employment; (ii) if such 60-day periodfollowing cutive's termination of employment begins in one calendar year and ends in anoth Severance Payments shall, to the extent required in order to comply with Section 40 he Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), commence on the fi oll date following the later of(A) the end ofthe calendar year in which the Executiv ination of employment occurs or (B) the date the Executive satisfies the Irrevoca ase requirement; and (iii) the Executive's entitlement to the Severance Payments sh ubject to and conditioned upon the Executive complying in all material respects wi ions 8 and 9 of this Agreement. "Irrevocable
Release" means a mutual general relea aims in the form affixed hereto marked Exhibit A (except with the date of terminati mployment, the date of such Irrevocable Release and other indicated information fill hat has been executed by the Executive and for which the revocation period under A rimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, and the terms of the release ha red. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 6(a) shall be subject to the limitations ion 11 of this Agreement. (b) Death. If the Service Period is terminated as a result of t cutive's death, the Executive or the Executive's estate or beneficiaries, as the case m hall be entitled to solely the Accrued Obligations. (c) Termination by the Company for Cause or by the Executi ntarily. If the Service Period is terminated by the Company for Cause or voluntari e Executive (other than for Good Reason), the Executive shall be entitled to solely t ued Obligations. (d) Change in Control. (i) In the event that the employment of the Executive by t pany is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Goo on at any time within two (2) years after a Change in Control (but only if such Chan ontrol also constitutes a "change in control event" within the meaning of Treas. Re on
1-409A(i)(5)) has occurred, the Company shall pay to the Executive, and th utive shall be entitled to, a single lump sum payment of the present value, a mined using a discount rate equal to the Applicable Federal Rate (as defined below) i t at the time of such determination, of all of the payments provided for in Section 6(a n ten (10) days of such termination.As used herein the term "Applicable Feder " means the rate set forth from time to time in Table 1 of the Applicable Federal Rat

(ii) As used herein, the term "Change in Control" shall mean a nt with respect to the Company of a nature that (i) would be required to be reported ponse to Item 5.01 of a current report filed on Form 8-K pursuant to Section 13 or 15( he Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") as in effect o date of this Agreement; or (ii) results in any person acquiring control of the Bank or t mpany within the meaning of the Home Owners' Loan Act of 1933, as amended, and th s and regulations Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "FRB eunder, (provided, that in applying the definition of change in control as set forth und h rules and regulations, the Board shall substitute its judgment for that of the FRB); an hout limitation, such an acquisition of control shall be deemed to have occurred at suc e as (A) any "person" (as that term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchang and the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC eunder, including any such persons that may be deemed to be acting in concert wit ect to the Bank or the Company, or the acquisition, ownership or voting of Bank o mpany securities) is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 unde Exchange Act and
the regulations of the SEC thereunder, directly or indirectly, o rities of the Bank or the Company representing fifty percent (50%) or more of th k's or the Company's outstanding securities except for any securities purchased by an qualified employee benefit plan of the Company or the Bank; or (B) individuals wh stitute the Board as of the date of this Agreement (the "Incumbent Board") cease fo reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board, provided that any person becomin rector subsequent to the date hereof whose election was approved by a vote of at leas e-quarters (3/4) of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board, or whos ination for election by the Company's stockholders was approved by a nominatin mittee serving under an Incumbent Board, shall be, for purposes of this clause (B) idered as though such person were a member of the Incumbent Board; or (C) a plan o dation, reorganization, merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all the asset e Bank or the Company or similar transaction in which the Bank or the Company is no esulting entity is approved by the Board and the stockholders of the Company o rwise occurs; or (D) solicitations of stockholders of the Company, by someone othe the Incumbent Board of the
Company, seeking stockholder approval of a plan o ganization, merger or consolidation of the Company or Bank or a similar transactio one or more corporations as a result of which the outstanding shares ofthe Company' ng common stock are exchanged for or converted into cash or property or securities no d by the Bank or the Company shall be distributed; or (E) a tender offer is made fo ty percent (20%) or more ofthe voting securities of the Bank or the Company. 7. Other Termination Provisions. (a) If the Executive is suspended and/or temporarily prohibited from cipating in the conduct of the Company's affairs by a notice served under section 3) or (g)(1) ofthe Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(e)(3) or (g)(l)), th pany's obligations under this Agreement shall be suspended as of the date of servic s stayed by appropriate proceedings.If the charges in the notice are dismissed o

tion 409A of the Code) (i) pay the Executive all of the compensation withheld while mpany's obligations under this Agreement were suspended, and (ii) reinstate all of igations which were suspended. (b) If the Executive is removed and/or permanently prohibited fro icipating in the conduct of the Company's affairs by an order issued under secti )(4) or (g)(1) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(e)(4) or (g)(1)), igations of the Company under this Agreement shall terminate as of the effective date order, but vested rights of the Executive shall not be affected. (c) If the Company is in default (as=the term "default" is defined ion 3(x)(l) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. 1813(x)(1)), all obligatio er this Agreement shall terminate as of the date of default, but vested rights of t cutive shall not be affected. 8. Non-Solicitation. (a) During the period of the Executive's employment by the Compan ther pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, and for the twelve (12) -month perio owing the termination of the Executive's employment with the Company for a on, the Executive will not, without the written consent of the Company, directly rectly: (i) influence or attempt to influence any customer of t pany or any of its affiliates to
discontinue its use ofthe Company's (or such affiliate' ices or to divert such business to any other person, firm or corporation; provide ever, a broad and general advertisement or solicitation not specifically targeting nding to target customers of the Company or any of its affiliates shall not be deemed ation of this Section 8; or (ii) interfere with, disrupt or attempt to disrupt the relationshi ractual or otherwise, between the Company or any of its affiliates and any of i ective employees, customers, suppliers, principals, distributors, lessors or licensor rts by the Executive, whether direct or indirect, (A) to solicit or assist any other perso ntity in soliciting any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates to perfor ices for any entity (other than the Company or any of its affiliates) or (B) to encourag employee of the Company, or any of its affiliates to leave their employment with th pany or any of its affiliates shall be in violation of this Section 8. A person's respons broad and general advertisement or solicitation not specifically targeting or intendin get employees ofthe Company or any of its affiliates shall not be deemed a violatio is Section 8. (b) In the event the Executive materially breaches any of the provision ained in Section 8(a) hereof and the
Company seeks compliance with such provision dicial proceedings, the time period during which the Executive is restricted by suc isions shall be extended by the time during which the Executive has been in violatio

(c) The Executive and the Company intend that Section 8 of th reement be enforced as written. However, if one or more of the provisions contained i ction 8 shall for any reason be held to be unenforceable because of the duration or scop such provision or the area covered thereby, the Executive and the Company agree th court making such determination shall have the full power to reform, by "blu nciling" or any other means, the duration, scope and/or area of such provision and in it ormed form such provision shall then be enforceable and shall be binding on the partie 9. Confidentiality; Non-Disclosure. (a) The Executive hereby agrees that, during the Service Period an reafter, he will hold in strict confidence any proprietary or Confidential Informatio ated to the Company or any of its affiliates. For purposes of this Agreement, the term onfidential Information" shall mean all information of the Company or any of it iliates (in whatever form) that is not generally known to the public, including withou itation any inventions, processes, methods of distribution, customer lists or trad rets.Nothing herein prohibits the Executive from reporting possible violations o eral law or regulation to any federal, state or local governmental agency, commission o ity
(collectively, "Governmental Agencies"), including, but not limited to, th partment of Justice, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Congress, and th pector General, or making other disclosures that are protected under the whistleblowe visions of federal law or regulations. Moreover, nothing herein limits the Executive's lity to communicate with any Governmental Agencies or otherwise participate in an estigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any Governmental Agency. (b) The Executive hereby agrees that upon the termination of th vice Period, the Executive shall not take, without the prior written consent of th mpany, any business plans, strategic plans or reports or other document (in whateve m) of the Company or any of its affiliates, which is of a confidential nature relating to Company or any of its affiliates. 10. Dispute Resolution; Injunctive Relief. (a) Except for claims for injunctive relief pursuant to Section lO(b w, the parties shall resolve their disputes by arbitration, all as more specifically set h in Addendum A affixed hereto and incorporated by reference herein. This Section a) shall not preclude parties from seeking provisional remedies in aid of arbitration m a court having appropriate jurisdiction, nor shall it limit the
rights of the Company set h in Section 1O(b) hereof. (b) The parties hereto agree that it would not be possible to measure in ey the damages that would be suffered by the Company and its affiliates in the event the Executive were to breach any of the restrictive covenants set forth in Sections 8 and reof(the "Restrictive Covenants"). In the event that the Executive breaches any ofthe

cutive from violating such Restrictive Covenants (without posting any bond). If mpany shall institute any action or proceeding to enforce any such Restrict venant, the Executive hereby waives the claim or defense that the Company or any of liates has an adequate remedy at law and agrees not to assert in any such action ceeding the claim or defense that the Company or any of its affiliates has an adequ edy at law. 11. TARP and Golden Parachute Restrictions. (a) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary: (i) any paymen e to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise are subject to a ditioned upon their compliance with 12 U.S.C. 1828(k) and 12 C.P.R. Part 3 rding golden parachute and indemnification payments; (ii) no annual bonus, incenti pensation, severance pay, or golden parachute payments or benefits shall be pai ided, or accrued under this Agreement or otherwise to the extent it would viola ion 111 of Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, as amended ("EESA" the Interim Final Rule (as hereinafter defined); (iii) no payment or benefit shall be pa rovided under this Agreement or otherwise to the extent that it would violate an ement between or among the Company and the Board of Governors of the Feder erve
System, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency or any other government y or agency, provided that the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts tiate the authority and right to make all payments and provide all benefits to th cutive as and when contemplated by this Agreement; and (iv) subject to, and i rdance with, the interim final rule promulgated pursuantto Sections 101(a), 101(c)(5 Ill ofEESA (the "Interim Final Rule"), the Executive shall be required to repay to th pany the amount of any bonus payment (as defined in the Interim Final Rule) mad ng the TARP period (as defined in the Interim Final Rule) to the extent that the bonu ent was based on materially inaccurate financial statements (which includes, but i limited to, statements of earnings, revenues, or gains) or any other material curate performance metric criteria. In the event that the amounts and benefits payable pursuant to thi (b) ement, when added to other amounts and benefits which may become payable to th utive by the Company and any affiliated company, are such that the Executiv mes subject to the excise tax provisions of Section 4999 of the Code relating t ess parachute payments" as defined for purposes of Section 280G of the Code, th pany shall pay the
Executive such additional amount or amounts as will result in th utive's retention of a net amount, after the payment of all federal, state and loca e, employment and income taxes on such payments and the value of such benefits l to the net amount the Executive would have retained had the initially calculate ent and benefits not been subject to such excise tax provisions. For purposes of th ding sentence, the Executive shall be deemed to be subject to the highest margina al, relevant state and relevant local tax rate applicable to an individual resident in Lo les, California. All calculations required to be made under this subsection shall b by the Company's independent public accountants, subject to the right o utive's representative to review the same. All such amounts required to be paid b

taxes may be required to be paid by the Executive, under applicable law, and a itional amounts to which the Executive may be entitled shall be paid or reimbursed r than fifteen (15) days following confirmation of such amount by the Compan ependent public accountants. In the event any amounts paid hereunder are subsequen ermined to be in error, due to estimates required for calculation of such payments bei ving to be inaccurate or othetwise, the parties hereto agree to reimburse each other rect such error, as appropriate, and to pay interest thereon at the applicable federal ra determined pursuant to Code Section 1274) for the period of time such erroneo ount remained outstanding and unreimbursed.The parties hereto recognize that t al implementation of the provisions of this Section 11(b) are complex and agree to de h each other in good faith to resolve any questions or disagreements arising with respe to. 12. Section 409A. This Agreementis intendedto comply witht irements of Section 409A of the Code (including the exceptions thereto), to the exte licable, and the parties' Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with suc irements. If any provision contained in the Agreement conflicts with the requiremen ection 409A of the Code (or the
exemptions intended to apply under the Agreemen Agreement shall be deemed to be reformed to comply with the requirements of Sectio A ofthe Code (or the applicable exemptions thereto). Notwithstanding anything to t rary herein, for purposes of determining the Executive's entitlement to the Severan ments, (i) the Service Period shall not be deemed to have terminated unless and unt Executive incurs a "separation from service" as defined in Section 409A of the Cod (ii) the term "Date of Termination" shall mean the effective date of the Executive ration from service. Reimbursement of any expenses provided for in this Agreeme l be made promptly upon presentation of documentation in accordance with th pany's policies (as applicable) with respect thereto as in effect from time to time (b o event later than the end of calendar quarter following the year such expenses we rred); provided, however, in no event shall the amount of expenses eligible fo bursement hereunder during a calendar year affect the expenses eligible f bursement in any other taxable year. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herei payment or benefit under this Agreement is due to a "separation from service" fo oses of the rules under Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-3(i)(2) (payments to
specified employee a separation from service) and the Executive is determined to be a "specifie loyee" (as determined under Treas. Reg.§1.409A-l(i) and related Compan edures), such payment shall, to the extent necessary to comply with the requirement ction 409A ofthe Code, be made on the later of(x) the date specified by the foregoin isions of this Agreement or (y) the date that is six (6) months after the date of th utive's separation from service (or, if earlier, the date ofthe Executive's death). An llment payments that are delayed pursuant to this Section 12 shall be accumulated an in a lump sum on the first day of the seventh month following the Date ofTerminatio f earlier, upon the Executive's death) and the remaining installment payments shal n on such date in accordance with the schedule provided in this Agreement. Th rance Payments are intended not to constitute deferred compensation subject t on 409A of the Code to the extent such Severance Payments are covered by (i) th rt-term deferral exception" set forth in Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-l(b)(4), (ii) the "tw

rt-term deferral exception, the two times severance exception and the limited payme eption shall be applied to the Severance Payments in order of payment in such man results in the maximum exclusion of such Severance Payments from treatment erred compensation under Section 409A of the Code. Each installment of t verance Payments shall be deemed to be a separate payment for purposes of Secti A of the Code. 13. Legal Fees. The Company shall promptly reimburse the Executive for h sonable legal fees incurred in connection with the negotiation and preparation of th reement. 14. Miscellaneous. (a) Any notice or other communication required or permitted under th eement shall be effective only if it is in writing and shall be deemed to be given wh vered personally or one (1) day after it is sent by a reputable overnight courier servi th evidence of delivery) and, in each case, addressed as follows (or if it is sent throug other method agreed upon by the parties): Ifto BFC: Broadway Financial Corporation Attn: Chief Executive Officer 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500 Los Angeles, CA 90036 If to the Bank: Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. Attn: Chief Executive Officer 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500 Los Angeles, CA 90036 If to the
Executive: Brenda Battey 5310 Maymont Drive Los Angeles, CA 90043 such other address as any party hereto may designate by notice to the others. (b) This Agreement together with the Broadway Financial Corporatio rd Agreement dated February 24,2016 (the "2016 Stock Option Agreement"), and th s of the Executive pursuant to the ESOP shall constitute the entire agreement amon arties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersede and replace an all prior understandings or agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof.

nd this Agreement, and any provision hereof may be waived only by an instrumen ting signed by the party or parties against whom or which enforcement of such waive ght. The failure of any party hereto at any time to require the performance by any ot ty hereto of any provision hereof shall in no way affect the full right to require su formance at any time thereafter, nor shall the waiver by any party hereto of a breach provision hereof be taken or held to be a waiver of any succeeding breach of su vision or a waiver of the provision itself or a waiver of any other provision of t eement. (d) In the event that any provision is determined to be invalid nforceable, in whole or in part, such determination shall in no way affect any ot visions of this Agreement, or the validity or enforcement of the remainder of t eement, and any provisions(s) thus affected shall be modified to the extent necessary g the affected provision(s) within the applicable requirements of the then-current la (e) The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts nge for any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation rwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assu Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent
that the Company would ha required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in th eement, the term "Company" shall mean the Company and any such successor ( essors) that assumesthis Agreement, by operation of law orotherwi withstanding the foregoing, no such assignment or assumption shall relieve t pany of any obligations hereunder. (f) The parties hereto shall cooperate with each other and take a ns, including obtaining, any governmental or stockholder approval, that any of the determine in good faith to be required to carry out the terms of this Agreement. (g) The Company may withhold from any amounts payable to t utive hereunder all federal, state, city or other taxes that the Company may reasonab rmine are required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation (it bein rstood, that the Executive shall be responsible for payment of all taxes in respect of th ents and benefits provided herein). (h) In the event that the Executive shall perform services for the Ban y other affiliate or subsidiary of BFC, any compensation or benefits provided to th utive by such other employer shall be applied to offset the obligations of BF under, it being intended that this Agreement set forth the aggregate compensation an fits
payable to the Executive for all services to the Company and all of its affiliates an diaries. BFC shall reimburse the Bank for compensation or benefits paid or provide e Bank to the Executive to the extent attributable to the Executive's performance o ces for BFC in accordance with the applicable reimbursement policies ofBFC and th .

. (j) This Agreemt may be executed in several counterparts, each ch shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the s rument. A facsimile of a signature shall be deemed to be and have the effect o inal signature. (k) The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of refere and shall not be a part of or control or affect the meaning of any provision hereof [Signatures on next page]

f the date first written above. Broadway Financial Corporation Name: Title: Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. live Brenda Battey Print or type name of Executive

TO EMWLOYMENTAGREEMENT (Executive: Brenda Battey) 1. Arbitration Except as provided in Section 1O(b) of this Agreement, in the event of any roversy, dispute or claim (including those based upon a statute, tort or public policy, those against individuals or other entities), arising out of or relating to (1) this ement, (2) the employment relationship between Executive and Company, or (3) the ination of that relationship (hereafter "dispute"), the parties' exclusive remedy shall submit such dispute to the dispute resolution procedures described below. The parties d for all disputes to be covered by the arbitration provision contained in this ndum A to the fullest extent permitted by law, and the Executive agrees to pursue any dispute in an individual capacity and not as a class representative or class member. the following claims are excluded from these dispute resolution procedures: (1) s by the Executive for workers' compensation, unemployment compensation or state ility benefits; (2) claims based on any pension or welfare plan the terms of which in an arbitration or other dispute resolution procedures; (3) claims brought by utive or Company to compel arbitration pursuant to this Addendum A or to enforce rbitration award; (4) claims under
the National Labor Relations Act; (5) any sentative action under the Private Attorney General Act ("PAGA"); and (6) any other s which are not permitted by applicable law to be subject to a binding pre-dispute ation agreement. If either party has claims against the other party that are deemed be arbitrable, those claims shall be stayed and the arbitrable claims shall be resolved e the stayed claims are addressed. (a) Written notice of desire to arbitrate shall describe the factual basis claims asserted ("Claim"), and shall be served on the other party as set forth in on 14(a) of this Agreement. If written notice of desire to arbitrate is not served within plicable time period, the party who failed timely to serve notice will be deemed to waived the right to further contest the Claim, and will be deemed to have accepted her party's last stated position on the Claim. (b) The arbitration shall be administered by JAMS, Inc. (formerly n as Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc.) ("JAMS") pursuant to its at to oyment Arbitration Rules Procedures,which canbe found & www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration and which will be provided tive upon request, and subject to JAMS Policy on Employment Arbitration Minimum ards of Procedural Fairness,
which will also be provided to Executive upon request. ent on any Award (as defined below) may be entered in any court having competent iction. The arbitration shall take place in Los Angeles, California. Notwithstanding ing herein to the contrary, the parties may agree to use an independent arbitrator that utually select and agree upon.

(d) Each party shall have the right to take the deposition of one dual and any expert witness designated by another party without the arbitrator's prior val. Each party also shall have the right to make requests for production of documents party. Additional discovery may be had as ordered by the arbitrator. (e) At least fourteen (14) days before the arbitration, the parties must nge lists of witnesses, including any expert, and copies of all exhibits intended to be t the arbitration. (f) The arbitrator shall have jurisdiction to hear and rule on pre-hearing es and is authorized to hold pre-hearing conferences by telephone or in person, as bitrator deems necessary. The arbitrator shall have the authority to resolve all issues d to discovery, and to entertain motions to dismiss, motions for summary judgment djudication, and any other pre-trial motions submitted by any party, and shall apply ndards governing such motions under the California Rules of Civil Procedure. (g) Either party, at its expense, may arrange for and pay the cost of a reporter to provide a stenographic record of proceedings. If both parties desire to ccess to the stenographic record of proceedings then they shall split all such costs (h) The arbitrator will have no authority to: (i) adopt new Company s or
procedures, (ii) modify this Agreement or existing Company policies, ures, wages or benefits, or (iii) in the absence of a written waiver pursuant to aph (j) below, hear or decide any matter that was not processed in accordance with greement. The arbitrator shall have exclusive authority to resolve any Claim, ing, but not limited to, a dispute relating to the interpretation, applicability, eability or formation ofthis Agreement, or any contention that all or any part of this ment is void or voidable. The arbitrator will have the authority to award any form or t of remedy or damages that would be available in a court of competent jurisdiction. (i) Either party, in the party's sole discretion, may, in writing, waive, le or in part, the other's failure to follow any time limit or other requirement set n this Agreement, except that neither party can waive any statute of limitation for he Claim. (j) The arbitration will be conducted in private, and will not be open, y or indirectly, to the public or the media. The arbitration and all information directly rectly relating thereto (including, but not limited to, the testimony, evidence or shall be deemed Confidential Information and shall be subject to the restrictions set Section 9(a) of this Agreement. (k) The arbitrator, subject to the
right to either party to utilize the

ding on the Company and the Executive. The parties agree, however, that a mpetent jurisdiction has the right to set aside the decision of the arbitrator itrator, in rendering his or her award, committed an error oflaw that affected the damages awarded. (1) The Company will pay all administration fees associated itration over and above those that the Executive would have to pay in a court pro the cost of arbitrator, it being the parties' intention that the Executive not b ts that the Executive would not be required to bear in a court proceeding, to the the Executive would be required to pay for filing fees and transcript fees in ceeding the Executive will remain responsible for such fees. Notwithstandi visions to the contrary found in such procedures, in the event of final and tration pursuant to this paragraph, except for the arbitrator's fees which the Co l be responsible for paying, each party will be responsible for paying its own co rneys' fees in connection with the arbitration. The arbitrator shall not be author rd the prevailing party costs and attorneys' fees, except as expressly provi ute. (m) The Company and the Executive understand that developm law and legislation may affect the enforceability of arbitration provisions such the parties' intention and desire
that this Addendum A is compliant with curr he time either party seeks its enforcement.Accordingly, if any one or more isions of this Addendum A is deemed to be unenforceable, the remaining pro l continue in full force and effect in accordance with Section 12(d) of this Agre (n) Each of the parties acknowledges that she or it has carefull understands this Addendum A and agrees to be bound by and comply with al s.Each of the parties acknowledges such party's voluntary agreement to ar ms and understands and acknowledges that by signing this Agreement, such p ng up the right to a jury trial and to a trial in a court of law.

Exhibit 10.12

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of May 1, 2017 and among Broadway Financial Corporation, ("BFC"), Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. e "Bank" and, together with BFC, the "Company"), and Norman "Sandy" Bellefeuille e "Executive"). The term Company shall refer to BFC in respect of Executive's services BFC and to the Bank in respect of the Executive's services to the Banlc WHEREAS, the Executive has served as a senior executive officer of the Company the Bank since July 9, 2012; and WHEREAS, the Company desires to continue to retain the Executive to serve as ior Vice President, Chief Loan Officer of the Company on the terms and conditions set h in this Agreement, and the Executive desires to provide such services on such terms conditions. NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and mutual covenants herein for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows: 1. Services, Duties and Responsibilities. (a) The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive as its Senior e President, Chief Loan Officer during the service period fixed by Section 4 hereof (the rvice Period"). The Executive shall report to the President and Chief Executive Officer FC (the "Chief
Executive Officer") (or such other senior executive officer designated he Board of Directors of BFC, in which case the term Chief Executive Officer shall n such other designated senior executive officer), and shall have such duties and onsibilities as are consistent with the position of a senior vice president and chief loan cer of a bank and holding company of similar size and complexity as the Company (the r vices"). The Executive's principal work location shall be at the Company's principal cutive offices, provided, that the Executive may be required to travel as reasonably ssary in order to perform the Executive's duties and responsibilities hereunder. (b) During the Service Period, excluding any periods of vacation and leave to which the Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote substantially all of Executive's working time, energy and attention to the performance of his duties and onsibilities hereunder and shall faithfully and diligently endeavor to promote the ness of the Company. During the Service Period, the Executive may not, without the r written consent of the Chief Executive Officer, directly or indirectly, operate, cipate in the management, operations or control of, or act as an executive, officer, ultant, agent or representative of, any
type of competitive business or service, ided that the Executive may, to the extent not otherwise prohibited by this Agreement, te such amount of time as does not interfere with the performance of the Executive's s under this Agreement to engaging in community and charitable activities.

(a) Base Salarv. During the Service Period, the Executive shall be annual base salary of $248,044.00 for the Executive's Services hereunder, payab cordance with the normal andcustomary payroll procedures applicable to ompany's senior executives. The Executive's base salary shall be subject to increase t decrease], as determined by the compensation committee of the Board of Directo FC (the "Board") in its discretion (such base salary, as in effect from time to time ase Salary"). (b) Changes in Compensation and Benefits. The payment or accru nuses, and the grant and vesting of any equity incentive awards, pursuant to Section low or otherwise shall in all events be subject to EESA and the Interim Final Rule ( defined in Section ll(a) hereof). (c) Eguity Incentives. The Executive shall be entitled to participa Bank's Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the "ESOP") in accordance with its term dition, the Executive shall be eligible for equity-based awards pursuant to B mended and Restated 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2008 Long Term Plan") of es and in such amounts as shall be determined by the compensation committee of ard (or the Board, in the absence of the compensation committee) based on ecutive's performance for the preceding year.
Each of such awards shall vest and, in se of any stock options, become exercisable, to the extent of twenty percent (20%) o ares covered thereby, on the first anniversary of the date of grant, and an additi enty percent (20%) of the shares covered thereby on each subsequent anniversary o e of grant, provided that vesting will cease upon termination of Executive's Services more specifically set forth in the 2008 Long-Term Plan or applicable award agreem y stock options granted to the Executive pursuant to the 2008 Long-Term Plan shal rcisable by the Executive or the Executive's estate, legal representative or heirs f iod of twelve (12) months after termination of the Service Period due to Executi th or Disability, all as more specifically set forth in the 2008 Long-Term Plan or plicable Award Agreement. (d) Other Benefits. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Execu ll be eligible to participate in all employee benefit plans and arrangements of mpany applicable to other senior executive officers, including, without limitation, nk's incentive compensation plan, the Company's 401(k) Plan with continuation of mpany's current employee contribution matching policy, and medical, dental, life g-term disability insurance programs. (e) Vacation.The
Executive shall be entitled paid vacation ordance with the Company's vacation policy; provided, that the Executive shall itled to not less than twenty (20) days of vacation in each calendar year (or ropriately pro-rated portion thereof for partial years). The Executive shall be permit

with an automobile allowance in the amount of $800.00 per month during the Servi Period, payable in accordance with the normal and customary practices applicable to t Company's senior executives. 3. Reimbursement for Expenses. (a) Business Expenses. The Company shall promptly reimburse th Executive for all reasonable out-of-pocket business expenses, including, witho limitation, travel expenses incurred by the Executive in connection with carrying out h responsibilities under this Agreement during the Service Period upon presentation o appropriate vouchers, receipts or other satisfactory evidence thereof and otherwise i accordance with applicable Company policies. (b) Memberships. The Company shall pay or reimburse the Executiv for trade membership dues and fees during the Service Period in accordance with th Company's policies and procedures as in effect from time to time. 4. Service Period. (a) Term. The "Service Period" during which the Executive shal erform the Services for the Company pursuant to this Agreement means the perio ommencing on the date hereof and, subject to extension as set forth below, expiring at th lose of business on the third (3rd) anniversary of the date hereof in the year 2020. Prior t December 31 of
each calendar year during the Service Period, the Chief Executive Office or his designee) shall review the Executive's performance, shall discuss the results of suc eview with Executive and promptly shall inform the Executive in writing whether th oard proposes to extend the Service Period for an additional year, and the results thereo hall be included in the minutes of the Board's meeting at which the same has been onsidered. If the Chief Executive Officer (or his designee) informs the Executive that th oard proposes to extend the Service Period, and the Executive accepts such proposal, the ervice Period shall be extended to end on the anniversary of the date hereof that occurs i he year immediately following the expiration date of the then existing Service Period otwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall bar the parties from (a) extending the ervice Period under this Agreement by mutual agreement or (b) continuing th xecutive's employment by the Company without extension of this Agreement, subject to ection 4(b)(iii) below. (b) Termination.Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Service Period ay be terminated at any time upon the earliest to occur of the following events or any of e events identified in Section 7 hereof: (i) Death or
Disability. The Service Period shall terminate pon the Executive's death or Disability. For this purpose, "Disability" means that either

xecutive's duties under this Agreement for more than one hundred twenty (120) day whether or not consecutive, in any twelve (12)-month period, by reason of a physical mental illness or injury. (ii) Termination for Cause by the Company. The Company ma erminate the Service Period for Cause at any time effective upon written notice to th xecutive. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Cause" shall mean the terminatio fthe Service Period on account of(A) the Executive's failure to substantially perform th xecutive's duties hereunder or as reasonably assigned to the Executive by the Chi xecutive Officer or the Board and consistent with the Executive's obligations hereund nd Executive shall not have cured such failure (as determined in the reasonable judgme f the Chief Executive Officer or the Board) within thirty (30) days after written notic om the Chief Executive Officer (or his designee); (B) the Executive's material breach o is Agreement or any material written policy of the Company and failure of the Executiv have cured such breach (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Board) withi irty (30) days after written notice from the ChiefExecutive Officer (or his designee); (C e Executive's willful violation of any law, rule, or
regulation (other than traffic violation r similar offenses) or entry of a final cease-and-desist order against the Executive; (D onviction of a felony or a plea of nolo contendere to a felony; or (E) conduct by th xecutive constituting a misdemeanor involving a Disqualifier (as defined below) by th xecutive. "Disqualifier" means (i) fraud, moral turpitude, dishonesty, breach of fiduciary uty involving personal profit, organized crime or racketeering; (ii) willful violation o curities or commodities laws or regulations; (iii) willful violation of depositor stitution laws or regulations; (iv) willful violation of housing authority laws o gulations arising from the operations of the Bank; or (v) willful violation of the rules gulations, codes of conduct or ethics of a self-regulatory trade or professiona ganization. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive shall not be deemed terminated r Cause unless and until there shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of th solution duly adopted by the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held for tha rpose (after reasonable notice to the Executive) and an opportunity for the Executive gether with counsel, to be heard before the Board), finding that, in the good faith of the oard, the Executive's conduct justified
termination for Cause and specifying th rticulars thereof in reasonable detail. (iii) Termination without Cause by the Company. The Company ay terminate the Service Period without Cause. For the avoidance of doubt, "termination thout Cause" includes, without limitation, the failure by the Company for whatever ason to extend the Service Period pursuant to Section 4(a), except if the Executive fuses in writing to accept the then one (1) year extension ofthe Service Period. (iv) Termination by the Executive for Good Reason.The ecutive may terminate the Service Period for Good Reason within ninety (90) days llowing the initial existence of the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason, subject to

thority, (ii) a reduction in the Executive's base salary, (iii) relocation of the Executi imary work location more than twenty (20) miles from 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, ngeles, California, (iv) a material diminution of the Executive's responsibilities, or y material breach of this Agreement by the Company, including, without limitation, ilure to pay the Executive any amount when due and payable, pursuant to greement, except in the event of a bona fide dispute regarding reimbursement of busin penses, provided, that the Executive shall have delivered written notice to the Compa thin thirty (30) days of the initial existence of the circumstances giving rise to G ason, of the Executive's intention to terminate the Service Period for Good Reas hich notice specifies in reasonable detail the circumstances claimed to give rise to ecutive's right to terminate the Service Period for Good Reason, and the Company s t have cured such circumstances within thirty (30) days following the Company's rece such notice; provided, however, any breach by the Company of a payment obligat reunder must be cured within five (5) days (rather than the foregoing 30 days) follow e Company's receipt of such notice. If, following such thirty (30)-day period (or s e (5)-day period, as
applicable), the Company has not cured such circumstances and ecutive decides to proceed with the termination of the Service Period for Good Reas ch a termination will be effected by providing the Company with a Notice rmination, which Notice of Termination shall be effective as of the date given, with y further right to cure by the Company. (v) Voluntary Termination by the Executive. The Execut y voluntarily terminate the Service Period (other than for Good Reason), provided t Executive gives notice to the Company of the Executive's intent to terminate t rvice Period at least sixty (60) days in advance of the Date of Termination. 5. Termination Procedure. (a) Notice of Termination.Any termination of the Service Period Company or by the Executive (other than a termination on account of the Executiv th) shall be communicated by written "Notice of Termination" to the other party ordance with Section 14(a) hereof. The Notice of Termination must indicate cific termination provision in this Agreement the party giving such notice believes cribe the circumstances applicable to such termination and shall set forth in reasona ail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of t ecutive's employment under such provision.
(b) Date of Termination."Date of Termination" shall mean (i) if t vice Period expires pursuant to Section 4(a) hereof, the date on which the expiration Service Period occurs; (ii) if the Service Period is terminated due to the Executiv th or Disability, the date of the Executive's death or the date on which the Notice mination is received by the Executive that the Board made its determination ability in accordance with Section 4(b)(i)(A) or (B) hereof; (iii) if the Compa

Reason, the date on which the Notice of Termination is given by the Executive ( earlier date as may be agreed to by the Company); (v) if the Executive volu terminates the Service Period (other than for Good Reason), the date specified in the ofTermination, which date shall be no earlier than sixty (60) days after the date such is given pursuant to Section 4(b)(v) hereof, unless otherwise agreed to by the parti (vi) if the Service Period is terminated for any other reason, the date on which a N Termination is received or any later date (within 30 days, or any alternative time agreed upon by the parties, after the giving of such notice) as set forth in such No Termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the party receiving a Notice ofTermi notifies the other party that a dispute exists concerning the appropriate characteriza the subject termination for purposes of determining the Executive's entitlement to A Obligations and Severance Payments, and any other benefits hereunder, the D Termination shall be the date on which the dispute shall be finally resolved whet mutualagreement of the parties, by a binding arbitration award, or by a non-appealable judgment or order by a court of competent jurisdiction, provide nothing herein modifies the mandatory
arbitration provisions set forth in Section 10 (c) Continuation of Payment. The Company shall continue to p Executive's full compensation in effect when the Notice of Termination giving rise ispute described in subsection (b) above was given (including, but not limited Executive's then Base Salary) and continue the Executive as a participant in all em enefit plans and arrangements of the Company in which the Executive was partici when the notice of dispute was given, until the dispute is finally resolved in acco with this Agreement. Amounts paid under this Section 5(c) shall not be offset agai educe, any other amounts due to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement. 6. Rights and Obligations Upon Termination ofthe Service Period. (a) Termination by the Company for Disability or without Cause he Executive for Good Reason. In the event of the termination of the Service Period ompany for Disability or without Cause, or termination of the Service Period xecutive for Good Reason, and to the extent permitted by applicable law and regul ncluding, without limitation, those referred to in Section II hereof, the Company sh he Executive, and the Executive shall be entitled to: (i) any unpaid portion of the alary through the Date of Termination; (ii) any
unreimbursed business expen ccordance with Section 3(a) hereof; (iii) the rights set forth in the 2016 Stock O greement, and any subsequent equity incentive awards granted pursuant to the ong-Term Plan, as the same may be amended, or any other similar plan adopted by nd (iv) any vested benefits to which the Executive is entitled under the terms ompany's employee benefit plans and programs, including, without limitation, the E ubject to the terms of such plans and programs (collectively the "Accrued Obligati n addition, the Company shall continue to pay the Executive's monthly Base Salar ne-twelfth (1112th) of Executive's annual Base Salary in effect as of the date immed receding the date of termination of employment, or the date immediately prior t

installment for purposes of Section 409A ofthe Code) commencing with the first month following the Date of Termination and (ii) the Company shall continue d Severance Period to pay the automobile allowance provided for in Sections 2(f) he shall continue to pay the Executive for life, long-term disability, medical an insurance premiums in the manner consistent with the Company's obligations such payments pursuant to Section 2(d) (the payments described in (i) and (i collectively referred to herein as the "Severance Payments"). All Severance Payme be payable in accordance with normal and customary payroll procedures applicab Company's senior executives, subject to Section 6(d) hereof. Notwithstand foregoing provisions of this Section 6(a): (i) the Executive's entitlement to the Se Payments shall be subject to and conditioned upon the Executive delivering Company an Irrevocable Release not later than sixty (60) days after the dat Executive's termination of employment; (ii) if such 60-day periodfollow Executive's termination of employment begins in one calendar year and ends in the Severance Payments shall, to the extent required in order to comply with Sectio of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), commence
on payroll date following the later of(A) the end of the calendar year in which the Exe termination of employment occurs or (B) the date the Executive satisfies the Irre Release requirement; and (iii) the Executive's entitlement to the Severance Payme be subject to and conditioned upon the Executive complying in all material respe Sections 8 and 9 of this Agreement. "Irrevocable Release" means a mutual general of claims in the form affixed hereto marked Exhibit A (except with the date of term of employment, the date of such Irrevocable Release and other indicated informatio in) that has been executed by the Executive and for which the revocation period un Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, and the terms of the relea expired. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 6(a) shall be subject to the limita Section 11 of this Agreement. (b) Death. If the Service Period is terminated as a result Executive's death, the Executive or the Executive's estate or beneficiaries, as the ca be, shall be entitled to solely the Accrued Obligations. (c) Termination by the Comoanv for Cause or by the Ex Voluntarily. If the Service Period is terminated by the Company for Cause or vol by the Executive (other than for Good Reason), the Executive shall
be entitled to so Accrued Obligations. (d) Change in Control. (i) In the event that the employment of the Executive Company is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive fo Reason at any time within two (2) years after a Change in Control (but only if such in Control also constitutes a "change in control event" within the meaning of Trea

ffect at the time of such determination, of all of the payments provided for in Section 6(a) ithin ten (10) days of such termination.As used herein the term "Applicable Federal ate" means the rate set forth from time to time in Table 1 of the Applicable Federal Rate ulings of the Internal Revenue Service, or any official successor publication, for debt struments maturing within three years and having annual compounding. (ii) As used herein, the term "Change in Control" shall mean an vent with respect to the Company of a nature that (i) would be required to be reported in sponse to Item 5.01 of a current report filed on Form 8-K pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) f the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") as in effect on e date of this Agreement; or (ii) results in any person acquiring control ofthe Bank or the ompany within the meaning of the Home Owners' Loan Act of 1933, as amended, and the les and regulations Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "FRB") ereunder, (provided, that in applying the definition of change in control as set forth under ch rules and regulations, the Board shall substitute its judgment for that of the FRB); and, ithout limitation, such an acquisition of control shall be deemed to
have occurred at such me as (A) any "person" (as that term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange ct and the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") ereunder, including any such persons that may be deemed to be acting in concert with spect to the Bank or the Company, or the acquisition, ownership or voting of Bank or ompany securities) is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under e Exchange Act and the regulations of the SEC thereunder, directly or indirectly, of curities of the Bank or the Company representing fifty percent (50%) or more of the ank's or the Company's outstanding securities except for any securities purchased by any x qualified employee benefit plan of the Company or the Bank; or (B) individuals who nstitute the Board as of the date of this Agreement (the "Incumbent Board") cease for y reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board, provided that any person becoming director subsequent to the date hereof whose election was approved by a vote of at least ree-quarters (3/4) of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board, or whose mination for election by the Company's stockholders was approved by a nominating mmittee serving under an
Incumbent Board, shall be, for purposes of this clause (B), nsidered as though such person were a member of the Incumbent Board; or (C) a plan of uidation, reorganization, merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all the assets the Bank or the Company or similar transaction in which the Bank or the Company is not e resulting entity is approved by the Board and the stockholders of the Company· or herwise occurs; or (D) solicitations of stockholders of the Company, by someone other n the Incumbent Board of the Company, seeking stockholder approval of a plan of organization, merger or consolidation of the Company or Bank or a similar transaction th one or more corporations as a result of which the outstanding shares of the Company's ting common stock are exchanged for or converted into cash or property or securities not ued by the Bank or the Company shall be distributed; or (E) a tender offer is made for enty percent (20%) or more of the voting securities of the Bank or the Company.

(a) If the Executive is suspended and/or temporarily prohibited fr icipating in the conduct of the Company's affairs by a notice served under sect (3) or (g)(l) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(e)(3) or (g)(l)), mpany's obligations under this Agreement shall be suspended as of the date of serv ss stayed by appropriate proceedings.If the charges in the notice are dismissed rwise withdrawn, the Company shall (but subject in all events to the requirements tion 409A of the Code) (i) pay the Executive all of the compensation withheld while mpany's obligations under this Agreement were suspended, and (ii) reinstate all of gations which were suspended. (b) If the Executive is removed and/or permanently prohibited fro cipating in the conduct of the Company's affairs by an order issued under secti (4) or (g)(l) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(e)(4) or (g)(l)), gations of the Company under this Agreement shall terminate as of the effective date rder, but vested rights of the Executive shall not be affected. (c) If the Company is in default (as=the term "default" is defined on 3(x)(l) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. 1813(x)(l )), all obligatio r this Agreement shall terminate as of the date of default, but vested
rights of t cutive shall not be affected. 8. Non-Solicitation. (a) During the period of the Executive's employment by the Compan her pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, and for the twelve (12) -month peri wing the termination n, the Executive will of the Executive's employment with the Company for a not, without the written consent of the Company, directly ectly: (i) influence or attempt to influence any customer of t pany or any of its affiliates to discontinue its use of the Company's (or such affiliate' ces or to divert such business to any other person, firm or corporation; provide ver, a broad and general advertisement or solicitation not specifically targeting ding to target customers of the Company or any of its affiliates shall not be deemed tion ofthis Section 8; or (ii) interfere with, disrupt or attempt to disrupt the relationshi actual or otherwise, between the Company or any of its affiliates and any of i ctive employees, customers, suppliers, principals, distributors, lessors or licensor ts by the Executive, whether direct or indirect, (A) to solicit or assist any other perso tity in soliciting any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates to perfor ces for any entity (other than the Company or any of its affiliates) or (B) to encoura

target employees of the Company or any of its affiliates shall not be deemed a violatio this Section 8. In the event the Executive materially breaches any of the provision (b) ntained in Section 8(a) hereof and the Company seeks compliance with such provision judicial proceedings, the time period during which the Executive is restricted by suc ovisions shall be extended by the time during which the Executive has been in violatio any such provision and any period of litigation required to enforce the Executive' ligations under this Agreement. (c) The Executive and the Company intend that Section 8 of thi reement be enforced as written. However, if one or more of the provisions contained in ction 8 shall for any reason be held to be unenforceable because of the duration or scop such provision or the area covered thereby, the Executive and the Company agree tha court making such determination shall have the full power to reform, by "blu nciling" or any other means, the duration, scope and/or area of such provision and in its ormed form such provision shall then be enforceable and shall be binding on the parties 9. Confidentiality; Non-Disclosure. (a) The Executive hereby agrees that, during the Service Period and reafter, he will hold in strict
confidence any proprietary or Confidential Information ted to the Company or any of its affiliates. For purposes of this Agreement, the term onfidential Information" shall mean all information of the Company or any of its liates (in whatever form) that is not generally known to the public, including without itation any inventions, processes, methods of distribution, customer lists or trade rets.Nothing herein prohibits the Executive from reporting possible violations of eral law or regulation to any federal, state or local governmental agency, commission or ity (collectively, "Governmental Agencies"), including, but not limited to, the partment of Justice, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Congress, and the pector General, or making other disclosures that are protected under the whistleblower visions of federal law or regulations. Moreover, nothing herein limits the Executive's ity to communicate with any Governmental Agencies or otherwise participate in any estigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any Governmental Agency. (b) The Executive hereby agrees that upon the termination of the vice Period, the Executive shall not take, without the prior written consent of the mpany, any business plans, strategic plans or reports or
other document (in whatever m) of the Company or any of its affiliates, which is of a confidential nature relating to Company or any of its affiliates. 10. Arbitration; Injunctive Relief. (a) Except for claims for injunctive relief pursuant to Section IO(b)

(a) shall not preclude parties from seeking provisional remedies in aid of arb om a court having appropriate jurisdiction, nor shall it limit the rights of the Comp rth in Section 1O(b) hereof. The parties hereto agree that it would not be possible to mea (b) oney the damages that would be suffered by the Company and its affiliates in th at the Executive were to breach any of the restrictive covenants set forth in Section hereof (the "Restrictive Covenants"). In the event that the Executive breaches any estrictive Covenants, the Company shall be entitled to an injunction restraini xecutive from violating such Restrictive Covenants (without posting any bond). ompany shall institute any action or proceeding to enforce any such Res ovenant, the Executive hereby waives the claim or defense that the Company or an filiates has an adequate remedy at law and agrees not to assert in any such ac oceeding the claim or defense that the Company or any of its affiliates has an ad medy at law. 11. TARP and Golden Parachute Restrictions. (a) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary: (i) any pay de to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise are subject t nditioned upon their compliance with 12 U.S.C. 1828(k) and 12 C.P.R. Pa arding golden
parachute and indemnification payments; (ii) no annual bonus, inc mpensation, severance pay, or golden parachute payments or benefits shall be vided, or accrued under this Agreement or otherwise to the extent it would v ction 111 of Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, as amended ("E d the Interim Final Rule (as hereinafter defined); (iii) no payment or benefit shall b provided under this Agreement or otherwise to the extent that it would viola eement between or among the Company and the Board of Governors of the F serve System, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency or any other govern ity or agency, provided that the Company shall use commercially reasonable eff otiate the authority and right to make all payments and provide all benefits ecutive as and when contemplated by this Agreement; and (iv) subject to, a ordance with, the interim final rule promulgated pursuant to Sections 101(a), 101 111 ofEESA (the "Interim Final Rule"), the Executive shall be required to repay mpany the amount of any bonus payment (as defined in the Interim Final Rule) ing the TARP period (as defined in the Interim Final Rule) to the extent that the ment was based on materially inaccurate financial statements (which includes, limited to,
statements of earnings, revenues, or gains) or any other mat ccurate performance metric criteria. In the event that the amounts and benefits payable pursuant t (b) reement, when added to other amounts and benefits which may become payable cutive by the Company and any affiliated company, are such that the Exe

Executive's retention of a net amount, after the payment of all federal, state and xcise, employment and income taxes on such payments and the value of such be qual to the net amount the Executive would have retained had the initially calc ayment and benefits not been subject to such excise tax provisions. For purposes receding sentence, the Executive shall be deemed to be subject to the highest ma ederal, relevant state and relevant local tax rate applicable to an individual resident i ngeles, California. All calculations required to be made under this subsection sh ade by the Company's independent public accountants, subject to the rig xecutive's representative to review the same. All such amounts required to be pa his Section shall be paid at the time any withholding may be required by the Compa ny taxes may be required to be paid by the Executive, under applicable law, an dditional amounts to which the Executive may be entitled shall be paid or reimburs ater than fifteen (15) days following confirmation of such amount by the Comp ndependent public accountants. In the event any amounts paid hereunder are subsequ etermined to be in error, due to estimates required for calculation of such payments roving to be inaccurate or otherwise, the
parties hereto agree to reimburse each oth orrect such error, as appropriate, and to pay interest thereon at the applicable federa as determined pursuant to Code Section 1274) for the period of time such erro mount remained outstanding and unreimbursed.The parties hereto recognize tha ctual implementation of the provisions of this Section 11(b) are complex and agree to ith each other in good faith to resolve any questions or disagreements arising with re ereto. 12. Section 409A. This Agreementis intendedtocomply with quirements of Section 409A ofthe Code (including the exceptions thereto), to the e pplicable, and the parties' Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with quirements. If any provision contained in the Agreement conflicts with the requirem Section 409A of the Code (or the exemptions intended to apply under the Agreem e Agreement shall be deemed to be reformed to comply with the requirements of Se 09A of the Code (or the applicable exemptions thereto). Notwithstanding anything t ntrary herein, for purposes of determining the Executive's entitlement to the Sever ayments, (i) the Service Period shall not be deemed to have terminated unless and e Executive incurs a "separation from service" as defined in Section 409A of
the C d (ii) the term "Date of Termination" shall mean the effective date of the Execut paration from service. Reimbursement of any expenses provided for in this Agree all be made promptly upon presentation of documentation in accordance with ompany's policies (as applicable) with respect thereto as in effect from time to time no event later than the end of calendar quarter following the year such expenses curred); provided, however, in no event shall the amount of expenses eligible imbursement hereunderduring a calendar yearaffect the expenses eligible imbursement in any other taxable year. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary he a payment or benefit under this Agreement is due to a "separation from service rposes of the rules under Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-3(i)(2) (payments to specified emplo

procedures), such payment shall, to the extent necessary to comply with the requirement of Section 409A of the Code, be made on the later of(x) the date specified by the foregoin provisions of this Agreement or (y) the date that is six (6) months after the date of th Executive's separation from service (or, if earlier, the date of the Executive's death). Any installment payments that are delayed pursuant to this Section 12 shall be accumulated an paid in a lump sum on the first day of the seventh month following the Date of Terminatio (or, if earlier, upon the Executive's death) and the remaining installment payments shal begin on such date in accordance with the schedule provided in this Agreement. Th Severance Payments are intended not to constitute deferred compensation subject t Section 409A of the Code to the extent such Severance Payments are covered by (i) th "short-term deferral exception" set forth in Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-l(b)(4), (ii) the "two times severance exception" set forth in Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-I(b)(9)(iii), or (iii) the "limited payments exception" set forth in Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-l(b)(9)(v)(D). Th short-term deferral exception, the two times severance exception and the limited payments exception shall be applied to the Severance
Payments in order of payment in such manne as results in the maximum exclusion of such Severance Payments from treatment as deferred compensation under Section 409A of the Code. Each installment of the Severance Payments shall be deemed to be a separate payment for purposes of Section 409A of the Code. 13. Legal Fees. The Company shall promptly reimburse the Executive for his reasonable legal fees incurred in connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement. 14. Miscellaneous. (a) Any notice or other communication required or permitted under this Agreement shall be effective only if it is in writing and shall be deemed to be given when delivered personally or one (1) day after it is sent by a reputable overnight courier service (with evidence of delivery) and, in each case, addressed as follows (or if it is sent through any other method agreed upon by the parties): If to BFC: Broadway Financial Corporation Attn: Chief Executive Officer 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500 Los Angeles, CA 90036 If to the Bank: Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. Attn: Chief Executive Officer 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500

Norman Bellefeuille 1527 Lori Court Redlands, CA 92374 to such other address as any party hereto may designate by notice to the others. (b) This Agreement together with the Broadway Financial Corporation ward Agreement dated February 24, 2016 (the "2016 Stock Option Agreement"), and the hts of the Executive pursuant to the ESOP shall constitute the entire agreement among parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersede and replace any d all prior understandings or agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof. (c) Only an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto may end this Agreement, and any provision hereof may be waived only by an instrument in iting signed by the party or parties against whom or which enforcement of such waiver is ght. The failure of any party hereto at any time to require the performance by any other ty hereto of any provision hereof shall in no way affect the full right to require such formance at any time thereafter, nor shall the waiver by any party hereto of a breach of y provision hereof be taken or held to be a waiver of any succeeding breach of such vision or a waiver of the provision itself or a waiver of any other provision of this reement. (d) In the event that any
provision is determined to be invalid or nforceable, in whole or in part, such determination shall in no way affect any other visions of this Agreement, or the validity or enforcement of the remainder of this reement, and any provisions(s) thus affected shall be modified to the extent necessary to ng the affected provision(s) within the applicable requirements of the then-current law. (e) The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to nge for any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or erwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would have n required to perform it if no such succession had taken place. As used in this eement, the term "Company" shall mean the Company and any such successor (or cessors) that assumesthis Agreement,by operationof law or otherwise. withstanding the foregoing, no such assignment or assumption shall relieve the mpany of any obligations hereunder. (f) The parties hereto shall cooperate with each other and take all ons, including obtaining, any governmental or stockholder approval, that any of them determine in good faith to be required to carry out the
terms of this Agreement.

determine are required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation (it being understood, that the Executive shall be responsible for payment of all taxes in respect of the payments and benefits provided herein). (h) In the event that the Executive shall perform services for the Bank or any other affiliate or subsidiary of BFC, any compensation or benefits provided to the Executive by such other employer shall be applied to offset the obligations of BFC hereunder, it being intended that this Agreement set forth the aggregate compensation and benefits payable to the Executive for all services to the Company and all of its affiliates and subsidiaries. BFC shall reimburse the Bank for compensation or benefits paid or provided by the Bank to the Executive to the extent attributable to the Executive's performance of services for BFC in accordance with the applicable reimbursement policies ofBFC and the Bank. (i) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, without reference to its principles of conflicts of law. (j) This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. A
facsimile of a signature shall be deemed to be and have the effect of an original signature. (k) The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not be a part of or control or affect the meaning of any provision hereof. [Signatures on next page]

as of the date first written above. Broadway Financial Corporation E s Name: Title: t-.JJ'f"YNG P d -. / c-o Broadway Federal Bank, fs.b. A y G Name: Title: .S:Jffl-,..) ,l>o;;.., / Ea Norman "Sandy" Bellefeuille Print or type name of Executive

TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (Executive: Norman "Sandy" Bellefeuille) 1. Arbitration Except as provided in Section 1O(b) of this Agreement, in the event of oversy, dispute or claim (including those based upon a statute, tort or public po those against individuals or other entities), arising out of or relating to (1) ement, (2) the employment relationship between the Executive and the Compan e termination of that relationship (hereafter "dispute"), the parties' exclusive rem be to submit such dispute to the dispute resolution procedures described below. s intend for all disputes to be covered by the arbitration provision contained in ndum A to the fullest extent permitted by law, and the Executive agrees to pursue dispute in an individual capacity and not as a class representative or class mem the following claims are excluded from these dispute resolution procedures: s by Executive for workers' compensation, unemployment compensation or s ility benefits; (2) claims based on any pension or welfare plan the terms of wh in an arbitration or other dispute resolution procedures; (3) claims brought utive or Company to compel arbitration pursuant to this Addendum A or to enforc ationaward;(4) claims underthe NationalLaborRelationsAct;(5) entative
action under the Private Attorney General Act ("PAGA"); and (6) any ot s which are not permitted by applicable law to be subject to a binding pre-disp ation agreement. If either party has claims against the other party that are deemed arbitrable, those claims shall be stayed and the arbitrable claims shall be resol e the stayed claims are addressed. (a) Written notice of desire to arbitrate shall describe the factual b claims asserted ("Claim"), and shall be served on the other party as set forth n 14(a) of this Agreement. If written notice of desire to arbitrate is not served wit plicable time period, the party who failed timely to serve notice will be deemed waived the right to further contest the Claim, and will be deemed to have accepted party's last stated position on the Claim. (b) The arbitration shall be administered by JAMS, Inc. (form n as Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc.) ("JAMS") pursuant to yment Arbitration Rules Procedures, which can be found & www.jamsadr.com/rules-emplovment-arbitration and which will be provided to tive upon request, and subject to JAMS Policy on Employment Arbitrat um Standards of Procedural Fairness, which will also be provided to the Execut equest.Judgment on any Award (as defined below) may
be entered in any co competent jurisdiction. The arbitration shall take place in Los Angeles, Californ thstanding anything herein to the contrary, the parties may agree to use ndent arbitrator that they mutually select and agree upon.

ADDEND (c) Any party may be represented by an attorney or other represe d by the party. (d) Each party shall have the right to take the deposition o ual and any expert witness designated by another party without the arbitrator' al. Each party also shall have the right to make requests for production of docu party. Additional discovery may be had as ordered by the arbitrator. (e) At least fourteen (14) days before the arbitration, the parties ge lists of witnesses, including any expert, and copies of all exhibits intended the arbitration. (f) The arbitrator shall have jurisdiction to hear and rule on pre-h s and is authorized to hold pre-hearing conferences by telephone or in person, or deems necessary. The arbitrator shall have the authority to resolve all i to discovery, and to entertain motions to dismiss, motions for summary judg udication, and any other pre-trial motions submitted by any party, and shall dards governing such motions under the California Rules of Civil Procedure. (g) Either party, at its expense, may arrange for and pay the cos porter to provide a stenographic record of proceedings. If both parties des cess to the stenographic record of proceedings then they shall split all such (h) The arbitrator will have no authority to: (i) adopt new Com or
procedures, (ii) modify this Agreement or existing Company pol res, wages or benefits, or (iii) in the absence of a written waiver pursua ph (j) below, hear or decide any matter that was not processed in accordance reement. The arbitrator shall have exclusive authority to resolve any C g, but not limited to, a dispute relating to the interpretation, applica ability or formation of this Agreement, or any contention that all or any part o ent is void or voidable. The arbitrator will have the authority to award any fo of remedy or damages that would be available in a court of competent jurisdi (i) Either party, in the party's sole discretion, may, in writing, wai r in part, the other's failure to follow any time limit or other requirement set fo eement, except that neither party can waive any statute oflimitation for filin The arbitration will be conducted in private, and will not be (j) or indirectly, to the public or the media. The arbitration and all inform or indirectly relating thereto (including, but not limited to, the testimony, evid ) shall be deemed Confidential Information and shall be subject to the restric in Section 9(a) of this Agreement. (k) The arbitrator, subject to the right to either party to utiliz

ADDEND l set forth the facts and reasons that support the Award. The Award shall be fin ing on the Company and the Executive. The parties agree, however, that a co petent jurisdiction has the right to set aside the decision of the arbitrator, trator, in rendering his or her award, committed an error oflaw that affected the r amages awarded. The Company will pay all administration fees associated wi (I) tration over and above those that the Executive would have to pay in a court proc the cost of arbitrator, it being the parties' intention that the Executive not be s that the Executive would not be required to bear in a court proceeding, to the the Executive would be required to pay for filing fees and transcript fees in a eeding Executive will remain responsible for such fees. Notwithstandin isions to the contrary found in such procedures, in the event of final and bi ration pursuant to this paragraph, except for the arbitrator's fees which the Com be responsible for paying, each party will be responsible for paying its own cos neys' fees in connection with the arbitration. The arbitrator shall not be authori d the prevailing party costs and attorneys' fees, except as expressly provid te. (m) The Company and the Executive understand that developme law and
legislation may affect the enforceability of arbitration provisions such a he parties' intention and desire that this Addendum A is compliant with current l ime either party seeks its enforcement. Accordingly, if any one or more o isions of this Addendum A is deemed to be unenforceable, the remaining provi continue in full force and effect in accordance with Section 14(d) of this Agree (n) Each of the parties acknowledges that he or it has carefully rea rstands this Addendum A and agrees to be bound by and comply with all of its t of the parties acknowledges such party's voluntary agreement to arbitrate claim rstands and acknowledges that by signing this Agreement, such party is giving u to a jury trial and to a trial in a court of law.

Exhibit 10.13

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as ofMay 1, 2017 by and among Broadway Financial Corporation, ("BFC"), Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. the "Bank" and, together with BFC, the "Company"), and Ruth McCloud(the Executive"). The term Company shall refer to BFC in respect of Executive's services to BFC and to the Bank in respect of the Executive's services to the Bank. WHEREAS, the Executive has served as a senior executive officer of the Company nd the Bank since June 30, 2014; and WHEREAS, the Company desires to continue to retain the Executive to serve as Senior Vice President, Chief Retail Banking Officer of the Company on the terms and onditions set forth in this Agreement, and the Executive desires to provide such services n such terms and conditions. NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and mutual covenants herein nd for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows: 1. Services, Duties and Responsibilities. (a) The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive as its Senior Vice President, Chief Retail Banking Officer during the service period fixed by Section 4 ereof (the "Service Period"). The Executive shall
report to the President and Chief xecutive Officer of BFC (the "Board") and shall have such duties and responsibilities as re consistent with the position of a senior vice president and chief retail banking officer f a bank and holding company of similar size and complexity as the Company (the Services"). The Executive's principal work location shall be at the Company's principal xecutive offices, provided, that the Executive may be required to travel as reasonably ecessary in order to perform the Executive's duties and responsibilities hereunder. (b) During the Service Period, excluding any periods of vacation and ick leave to which the Executive is entitled, the Executive shall devote substantially all of he Executive's working time, energy and attention to the performance of her duties and esponsibilities hereunder and shall faithfully and diligently endeavor to promote the usiness of the Company. During the Service Period, the Executive may not, without the rior written consent of the Board, directly or indirectly, operate, participate in the anagement, operations or control of, or act as an executive, officer, consultant, agent or epresentative of, any type of competitive business or service, provided that the Executive ay, to the extent not otherwise
prohibited by this Agreement, devote such amount of time s does not interfere with the performance of the Executive's duties under this Agreement o engaging in community and charitable activities.

(a) Base Salary. During the Service Period, the Executive shall be paid an annual base salary of $194,670.00 for the Executi ve's Services hereunder, payable in accordance with the normal and customary payroll procedures applicable to the Company's senior executives. The Executive's base salary shall be subject to increase [but not decrease], as determined by the Board in its discretion (such base salary, as in effect from time to time, the "Base Salary"). (b) Changes in Compensation and Benefits. The payment or accrual of bonuses, and the grant and vesting of any equity incentive awards, pursuant to Section 2(c) below or otherwise shall in all events be subject to EESA and the Interim Final Rule (both as defined in Section 11(a) hereof). (c) Equity Incentives. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in the Bank' s Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the "ESOP") in accordance with its terms. In addition, the Executive shall be eligible for equity-based awards pursuant to BFC's Amended and Restated 2008 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2008 Long Term Plan") of such ypes and in such amounts as shall be determined by the compensation committee of the Board (or the Board, in the absence of the compensation committee) based on the Executive's
performance for the preceding year. Each of such awards shall vest and, in the case of any stock options, become exercisable to the extent of twenty percent (20%) of the shares covered thereby, on the first anniversary of the date of grant, and an additional wenty percent (20%) of the shares covered thereby on each subsequent anniversary of the date of grant, provided that vesting will cease upon termination of Executive's Services, all as more specifically set forth in the 2008 Long-Term Plan or applicable award agreement. Any stock options granted to the Executive pursuant to the 2008 Long-Term Plan shall be exercisable by the Executive at the Executive's estate, legal representative or heirs for a period of twelve (12) months after termination of the Service Period due to the death or Disability, alias more specifically set forth in the 2008 Long-Term Plan or the applicable Award Agreement. (d) hall be eligible to Other Benefits. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Executive participate in all employee benefit plans and arrangements of the Company applicable to other senior executive officers, including, without limitation, the Bank's incentive compensation plan, the Company's 401(k) Plan with continuation of the Company's current
employee contribution matching policy, and medical, dental, life and ong-term disability insurance programs. (e) Vacation.The Executive shall be entitled paid vacation in be an ccordance with the Company's vacation policy; provided, that the Executive shall ntitled to not less than twenty (20) days of vacation in each calendar year (or ppropriately pro-rated portion thereof for partial years). The Executive shall be permitted o accrue permitted vacation days at such rate and carry over a maximum of fifteen (15) ays of such accrued unused vacation from year to year.

with an automobile allowance in the amount of $800.00 per month during the Service Period, payable in accordance with the normal and customary practices applicable to the Company's senior executives. 3. Reimbursement for Expenses. (a) Business Expenses. The Company shall promptly reimburse the Executivefor all reasonable out-of-pocketbusiness expenses, including, without limitation, travel expenses incurred by the Executive in connection with carrying out her responsibilities under this Agreement during the Service Period upon presentation of appropriate vouchers, receipts or other satisfactory evidence thereof and otherwise in accordance with applicable Company policies. (b) Memberships. The Company shall pay or reimburse the Executive or trade membership dues and fees during the Service Period in accordance with the Company's policies and procedures as in effect from time to time. 4. Service Period. (a) Term. The "Service Period" during which the Executive shall perform the Services for the Company pursuant to this Agreement means the period commencing on the date hereof and, subject to extension as set forth below, expiring at the lose of business on the third (3rd) anniversary of the date hereof in the year 2020. Prior o
December 31 of each calendar year during the Service Period, the Board shall review he Executive's performance, shall discuss the results of such review with Executive and romptly shall inform the Executive in writing whether the Board proposes to extend the Service Period for an additional year, and the results thereof shall be included in the minutes of the Board's meeting at which the same has been considered. If the Board nforms the Executive that it proposes to extend the Service Period, and the Executive ccepts such proposal, the Service Period shall be extended to end on the anniversary of he date hereof that occurs in the year immediately following the expiration date of the then xisting Service Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein shall bar the parties rom (a) extending the Service Period under this Agreement by mutual agreement or (b) ontinuing the Executive's employment by the Company without extension of this Agreement, subject to Section 4(b)(iii) below. (b) Termination.Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Service Period may be terminated at any time upon the earliest to occur of the following events or any of he events identified in Section 7 hereof: (i) Death or Disability. The Service Period shall terminate upon
he Executive's death or Disability. For this purpose, "Disability" means that either (A) he Executive is deemed disabled for purposes of any group or individual long-term isability policy maintained by the Company that covers the Executive, or (B) in the good aith judgment of the Board, the Executive is substantially unable to perform the xecutive's duties under this Agreement for more than one hundred twenty (120) days,

mental illness or injury. (ii) Termination for Cause by the Company. The Company may terminate the Service Period for Cause at any time effective upon written notice to the Executive. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Cause" shall mean the termination of the Service Period on account of (A) the Executive's failure to substantially perform the Executive's duties hereunder or as reasonably assigned to the Executive by the Board and consistent with the Executive's obligations hereunder and Executive shall not have cured such failure (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Board) within thirty (30) days after written notice from the Board; (B) the Executive's material breach of this Agreement or any material written policy of the Company and failure of the Executive to have cured such breach (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the Board) within thirty (30) days after written notice from the Board; (C) the Executive's willful violation of any law, rule, or regulation (other than traffic violations or similar offenses) or entry of a final cease- and-desist order against the Executive; (D) conviction of a felony or a plea of nolo contendere to a felony; or (E) conduct by the Executive constituting a misdemeanor nvolving a
Disqualifier (as defined below) by the Executive."Disqualifier" means (i) raud, moral turpitude, dishonesty, breach of fiduciary duty involving personal profit, organized crime or racketeering; (ii) willful violation of securities or commodities laws or egulations; (iii) willful violation of depository institution laws or regulations; (iv) willful violation of housing authority laws or regulations arising from the operations of the Bank; or (v) willful violation of the rules, regulations, codes of conduct or ethics of a self- egulatorytrade or professionalorganization. Notwithstandingthe foregoing, the Executive shall not be deemed terminated for Cause unless and until there shall have been delivered to the Executive a copy of the resolution duly adopted by the Board at a meeting of the Board called and held for that purpose (after reasonable notice to the Executive) and n opportunity for the Executive, together with counsel, to be heard before the Board), inding that, in the good faith ofthe Board, the Executive's conduct justified termination or Cause and specifying the particulars thereof in reasonable detail. (iii) Termination without Cause by the Company. The Company may terminate the Service Period without Cause. For the avoidance of doubt, "termination
without Cause" includes, without limitation, the failure by the Company for whatever eason to extend the Service Period pursuant to Section 4(a), except if the Executive refuses n writing to accept the then one (1) year extension of the Service Period. (iv) Termination by the Executive for Good Reason. The xecutive may terminate the Service Period for Good Reason within ninety (90) days ollowing the initial existence of the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason, subject to he terms and conditions ofthis Section 4(b)(iv). For purposes of this Agreement, the term Good Reason" shall mean, unless the Executive shall have consented in writing thereto, i) the Executive's demotion, loss of title in part or in whole, loss of office, or reduction of uthority, (ii) a reduction in the Executive's base salary, (iii) relocation of the Executive's rimary work location more than twenty (20) miles from 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Los Angeles, California, (iv) a material diminution of the Executive's responsibilities, or (v)

except in the event of a bona fide dispute regarding reimbursement of business expenses provided, that the Executive shall have delivered written notice to the Company, within thirty (30) days of the initial existence of the circumstances giving rise to Good Reason, of the Executive's intention to terminate the Service Period for Good Reason, which notice specifies in reasonable detail the circumstances claimed to give rise to the Executive's right to terminate the Service Period for Good Reason, and the Company shall not have cured such circumstances within thirty (30) days following the Company's receipt of such notice; provided, however, any breach by the Company of a payment obligation hereunder must be cured within five (5) days (rather than the foregoing 30 days) following the Company's receipt of such notice. If, following such thirty (30)-day period (or such five (5)-day period, as applicable), the Company has not cured such circumstances and the Executive decides to proceed with the termination of the Service Period for Good Reason, such a termination will be effected by providing the Company with a Notice of Termination, which Notice of Termination shall be effective as of the date given, without any further right to cure by the
Company. (v) Voluntary Termination by the Executive. The Executive may voluntarily terminate the Service Period (other than for Good Reason), provided that he Executive gives notice to the Company of the Executive's intent to terminate the Service Period at least sixty (60) days in advance ofthe Date of Termination. 5. Termination Procedure. (a) Notice of Termination. Any termination of the Service Period by he Company or by the Executive (other than a termination on account of the Executive's death) shall be communicated by written "Notice of Termination" to the other party in ccordance with Section 14(a) hereof. The Notice of Termination must indicate the specific ermination provision in this Agreement the party giving such notice believes to describe he circumstances applicable to such termination and shall set forth in reasonable detail the acts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of the Executive's mployment under such provision. (b) Date of Termination. "Date of Termination" shall mean (i) if the Service Period expires pursuant to Section 4(a) hereof, the date on which the expiration of he Service Period occurs; (ii) if the Service Period is terminated due to the Executive's eath or Disability, the date of the
Executive's death or the date on which the Notice of Termination is received by the Executive that the Board made its determination of Disability in accordance with Section 4(b)(i)(A) or (B) hereof; (iii) if the Company erminates the Service Period for Cause, the date on which the Notice of Termination is eceived by the Executive; (iv) if the Executive terminates the Service Period for Good eason, the date on which the Notice of Termination is given by the Executive (or such arlier date as may be agreed to by the Company); (v) if the Executive voluntarily erminates the Service Period (other than for Good Reason), the date specified in the Notice f Termination, which date shall be no earlier than sixty (60) days after the date such notice s given pursuant to Section 4(b)(v) hereof, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties; and

agreed upon by the parties, after the giving of such notice) as set forth in such Notice of Termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the party receiving a Notice of Termination notifies the other party that a dispute exists concerning the appropriate characterization of the subject termination for purposes of determining the Executive's entitlement to Accrued Obligations and Severance Payments, and any other benefits hereunder, the Date of Termination shall be the date on which the dispute shall be finally resolved whether by mutual agreement of the parties, by a binding arbitration award, or by a final non- appealable judgment or order by a court of competent jurisdiction, provided that nothing herein modifies the mandatory arbitration provisions set forth in Section 10 hereof. (c) Continuation of Payment. The Company shall continue to pay the Executive's full compensation in effect when the Notice of Termination giving rise to the dispute described in subsection (b) above was given (including, but not limited to, the Executive's then Base Salary) and continue the Executive as a participant in all employee benefit plans and arrangements of the Company in which the Executive was participating when the notice of dispute was given, until the
dispute is finally resolved in accordance with this Agreement. Amounts paid under this Section 5(c) shall not be offset against, or educe, any other amounts due to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement. 6. Rights and Obligations Upon Termination of the Service Period. (a) Termination by the Company for Disability or without Cause, or by he Executive for Good Reason. In the event of the termination of the Service Period by he Company for Disability or without Cause, or termination of the Service Period by the Executive for Good Reason, and to the extent permitted by applicable law and regulations, ncluding, without limitation, those referred to in Section 11 hereof, the Company shall pay he Executive, and the Executive shall be entitled to: (i) any unpaid portion of the Base Salary through the Date of Termination; (ii) any unreimbursed business expenses in ccordance with Section 3(a) hereof; (iii) [the rights set forth in the 2016 Stock Option Agreement, and any subsequent equity incentive awards granted pursuant to the 2008 Long-Term Plan, as the same may be amended, or any other similar plan adopted by BFC; nd (iv) any vested benefits to which the Executive is entitled under the terms of the Company's employee benefit plans and
programs, including, without limitation, the ESOP, ubject to the terms of such plans and programs (collectively the "Accrued Obligations"). n addition, the Company shall continue to pay the Executive's monthly Base Salary (i.e., ne-twelfth (l/12th) of Executive's annual Base Salary in effect as of the date immediately receding the date of termination of employment, or the date immediately prior to the initial xistence of circumstances giving rise to Good Reason, as applicable) for (i) eighteen (18) months (the "Severance Period") regardless of the then remaining portion of the Service eriod (each monthly salary continuation payment shall be deemed to be a separate nstallment for purposes of Section 409A ofthe Code) commencing with the first calendar month following the Date of Termination and (ii) the Company shall continue during the everance Period to pay the automobile allowance provided for in Sections 2(f) hereof, nd shall continue to pay the Executive for life, long-term disability, medical and dental nsurance premiums in the manner consistent with the Company's obligations to make such

in accordance with normal and customary payroll procedures applicable to the Company's senior executives, subject to Section 6(d) hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 6(a): (i) the Executive's entitlement to the Severance Payments shall be subject to and conditioned upon the Executive delivering to the Company an Irrevocable Release not later than sixty (60) days after the date of the Executive's termination of employment; (ii) if such 60-day period following the Executive's termination of employment begins in one calendar year and ends in another, the Severance Payments shall, to the extent required in order to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), commence on the first payroll date following the later of (A) the end of the calendar year in which the Executive's termination of occurs or (B) the date the Executive satisfies the Irrevocable Release and (iii) the Executive's entitlement to the Severance Payments shall be employment requirement; subject to and conditioned upon the Executive complying in all material respects with Sections 8 and 9 of this Agreement. "Irrevocable Release" means a mutual general release of claims in the form affixed hereto marked
Exhibit A (except with the date of termination of employment, the date of such Irrevocable Release and other indicated information filled n) that has been executed by the Executive and for which the revocation period under Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended, and the terms of the release have expired. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 6(a) shall be subject to the limitations of Section 11 of this Agreement. (b) Death. If the Service Period is terminated as a result of the Executive's death, the Executive or the Executive's estate or beneficiaries, as the case may e, shall be entitled to solely the Accrued Obligations. (c) Termination by the Company for Cause or by the Executive V oluntarily. If the Service Period is terminated by the Company for Cause or voluntarily y the Executive (other than for Good Reason), the Executive shall be entitled to solely the Accrued Obligations. (d) Change in Control. (i) In the event that the employment of the Executive by the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason at any time within two (2) years after a Change in Control (but only if such Change in Control also constitutes a "change in control event" within the meaning of reas. Reg.
Section 1-409A(i)(5)) has occurred, the Company shall pay to the Executive, nd the Executive shall be entitled to, a single lump sum payment of the present value, as etermined using a discount rate equal to the Applicable Federal Rate (as defined below) n effect at the time of such determination, of all of the payments provided for in Section (a), within ten (10) days of such termination. As used herein the term "Applicable ederal Rate" means the rate set forth from time to time in Table 1 of the Applicable ederal Rate Rulings of the Internal Revenue Service, or any official successor ublication, for debt instruments maturing within three years and having annual ompounding.

event with respect to the Company of a nature that (i) would be required to be reported in response to Item 5.01 of a current report filed on Form 8-K pursuant to Section 13 or IS(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act") as in effect on the date of this Agreement; or (ii) results in any person acquiring control of the Bank or the Company within the meaning of the Home Owners' Loan Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the "FRB") thereunder, (provided, that in applying the definition of change in control as set forth under such rules and regulations, the Board shall substitute its judgment for that of the FRB); and, without limitation, such an acquisition of control shall be deemed to have occurred at such time as (A) any "person" (as that term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act and the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") thereunder, including any such persons that may be deemed to be acting in concert with respect to the Bank or the Company, or the acquisition, ownership or voting of Bank or Company securities) is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the
Exchange Act and the regulations of the SEC thereunder, directly or indirectly, of securities ofthe Bank or the Company representing fifty percent (50%) or more ofthe Bank's or the Company's outstanding securities except for any securities purchased by any ax qualified employee benefit plan of the Company or the Bank; or (B) individuals who constitute the Board as of the date of this Agreement (the "Incumbent Board") cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board, provided that any person becoming a director subsequent to the date hereof whose election was approved by a vote of at least hree-quarters (3/4) of the directors then comprising the Incumbent Board, or whose nomination for election by the Company's stockholders was approved by a nominating committee serving under an Incumbent Board, shall be, for purposes of this clause (B), considered as though such person were a member of the Incumbent Board; or (C) a plan of iquidation, reorganization, merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all the assets of the Bank or the Company or similar transaction in which the Bank or the Company is not the resulting entity is approved by the Board and the stockholders of the Company or otherwise occurs; or (D)
solicitations of stockholders of the Company, by someone other han the Incumbent Board of the Company, seeking stockholder approval of a plan of eorganization, merger or consolidation of the Company or Bank or a similar transaction with one or more corporations as a result of which the outstanding shares of the Company's oting common stock are exchanged for or converted into cash or property or securities ot issued by the Bank or the Company shall be distributed; or (E) a tender offer is made or twenty percent (20%) or more of the voting securities of the Bank or the Company. 7. Other Termination Provisions. (a) If the Executive is suspended and/or temporarily prohibited from articipating in the conduct of the Company's affairs by a notice served under section (e)(3) or (g)(l) ofthe Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(e)(3) or (g)(l)), the Company's obligations under this Agreement shall be suspended as of the date of service nless stayed by appropriate proceedings.If the charges in the notice are dismissed or therwise withdrawn, the Company shall (but subject in all events to the requirements of ection 409A of the Code) (i) pay the Executive all of the compensation withheld while

its obligations which were suspended. (b) If the Executive is removed and/or permanently prohibited from participating in the conduct of the Company's affairs by an order issued under section 8(e)(4) or (g)(l) ofthe Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. 1818(e)(4) or (g)(l)), all obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall terminate as of the effective date of the order, but vested rights of the Executive shall not be affected. (c) If the Company is in default (as=the term "default" is defined in section 3(x)(l) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. 1813(x)(l )), all obligations under this Agreement shall terminate as of the date of default, but vested rights of the Executive shall not be affected. 8. Non-Solicitation. (a) During the period of the Executive's employment by the Company, whether pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise, and for the twelve (12) -month period following the termination of the Executive's employment with the Company for any not, without the written consent of the Company, directly or eason, the Executive will ndirectly: (i) influence or attempt to influence any customer of the Company or any of its affiliates to discontinue its use of the Company's (or such affiliate's) services or to divert such business to
any other person, firm or corporation; provided, h owever, a broad and general advertisement or solicitation not specifically targeting or ntending to target customers of the Company or any of its affiliates shall not be deemed a violation of this Section 8; or (ii) interfere with, disrupt or attempt to disrupt the relationship, ontractual or otherwise, between the Company or any of its affiliates and any of its espective employees, customers, suppliers, principals, distributors, lessors or licensors. Efforts by the Executive, whether direct or indirect, (A) to solicit or assist any other person r entity in soliciting any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates to perform ervices for any entity (other than the Company or any of its affiliates) or (B) to encourage ny employee of the Company, or any of its affiliates to leave their employment with the Company or any of its affiliates shall be in violation ofthis Section 8. A person's response o a broad and general advertisement or solicitation not specifically targeting or intending o target employees of the Company or any of its affiliates shall not be deemed a violation ofthis Section 8. (b) In the event the Executive materially breaches any ofthe provisions ontained in Section 8(a) hereof and the Company seeks
compliance with such provisions y judicial proceedings, the time period during which the Executive is restricted by such rovisions shall be extended by the time during which the Executive has been in violation f any such provision and any period of litigation required to enforce the Executive's bligations under this Agreement.

Agreement be enforced as written. However, if one or more of the provisions contained in Section 8 shall for any reason be held to be unenforceable because of the duration or scope of such provision or the area covered thereby, the Executive and the Company agree that the court making such determination shall have the full power to reform, by "blue penciling" or any other means, the duration, scope and/or area of such provision and in its reformed form such provision shall then be enforceable and shall be binding on the parties. 9. Confidentiality; Non-Disclosure. (a) The Executive hereby agrees that, during the Service Period and thereafter, he will hold in strict confidence any proprietary or Confidential Information related to the Company or any of its affiliates. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Confidential Information" shall mean all information of the Company or any of its affiliates (in whatever form) that is not generally known to the public, including without limitation any inventions, processes, methods of distribution, customer lists or trade secrets.Nothing herein prohibits the Executive from reporting possible violations of ederal law or regulation to any federal, state or local governmental agency, commission or entity
(collectively, "Governmental Agencies"), including, but not limited to, the Department of Justice, the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Congress, and the nspector General, or making other disclosures that are protected under the whistleblower provisions of federal law or regulations. Moreover, nothing herein limits the Executive's ability to communicate with any Governmental Agencies or otherwise participate in any nvestigation or proceeding that may be conducted by any Governmental Agency. (b) The Executive hereby agrees that upon the termination of the Service Period, the Executive shall not take, without the prior written consent of the Company, any business plans, strategic plans or reports or other document (in whatever orm) of the Company or any of its affiliates, which is of a confidential nature relating to he Company or any of its affiliates. 10. Dispute Resolution; Injunctive Relief. (a) Except for claims for injunctive relief pursuant to Section IO(b) elow, the parties shall resolve their disputes by arbitration, all as more specifically set orth in Addendum A affixed hereto and incorporated by reference herein. This Section 1O(a) shall not preclude parties from seeking provisional remedies in aid of arbitration from court having
appropriate jurisdiction, nor shall it limit the rights of the Company set forth n Section 1O(b) hereof. (b) The parties hereto agree that it would not be possible to measure in money the damages that would be suffered by the Company and its affiliates in the event hat the Executive were to breach any of the restrictive covenants set forth in Sections 8 nd 9 hereof (the "Restrictive Covenants"). In the event that the Executive breaches any f the Restrictive Covenants, the Company shall be entitled to an injunction restraining the xecutive from violating such Restrictive Covenants (without posting any bond). If the ompany shall institute any action or proceeding to enforce any such Restrictive Covenant,

has an adequate remedy at law and agrees not to assert in any such action or proceeding the claim or defense that the Company or any of its affiliates has an adequate remedy at law. 11. TARP and Golden Parachute Restrictions. (a) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary: (i) any payments made to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise are subject to and conditioned upon their compliance with 12 U.S.C. 1828(k) and 12 C.F.R. Part 359 regarding golden parachute and indemnification payments; (ii) no annual bonus, incentive compensation, severance pay, or golden parachute payments or benefits shall be paid, provided, or accrued under this Agreement or otherwise to the extent it would violate Section Ill of Emergency Economic Stabilization Act of 2008, as amended ("EESA"), and the Interim Final Rule (as hereinafter defined); (iii) no payment or benefit shall be paid or provided under this Agreement or otherwise to the extent that it would violate any agreement between or among the Company and the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency or any other governmental entity or agency, provided that the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
negotiate the authority and right to make all payments and provide all benefits to the Executive as and when contemplated by this Agreement; and (iv) subject to, and in accordance with, the interim final rule promulgated pursuant to Sections 1Ol(a), 1Ol(c)(5), and Ill of EESA (the "Interim Final Rule"), the Executive shall be required to repay to he Company the amount of any bonus payment (as defined in the Interim Final Rule) made during the TARP period (as defined in the Interim Final Rule) to the extent that the bonus payment was based on materially inaccurate financial statements (which includes, but is not limited to, statements of earnings, revenues, or gains) or an y other materially inaccurate performance metric criteria. (b) In the event that the amounts and benefits payable pursuant to this Agreement, when added to other amounts and benefits which may become payable to the Executive by the Company and any affiliated company, are such that the Executive becomes subject to the excise tax provisions of Section 4999 of the Code relating to "excess arachute payments" as defined for purposes of Section 280G of the Code, the Company hall pay the Executive such additional amount or amounts as will result in the Executive's etention of
a net amount, after the payment of all federal, state and local excise, mployment and income taxes on such payments and the value of such benefits, equal to he net amount the Executive would have retained had the initially calculated payment and enefits not been subject to such excise tax provisions.For purposes of the preceding entence, the Executive shall be deemed to be subject to the highest marginal federal, elevant state and relevant local tax rate applicable to an individual resident in Los Angeles, California. All calculations required to be made under this subsection shall be made by the Company 'sindependent public accountants,subject to the rightof Executive's epresentative to review the same. All such amounts required to be paid by this Section hall be paid at the time any withholding may be required by the Company, or any taxes may be required to be paid by the Executive, under applicable law, and any additional

ublic accountants. In the event any amounts paid hereunder are subsequently determined to be in error, due to estimates required for calculation of such payments being proving to be inaccurate or otherwise, the parties hereto agree to reimburse each other to correct such error, as appropriate, and to pay interest thereon at the applicable federal rate (as detem1ined pursuant to Code Section 1274) for the period of time such erroneous amount remained outstanding and unreimbursed. The parties hereto recognize that the actual implementation of the provisions of this Section 11(b) are complex and agree to deal with each other in good faith to resolve any questions or disagreements arising with respect hereto. 12. Section 409A. This Agreement is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code (including the exceptions thereto), to the extent applicable, and the parties' Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with such requirements. If any provision contained in the Agreement conflicts with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code (or the exemptions intended to apply under the Agreement), the Agreement shall be deemed to be reformed to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code (or the applicable
exemptions thereto). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, for purposes of detennining the Executive's entitlement to the Severance Payments, i) the Service Period shall not be deemed to have terminated unless and until the Executive ncurs a "separation from service" as defined in Section 409A of the Code, and (ii) the term Date of Termination" shall mean the effective date of the Executive's separation from ervice. Reimbursement of any expenses provided for in this Agreement shall be made romptly upon presentation of documentation in accordance with the Company's policies as applicable) with respect thereto as in effect from time to time (but in no event later than he end of calendar quarter following the year such expenses were incurred); provided, owever, in no event shall the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement hereunder uring a calendar year affect the expenses eligible for reimbursement in any other taxable ear. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, if a payment or benefit under this Agreement is due to a "separation from service" for purposes of the rules under Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-3(i)(2) (payments to specified employees upon a separation from service) and he Executive is determined to be a "specified
employee" (as determined under Treas. Reg. § 1.409A-l(i) and related Company procedures), such payment shall, to the extent ecessary to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, be made on the ater of (x) the date specified by the foregoing provisions of this Agreement or (y) the date hat is six (6) months after the date of the Executive's separation from service (or, if earlier, he date of the Executive's death). Any installment payments that are delayed pursuant to his Section 12 shall be accumulated and paid in a lump sum on the first day of the seventh month following the Date of Termination (or, if earlier, upon the Executive's death) and he remaining installment payments shall begin on such date in accordance with the chedule provided in this Agreement. The Severance Payments are intended not to onstitute deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code to the extent such everance Payments are covered by (i) the "short-term deferral exception" set forth in reas. Reg. § 1.409A-l(b)(4), (ii) the "two times severance exception" set forth in Treas. eg. § 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), or (iii) the "limited payments exception" set forth in Treas. Reg. 1.409A-l(b)(9)(v)(D). The short-term deferral exception, the two times severance

in order of payment in such manner as results in the maximum exclusion of such Severance Payments from treatment as deferred compensation under Section 409A of the Code. Each installment of the Severance Payments shall be deemed to be a separate payment for purposes of Section 409A ofthe Code. 13. Legal Fees. The Company shall promptly reimburse the Executive for her reasonable legal fees incurred in connection with the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement. 14. Miscellaneous. (a) Any notice or other communication required or permitted under this Agreement shall be effective only if it is in writing and shall be deemed to be given when delivered personally or one (1) day after it is sent by a reputable overnight courier service (with evidence of delivery) and, in each case, addressed as follows (or if it is sent through any other method agreed upon by the parties): If to BFC: Broadway Financial Corporation Attn: Chief Executive Officer 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500 Los Angeles, CA 90036 If to the Banlc Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. Attn: ChiefExecutive Officer 5055 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 500 Los Angeles, CA 90036 If to the Executive: Ruth McCloud 27814 Calle Margarita Agoura, CA 91301 r to such other
address as any party hereto may designate by notice to the others. (b) This Agreement together with the Broadway Financial Corporation Award Agreement dated February 24,2016 (the "2016 Stock Option Agreement"), and the ights of the Executive pursuant to the ESOP shall constitute the entire agreement among he parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersede and replace any nd all prior tmderstandings or agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof. (c) Only an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto may mend this Agreement, and any provision hereof may be waived only by an instrument in

is sought. The failure of any party hereto at any time to require the performance by any other party hereto of any provision hereof shall in no way affect the full right to require such performance at any time thereafter, nor shall the waiver by any party hereto of a breach of any provision hereof be taken or held to be a waiver of any succeeding breach of such provision or a waiver of the provision itself or a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement. (d) In the event that any provlSlon is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, such determination shall in no way affect any other provisions of this Agreement, or the validity or enforcement of the remainder of this Agreement, and any provisions(s) thus affected shall be modified to the extent necessary o bring the affected provision(s) within the applicable requirements of the then-current aw. (e) The Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to arrange for any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company to assume this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would have been required to perform it if no such succession
had taken place. As used in this Agreement, the term "Company" shall mean the Company and any such successor (or uccessors) that assumesthis Agreement, by operation of law or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such assignment or assumption shall relieve the Company of any obligations hereunder. (f) The parties hereto shall cooperate with each other and take all ctions, including obtaining, any governmental or stockholder approval, that any of them may determine in good faith to be required to carry out the terms of this Agreement. (g) The Company may withhold from any amounts payable to the xecutive hereunder all federal, state, city or other taxes that the Company may reasonably etermine are required to be withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regulation (it being nderstood, that the Executive shall be responsible for payment of all taxes in respect of he payments and benefits provided herein). (h) In the event that the Executive shall perform services for the Bank r any other affiliate or subsidiary of BFC, any compensation or benefits provided to the xecutive by such other employer shall be applied to offset the obligations of BFC ereunder, it being intended that this Agreement set forth the aggregate compensation and
enefits payable to the Executive for all services to the Company and all of its affiliates nd subsidiaries. BFC shall reimburse the Bank for compensation or benefits paid or rovided by the Bank to the Executive to the extent attributable to the Executive's erformance of services for BFC in accordance with the applicable reimbursement policies f BFC and the Bank.

ith the laws of the State of California, without reference to its principles of conflicts o law. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of (j) which shall be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same nstrument. A facsimile of a signature shall be deemed to be and have the effect of an original signature. (k) The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not be a part of or control or affect the meaning of any provision hereof. [Signatures on next page]

s of the date first written above. Broadway Financial Corporation Name: Title: Broadway Federal Bank, f.s.b. Z5R-19 b 5:ffl& Name: Title: 19 y,vG" /'tfl!!8;,_bc: <Jr I eE Signature ofExecutive Ruth McCloud Print or type name of Executive

TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (Executive: Ruth McCloud) 1. Arbitration Except as provided in Section 1O(b) of this Agreement, in the event versy, dispute or claim (including those based upon a statute, tort or public ose against individuals or other entities), arising out of or relating to ( ment, (2) the employment relationship between the Executive and the Compa termination of that relationship (hereafter "dispute"), the parties' exclusive r e to submit such dispute to the dispute resolution procedures described belo intend for all disputes to be covered by the arbitration provision contained dum A to the fullest extent permitted by law, and Executive agrees to purs ispute in an individual capacity and not as a class representative or class m the following claims are excluded from these dispute resolution procedure by Executive for workers' compensation, unemployment compensation o ity benefits; (2) claims based on any pension or welfare plan the terms of n an arbitration or other dispute resolution procedures; (3) claims brought tive or the Company to compel arbitration pursuant to this Addendum A or to e itration award; (4) claims under the National Labor Relations Act; (5 entative action under the Private Attorney General Act ("PAGA");
and (6) any which are not permitted by applicable law to be subject to a binding pre-d tion agreement.If either party has claims against the other party that are d be arbitrable, those claims shall be stayed and the arbitrable claims shall be res the stayed claims are addressed. (a) Written notice of desire to arbitrate shall describe the factual claims asserted ("Claim"), and shall be served on the other party as set fo n 14(a) of this Agreement. If written notice of desire to arbitrate is not served plicable time period, the party who failed timely to serve notice will be deem aived the right to further contest the Claim, and will be deemed to have acc er party's last stated position on the Claim. (b) The arbitration shall be administered by JAMS, Inc. (for as the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services, Inc.) ("JAMS") pursuant yment Arbitration Rules Procedures, which can be foun & www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration and which will be provided ive upon request, and subject to JAMS Policy on Employment Arbitration Min rds of Procedural Fairness, which will also be provided to the Executive t. Judgment on any Award (as defined below) may be entered in any court h tent jurisdiction. The arbitration shall take place in Los Angeles, Calif
hstanding anything herein to the contrary, the parties may agree to u ndent arbitrator that they mutually select and agree upon.

ed by the party. (d) Each party shall have the right to take the deposition of on dual and any expert witness designated by another party without the arbitrator's prio val. Each party also shall have the right to make requests for production of document party. Additional discovery may be had as ordered by the arbitrator. (e) At least fourteen (14) days before the arbitration, the parties mus nge lists of witnesses, including any expert, and copies of all exhibits intended to b t the arbitration. The arbitrator shall have jurisdiction to hear and rule on pre-hearing (f) es and is authorized to hold pre-hearing conferences by telephone or in person, a bitrator deems necessary. The arbitrator shall have the authority to resolve all issues d to discovery, and to entertain motions to dismiss, motions for summary judgmen djudication, and any other pre-trial motions submitted by any party, and shall apply ndards governing such motions under the California Rules of Civil Procedure. (g) Either party, at its expense, may arrange for and pay the cost of a reporter to provide a stenographic record of proceedings. If both parties desire to ccess to the stenographic record of proceedings then they shall split all such costs . (h) The arbitrator will have no authority to: (i) adopt new
Company es or procedures, (ii) modify this Agreement or existing Company policies ures, wages or benefits, or (iii) in the absence of a written waiver pursuant to aph G) below, hear or decide any matter that was not processed in accordance with greement. The arbitrator shall have exclusive authority to resolve any Claim ing, but not limited to, a dispute relating to the interpretation, applicability eability or formation of this Agreement, or any contention that all or any part of this ment is void or voidable. The arbitrator will have the authority to award any form or t of remedy or damages that would be available in a court of competent jurisdiction. (i) Either party, in the party's sole discretion, may, in writing, waive, ole or in part, the other's failure to follow any time limit or other requirement set n this Agreement, except that neither party can waive any statute of limitation for the Claim. The arbitration will be conducted in private, and will not be open, (j) y or indirectly, to the public or the media. The arbitration and all information directly irectly relating thereto (including, but not limited to, the testimony, evidence or shall be deemed Confidential Information and shall be subject to the restrictions set n Section 9(a) of this Agreement. (k) The
arbitrator, subject to the right to either party to utilize the l appeal process provided for in the JAMS rules with respect to any initial judgment

mpetent jurisdiction has the right to set aside the decision of the arbitrator, i itrator, in rendering his or her award, committed an error of law that affected the rem damages awarded. (1) The Company will pay all administration fees associated with itration over and above those that the Executive would have to pay in a court procee the cost of arbitrator, it being the parties' intention that the Executive not bear ts that Executive would not be required to bear in a court proceeding, to the extent Executive would be required to pay for filing fees and transcript fees in a c ceeding the Executive will remain responsible for such fees. Notwithstanding visions to the contrary found in such procedures, in the event of final and bin itration pursuant to this paragraph, except for the arbitrator's fees which the Com ll be responsible for paying, each party will be responsible for paying its own costs rneys' fees in connection with the arbitration. The arbitrator shall not be authorize ard the prevailing party costs and attorneys' fees, except as expressly provided ute. (m) The Company and the Executive understand that developmen e law and legislation may affect the enforceability of arbitration provisions such as s the parties' intention and desire that this Addendum A is
compliant with current he time either party seeks its enforcement.Accordingly, if any one or more of visions of this Addendum A is deemed to be unenforceable, the remaining provis ll continue in full force and effect in accordance with Section 14(d) of this Agreem (n) Each of the parties acknowledges that she or it has carefully understands this Addendum A and agrees to be bound by and comply with all o ms.Each of the parties acknowledges such party's voluntary agreement to arbi ms and understands and acknowledges that by signing this Agreement, such par ng up the right to a jury trial and to a trial in a court of law.

Exhibit 10.14

BROADWAY PLAN DOCUMENT B A N K FEDERAL INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN PURPOSE The purpose of the Incentive Compensation Plan ("Plan") is to provide a financial incentive to key exempt employees to improve Broadway Federal Bank's (Bank) financial performance consistent with safe and sound policies and practices. Incentives are based on the achievement of board approved annual objectives consistent with the Bank's long-term goals. ELIGIBLITY Exempt employees of the Bank are eligible to participate in the Plan. Target award percentages are based on position and scope of responsibility. Positions at the non-exempt level do not have target awards. Rather, they are eligible for one-time exceptional performance awards that can be granted at the end of the year or at the conclusion of a project. A minimum of three months continuous service with the Bank is necessary in order to be eligible for an award under the Plan. PLAN ADMINISTRATION The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors ("Committee") administers the Plan, which approves: (1) plan participants, (2) bonus award levels, (3) Bank and individual objectives and target performance levels. The Committee also approves final incentive
payout awards for the Senior Executive Officers (SEOs). The CEO of the Bank is delegated the responsibility for the day-to day administration of the Plan, the objectives and the awards for eligible employees. PERFORMANCE OBJECTIVES Awards under the Plan are based on achievement of annual Bank objectives and individual objectives. The weighting of Bank objectives and individual objectives for eligible positions is as follows: Approved by Board 02-2019 Bonus Opportunity for: Bank Objectives Individual Objectives Category 1 •CEO 100% 0% Category 2 • SVP/CFO • SVP/CLO • SVP/ CRBO 80% 20%

BROADWAY FEDERALB A N K PLAN DOCUMENT Counsel Manager Manager Bank objectives are specified in advance of the Plan year by the CEO and approved by the Compensation Committee and the Board. For purposes of calculating performance against the objectives for any year, profit (Net Earnings) is after-tax net income, as shown in Broadway Financial Corporation's (Company) Consolidated Statement of Income for such year, including an amount equal to the after-tax charges for awards under this Plan for such year. Individual objectives are established for each participating employee, depending on annual goals for the individual's position, and typically include profit performance, regulatory compliance, cost performance targets, as well as other performance indicators related to the position (e.g. employee development, teamwork and quality). Approved by Board 02-2019 Bonus Opportunity for: Bank Objectives Individual Objectives Category 3 • FVP/ Chief Auditor • FVP/ Controller • Corporate Secretary/General • 70% 30% Category 4 • VP/ Chief Credit Officer • VP/Internal Asset Review • Information Technology Manager • VP/Retail Deposits Operations • VP/Administration & Community Development Manager •
VP/Loan Service Manager 50% 50% Category 5 • VP/Training Manager • AVP/Human Resources Manager • AVP/BSA Manager 20% 80%

BROADWAY FEDERALB A N K PLAN DOCUMENT THRESHOLDS Thresholds establish minimum performance to activate the Plan. The minimum financial threshold for activation of the Plan is 80% of the Board approved Consolidated Net Earnings (Net Earnings) for the Plan year. Target is 100% of Board approved Net Earnings and Maximum (cap) is 120% of Board approved Net Earnings. The minimum regulatory threshold for activation of the Plan is to maintain a "safety and soundness" examination rating of "3" or better and the maintenance of an asset quality rating of "3" or better. FINAL AWARDS Final awards are paid in cash following the end of the Plan year. Individual employee awards are calculated against the achievement of Bank and Individual objectives as shown below (as% of base salary). The current Bonus Opportunity schedule, which shall be updated and approved by the Compensation Committee on an annual basis, follows Approved by Board 02-2019 Bonus Opportunity for: Minimum (80% of net earninqs) Target (100% of net earninas) Maximum (120% of net earnings) Category 1 CEO 25% 40% 65% Category 2 SVP/CFO SVP/CLO SVP/CRBO 20% 35% 50% Category 3 FVP/Chief Auditor, FVP/Controller
FVP/Loan Service Manager VP/Corporate Secretary/General Counsel 15% 25% 40% Category 4 VP/ Chief Credit Officer VP/Internal Asset Review Manager VP/Information Technology VP/Retail Deposit Operations Manager VP/Administration and 10% 20% 30%

BROADWAY FEDERALB A N K PLAN DOCUMENT Sample bonus calculation worksheets are shown on pages 7-9. TROUBLED ASSET RELIEF PROGRAM PROVISIONS (TARP) SEQs and the twenty (20) next highest paid employees of the Bank shall meet annually with the Chairman of the Compensation Committee and state their intent to comply with the Treasury's regulations concerning "unnecessary and excessive risk" taking and sign acknowledgement and claim waiver agreements. Refusal to sign by a SEQ or any designated employee will remove them from consideration as a Plan Participant. SEOs and the twenty highest paid employees shall be subject to "clawback" provision that states: In the case where, due to the restatement of financial statements or the revision of any criteria underlying the calculation of any SEQs incentive compensation, which would decrease the SEQ's award for the current year or any previous year, the Bank shall have the right and obligation to "clawback", or recapture from each affected SEQ the full amount of any overpayment. Incentive compensation bonus shall not be paid to the CEO as long as TARP CPP funds have not been repaid in full. DISCRETIONARY AWARDS As part of this Plan
design, an additional discretionary bonus reserve equal to 10% of the total bonus accrual for the Plan year will be available to recognize exempt employees who have demonstrated outstanding individual performance. The minimum award is $500 and the maximum award is $10,000. The number and amount of discretionary awards will be determined by the number of eligible employees, the total amount of the bonus reserve, and individual employee performance. Approved by Board 02-2019 Community Development Manager Category 5 AVP/ Human Resources Manager VPffraining Manager AVP/BSA Officer 5% 15% 20%

BROADWAY PLAN DOCUMENT FEDERALBA N K Discretionary awards based on individual performance are available under the Plan, even if threshold minimum net earnings are not achieved, except for employment categories "1" and "2" that require board approval. BONUS CONDITIONS The Bank will not make any bonus or incentive payments if any of the following conditions exist: 1. 2. The Bank is subject to any adverse corrective regulatory action. The Bank is less than "Well Capitalized", according to Prompt Corrective Action Standards. The Bank receives a composite rating of "4" or worse, or a component rating of "4" or worse for "asset quality" at any regulatory examination. 3. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PROVISION Participants can elect to defer up to 100% of the final award. The deferral amount is credited pursuant to the Board approved Deferred Compensation Plan. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT Unless determined otherwise by the Committee, a Participant who terminates employment with the Bank for any reason except Bank-approved retirement, permanent disability, or death prior to the end of a year is not eligible to receive a final award for that year. Unless determined otherwise by the Committee, in
the case of Bank-approved retirement, permanent disability, or death during the year, the eligibility of the Participant (or the participant's surviving spouse or other beneficiary in the case of death) to receive an award for that year remains in effect. In general, awards made in such cases are reduced pro rata based on the number of months of service during the year. In the event of competitive activity, failure to cooperate with the Bank or to engage in conduct inimical to the best interest of the Bank, the Committee may, at its discretion, remove a participant from the Plan. Approved by Board 02-2019

BROADWAY PLAN DOCUMENT FEDERALBANK DEFINITIONS The "Plan" Incentive Compensation Plan of Broadway Federal Bank "Participants" All active exempt employees of Broadway Federal Bank with a minimum of 3 months continuous service. The "Bank" Broadway Federal Bank The "Committee" The Compensation/Benefits Committee of the Board of Directors "Individual Objectives" Individual objectives are established at the beginning of each annual performance period by each employee and his/her manager Senior Executive Officer Principal executive officer of the Bank, Chief Financial Officer,Chief Loan Banking Officer. Officer and the Chief Retail Approved by Board 02-2019

Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statements on Form S-1 (No. 333-192451 and
No. 333-201233) and Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-163150, No. 333-218929 and
No. 333-229415) of our report dated March 29, 2019 relating to the consolidated financial statements of Broadway
Financial Corporation and Subsidiary, which report appears in the Form 10-K of Broadway Financial Corporation
for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
San Francisco, California
March 29, 2019

Exhibit 31.1
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Broadway Financial Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

March 29, 2019
/s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 31.2
SECTION 302 CERTIFICATION
I, Brenda Battey, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Broadway Financial Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:

March 29, 2019
/s/ Brenda J. Battey
Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION

The following statement is provided by the undersigned to accompany the foregoing Report on
Form 10-K pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed filed pursuant to any provision of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 or any other securities law.
The undersigned certifies that the foregoing Report on Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. Section 78) and that the information
contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Broadway Financial Corporation as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Date: March 29, 2019

By: /s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 32.2
SECTION 906 CERTIFICATION

The following statement is provided by the undersigned to accompany the foregoing Report on
Form 10-K pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed filed pursuant to any provision of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 or any other securities law.
The undersigned certifies that the foregoing Report on Form 10-K fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. Section 78) and that the information
contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Broadway Financial Corporation as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Date: March 29, 2019

By: /s/ Brenda J. Battey
Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 99.4
TARP CERTIFICATION FOR YEAR 2018
I, Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw, certify, based on my knowledge, that:
(i)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has discussed, reviewed, and evaluated with
senior risk officers at least every six months during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a
TARP period, senior executive officer (“SEO”) compensation plans and employee compensation plans and the risks
these plans pose to Broadway Financial Corporation;

(ii)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has identified and limited during any part of the
most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period any features in the SEO compensation plans that could
lead SEOs to take unnecessary and excessive risks that could threaten the value of Broadway Financial Corporation
and identified any features in the employee compensation plans that pose risks to Broadway Financial Corporation
and limited those features to ensure that Broadway Financial Corporation is not unnecessarily exposed to risks;

(iii)

The compensation committee has reviewed, at least every six months during any part of the most recently
completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, the terms of each employee compensation plan and identified the
features in the plan that could encourage the manipulation of reported earnings of Broadway Financial Corporation
to enhance the compensation of an employee, and has limited these features that would encourage the manipulation
of reported earnings of Broadway Financial Corporation;

(iv)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation will certify to the reviews of the SEO
compensation plans and employee compensation plans required under (i) and (iii) above;

(v)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation will provide a narrative description of how it
limited during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period the features in:
a) SEO compensation plans that could lead SEOs to take unnecessary and excessive risks that could threaten
the value of Broadway Financial Corporation;
b) Employee compensation plans that unnecessarily expose Broadway Financial Corporation to risks; and
c)

Employee compensation plans that could encourage the manipulation of reported earnings of Broadway
Financial Corporation to enhance the compensation of an employee;

(vi)

Broadway Financial Corporation has required that bonus payments to SEOs or any of the next twenty most highly
compensated employees, as defined in the regulations and guidance established under section 111 of EESA (bonus
payments), be subject to a recovery or “clawback” provision during any part of the most recently completed fiscal
year that was a TARP period if the bonus payments were based on materially inaccurate financial statements or any
other materially inaccurate performance metric criteria;

(vii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has prohibited any golden parachute payment, as defined in the regulations and
guidance established under section 111 of EESA, to a SEO or any of the next five most highly compensated
employees during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(viii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has limited bonus payments to its applicable employees in accordance with section
111 of EESA and the regulations and guidance established thereunder during any part of the most recently
completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(ix)

Broadway Financial Corporation and its employees have complied with the excessive or luxury expenditures policy,
as defined in the regulations and guidance established under section 111 of EESA, during any part of the most
recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, and that any expenses requiring approval of the board of
directors, a committee of the board of directors, an SEO, or an executive officer with a similar level of
responsibility were properly approved;

(x)

Broadway Financial Corporation will permit a non-binding shareholder resolution in compliance with any
applicable Federal securities rules and regulations on the disclosures provided under the Federal securities laws
related to SEO compensation paid or accrued during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a
TARP period;

(xi)

Broadway Financial Corporation will disclose the amount, nature, and justification for the offering, during any part
of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, of any perquisites, as defined in the regulations
and guidance established under section 111 of EESA, whose total value exceeds $25,000 for each employee subject
to the bonus payment limitations identified in paragraph (viii);

(xii)

Broadway Financial Corporation will disclose whether Broadway Financial Corporation, the board of directors of
Broadway Financial Corporation, or the compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has engaged
during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period a compensation consultant; and
the services the compensation consultant or any affiliate of the compensation consultant provided during this
period;

(xiii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has prohibited the payment of any gross-ups, as defined in the regulations and
guidance established under section 111 of EESA, to the SEOs and the next twenty most highly compensated
employees during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(xiv)

Broadway Financial Corporation has substantially complied with all other requirements related to employee
compensation that are provided in the agreement between Broadway Financial Corporation and Treasury, including
any amendments;

(xv)

Broadway Financial Corporation has submitted to Treasury a complete and accurate list of the SEOs and the twenty
next most highly compensated employees for the current fiscal year, with the non-SEOs ranked in descending order
of level of annual compensation, and with the name, title, and employer of each SEO and most highly compensated
employee identified; and

(xvi)

I understand that a knowing and willful false or fraudulent statement made in connection with this certification may
be punished by fine, imprisonment, or both.

Date:

March 29, 2019
/s/ Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Wayne-Kent A. Bradshaw
Chief Executive Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

Exhibit 99.5
TARP CERTIFICATION FOR YEAR 2018
I, Brenda Battey, certify, based on my knowledge, that:
(i)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has discussed, reviewed, and evaluated with
senior risk officers at least every six months during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a
TARP period, senior executive officer (“SEO”) compensation plans and employee compensation plans and the risks
these plans pose to Broadway Financial Corporation;

(ii)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has identified and limited during any part of the
most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period any features in the SEO compensation plans that could
lead SEOs to take unnecessary and excessive risks that could threaten the value of Broadway Financial Corporation
and identified any features in the employee compensation plans that pose risks to Broadway Financial Corporation
and limited those features to ensure that Broadway Financial Corporation is not unnecessarily exposed to risks;

(iii)

The compensation committee has reviewed, at least every six months during any part of the most recently
completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, the terms of each employee compensation plan and identified the
features in the plan that could encourage the manipulation of reported earnings of Broadway Financial Corporation
to enhance the compensation of an employee, and has limited these features that would encourage the manipulation
of reported earnings of Broadway Financial Corporation;

(iv)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation will certify to the reviews of the SEO
compensation plans and employee compensation plans required under (i) and (iii) above;

(v)

The compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation will provide a narrative description of how it
limited during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period the features in:
a) SEO compensation plans that could lead SEOs to take unnecessary and excessive risks that could threaten
the value of Broadway Financial Corporation;
b) Employee compensation plans that unnecessarily expose Broadway Financial Corporation to risks; and
c)

Employee compensation plans that could encourage the manipulation of reported earnings of Broadway
Financial Corporation to enhance the compensation of an employee;

(vi)

Broadway Financial Corporation has required that bonus payments to SEOs or any of the next twenty most highly
compensated employees, as defined in the regulations and guidance established under section 111 of EESA (bonus
payments), be subject to a recovery or “clawback” provision during any part of the most recently completed fiscal
year that was a TARP period if the bonus payments were based on materially inaccurate financial statements or any
other materially inaccurate performance metric criteria;

(vii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has prohibited any golden parachute payment, as defined in the regulations and
guidance established under section 111 of EESA, to a SEO or any of the next five most highly compensated
employees during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(viii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has limited bonus payments to its applicable employees in accordance with section
111 of EESA and the regulations and guidance established thereunder during any part of the most recently
completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(ix)

Broadway Financial Corporation and its employees have complied with the excessive or luxury expenditures policy,
as defined in the regulations and guidance established under section 111 of EESA, during any part of the most
recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, and that any expenses requiring approval of the board of
directors, a committee of the board of directors, an SEO, or an executive officer with a similar level of
responsibility were properly approved;

(x)

Broadway Financial Corporation will permit a non-binding shareholder resolution in compliance with any
applicable Federal securities rules and regulations on the disclosures provided under the Federal securities laws
related to SEO compensation paid or accrued during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a
TARP period;

(xi)

Broadway Financial Corporation will disclose the amount, nature, and justification for the offering, during any part
of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period, of any perquisites, as defined in the regulations
and guidance established under section 111 of EESA, whose total value exceeds $25,000 for each employee subject
to the bonus payment limitations identified in paragraph (viii);

(xii)

Broadway Financial Corporation will disclose whether Broadway Financial Corporation, the board of directors of
Broadway Financial Corporation, or the compensation committee of Broadway Financial Corporation has engaged
during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period a compensation consultant; and
the services the compensation consultant or any affiliate of the compensation consultant provided during this
period;

(xiii)

Broadway Financial Corporation has prohibited the payment of any gross-ups, as defined in the regulations and
guidance established under section 111 of EESA, to the SEOs and the next twenty most highly compensated
employees during any part of the most recently completed fiscal year that was a TARP period;

(xiv)

Broadway Financial Corporation has substantially complied with all other requirements related to employee
compensation that are provided in the agreement between Broadway Financial Corporation and Treasury, including
any amendments;

(xv)

Broadway Financial Corporation has submitted to Treasury a complete and accurate list of the SEOs and the twenty
next most highly compensated employees for the current fiscal year, with the non-SEOs ranked in descending order
of level of annual compensation, and with the name, title, and employer of each SEO and most highly compensated
employee identified; and

(xvi)

I understand that a knowing and willful false or fraudulent statement made in connection with this certification may
be punished by fine, imprisonment, or both.

Date:

March 29, 2019
/s/ Brenda J. Battey
Brenda J. Battey
Chief Financial Officer
Broadway Financial Corporation

